Regional Human Development Report for Latin America and the Caribbean **2010**



Acting on the future: breaking the intergenerational transmission of inequality

Regional Human Development Report for Latin America and the Caribbean 2010

Acting on the future:

breaking the intergenerational transmission of inequality

303.44	
P9631	 Programa de las Naciones Unidas para el Desarrollo Regional human development report for Latin Ame- rica and Caribbean 2010 : acting on the future breaking the intergene-racional transmisión of inequality . – 1ª. ed. – San José, C.R. : Programa de las Naciones Unidas para el Desallorro (PNUD), 2010. 208 p.; 28 x 21 cm.
	ISBN 978-9968-794-55-8
	Texto original en español
	1. PNUD - Desarrollo humano - América Latina. 2. PNUD - Desarrollo humano - Caribe (región). 3. Trans- misión intergeneracional - Desigualdad. 4. Transmisión intergeneracional - Capacidades. 5. IDH - Desigualdad. 6. Desarrollo humano - Agencia - Aspiraciones. 7. Eco-

momía política - Desigualdad. 8. Economía política -Trampas. 9. Democracia - Desigualdad. I. Título.

Regional Human Development Report for Latin America and the Caribbean 2010 Acting on the future: breaking the intergenerational transmission of inequality

www.idhalc-actuarsobreelfuturo.org

Copyright © 2010 United Nations Development Programme – UNDP 1 UN Plaza, Nueva York, NY 10017, U.S.A.

Editorial design: Galera

Design of front cover and off-prints: Danielle Levkovits / ZAGO Style editing: Jorge Navarijo, David Zúñiga

The United Nations Development Programme would like to thank the Santillana Group for the work they have done in promoting and distributing this Report.

The opinions expressed in this Report are the exclusive responsibility of the co-ordination team and of the national consultants and they do not necessarily reflect the views of the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) or any of the other institutions that have sponsored it.

All rights are reserved. This publication, or any part thereof, may not be reproduced, stored using any system or transmitted in any form or by any means, be this electronic, mechanical, photocopy, recording or any other kind, without the prior permission of the United Nations Development Programme.

Printed in Costa Rica by Editorama, S.A. November 2010

Regional Human Development Report for Latin America and the Caribbean 2010

Acting on the future: breaking the intergenerational transmission of inequality



United Nations Development Programme (UNDP)

Helen Clark Administrator of the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP)

Rebeca Grynspan Associate Administrator of the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP)

UNDP Regional Bureau for Latin America and the Caribbean (RBLAC)

Heraldo Muñoz

Assistant Secretary General of the United Nations, UNDP Assistant Administrator and Regional Director for Latin America and the Caribbean

Luis Felipe López-Calva

Chief Economist and Co-ordinator for the area of Poverty, MDG and Human Development

Pedro Manuel Moreno

Programme Specialist, area of Poverty, MDG and Human Development

Team responsible for editing the Regional Human Development Report for Latin America and the Caribbean 2010

General Co-ordination and Principal Authors

Luis Felipe López-Calva Chief Economist and Co-ordinator of the area of Poverty, MDG and Human Development United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) Regional Bureau for Latin America and the Caribbean (RBLAC)

Isidro Soloaga Professor of Economics, El Colegio de México

Editorial Team

Aniel Altamirano, UNDP Consultant Gabriela Cordourier, UNDP Consultant Mariana Enghel, UNDP Consultant Alfredo González, UNDP Consultant Roberto Pablo Morales, UNDP Consultant Helena Rovner, UNDP Consultant

Strategic Planning and Communication Team

Pablo Basz Communications Advisor, RBLAC

Armando Carballido Gómez UNDP Consultant and Communication Strategy Co-ordinator

Pedro Manuel Moreno Programme Specialist, area of Poverty, MDG and Human Development, RBLAC

Consultants

Gabriela Agosto, Social Observatory Argentina Sabine Alkire, Oxford Poverty & Human Development Initiative (OPHI) Aniel Altamirano, UNDP Consultant María Laura Alzúa, Universidad Nacional de la Plata, Centre for Distributive, Labour and Social Studies (CEDLAS) Eduardo Amadeo, Social Observatory Argentina Verónica Amarante, Universidad de la República, Uruguay Mabel Andalón, Cornell University Eva Arceo-Gómez, El Colegio de México Rodrigo Arim, Universidad de la República, Uruguay Irma Arriagada, UNDP Consultant Silvia Casanovas, UNDP Consultant Caterina Colombo, UNDP Consultant Dante Contreras, UNDP and Universidad de Chile University of Chile Gabriela Cordourier, UNDP Consultant Guillermo Cruces, Universidad Nacional de la Plata, Centre for Distributive, Labour and Social Studies (CEDLAS) Marcelo Delajara, Bank of Mexico Joseph Deutsch, Bar-Ilan University Rafael Di Tella, Harvard University Juan Dubra, Universidad de Montevideo Carlos Elizondo Mayer-Serra, Centre for Economic Research and Education, Mexico Gary S. Fields, Cornell University James E. Foster, The George Washington University Néstor Gandelman, ORT University Uruguay Leonardo Gasparini, Universidad Nacional de la Plata, Centre for Distributive, Labour and Social Studies (CEDLAS) Garance Genicot, Georgetown University Jérémie Gignoux, Paris School of Economics Alfredo González Reyes, UNDP Consultant Julio Guzmán, The University of Chicago Carolina Izaguirre, Ministry of Social Development (Sedesol), Mexico, UNDP Consultant Ravi Kanbur, Cornell University Kevin Macdonald, The World Bank Mariana Marchionni, Universidad Nacional de la Plata, Centre for Distributive, Labour and Social Studies (CEDLAS) David Mayer-Foulkes, Centre for Economic Research and Education , Mexico Johannes M. Metzler, Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München Roberto Pablo Morales, UNDP Consultant Eduardo Ortiz-Juárez, RBLAC Thomas Otter, Independent Consultant Mónica Pachón, Universidad de los Andes Debraj Ray, New York University Gonzalo Salas, Universidad de la República, Uruguay Emma Samman, Oxford Poverty & Human Development Initiative (OPHI) Maria Emma Santos, Oxford Poverty & Human Development Initiative (OPHI) Janice Natalie Seinfeld Lemlig, Universidad del Pacífico, Peru Suman Seth, Oxford Poverty & Human Development Initiative (OPHI) Jacques Silber, Bar-Ilan University Benita Thompson, The University of the West Indies Florencia Torche, New York University Miguel Urquiola, Columbia University Sergio Urzúa, Northwestern University Andrea Vigorito, Universidad de la República, Uruguay

Ana Contreras, Princeton University

Florian Wendelspiess Chávez Juárez, UNDP Research Assistant Gaston Yalonetzky, Oxford Poverty & Human Development Initiative (OPHI) José Zubizarreta, New York University

Special collaboration

UNDP

Jessica Braver, RBLAC Elia Carrasco, RBLAC María Victoria Duque López, RBLAC Jacqueline Estevez, RBLAC Almudena Fernández, RBLAC Carolina Moreno, RBLAC Eduardo Ortiz-Juárez, RBLAC Stefano Pettinato, RBLAC Cecilia Ugaz, Deputy Resident Representative, UNDP Argentina Mónica Villanueva, UNDP Research Assistant Florian Wendelspiess, UNDP Research Assistant

UNOPS

Marialicia Ayala Ivonne Castañeda Claudia Nochez-Palacios

Translator Ibai Aramburuzabala Arrieta

Proofreader

Cynthia Celde

Advisory Council

Alicia Bárcena, ECLAC

Jere R. Behrman, University of Pennsylvania Nancy Birdsall, Center for Global Development Francisco H. G. Ferreira, The World Bank Sakiko Fukuda-Parr, The New School Carol Graham, The Brookings Institution Rebeca Grynspan, UNDP Selim Jahan, UNDP Bernardo Kliksberg, UNDP Jeni Klugman, UNDP Thierry Lemaresquier, Consultant Nora Lustig, Tulane University José Luis Machinea, Universidad Torcuato Di Tella Alejandro Toledo, SAIS-Johns Hopkins University Michael Walton, Harvard University Ernesto Zedillo, Yale University

Foreword

Inequality is one of the main traits that define the history of Latin America and the Caribbean. A significant and persistent inequality, accompanied by low social mobility, has led the region to fall into an "inequality trap"; a vicious circle that is difficult to break. How can we put an end to this situation? What public policies can be designed to prevent inequality being transmitted from one generation to the next? Why have the political system and the redistribution mechanisms not been effective in reversing this pattern? This first Regional Human Development Report for Latin America and the Caribbean offers answers to these and other questions. The central message is that *yes, it is possible to reduce inequality in Latin America and the Caribbean*.

It is a fact that up until the global economic crisis, a large number of countries had achieved reductions in inequality by expanding coverage of basic social services and ensuring a more progressive impact of social spending. This occurred thanks to a consensus that was forged regarding the need to be more efficient in fighting poverty. This report reaffirms the central importance of the fight against poverty, but it suggests that there is a need to go further. Inequality *per se* is an obstacle on the road to human development and the reduction of inequality should form an explicit part of the public agenda.

For the UNDP, equality matters in the area of effective freedoms; that is, in terms of broadening the options that are truly available to everyone, and among which people are free to choose. Opportunities and access to goods and services are important, but so is the process that enables individuals to play an active role in their own development, and in this way improve their own lives as well as their immediate environment. In this context, the new, specific and comprehensive policy proposed for reducing inequality in the region must have an impact on households' objective conditions, on the constraints they face, on subjective aspects that determine individuals' aspirations for greater autonomy and mobility, and finally, on the quality and the effectiveness of political representation and the state's redistributive capacity.

Other important messages are:

- The inequality observed in income, education, life expectacy and other indicators persists from one generation to the next and, moreover, it is also associated with a context of low social mobility;
- 2. Gaining a clearer understanding of these mechanisms for transmitting households' achievements will facilitate the design of more effective policies for breaking the vicious circles through with poverty and inequality are transmitted from one generation to the next;
- There are subjective factors that are determined by binding constraints, and these are fundamental for explaining the differences in socio-economic achievement;
- 4. The causes underpinning the persistence of inequality are not confined soley to within the household.. The political process also responds differently to the needs of different groups. A sustained reduction in inequality means impacting the poor quality of political representation, the frailty of public institutions, unequal access to influence specific policies, and institutional shortcomings that lead to corruption and the state ending up in the hands of minority groups.
- 5. The Report proposes a fully comprehensive approach for public policy. Redistribution strategies must reach

those groups for whom they were designed. These policies should appreciate that households face multiple constraints, and that these often thrive off one another. Moreover, the beneficiaries of these policies must, adopt the objectives of public policy as their own, and become active agents in their own development.

Based on a human development approach and following the UNDP vision since 1990, this Report seeks to promote a deeper understanding of inequality, find answers to key questions, and propose specific measures that can be adapted to the environment and conditions of each country. Following the traditional practice of Human Development Reports, UNDP in Latin America and the Caribbean will foster debates throughout the region to discuss the Report's implications and how best to adapt the approach to specific realities, and in doing so, will generate a programmatic agenda for equality. The Report that we are launching today is intended to become an instrument that will enrich national and regional debates on the need for a more comprehensive public policy approach, including actions aimed at strengthening states' redistributive and regulatory instruments. It is a call for specific and effective measures capable of breaking the vicious circle of pronounced inequality. In short, it is a call to action, to take action on the future, today.

Heraldo Muñoz

Assistant Secretary General of the United Nations, UNDP Assistant Administrator and Regional Director for Latin America and the Caribbean

Acknowledgments

The Report team started to work in February 2008, under the auspices of the UNDP Regional Bureau for Latin America and the Caribbean, directed by Rebeca Grynspan, currently the United Nations Under- Secretary General and Associate Administrator of the United Nations Development Program (UNDP). The Co-ordination Team and the authors of the Report would like to thank Ms Grynspan for her intellectual contributions, drive and support for this Report.

Special thanks for their generous support go to the Spanish Agency for International Development Co-operation (AECID), through its Spain-UNDP Fund, *Towards Integrated and Inclusive Development in Latin America and the Caribbean*, without which, it would not have been possible to carry out this work.

The contributions made by the members of the Report's Advisory Council during the meeting held in New York in September 2008 and in the bilateral communications with the team, have been fundamental for strengthening the project.

We would like to thank Cecilia Ugaz, Deputy Resident Representative of the UNDP in Argentina, for her collaboration in preparing the Executive Summary and UNDP Argentina for offering the Report team their support.

We would also like to express our gratitude to the many colleagues who offered comments throughout the process of writing the Report, especially to those who took part in the following meetings:

- Annual meetings of the UNDP Latin American Human Development Network, in Santo Domingo (2007), Montevideo (2008) and Lima (2009).
- Meetings of the LACEABM-BID-UNDP Inequality and Poverty Network, in Bogota (2007), Santo Domingo (2008) and Lima (2009).

- Annual meetings of the Human Development and Capabilities Association (HDCA), in Montevideo (2008) and Lima (2009).
- Annual meetings of the Latin American and the Caribbean Economic Association (LACEA), in Río de Janeiro (2008) and Buenos Aires (2009).
- Conference on the Intra- and Intergenerational Transmission of Inequality, held at El Colegio de México, Mexico City (2008).
- UNDP RBLAC season of seminars in New York.
- El Colegio de México's Centre for Economic Studies season of seminars in Mexico City.
- Workshop on Inequality and Human Development Measurement. Vanderbilt University, 23 and 24 January 2009.
- Consultation meeting with the Report Team on the Human Development of Nicaragua, Managua, 31 March 2009.
- 3rd OECD World Forum on Statistics, Knowledge and Policy OECD: The Future of Human Development Measures, Busan, South Korea, 27 October 2009.
- Consultation meetings with the Executive Committee, Technical Committee and the Communications Team of the UNDP offices in:
 - Mexico and Central America, held in Mexico City, Mexico, 18 and 19 January 2010.
 - Southern Cone, held in Buenos Aires, Argentina, 25 and 26 January 2010.
 - $\cdot\,$ Andean Area, held in Quito, Ecuador, 1 and 2 February 2010.
 - Caribbean Area, held in Kingston, Jamaica, 4 and 5 February 2010.
- Consultation meeting with the RBLAC Regional Service Centre, Panama City, Panama, 3 February 2010.
- 2nd Latin American Social Sciences Meeting, FLACSO, Mexico City, June 2010.

- Consultation meeting with the Human Development Report Office Team, New York, June 2010.
- Taxation and Social Cohesion in Latin America Forum, organised by EUROSociAL Fiscalidad in the Institute for Fiscal Studies, Madrid, Spain, 7 to 9 June 2010.
- FIIAPP-AECID meeting in Cartagena de Indias, Colombia, June 2010.

We would like to thank the following individuals for their very useful contributions: Sabina Alkire, Irma Arriagada, Kaushik Basu, Jere R. Behrman, Francois Bourguignon, Rebeca Centeno, Marcelo Delajara, Severine Deneulin, Francisco Ferreira, James E. Foster, Gary Fields, Garance Genicot, Ravi Kanbur, Debraj Ray, María de la Paz López, David Mayer-Foulkes, Mónica Orozco, Harry Patrinos, Jean Philippe Platteau, Gloria Rubio, Jaime Saavedra, Emma Samman, María Emma Santos, Patricio Solís, Miguel Urquiola and Florencia Torche.

And special thanks to the authorities and colleagues at El Colegio de México for their continuous support.

Finally, the Report team would like to thank everyone who took part, directly or indirectly, in drafting this Report, and accepts full and total responsibility for any errors or omissions.

Table of Contents

CHAPTER 1

Conceptual framework of the Report	15
Inequality of what?	15
Opportunities, <i>capabilities</i> and inequality	16
Elements that make up the concept of <i>capabilities</i>	17
It is possible to reduce inequality in Latin America and the Caribbean	19
Instrumental value of reducing inequality: an example	22
Towards a public policy approach based on the findings of this Report	23

CHAPTER 2

Inequality in Latin America and the Caribbean	25
Human development with persisting inequality	25
The tyranny of averages	25
Geographic inequality	27
Inequality between groups: gender, ethnic and race differences	27
Inequality in other dimensions of human development	37
Not all inequalities are the same: the <i>middle classes</i> in LAC	44
The HDI and inequality	46
Unequal today, unequal tomorrow. Why does inequality persist?	51
Households, constraints and the transmission of achievements: inequality and intergenerational mobility	51
Intergenerational mobility in LAC	52
Breaking the inertia of inequality	57

CHAPTER 3

The transmission of achievements at the household level: binding constraints	59
Households and context	59
The mechanisms of intergenerational transmission of achievements that promote	
the persistence of inequality in human development	60
Early childhood investment in human capital	62
The effect of inequality on investment in human development	62
Health and nutrition	64
Schooling	67
Educational achievement	72
Crisis, vulnerability and protecting achievements in human development	
Three possible levels for focusing on public policy:	
households, the provision of services or both	77

CHAPTER 4

Process matters: the role of aspirations and autonomy in transmitting inequality	79
What cannot be seen also matters	79
Aspirations: gaps, individual effort, connected societies and stratified societies	81
Agency and autonomy	85
Stratification throughout LAC	85
Stratification of educational aspirations	86
The path towards connected societies	88

CHAPTER 5

From the household to the <i>polis</i> : the political economy underpinning	
the persistence of inequality	93
The systemic inequality trap	93
Agency, participation and political representation	94
The democratic political system and its complex relationship with inequality	96
Why is the regulatory capacity of LAC states failing?	
The difficulty of representing the interests of all	97
The undesired metamorphosis of citizen preferences regarding redistribution	97
The negative mutations of political representation	
Weaknesses along the chain of democratic delegation	99
Towards a virtuous circle: households, political participation and the reduction of inequality	105

CHAPTER 6

Acting on the future: breaking the intergenerational transmission of inequality		
Inequality, human development and public policy		
The message: Yes, it is possible to reduce inequality in LAC		
Recent achievements: social policy of the last two decades		
The effects of CCTs and income protection programmes		
Non-explicit assumptions		
From fighting poverty to reducing inequality: beyond CCT programmes		
he path ahead		
Bibliography		
Technical notes	129	

TABLE OF CONTENTS: TABLES

Table 2.1 Latin America and the Caribbean. Performance of the human development index (HDI).	
1990, 2000, 2007 and growth (%) over the periods 1990-2000 and 2000-2007	26
Table 2.2 Latin America and the Caribbean (19 countries) in a worldwide context (26 countries).	
Human development index (HDI) 2000-2007 and growth (%) during 2000-2007	28
Table 2.3 Latin America and the Caribbean (22 countries). Decrease in human development attributable	
to inequalities between men and women, the gender-related development index (GDI)	
and the human development index (HDI). 2007	29
Table 2.4 Latin America and the Caribbean (15 countries). Population working in the informal	
economy in urban areas by gender. 1999 and 2008 (%)	33
Table 2.5 Latin America and the Caribbean (12 countries). Break-down of the difference	
in the incidence of poverty among ethnic groups. Various years.	36
Table 2.6 Latin America and the Caribbean (11 countries). Working population by sector (%)	37
Table 2.7 Latin America and the Caribbean (18 countries). Inequality-adjusted	
human development index (IAHDI). Absolute and percentage reductions. Circa 2006	48
Table 3.1 Latin America and the Caribbean (5 countries). Chronic malnutrition.	
Boys and girls presenting deficient height for their age (%)	62

Table 5.1 International comparison of tax burden as a percentage of gross domestic product. 2005 (%)	94
Idble 0.1 Edith America and the Calibbean (o countries).	111
Effect of conditional cash transfers on poverty and consumption	
TABLE OF CONTENTS: BOXES	
Box 1.1 Rights and inequalities	18
Box 2.1 The decline in inequality: causes and challenges	
Box 2.2 Approach to inequality in the national human development reports for	
Latin America and the Caribbean	30
Box 2.3 Lise of time: the double burden for women	
Box 2.3 Ose of time, the double builder for women.	
Box 2.5 The polarisation of income in Latin America and the Caribbean	
Box 2.5 How the inequality-adjusted human development index (IAHDI) works	46
Box 2.7 Indicators of intergenerational mobility	52
Box 3.1 The transmission of assets	
Box 3.2 Revond human canital: access to credit and poverty trans	
Box 3.3 Investment in human capital and the low human development tran	
Box 3.4 The hinding constraints approach	
Box 3.5 Adolescent pregnancy and inequality in Latin America and the Caribbean	
Box 3.5 Audiescent pregnancy and mequainty in Latin America and the Camblean	
and hinding constraints: the case of universal primary education	74
Box 3.7 Conditional cash transfors and the intergenerational transmission of inequality	
Box 4.1 The relationship between the cognitive skills of two successive generations	ر , ۵۵
Box 4.7 The relationship between the cognitive skins of two successive generations	
the case of the Progress Opertunidades programme in Mexico	Q /
Box 4.3 The impact of what cannot be seen on inequality: additional evidence	04 01
Box 5.1 The impact of what carnot be seen on mequality, additional evidence	
Box 5.2 Political representation	95 QQ
Box 5.2 The principal-agent approach	
Box 5.5 The principal-agent approach	
Pox 5.5 The political economy of conditional cash transfere	103
Box 5.5 The political economy of conditional cash transfers	104
Pox 6.2 The Pene Juansite Programme in Policia	112 112
Box 6.2 The Bolio Judicito Finto programme	
Figure 1.1 Generation of well-being and reproduction of inequality	17
Figure 3.1 Determining factors of child health	
Figure 3.2 Determining factors of child health	
Figure 3.1 The associations gap in connected sociatios and in stratified sociatios	
Figure 5.1 Inequality efficiency and growth	
rigure 5. Finequality, enciency and glowth	
TABLE OF CONTENTS: CHARTS	
Chart 1 1 United States and Latin America and the Caribbean (19 countries)	
Educational mobility. Correlation coefficient between generations. End of the 1990s	21
Chart 1.2 Latin America and the Caribbean (18 countries)	
Intergenerational schooling progress. <i>Circa</i> 2005 (%)	22
Chart 1 3 Developed countries (6 countries) and Latin America and the Caribbean (3 countries)	
Intergenerational mobility. Intergenerational income elasticity	23
Chart 2.1 Regions of the world. Gini index of per capita household income	25
Chart 2.2 Regions of the world. Gini index of per capita household income distribution	
Ten-year averages for 1970, 1980 and 1990 and average for the period 1970-2000	26
Chart 2 3 Latin America and the Caribbean (12 countries) Maximum average and minimum values	20
of the human development index (HDI) of its components and of the gender-related	
development index (GDI) by geographic units in each country. Circa 2006	٦٢
Chart 2.4 Latin America and the Caribbean (22 countries). Relationship between the	
human development index (HDI) and the gender empowerment measure (GFM) 2007	32
namen development index (noi) and the gender empowerment meddure (delvi). 2007 initiation interview of the second	

Chart 2.5 Latin America and the Caribbean (15 countries). Poverty (less than one dollar/day)	
among the population of European descent (PED) and indigenous peoples and	
Afro-descendants (IPAD). Circa 2000 (%)	36
Chart 2.6 Latin America and the Caribbean (17 countries). Evolution in income inequality.	
Start of the 1990s to mid 2000s (circa 2006)	38
Chart 2.7 Latin America and the Caribbean (23 countries). Gini index. Circa 2006	38
Chart 2.8 Latin America and the Caribbean (18 countries). Indicators for housing quality and access	
to basic services. Difference between the highest and lowest income quintiles. Circa 2006.	39
Chart 2.9 Latin America and the Caribbean (13 to 16 countries). Housing quality and access to basic services indicators.	
Changes in the difference between the highest and lowest income quintiles, early or mid 1990s to mid 2000s (%).	40
Chart 2.10 Latin America and the Caribbean. Contribution to the human development index (HDI)	
by component. 2007 (%)	41
Chart 2.11 Latin America and the Caribbean (16 countries). Trends in the maximum, average	
and minimum values of the human development index (HDI) and its components.	
1990, 2000 and 2006	42
Chart 2.12 Latin America and the Caribbean (6 countries). Socioeconomic classes. 2006 (%)	44
Chart 2.13 Latin America and the Caribbean (18 countries). The burden of inequeality on the Human development index	х
(HDI). HDI losses attributable to inequality by country. Circa 2006 (ϵ =2).	49
Chart 2.14 Latin America and the Caribbean (18 countries). Impact of inequality on each component of	
the human development index (HDI) by country and average impact for Latin America and	
the Caribbean. Circa 2006 (ε =2) (as %).	50
Chart 2.15 Latin America and the Caribbean (18 countries). Relationship between the loss in the	
human development index (HDI) attributable to inequality and the Gini coefficient.	54
Circa 2006 ($\mathcal{E}=2$).(percentage change)	51
Chart 2.16 Latin America and the Caribbean (18 countries). Schooling correlation coefficient between	
Couples. Clica 2006.	55
chant 2.17 Latin America and the Caribbean (18 countries). Relationship between the contraction	EG
Chart 2.1 Latin America and the Caribbean (4 countries). Break down of the concentration index	50
of bousehold variables and contextual variables (%)	67
Chart 3.2 Mevico. Effect of the cognitive skills of father and mother on the	07
cognitive skills of their offspring by age group, 2002 (%)	67
Chart 3.3 Latin America and the Caribbean (24 countries). Gross enrollment ratio. Most recent available data (%)	07
Chart 4.1 Buenos Aires Mexico City and Managua Schooling of parents family networks friends and colleagues	/ 2
by socioeconomic status (SES) 2009 (%)	86
Chart 4.2 Buenos Aires Mexico City and Managua Index detailing	00
agency capability by socioeconomic level (SEL) 2009	87
Chart 4.3 Buenos Aires. Mexico City and Managua. Mothers/fathers who aspire for	
their children to go to university, by socioeconomic level (SEL), 2009 (%)	87
Chart 4.4 Buenos Aires, Mexico City and Managua. How far do parents want their children to study?	
Do parents aspire for their children to progress beyond or fall short of university training?	88
Chart 4.5 Buenos Aires, Mexico City and Managua. Main influences on	
the formation of educational aspirations. 2009 (%)	88
Chart 4.6 Impact of parent's education and of networks on the formation of educational aspirations	
for their children	89
Chart 4.7 Buenos Aires, Mexico City and Managua: Intergenerational influence on aspirations, 2009 (%)	90
Chart 4.8 Buenos Aires, Mexico City and Managua. Correlations between the parents' agency capacity	
indicators and the satisfaction with life indicator for children. 2009 (%)	90
Chart 6.1 Latin America and the Caribbean (21 countries). Trends in public social spending (PSS)	
and in total public spending (TPS) as a percentage of gross domestic product (GDP).	
1990-2008	. 109
Chart 6.2 Latin America and the Caribbean (18 countries). Gini coefficient for household per capita income	
before and after receiving cash transfers (Circa 2008)	. 110



The conceptual framework of the Report

EQUALITY OF WHAT?

Ali and Zahra are the main characters of the profound and moving Iranian film entitled Children of Heaven, released in 1997 and directed by Majid Majidi. In the story, Ali takes his sister Zahra's shoes to be repaired, but ends up losing them. As both know full well that there is no money at home to buy new shoes, they decide to hide the loss from their parents. The film brings us into the world of Ali and Zahra from that moment on. In order for them both to use the only remaining pair of shoes, the children decide to go to school in alternating shifts. Zahra wears the shoes to school in the morning, and Ali attends in the afternoons. Both have an awful time hiding the plan from their teachers, since they don't want them to find out that they are sharing one pair of shoes, and from their parents, who would surely punish them for having lost the shoes. Having to share the same pair of shoes significantly limits Ali and Zahra's options in life; so much so that their lives are effectively governed by this huge constraint. At one point, Zahra notices that a classmate is wearing her lost shoes. Naturally surprised, Zahra decides to follow the classmate home, whereupon she realises that the other girl's father is blind and unable to work to provide his daughter with shoes. Without those shoes, the girl's options in life would be severely limited. Zahra decides not to mention the shoes to her classmate, and in fact the young girls end up becoming good friends.

The film reaches its climax when Ali decides to take part in a race, in which the runner who finishes third will receive a pair of new shoes as a prize. Due to an unexpected turn of events, instead

of finishing third, Ali ends up winning the event. Everyone is surprised at how upset the winner is, for although Ali receives the best prize of the competition, he does not win the pair of shoes, which would have allowed him and his sister to resume their normal life. This memorable film ends with a shot of Ali's blistered feet soaking in a water fountain.

Ali and Zahra's story was very well received by critics, who underscored the film's beauty, the depth of its story, and its immense artistic quality. *Children of Heaven* was favourably compared with the 1948 classic *Bicycle Thieves*, directed by Italian filmmaker Vittorio de Sica. In *Bicycle Thieves*, the main character, Antonio Ricci, is a poor man who desperately scours the streets of Rome to recover his stolen bicycle, which he needs for work.¹

Stories such as these illustrate, quite directly, the focus on inequality which forms the basis of this Report. Ali and Zahra's shoes, as well as Antonio Ricci's bicycle, reflect the hugely important relationship that exists for individuals between resources, opportunities and life options. These narratives allow one to more clearly understand the conceptual framework which is employed in this Report to measure inequality and evaluate different levels of well-being. In other words, the stories illustrate the concept of real freedom, defined as all options open to individuals in terms of their possibilities of "being" or "doing". This is the dimension of inequality considered relevant in this approach. In the fields of development, economics and political philosophy it is defined as the *capability* approach (Sen, 1985).²

¹ This film is ranked among the British Film Institute's top ten "Films you should see by the age of 14."

² The use of italics indicates that, the word is intended as a theoretical term.

OPPORTUNITIES, CAPABILITIES AND INEQUALITY

Latin America ranks first in the world in terms of inequality. Widespread normative and practical reasons make high levels of inequality obstacles to social progress. Inequality and its visible manifestations are an undeniable reality affecting all citizens. The notion that inequality is unacceptable from a normative and instrumental standpoint has been debated for many years by social scientists and political philosophers alike. Nevertheless, there are still several different theories about what kind of inequality is relevant and should be prevented through public action. Underlying this discussion are various "ideas of justice"³, which reflect a number of divergent views of inequality and its relationship with public policy.

One of the main topics of this debate has been how inequality should be measured. Many different dimensions of inequality have been defined, including inequality of opportunities, inequality in terms of an individual's ability of access to possible "beings" and "doings" (referred to as *functionings* within the context of this Report), inequality of income, education or other indicators of social achievement, as well as inequality in terms of political involvement and influence, among others. In all cases, inequality is the product of a combination of factors and cannot be explained by one cause alone.

Of the many factors that help to explain heterogeneous economic and social achievement, the initial conditions of every household (the socioeconomic characteristics of the domestic unit into which an individual is born) play a central role, as do the efforts made by the individual, social and institutional contexts, historical factors and public action. That said, a number of other equally important elements have a role to play, including so-called random aspects, meaning those events that are beyond people's control (natural disasters or unexpected positive events).⁴

With this in mind, and in order to analyse inequality properly, it is important to draw a crucial distinction between *ex ante* and *ex post* approaches. An *ex ante* approach places greater importance on the initial conditions and underscores the need to "ensure a level playing field for everyone", without taking other factors into account. In the well-known metaphor, *ex ante* equality states that the runners in a race must start from the same point every time, instead of starting from the positions reached in the previous race.

In contrast, an *ex post* approach places priority on the result, meaning that which happens as an effect of the interaction

between individual and contextual aspects.⁵ The classic "utilitarian" approach, the view that the objective function of society is to attain the "greatest good for the greatest number of people", is essentially an *ex post* approach.⁶ The same can be said for the vision of subjective well-being or of studies on "happiness".⁷

The notion of "equality of opportunities", as conceptualised by Roemer (1998) and recently operationalised by the World Bank (Paes de Barros et al., 2009), adopts an *ex ante* approach, i.e., one focusing on the initial conditions. This vision dictates that the distribution of any achievement attained by an individual, perhaps in terms of income or schooling, must not be conditional to his or her specific circumstances, but rather these achievements of well-being, or "advantages", as they are called in existing literature on equality of opportunities, should only reflect random aspects and those determined by individual effort, irrespective of the initial conditions.

For this reason, the task of implementing this concept empirically primarily involves measuring inequality between children (or adolescents) and attempting to pinpoint precisely those aspects that pertain to the initial conditions, while eliminating those aspects related to individual effort. As it will explain below, a vision of human development based on the notion of *capabilities* (Sen, 1985) requires equality of opportunities to be a necessary condition, but in fact goes far beyond this.

To provide an example, it is helpful to once again refer to Vittorio de Sica's classic film *Bicycle Thieves*, which has been cited extensively in existing literature on *capabilities*. The bicycle is simply a specific resource with specific characteristics, the possession of which, however, does not transmit well-being because of the bike itself or its monetary value, as a utilitarian vision may well suggest. Possession of the bicycle, or rather access to the resource, combines with those characteristics of the bicycle that entail specific possibilities of "being" and "doing" *(functionings,* as mentioned above).

Thus, the bicycle allows for transportation and exercise, while also having a possible bearing on access to education, good health, play and socialisation, and the job market. Put this way, access to a resource can open up a wide range of options within the set of possibilities that an individual may encounter

³ For a discussion on of "the idea of justice" and its implications and importance within the various "theories of justice", see the work of Sen (2009).

⁴ Philosophers draw a distinction between the concepts of brute luck and option luck. Although a person cannot shape events that occur during their lifetime that are not dependent on their own decisions, in certain cases he or she may affect the likelihood of such events occurring through conscious decisions, which, in turn, may be delimited by the individual's context (see, for example, Dworkin, 2000).

⁵ Interestingly enough, an ex ante approach involves the idea of "equity", whereas the concept of "equality" is associated with an ex post approach. In this Report, the notion of equality in the sense of capabilities will be used an approach based on ex ante thinking, but which also requires a fair process.

⁶ In economic terms, this objective social function entails equality not in terms of total utility, but rather marginal utilities, the aim being to maximise the total utility of individuals within society. The implications of this rule have been debated extensively in the works of economic academics. For a classic approach, see the arguments expounded by Sen (1980).

⁷ In fact, for Jeremy Bentham, the creator of the theory of utilitarianism, "utility" is practically synonymous with "happiness".

in life. In other words, it may widen his or her real freedoms, his or her capabilities.

That said, guaranteeing access to a certain resource is not enough for an individual's options to effectively increase, for other conditions must also be met. It is essential that the individual actually be able to transform his or her access to a specific resource into functionings that will increase his or her effective freedom to be and to do.

A physical disability, for example, would reduce the number of possibilities associated with the possession of the bicycle. In order for a positive transformation to take place, it is necessary to meet a number of individual conditions (physical, psychological and human capital, among others) and/or social and institutional conditions (perhaps use of the bicycle by certain people is prohibited or frowned upon, or its use is deemed unsafe; maybe a license is required to ride the bicycle or there are topographic conditions hindering its use, to name but a few examples of a whole host of possible limiting situations).

Thus, mere access to a range of goods and services, or the mere possibility that everyone can access them, does not guarantee equality in areas of real choice or freedom, because the available functionings - the options that become real and effective from such access - can still be very different. Within this context, public action within certain spheres may be able to ensure equality of capabilities: in many cases, public action can guarantee that individuals have access to an equitable set of options in life, regardless of individual or contextual limitations.

Elements that make up the concept of capabilities

Development can be viewed as an increase in the real alternatives in life among which people are free to choose. Following this line of thought, development is conceived as an expansion of freedom (Sen, 1999) and the various combinations of functionings (beings and doings) that a person can achieve is a yardstick of his or her effective freedom. Within this conceptual framework, capabilities refer precisely to the set of possibilities among which people are free to choose. Functionings, on the other hand, are the specific elements contained within the set of options that make the capabilities available by transforming an individual's access to goods and services into actual "beings" or "doings" over the various stages of his or her life.8 Among the various development

8 It is important to understand that the concept of capabilities refers to a set of available options which, in order to exist as such, requires certain conditions of access to goods and services, as well as possibilities to transform or convert such access. Capabilities are not specific abilities or functionings. For this reason, and as explained below, the task of exploring these notions from an empirical standpoint poses a number of significant challenges.

theories, this approach is known as the capability approach and constitutes one of the key conceptual underpinnings of the notion of human development.

Functionings not only encompass basic issues, such as the possibility of living a long and healthy life or of attaining individually and socially valuable knowledge, but also other more complex options, such as an individual achieving self-respect, social integration and participation in political processes.9 It should be noted that originally, the notion of *capabilities* arose from a discussion about the dimension through which equality should be measured (Sen, 1980). In this Report, the approach is to measure equality in terms of capabilities, i.e., people's effective freedom to choose between options they consider valuable and have reason to value.

According to this approach, various components play a part in the process of generating and evaluating well-being, and these components include both individual aspects and those concerning the contexts in which people are immersed (see Chart 1.1): i) access to goods and services (commodities); ii) the characteristics of these goods and services, meaning the list of attributes pertaining to each of them; iii) a transformation function for transforming the commodities into "beings and doings", also called *functionings* (this function is shaped by individual



Some of these aspects also feature in the notion of primary goods developed by Rawls (1972) in his work A Theory of Justice.



Figure 1.1. Generation of well-being and reproduction

characteristics, social aspects and contextual or "environmental" aspects); iv) the set of *functionings* effectively available to individuals (*capabilities*), and; v) an assessment function for evaluating such states, comparable with the neoclassic notion of "utility", which is also open to other interpretations.

Applying the *capability* approach empirically is a complex task and the various constituent processes will necessarily address only some aspects of the elements mentioned above. In this regard, at least two key problems should be addressed.

The first lies in the fact that *capabilities* are essentially "sets of *functionings*". This not only means that their measurement must

be multidimensional, but also that the task of valuing *capabilities* will require all those options that were available to be considered, and not only the one eventually chosen by the person in question. As a general rule, data only displays the selected options. If an individual states that he or she has undergone secondary education, it can be assumed that he or she had the option not to study, but it is probably unknown whether or not he or she had the real option to continue on to higher education.

The second problem in applying this approach is that *functionings* are states of "being" or "doing" (i.e., that which a person effectively manages to be or do at a certain point in life).

Box 1.1. Rights and inequalities

An alternative approach to analysing inequality is the Human Rights-Based Approach to Development Cooperation, commonly referred to as the human rights-based approach. This essentially dictates that development policies and processes should be based on a system of rights and responsibilities prescribed by International Law. The human rights-based approach, as materialised through the 2003 UN Statement of Common Understanding on Human Rights-Based Approach, establishes a set of basic guidelines that agencies must apply in the design of their development cooperation programmes. Policies must be primarily intended to further the realisation of human rights and contribute to the development of the capacities of duty-bearers to meet their obligations and the capacities of right-holders to claim their rights. Similarly, the standards of rights included in international human rights instruments must guide all development cooperation and policies in all phases of the programming process.

The human rights-based approach encompasses, but is not limited to, a host of objectives to be promoted by development programming, and these principles place particular emphasis on the problem of reducing inequality in all its different guises. These principles are as follows: equality, non-discrimination and attention to more vulnerable groups (particularly those people or groups that suffer discrimination); accountability, identifying gaps in the capacities of duty-bearers to comply with their obligations, and also gaps in the capacities of rights-holders to seek redress, especially for more disadvantaged or discriminated groups; participation, which is intended as an end to development in itself and a means of ensuring accountability; and empowerment, in the sense that people are considered the key actors in their own development rather than passive recipients of the interventions of states or cooperation agencies.

This approach helps to promote development sustainability and to augment the population's effective capacity to act, thereby helping to bring about a reduction in inequality: Its purpose is to "analyse inequalities which lie at the heart of development problems and redress discriminatory practices and unjust distributions of power that impede development progress." (OHCHR, 2006).

An important aspect of a human rights-based approach is that people must be able to exercise an established set of guarantees. Every person is entitled to demand his or her rights but must also fulfil the responsibilities associated with those rights. The question is: Should the realisation of certain rights be given priority when resources are limited? Yasukawa, Ortuño and Brockmann (2009) propose to start by laying down certain non-negotiable minimums: "The Millennium Development Goals, adopted in 2000, are an attempt by countries from around the world to define these minimum goals: everyone must have access to the services that ensure a healthy life; all children must finish a full course of high quality primary education; men and women must be afforded equal conditions and opportunities; all families should enjoy a decent flow of income, and the hard work required to meet these goals must be carried out in harmony with the environment. Yet there still remain huge gaps that must be bridged". Yasukawa et al. (2009) also point out – based largely on information pertaining to Bolivia but which can be verified for the region as a whole -that considerable inequalities remain in terms of the enforcement of rights among men and women and between different social groups and regions. In this regard, the authors would suggest that the main challenges in applying this approach are as follows: attaining social agreement on the need to guarantee minimum conditions for a dignified life for everyone; promoting agreements on how to attain these minimum standards; ensuring sufficient articulation and cross-over between social policy and economic policy; generating a solid system of money transfers to households while simultaneously improving the coverage and quality of basic social services; and guaranteeing that all the institutional reforms are geared towards safeguarding certain minimum standards of access to social rights for everyone.1

Sources: HDR Team with reference to the OHCHR (2006) and Yasukawa, Ortuño and Brockmann (2009).

1 For a discussion on the human rights-based approach and its relationship with the capability approach, see Sen (2005).

Examples include to be healthy, to be educated, to take part in community life and to be accepted socially. Generally, empirical studies of these *functionings* seek to find approximate values by using variables that reflect access to goods or services (health, education, participation in community organisations, nondiscrimination). It is crucial to remember that the value of such elements is not intrinsic, but instead, access to certain goods and services is related to or makes specific *functionings* possible. For example, access to healthcare services is not a *functioning*, while being healthy is.

Following the approach described above, equality of opportunities is a necessary but not sufficient condition for equality of *capabilities*.¹⁰ Roemer (1998) contends that the inequality observed in achievements attained in the different dimensions (coined "advantages"), such as a person's level of schooling, state of health and capacity to generate income, is due both to factors beyond an individual's control (his or her circumstances), as well as to individual effort and random conditions. In other words, Roemer draws no distinction between *functionings* as the realisation of a process and *capabilities* as the total choices to be made between available options.

Returning again to the example of the bicycle, the relationship between equality of opportunities and equality of *capabilities* will depend on what Roemer (1998) refers to as "advantages". Thus, the most important consideration is the set of options (*functionings*) that become available, which crucially involves the transformation function and all of the elements that define it. An important feature of this Report's approach is that equality of *capabilities* does not imply, except in specific cases, equality of outcomes.

Notwithstanding the empirical limitations imposed by this approach, the Report will nevertheless employ it to examine inequality in human development, the links that make such inequality persist from one generation to the next, and the conditions necessary for ensuring that public policies break the cycle of inequality.

IT IS POSSIBLE TO REDUCE INEQUALITY IN LATIN AMERICA AND THE CARIBBEAN

Inequality in Latin America and the Caribbean (LAC) has three defining characteristics: it is high, it is persistent, and it reproduces itself within a context of low socio-economic mobility. Although it is true that a reduction in income inequality was reported at the start of the twenty-first century in 12 of the 17 countries analysed in recent studies, the three defining features mentioned above have been historically present over various

10 For an interpretation of the relationship between equality of opportunities and equality of capabilities, see Vallentyne (2005).

periods of growth and recession, and have survived very different political systems and public policy interventions (López-Calva and Lustig, 2010). Available information would indicate that, save for a few exceptions, the high levels of inequality have by and large been relatively immune to the development strategies applied in the region since the nineteen fifties, including of course the market reforms experienced in the eighties and nineties (Klasen and Nowak-Lehmann, 2009).

The uneven distribution of income throughout LAC has attracted a huge amount of interest over the years. Multilateral organizations, such as the Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean (ECLAC), the World Bank (WB), the Inter-American Development Bank (IDB) and the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP), have added their combined weight to the extensive academic work on the issue and have adopted an approach geared towards designing public policies that help to reduce inequality. This Report aims to extend the outlook of human development inequality analysis in LAC countries in order to pinpoint the underlying factors that allow inequality to pass from one generation to the next.

Set forth below are the general lines that this Report will follow and some of the subjects tackled in greater depth in the chapters to come. The Report's central message is based on the following premises:

- The traditional human development index (HDI), as used in global and national reports over the last twenty years, fails to address inequality, in that it measures, in each country, the average achievements for the population in the dimensions of health, education and income (or the average achievements of sub-groups existing within the population). This Report applies a simple and intuitive approach to introduce society's inequality considerations when considering the traditional dimensions of the HDI. The findings of this analytical approach are presented in Chapter 2.
- Inequality in terms of income, education, health and other indicators persists from one generation to the next within a context of low socioeconomic mobility.
- 3) This implies that there are mechanisms for reproducing levels of achievement from one generation to the next. Gaining a clearer understanding of the workings of such mechanisms for transmitting households' achievements will facilitate the design of more effective policies for breaking the vicious circles through which poverty and inequality are propagated. A review of the principal objective mechanisms for transmitting levels of achievement between generations is presented in Chapter 3.

- 4) As with poverty, inequality is a phenomenon caused by constraints. In addition to the traditional objective factors in play, subjective elements which in turn are related to socioeconomic factors also influence the decisions households make. More specifically, it has been observed that the aspirations and perceptions that members of a given household have about their chances of achieving the goals they have set for themselves are tied up with and highly influenced by the constraints associated with the social and environmental contexts in which they live. This tends to lead to situations whereby individuals in different social groups continue to report different levels of achievement. Chapter 4 describes the role of these subjective factors and their most important effects.
- 5) Nevertheless, the causes underpinning the persistence of inequality are not confined solely to within the household. There are other obstacles preventing public policies from bridging the gaps and combating uneven levels of achievement in terms of well-being. This can be put down to the fact that the political process also responds differently to different needs, depending on the group in question. Among the many factors that affect the reproduction of inequality, the following should be highlighted: the poor quality of political representation, the weakness of public institutions, unequal access to influence specific policies, the classic problems associated with collective action, and institutional shortcomings that lead to state corruption and capture. These systemic factors mean that the political dynamic is actually exacerbating, instead of compensating, the reproduction of inequality. This aspect is discussed in more detail in Chapter 5.
- 6) The most widespread public policies deployed in the region have tackled, often successfully, specific aspects of the fight against poverty, but fail, however, to consider the comprehensive nature of deprivation and its *systemic* relationship with inequality. The approach advocated by this Report, which analyses inequality in terms of *capabilities* and the equitable expansion of households' effective freedom to choose between different options in life, necessarily requires a fully comprehensive strategy that specifically tackles the most pressing objective and subjective constraints that have a more direct bearing on the most vulnerable groups of LAC countries.

The main contributions that the human development-based approach has made to the debate about development economics and public policy design stem from its indispensable multidimensional perspective when analysing well-being, and also from the relevance it places on the role of "process freedom" in accomplishing individual and collective objectives.¹¹ In particular, the "process" component involves strengthening *agency*, which can be defined as an individual's capacity to influence his or her own plans in life.¹²

These aspects are analysed at greater length below. For now it is important to point out that the multi-dimensional perspective of the approach has become a firmly established topic in the public debate, due mainly to the development of the Human Development Index and its political impact during the last twenty years. In contrast, the notions of "opportunity freedom" and "process freedom" have been slow to spark interest beyond the academic realm. This may be due in part to the difficulty in measuring such freedoms, although this fact does not diminish their relevance as key factors of the human development approach.

The analysis shown in this Report accepts that there are multiple causes underlying the reproduction of human development inequality. Some causes are economic in nature and are illustrated by the high correlation between one generation's assets, income and schooling and those of the next generation. That said, there are also political and social causes. Associated more with historical and *systemic* factors, such as the inequality of opportunities and of access to power relations, these political and social causes generate situations of exclusion, oppression and domination. These inequalities are structural and reveal the endogenous nature of inequality.

Inequality spawns further inequality. Economic reasons, together with causes associated with the political economy, explain the reproduction of inequality by generating unequal access to institutional representation and unequal opportunities for citizens to have their voices heard (Sabates-Wheeler, 2008).

As mentioned above, apart from its high levels of inequality, another defining feature of the region is the low mobility of socioeconomic indicators between generations. Past studies have illustrated, for example, the extent to which the levels of schooling or income of one generation are influenced by those of the preceding generation. The conclusion is that the greater the intergenerational correlation between these variables, the greater the influence that factors arising from the household (the domestic unit into which an individual is born) will have on reproducing inequality. The results show that the LAC region has relatively poor mobility in terms of schooling and income in comparison with other regions of the world. For example, in LAC, the impact of one generation's level of schooling on the immediately following generation is more than twice as high as

¹¹ See, for example, Sen's concepts of opportunity freedom and process freedom (Sen, 2002).

¹² This concept is discussed in detail in Chapter 4. In principle, it can be illustrated intuitively through the Roman Law concept of sui juris, which refers to one ruled "by one's own laws", as opposed to the concept of alieni juris, which refers to someone "ruled by the laws of others".

Chart 1.1 United States and Latin America and the Caribbean (19 countries). Educational mobility. Correlation coefficient between generations. End of the nineties.



that reported in the United States. The correlation of educational attainment between two successive generations stands at 0.21 in the United States, whereas this same value in LAC ranges from 0.37 in Paraguay to 0.61 in El Salvador (see Chart 1.1).¹³ Studies conducted in countries with high income levels indicate that educational mobility (the change in levels of education from one generation to the next) and access to higher education have been the most important factors in determining socioeconomic mobility between generations. For example, the decline in inequality reported in Chile between 1990 and 2006 can be largely

explained by the major expansion in higher education over the same period (Eberhard and Engel, 2008).

A more accurate analysis of intergenerational linkages can be obtained by centering attention on one specific group, namely young people.. As an example of low relative mobility, studies have shown that the current level of schooling among young people from the region is closely pegged (particularly from secondary education onward) to the schooling attainment of the preceding generation (Chart 1.2).¹⁴ In terms of income, intergenerational mobility calculated for a more reduced sample of countries also reveals relatively low mobility levels, i.e. high correlations between the levels of economic performance between two successive generations (Chart 1.3).¹⁵

As mentioned above, in addition to constraints on access to public goods and services, there are other factors that cause one generation's achievements to influence those of the next. This Report proposes a method of analysing inequality based on these additional elements, which are called binding constraints (see Chapter 3). Of the many constraining factors that influence households' decisions to invest in the human development of their members, there are subjective elements related to the formation of individuals' aspirations and goals, which in turn affect the levels of achievement they effectively reach (see Chapter 4). With regards to mobility and educational attainment, Arias-Ortiz (2010) has shown that people's perceptions of existing mobility are a key factor in their decisions to invest in their children's education.. According to their findings, households that perceive more mobility (in other words, that believe that mobility is possible and is therefore worth the effort required to obtain it) tend to invest more in schooling. The difference in comparison to households that do not view mobility as possible amounts to at least one year of studies.¹⁶

These two key characteristics of inequality in LAC, namely its intensity and persistence, within a context of low social and economic mobility, make it necessary for policymakers to gain a better understanding of the mechanisms that affect the transmission of such heterogeneous levels of achievement betwen households belonging to different socioeconomic groups. It is vital to identify and analyse the multiple constraints facing households within their own specific contexts, as well as the political processes that help reproduce these conditions, if public policies are to be developed that are truly capable of breaking the circles that perpetuate unequal human development in LAC.

¹³ The task of calculating these correlations is carried out in two stages. The first involves constructing an educational attainment index, which reveals whether a given young person is above or below the average level of schooling for people of his or her age. The correlation of this index for young people who live in the same household is then calculated. The greater the correlation, the greater the importance of household conditions in determining the educational attainment of young people who live in the same household and, therefore, the lower the rate of intergenerational mobility (Behrman, Gaviria and Székely, 2001).

¹⁴ The situation resulting from the intergenerational transmission of poor schooling achievement worsens if the quality of the education received by those groups of society with lower levels of income is also considered (ECLAC, 2007).

¹⁵ This topic is revisited in Chapter 2.

¹⁶ The author relied on the data of the Latinobarómetro public opinion survey for the purpose of her study, in which she conducts an in-depth analysis of the problems of double causality associated with analysing social mobility and schooling attainment, and proposes robustness tests for the results by employing different estimation procedures.





Note: The image includes data for 18 Latin American and the Caribbean countries and depicts the following percentages: young people aged 15 to 19 who completed primary education; young people aged 20 to 24 who completed secondary education; and young people aged 25 to 29 who completed university studies, with reference to the level of schooling in the household.

* Average years of study of the head of the household and his/her spouse to gauge the education of the parents.

Source: HDR Team based on ECLAC data (2007).

Instrumental value of reducing inequality: an example

As stated at the beginning of this chapter, there are both normative and practical reasons that make inequality a cause for concern. The connections between inequality, poverty and economic growth highlight the instrumental importance of reducing inequality. The fight against poverty is pegged to the growth of average income and to changes in the way it is distributed (Bourguignon, 2004). This relationship makes it possible, for example, to associate levels of inequality with the feasibility of achieving the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs).¹⁷ Thus it is possible to calculate the growth rate needed in each country to meet the MDG aimed at reducing poverty, given different change scenarios regarding the distribution of income.¹⁸

17 The Millennium Development Goals (MDGs) were formulated at the United Nations Millennium Summit held in New York City in 2000, Representatives from 189 states attended the Summit, and agreed to a series of commitments to eradicate poverty, attain universal primary education, promote gender equality, reduce child mortality rates, improve maternal health, combat HIV/AIDS and other illnesses, ensure environmental sustainability and develop a global partnership for development.

18 "Iso-poverty" curves are constructed, which are essentially combinations of GDP growth rates and changes in inequality that would enable society to reach the poverty levels required by the MDGs for 2015. According to the estimates of the joint UNDP-ECLAC and IPEA (2003) project, halving the incidence of extreme poverty by 2015 in relation to the level reported in 1990, would require considerably higher growth rates in those countries that by 1990 presented very high levels of inequality, particularly among the poorest (based on the assumption that inequality does not change or does so only marginally). The required growth rates would be substantially lower for these same countries if they were able to generate lower prevailing inequality. Applying the same approach, Machinea and Hopenhayn (2005) proved that if a hypothetical assumption of a 10% reduction in the Gini income coefficient were made, the required growth rates would drop from 9.4% to 7% per annum in Bolivia; from 4.9% to 3.1% in Guatemala; from 8.1% to 6% in Honduras; from 6.1% to 4.2% in Nicaragua, and from 8.8% to 6.8% in Paraguay.¹⁹

¹⁹ The Gini coefficient is an indicator employed traditionally to measure income inequality for a group of people.. It ranges from zero (reflecting perfect equality in which everyone has the same income) and one (a value that describes the extreme hypothetical case in which just one person possesses all the income). In other words, the higher the Gini value, the greater the prevailing income inequality. For a more detailed discussion of this topic, see Foster and Sen (1997). The Gini index is the same Gini coefficient but expressed as a percentage.

Inequality restricts the development opportunities of broad swathes of the population, hinders human capital formation, and limits prospects of investment in productive activities, which in turn undermines economic growth capacity. Furthermore, by preserving institutions that uphold the interests of the dominant sectors, inequality exacerbates the relative concentration of wealth in the richer echelons of society (Bourguignon, Ferreira and Walton, 2007). Similarly, and as discussed in Chapter 5, high inequality weakens the regulatory capacity of the state and increases the likelihood of the state being captured by the most powerful economic groups (Guerrero, López-Calva and Walton, 2009). Inequality also tends to stir up social tensions, which may heighten political and institutional instability, thus affecting not only the country's governance, but also the incentives for domestic and international investment, among other factors (Machinea and Hopenhayn, 2005).

TOWARDS A PUBLIC POLICY APPROACH BASED ON THE FINDINGS OF THIS REPORT

This Report proposes a conceptual framework for pinpointing the causes that perpetuate intergenerational inequality. It presents an analytical approach that may be applied to households to identify the multiple constraints they face, along with the mechanisms that help reproduce inequality. The results can serve as the basis for developing public policies capable of breaking through the intergenerational cycles of poor performance in terms of human development. The focus of the binding constraints approach proposed in Chapter 3 is accompanied by an analysis of the factors that transcend purely objective aspects relating to access to goods and services. Chapter 4 presents the capabilities approach to human development theory in greater detail, explores the social and contextual factors that shape inequality, and examines how these constraints influence the formation of people's aspirations, as well as their ability to pursue and realize goals they value and have reason to value. The application of a broad and comprehensive approach that addresses the relevance of, and interaction between, the numerous factors that reproduce and perpetuate poverty and inequality, is crucial for the formulation of effective long-term public policies.

There is already extensive knowledge and awareness of the strengths, weaknesses and relative importance of the public initiatives designed to combat poverty and inequality. A question that begs asking is why many of these policy initiatives are never proposed or, if proposed and implemented, fail to succeed. The closing argument of this Report contends that in order to break this cycle of inequality, not only factors related to households must be taken into account, but also those associated with the quality of political representation and the very functioning of the system for participating in decisions of public interest, as well as those

Chart 1.3 Developed countries (6 countries) and Latin America and the Caribbean (3 countries). Intergenerational mobility. Intergenerational income elasticity



factors that affect the strength of the state and the effectiveness of the instruments available to it. These factors encompass aspects relating not only to redistribution, but also to the regulatory capacity of the state and its ability to guarantee environments of real and effective competition that benefit consumers. These elements are discussed at greater length in Chapter 5.

Inequality tends to breed inequality as a result of political systems that offer different groups different access to influencing public decisions, and because the system responds differently to groups with fewer resources and less lobbying capacity. Democratising the spheres of power is an absolute prerequisite for human development. Achieving equality in human development requires a redistribution of the powers of influence and improvements in the quality of political representation.

With this in mind, the key objective of this Report is to provide guidelines for formulating specific policies that foster situations of equality in human development, such that real and effective freedoms are extended to groups with much fewer options and decisions open to them.



Inequality in Latin America and the Caribbean

2

HUMAN DEVELOPMENT WITH PERSISTING INEQUALITY

Latin America and the Caribbean (LAC) is the world's most unequal region. Inequality is not only high, but also very persistent (see Charts 2.1 and 2.2.), despite the fact that recently there have been significant advances in social achievements, which are reflected in the trend in the human development index (HDI).¹ This chapter discusses the recent evolution of human development in LAC and the inequality that characterises the region. It also proposes an alternative method for calculating the HDI to reflect existing inequality in each of the countries of the region. Last of all, it describes how this inequality is transmitted from one generation to another, as a result of the fact that its intensity and persistence is combined with low social mobility.

Over the period spanning 1990-2007, LAC countries reported gains in terms of human development, although the average annual growth rate for this particular indicator has fallen slightly over recent years, moving from 0.8% in the nineties to 0.6% for 2000-2007 (see Table 2.1). In comparative terms, the performance of countries varied greatly, although those with lower relative levels of human development according to this index showed notably higher growth rates than countries with the highest HDI levels.² Meanwhile, countries from other regions of the world that in 2000 had reported HDI values similar to those of LAC countries, by 2007 had achieved considerably more progress (see Table 2.2).

Meanwhile, poverty decreased in the years prior to the 2008-2009 crisis, and inequality also declined slightly in a significant number of countries. This decrease was mainly due to economic growth and an improvement in the impact of social spending as a result of the implementation of specific programmes. Nonetheless, as is suggested by Box 2.1, it is unclear whether the decreasing trend in inequality will be sustainable over time.

THE TYRANNY OF AVERAGES

While advances in human development and the decrease in poverty are evident in various countries in the region, aggregate figures hide significant inequalities, including geographic inequality, inequality between groups and between the different dimensions of human development. Thus, two countries with the same HDI can have very different social configurations: while one might be moving toward the full realisation of the potential achievements of all its citizens, in the other, achievements may be very unevenly distributed, a situation which may entail considerable limitations for attaining full human development for the entire society.

¹ Since 1990, the United National Development Programme (UNDP) has used the HDI as the primary tool for measuring human development. This index was designed to record progress in three fundamental dimensions: living a long and healthy life (measured by life expectancy at birth), the acquisition of valuable knowledge for the individual and society (measured by literacy rates and school enrolment) and the availability of income needed to maintain a decent standard of living (measured by per capita gross domestic product –GDP– adjusted for purchasing power parity). An index is calculated for each of the three dimensions, and the simple average of the three indices results in the overall value of the HDI. For detailed information about how the HDI and other human development indicators used in this Report were developed, see the technical notes section in the appendices at the end.

² This would show a converging trend in the HDI among the countries in the region, a trend that was more pronounced in the 1990-2000 period.



Note: the Gini index considered in each case corresponds to the last year for which data is available over the period spanning 1995-2005 Source: Gasparini et al. (2009), based on SEDLAC (CEDLAS and World Bank, 2010)

Chart 2.2. Regions of the world. Gini index reflecting income distribution. Ten-year averages for 1970, 1980 and 1990 and average for the period 1970-2000.



Table 2.1. Latin America and the Caribbean. Performance of the human development index (HDI). 1990, 2000, 2007 and growth (%) over the periods 1990-2000 and 2000-2007

3 - 1				Grc 1990-2	Groi 2000-20
37 Barbados			0.903	n.a.	n.a.
44 Chile	0.795	0.849	0.878	6.8	3.4
47 Antigua & Barbuda			0.868	n.a.	n.a.
49 Argentina	0.804		0.866	n.a.	n.a.
50 Uruguay	0.802	0.837	0.865	4.4	3.3
51 Cuba			0.863	n.a.	n.a.
52 Bahamas			0.856	n.a.	n.a.
53 Mexico	0.782	0.825	0.854	5.5	3.5
54 Costa Rica	0.791	0.825	0.854	4.3	3.5
58 Venezuela (Bolivariar Rep.of)	0.790	0.802	0.844	1.5	5.2
60 Panama	0.765	0.811	0.840	6.0	3.6
62 Saint Kitts and Nevis			0.838	n.a.	n.a.
64 Trinidad and Tobago	0.796	0.806	0.837	1.3	3.8
69 Santa Lucia			0.821	n.a.	n.a.
73 Dominica			0.814	n.a.	n.a.
74 Granada			0.813	n.a.	n.a.
75 Brasil	0.710	0.790	0.813	11.3	2.9
77 Colombia	0.715	0.772	0.807	8.0	4.5

Source: HDR Team calculations based on UNDP (2009a)



Worldwide position 2007 HDI	Country	HDI 1990	HDI 2000	HDI 2007	Growth 1990-2000 (%)	Growth 2000-2007 (%)
78	Peru	0.708	0.771	0.806	8.9	4.5
80	Ecuador	0.744		0.806	n.a.	n.a.
90	Dominican Republic	0.667	0.748	0.777	12.1	3.9
91	San Vicente and las Granadinas			0.772	n.a.	n.a.
93	Belize	0.705	0.735	0.772	4.3	5.0
97	Suriname			0.769	n.a.	n.a.
100	Jamaica		0.750	0.766	n.a.	2.1
101	Paraguay	0.711	0.737	0.761	3.7	3.3
106	El Salvador	0.660	0.704	0.747	6.7	6.1
112	Honduras	0.608	0.690	0.732	13.5	6.1
113	Bolivia (Plurinational State)	0.629	0.699	0.729	11.1	4.3
114	Guyana			0.729	n.a.	n.a.
122	Guatemala	0.555	0.664	0.704	19.6	6.0
124	Nicaragua	0.573	0.667	0.699	16.4	4.8
149	Haití	0.462		0.532	n.a.	n.a.
	Aver	age cour	ntry grov	vth rate	8.1	4.3
	Average ann	ual cour	ntry grov	vth rate	0.8	0.6

Geographic inequality

In addition to the visible differences in human development among countries (see Table 2.1), inequality is also evident within them. Disaggregated estimates reveal the disadvantages facing certain groups of the population whose levels of income and of access to health and education differ markedly from one geographic area to another within the same country (see Figure 2.3).³

Inequality between groups: gender, ethnic and race differences

Inequalities between groups, such as between people of different sex, or of different racial or ethnic origin, also directly impact human development in the region. In the first case, according to the gender-related development index (GDI), which like the HDI index considers the dimensions of life expectancy, education and income, in 2007, Cuba, Venezuela and Nicaragua experienced a decline of nearly 2% in human development attributable to gender inequality.⁴ Meanwhile, in Honduras, Guatemala and Guyana, this decrease was close to 1%. Lastly, while the rest of the countries in the region had declines of less than 1%, Bolivia and Colombia stood out with decreases of nearly zero (see Table 2.3).⁵

Gender inequalities become more apparent when considering other dimensions of human development. According to the gender empowerment measure (GEM), which measures the degree of participation of women in political decisions, women's access to professional opportunities, their participation in economic decisions, and the decision-making power they have over economic resources, inequality is even greater.⁶ With the exception of Trinidad and Tobago, which in 2007 had a GEM of 0.801, the other countries of the region had levels below 0.700.

- 4 These figures are obtained by calculating the proportion that the GDI represents with respect to the HDI. The GDI is another one of the primary indicators used by the UNDP, and it includes the same dimensions as the HDI, adjusted for differences in access by both sexes to basic functionings. Based on this adjustment, if the level of human development of women and men is equal, the GDI and the HDI are also equal. Likewise, the larger the distance is between one indicator and the other, the greater the inequality attributable to gender. To learn about methodological aspects for developing this indicator and the discussion regarding its scope, see the technical notes section in the appendices at the end of this Report and the Human Development Report 1995 (UNDP, 1995).
- 5 On a global level, the country with the greatest decline in human development attributable to inequality between men and women is Afghanistan, with a 13.5% decrease in its HDI.
- 6 The components used in calculating this indicator are: the percentage of women working in the legislature; the share of women who are employed, either as professionals, in technical positions, as public employees or as managers; and the income women earn from their work. The index equals one when there is equal participation between men and women in all aspects considered by the GDI, and its value moves closer to zero as the level of inequality increases. To learn about methodological aspects for developing this indicator and the discussion regarding its scope, see the technical notes section in the appendices at the endo of this Report and the Human Development Report 1995 (UNDP, 1995).

³ Chapter 4 of ECLAC (2010) analyses regional disparities and convergences in the region.

Box 2.1. The decline in inequality: causes and challenges

Inequality within a historical perspective:

Argentina, Brazil, Mexico and Peru

The so-called lost decade of the nineteen eighties witnessed a rise in inequality throughout Latin American and the Caribbean (LAC) countries. Available information indicates that the debt crisis had a knock-on effect on inequality, largely because the poor were afforded less opportunities to cushion themselves from the effects of inflation. Similarly, the safety nets intended to aid the population were either non-existent or presented design flaws.

Over the course of the nineties, a decade characterized by structural reforms, inequality rose, partly as a product of the increased relative returns to education. As a result, the relative slump in demand for unskilled labour and the increase in the number of qualified workers gave rise to a salary increase for the latter group (particularly university graduates).

The rise in inequality came to a halt in most LAC countries towards the second half of the nineties or towards the start of the twentyfirst century, depending on the country in question. Inequality, as measured by the Gini coefficient, fell by 5.9% in Mexico, 5.4% in the urban areas of Argentina, 5.0% in Peru and 4.8% in Brazil. This drop in inequality stemmed from lower inequality in terms of income, both labour and non-labour (returns on physical and financial capital, transfers of private and public income, etc.).

Table 2.2. Latin America and the Caribbean (19 countries) in a worldwide context (26 countries). Human development index (HDI) 2000-2007 and growth (%) during 2000-2007.

Global position HDI	Country	HDI		Growth 2000-2007		Global position HDI	Country	HDI		Growth 2000-2007
2000		2000	2007	(%)		2000		2000	2007	(%)
32	Poland	0.853	0.880	3.2		58	Colombia	0.772	0.807	4.5
33	Chile	0.849	0.878	3.4		59	Peru	0.771	0.806	4.5
34	United Arab Emirates	0.848	0.903	6.6		60	Mauritius	0.770	0.804	4.5
37	Slovakia	0.840	0.880	4.7		64	Thailand	0.753	0.783	4.0
38	Uruguay	0.837	0.865	3.3		65	Jamaica	0.750	0.766	2.1
39	Croacia	0.837	0.871	4.1		66	Dominican Republic	0.748	0.777	3.8
40	Estonia	0.835	0.883	5.8		67	Kazakhstan	0.747	0.804	7.6
41	Lithuania	0.830	0.870	4.9		71	Iran (Islamic Republic of)	0.738	0.782	6.0
42	Costa Rica	0.825	0.854	3.5		72	Paraguay	0.737	0.761	3.2
43	Mexico	0.825	0.854	3.6		73	Gabon	0.735	0.755	2.7
44	Libyan Arab Jamahiriya	0.821	0.847	3.1		74	Belize	0.735	0.772	5.0
45	Montenegro	0.815	0.834	2.4		75	Maldives	0.730	0.771	5.6
46	Panama	0.811	0.840	3.6		80	Algeria	0.713	0.754	5.7
47	Latvia	0.810	0.866	7.0		81	El Salvador	0.704	0.747	6.1
48	Trinidad and Tobago	0.806	0.837	3.8		02	Bolivia (Plurinational	0.699	0.729	4.4
49	Bulgaria	0.803	0.840	4.6		82	State of)			
50	Venezuela (Bolivarian Rep. of)	0.802	0.844	5.3		83	Jordan	0.691	0.770	11.5
						84	Honduras	0.690	0.732	6.0
51	Macedonia (former Yugoslav Republic of)	0.800	0.817	2.1		85	Vietnam	0.690	0.725	5.1
						93	Indonesia	0.673	0.734	9.1
53	Serbia	0.797	0.826	3.7		94	Nicaragua	0.667	0.699	4.8
54	Brazil	0.790	0.813	2.9		95	Egypt	0.665	0.703	5.8
55	Romania	0.788	0.837	6.3		96	Guatemala	0.664	0.704	6.1
57	Albania	0.784	0.818	4.4		97	Vanuatu	0.663	0.693	4.5
Source: HDR Team calculations based on UNDP (2009a)										

The decline in inequality

Among the main reasons behind the drop in wage-income inequality within the region, the more equitable distribution of educational attainment stands out: the Gini coefficient for educational attainment fell by 5% in Brazil, 7% in Mexico and 4% in Peru, while Argentina experienced only a marginal reduction. Thus, the quantity effect of education had an equalizing result. That said, an improved distribution of educational attainment fails to explain in itself the decline in inequality of wage-income, given that the improvement in educational attainment had already been apparent for some time. In fact, previous studies conducted in Argentina and Mexico revealed that inequality in such countries had actually increased despite the improvements in

Table 2.3. Latin America and the Caribbean (22 countries). Decrease in human development attributable to inequalities between men and women, the gender-related development index (GDI) and the human development index (HDI) 2007

Country	GDI 2007	HDI 2007	Human development loss attributable to inequalities between men and women (%)
Cuba	0.844	0.863	2.3
Venezuela (Bolivarian Rep. of)	0.827	0.844	2.1
Nicaragua	0.686	0.699	1.9
Honduras	0.721	0.732	1.5
Guatemala	0.696	0.704	1.1
Guyana	0.721	0.729	1.1
El Salvador	0.740	0.747	0.9
Mexico	0.847	0.854	0.8
Chile	0.871	0.878	0.8
Costa Rica	0.848	0.854	0.7
Jamaica	0.762	0.766	0.5
Trinidad and Tobago	0.833	0.837	0.5
Argentina	0.862	0.866	0.5
Brazil	0.810	0.813	0.4
Uruguay	0.862	0.865	0.3
Barbados	0.900	0.903	0.3
Paraguay	0.759	0.761	0.3
Dominican Republic	0.775	0.777	0.3
Peru	0.804	0.806	0.2
Panama	0.838	0.840	0.2
Bolivia (Plurinational State of)	0.728	0.729	0.1
Colombia	0.806	0.807	0.1

Note: The table only includes those countries that have available GDI data for the year in question. The human development loss attributable to inequalities betwen women and men was calculated in relation to the HDI.

Source: HDR Team calculations based on UNDP (2009a).

the distribution of educational attainment. This can be put down to the fact that returns on higher education were greater than those reported for primary education; in other words, the returns obtained for an additional year of primary education were less than those obtained for an additional year of higher education. Nonetheless, returns on education in recent years have more or less levelled off. Figures suggest that although demand for skills outstripped supply over the nineteen nineties, which led to an increase in returns on education, growth in supply over the last ten years has actually outstripped demand, thereby mitigating the advantage of having completed university studies.

The second key factor that helped to bring about a reduction in inequality within the region was the decline in inequality relating to non-labour income. Indeed, over the first ten years of the twenty-first century, a significant increase in the equalizing importance of public transfers (and, in general, of the state's social expenditure) has been observed within the four countries in question. In recent years, improvements have been made to the design of conditional cash transfers programs, while both the amount and coverage of the transmissions also increased and focalization methods were made more efficient. Moreover, the regions continued to step up their spending in healthcare, education, nutrition and basic infrastructures (electricity, water, sewage systems, etc.).

Other factors that have helped to combat inequality in LAC countries include the growth in employment, the changes in relative prices and the adjustments resulting from macroeconomic shocks. Furthermore, various countries rolled out free market reforms to increase trade and encourage privatization. Certain academics, including Sánchez-Páramo and Schady (2003), Behrman, Birdsall and Székely (2003), Goldberg and Pavnick (2007), and Gasparini and Cruces (2008), have suggested that these reforms generated a more pronounced income inequality. However, to evaluate the effects of these changes, particular attention must be paid to the institutional context of each individual country, as well as the processes lying behind each change and the consequences thereof.

Challenges in store

The coming years may witness two hurdles to reducing inequality. Firstly, and although the quantity of education has certainly increased, those who earn more are still in a better position to access quality higher education, whereas those with fewer resources will find it much harder to enrol in university courses. Secondly, and despite the fact that there has been a widespread increase in social spending, a significant part of government outlay can still be considered neutral or even regressive. Additionally, attention must be paid to the long-term impact of the global crisis that broke onto the scene in 2008 and which has already exacerbated poverty and inequality in certain countries.

Source: HDR Team research based on López-Calva and Lustig (2010).





Box 2.2. Approach to inequality in the national human development reports for Latin America and the Caribbean.¹

There are numerous causes explaining the gaping holes in terms of human development in Latin American and Caribbean (LAC) countries, including geographic localization and the race or ethnic group in question. The first national human development report conducted in Mexico (HDR Mexico, 2002) illustrates the importance of geographic factors in explaining the inequality ravaging LAC societies. This document reveals that although the country's human development index (HDI) for 2000 stood at 0.801, there was a sharp contrast between the HDI for the Federal District (0.891) and, for example, that for the state of Chiapas (0.703). In its attempts to analyse inequality, the Mexican HDR was not content with simply comparing aggregates between states and regions, but also recalculated the HDIs, using the general means method, which is also employed in this Report (see Section 2.3), to take into account the existing inequalities between people.. This approach enabled the researchers to conclude that inequalities among the Mexican populace can actually lead to losses of up to 26% in the HDI (HDR-Mexico, 2002). In turn, the HDR for Paraguay (2002) concentrated on the inequalities resulting from sex, schooling, geographic location and ethnicity. This particular national HDR

documented an increase in both the number of people living in poverty and the levels of inequality, despite a backdrop of growth in gross domestic product (GDP) over previous years. The HDR for Paraguay (2008) also focused its analysis on inequalities as a hurdle to human development and the need to spur quality economic growth that fosters well-being. This national report stressed the need to apply specific public policies to combat existing inequalities, given that the power relations between those who wield economic and political power and other groups of society do not reflect principles of democracy or otherwise encourage conditions that ensure the well-being of the entire population. The national HDR for the Dominican Republic also centred its analysis on inequality as the main obstacle to full human development within the country. This report contends that, as a general rule, the State does not guarantee fair access to education, healthcare and quality employment or to other functionings key to human development, based on equal human rights. Access to these functionings actually depends more on people's levels of income or wealth, sex, the area in which they live or the ethnic group to which they belong (HDR Dominican Republic, 2008). In turn, the HDR Brazil 2005 reports an increase in inequality within the country and analyses the relative disadvantages facing the black population (HDR Brazil, 2005).

The most recent HDR for Guatemala (2008), aimed at analysing how the economy can promote human development, documents the extreme prevailing inequality in the country: whereas the wealthiest 4% of the population reported an HDI of 0.899, the poorest 15% revealed an HDI of 0.523. The HDR for Guatemala also explored various elements that play a role in the intergenerational transmission

¹ In order to illustrate the excellent and prolific work carried out in Latin America and the Caribbean (LAC), which has been documented in the form of national human development reports (HDR), aspects featured in the reports for certain LAC countries has been included (HDR Chile, 2006; HDR Guatemala, 2005 and 2008; HDR HDR Honduras, 2006; HDR Mexico, 2002; HDR Panama, 2002; HDR Brazil, 2005; HDR Paraguay, 2002 and 2008, and HDR Dominican Republic, 2008). Certain reports from other regions has been also referred (HDR China, 2005; HDR Cambodia, 2007; HDR Arunachal Pradesh, 2005). Appendix 3 contains an exhaustive list of the HDRs that have been published for the region since 1995.



Note: The charts depict how the levels of each index are distributed for the geographic units that make up each country (for example, states, provinces or departments). The lines represent the classification of all these levels, from highest to lowest, while the points indicate the average value of the index in each case. A longer line points to greater heterogeneity in the distribution of attainment between the geographic units of a given country, whereas a shorter line reveals a more homogenous distribution of attainment among such units. Given the heterogeneity in the definitions of the geographic units, which depend on the context of each country, the information does not allow for comparisons between them and only illustrates the internal dispersion of the values considered in each of the countries.

Source: Estimates from different agencies of the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) in each country, whether operating on a state, provincial or departmental level. The methodology applied in certain cases differs from that established by the UNDP (1990).

of poverty and inequality in human development. For example, it reveals that average educational attainment for the group of the population aged between 15 and 24 is only six years of studies, a figure that sits uncomfortably with the nine-plus years of schooling that this segment of the population should have. Similarly, the same HDR reports that half the under-five population suffers from chronic malnutrition. Both these factors, transmitted largely by the previous generation's living conditions, characterized by multiple deprivations and very low levels of human development, hinder the future development of the country's human capital (HDR Guatemala, 2008). The previous national HDR for Guatemala, published in 2005, had already documented the inter-ethnic disparities in terms of education, life expectancy and income generation and analysed the impact of these differences on the development of the capabilities of the country's indigenous population (HDR Guatemala, 2005). The HDR Panama also reached similar conclusions: the indigenous population presented higher levels of poverty and worse human development indicators than the non-indigenous population (HDR Panama, 2002).

The HDR for Honduras (2006) emphasized the importance of social inclusion as a requirement for enhancing citizenship. It also depicted various aspects of the prevailing inequality in terms of income and education and contended that the combination of extreme poverty with high levels of inequality in accessing services and sources of income restricts the capacity of the Honduran populace to improve its human development, which undermines democracy (HDR Honduras, 2006). The HDR for Chile (2006) focused primarily on analysing the technological revolution and claimed that although new technologies open up new horizons for people (including the

poor) who have access to them and the capability to adapt to new demands, it will also exacerbate the marginalization of those who find themselves excluded from technological advances.

On a final note, many national HDRs conducted in other regions worldwide also focus their analysis on inequality. For example, the HDR for China (2005) underscores the importance of ensuring greater social equality so as to accomplish the aims of the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs). This particular national report explores both economic inequality and inequality in terms of human rights and politics, including freedom of expression, of belief, and to participate in political activities (HDR China, 2005). In turn, the HDR for Cambodia (2007) contains an exhaustive analysis of key issues to attaining egalitarian and sustained rural development (HDR Cambodia, 2007). Lastly, the HDR 2005 for the state of Arunachal Pradesh (India) illustrated an increase in both the unequal distribution of land ownership and of other resources, and also in inequality in terms of income and consumption (HDR Arunachal Pradesh, India, 2005).

Both the high relative levels of inequality in human development and its persistence in numerous LAC countries have been confirmed in national human development reports, which also analyse the normative and practical ramifications of this phenomenon.

Source: HDR Team based on the following national human development reports: Chile, 2006; Guatemala, 2005 and 2008; Honduras, 2006; Mexico, 2002; Panama, 2002; Brazil, 2005; Paraguay, 2002 and 2008; Dominican Republic, 2008, China, 2005; Cambodia, 2007; and Arunachal-Pradesh, 2005.





Chart 2.4 shows that countries with a higher HDI also have a higher GEM, which suggests that gender equality in various areas is linked to greater achievements in human development overall.

Inequality between men and women is also evident as regards existing opportunities for generating income and accessing social security. For example, women continue to work in jobs with wages that are relatively lower than those received by men, even when both sexes have similar levels of training.Likewise, prevailing labour market rigidities make it even more likely that women will be working in the informal economy and in sectors of low productivity, chiefly services (Márquez and Prada, 2007).

In all countries for which there is comparable information (CEPALSTAT, 2010), there is a greater proportion of women involved in the informal sector than men (see Table 2.4), implying that many women are missing out on the social security benefits that employees in the formal sector receive and are facing greater vulnerability. This is particularly worrying in the case of women in situations of poverty.

Inequalities associated with race and ethnicity also pose major challenges. Throughout LAC, there are slightly more than 50 million indigenous people and 120 million of African descent, representing roughly 33% of the total population for the region. A comparison of the progress made towards the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs) by the population of European descent (PED), as opposed to that of indigenous peoples and Afro-descendants (IPAD), shows that there are still gaps between both groups (Busso, Cicowiez and Gasparini, 2005).7 For example, poverty levels of IPAD are manifestly higher than those for PED, with the exception of Costa Rica and Haiti (see Chart 2.5). This difference can be put down to a range of different factors, one of which relates to the benefits that each group obtains from formal education. On average, the PED has a higher return on education than the IPAD, which gives them greater incentive to continue studying. This situation is reflected in the decrease in enrolment levels of the IPAD as youth from this group move from one level of education to the next. Factors such as per capita income, the parents' levels of educational attainment, the size of the household and place of residence would

⁷ The differentiation between PED and IPAD as comparable groups of the population is intended purely for analytical purposes. In reality, it simplifies the huge diversity present in each group and ignores the quantitatively lower presence of other groups of people within the region. For a more detailed discussion of this subject and an exhaustive justification of this analytical distinction, see Busso, Cicowiez and Gasparini (2005).

Table 2.4. Latin America and the Caribbean (15 countries). Population working in the informal economy in urban areas by gender. 1999 and 2008 (%)

	1999			2008			
Country	Total	Men	Women	Total	Men	Women	
Argentina	42.4	39.5	42.6				
Bolivia (Plurinational State of)	64.2	55.5	75.3	62.5*	57.7*	71.6*	
Brazil	47.4	43.8	52.6	42.0	37.8	47.4	
Chile	31.8**	27.2**	39.2**				
Costa Rica	41.6	39.5	45.0	37.1	33.9	41.4	
Ecuador	58.9	55.0	65.2	57.4	53.0	63.6	
El Salvador	52.3	45.7	59.7				
Honduras	55.2	52.4	58.5	43.9 [*]	45.4 [*]	41.9 [*]	
Mexico				43.7	40.0	49.1	
Panama	34.2	32.3	37.0	35.9	33.5	39.3	
Paraguay	59.2	51.9	69.2	56.5	50.1	65.4	
Peru	64.1	58.7	71.1	59.3	52.9	67.1	
Dominican Republic				50.1	51.9	47.1	
Uruguay	41.5	38.6	45.4	42.8	38.2	48.5	
Venezuela (Bolivarian Republic of)	53.8	54.6	52.2	49.8***	51.8***	46.7***	

Note: The table reflects the population occupied in the informal economy as a percentage of the total population occupied in urban areas. Figures available for 2007

Figures available for 2000

*** Figures refer to the national total Source: CEPALSTAT (2010)

seem to give rise to higher levels of education among the PED in comparison to IPAD.8

Different returns from education and from work experience are factors that influence poverty among IPAD. Table 2.5 illustrates the change in the poverty levels of IPAD that would occur in different countries if this group of the population had the same return on education and work experience as PED. For example, significant changes would be seen in Bolivia, Ecuador and Mexico, where poverty would decrease by 18.4, 43.6 and 21.4 percentage points, respectively. With the exception of Chile, Costa Rica, Panama and Paraguay, returns on education in other LAC

Box 2.3. Use of time: the double burden for women

Gender equality and the empowerment of women, one of the eight objectives of the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs) as enshrined in the United Nations Millennium Declaration, which was ratified in New York in 2000, are important in themselves and are key to accomplishing the remaining MDGs (United Nations, 2000; PAHO, 2005; Gómez Gómez, 2008).

According to the findings of the Task Force on Education, Gender Equality and the Empowerment of Women, which forms part of the UN Millennium Development Project, gender equality and women's empowerment is an objective that includes three core dimensions: i) human abilities, such as education and life expectancy; ii) opportunities to use or apply these abilities by accessing economic and political resources; and iii) security, which refers to the necessary step of making women less vulnerable to violence. Nevertheless, and as postulated by Gómez Gómez (2008), although these three dimensions are interrelated, changes in one dimension will not guarantee changes in the other two. For this reason, the task of bringing about gender equality requires coordinated action on all three fronts, and the empowerment or self-determination of women can only be achieved by making changes in all three dimensions. In order to ensure their empowerment, women need to reach equality not only in terms of skills and opportunities, but also in terms of their agency capacity to harness such skills and exercise their rights.

Recent studies point out that "the key issue for gender inequality [...] is the division of work according to gender, in that men have traditionally been assigned to carry out paid work, and women unpaid work" (Gómez Gómez, 2008).¹ Thus, the chances of women performing paid work is hampered by the fact that it is traditionally women who take care of unpaid housework. For this reason, analysing gender inequalities in terms of the use of time is a crucial tool for framing public policies that affect family life by helping to reconcile paid and unpaid work in which both men and women participate.

Even though most households in Latin America and the Caribbean (LAC) follow the traditional model whereby the man is the "bread winner", while the woman acts as "housewife", figures reveal the increasing role women are playing in work outside the home. In Chile, for example, roughly 45% of women aged 15 or over and living in urban areas are active in the job market, whereas in Peru 62% of women from the same group are involved in paid work or are seeking paid work (see Chart 1).

That said, and since the growing involvement of women in paid work has not been accompanied by an equivalent upswing in the participation of men in unpaid domestic tasks, the workload of women has been effectively multiplied (Arriagada, 2004). As a result, if the total workload for both men and women is analysed, i.e., if the time spent on both domestic tasks and on paid work is added up, it becomes apparent that women are at

⁸ See the Human Development Report Brazil 2005. Racism, poverty and violence, which contains an in-depth analysis of racial inequalities in indicators such as income, education, life expectancy, employment, housing and violence, all disaggregated by municipality, and concludes that the population of African descent is at a relative disadvantage, according to all of the indicators analysed. In order to complement the universallyapplicable policies, the same report suggests implementing affirmative action policies, which are thought to provide a massive boost to mitigating the inequalities facing people of African descent (UNDP, 2005).

¹ For further reading on this subject, see the aforementioned study by Gómez Gómez (2008). as well as Pedrero (2005), Aguirre, García and Carrasco (2005), Arriagada (2004) and, in particular, ILO-UNDP (2009)

countries are lower among IPAD, which means that, except in these four countries, poverty levels throughout the region woul decline if IPAD were to receive the same return on education as PED. Likewise, in 9 out of the 12 countries analysed, the level of poverty would drop if the IPAD were to obtain the same returns on work experience as PED.

The significant differences in human development among these groups of the population are due to a huge variety of factors. A large proportion of the indigenous population, for example, lives in rural areas that have limited access to basic infrastructure, education and healthcare services. Market segregation, intrinsically related to this phenomenon, tends to push the indigenous population to sectors of low productivity, which, as a general rule, do not offer even basic social security benefits. In a significant sample of LAC countries, more than one third of the occupied indigenous population works in the primary sector. In Honduras and Paraguay, for example, this proportion stands at roughly 75% (see Table 2.6).

Box 2.3 (continued)



a distinct disadvantage. As can be seen in Chart 2, the total hours worked by women is invariably greater than the total hours worked by men. Moreover, the fact that no monetary value is attached to unpaid domestic work makes it difficult to calculate the economic contribution of those (mostly women) who carry out this kind of work. Thus, women's contribution to the economy has yet to be effectively recognized. These asymmetries in the distribution and in the valuation of each kind of work have adverse effects on gender equality and the empowerment of women, and at the same time reduce the visibility and perceived importance of their interests in the development of public policies (Gómez Gómez, 2008). It will be very difficult to bring about any real improvement in social equality until a more profound cultural transformation at the family level has been achieved.



Source: HDR Team research based on Aguilar and Espinoza (2004), CONAMU (2006), General Department for Statistics and Census of the Government of Buenos Aires (2005), Gammage (2009), INE Chile (2008), INEC Costa Rica (2008), ONE Cuba (2001), Pedrero (2005), UNDP (2008a) and UDELAR and INE Uruguay (2008).
Chart 2.5 Latin America and the Caribbean (15 countries). Poverty (less than one dollar/day) among the population of European descent (PED) and indigenous peoples and Afro-descendants (IPAD). *Circa* 2000 (%)



Table 2.5 Latin America and the Caribbean (12 countries). Break-down of the difference in the incidence of poverty among ethnic groups. Various years

Country	Year	Incidence of poverty on the PED population	Incidence of poverty on the IPAD population	Poverty level of IPAD if IPAD schooling performance were equal to that of PED	Change in poverty levels if the IPAD schooling performance were equal to that of PED	Poverty level of IPAD if returns to experience of IPAD were equal to that of PED	Poverty level of IPAD if returns to experience of IPAD were equal to that of PED
		(a)	(b)	(c)	(d) = (c) - (b)	(e)	(f) = (e) - (b)
Bolivia (Plurinational State of)	2002	34.0	57.9	39.4	-18.4	59.6	1.7
Brazil	2002	11.2	25.6	24.8	-0.8	22.1	-3.5
Chile	2000	7.5	20.3	24.5	4.2	17.9	-2.4
Colombia	1999	22.7	34.7	32.7	-2.0	32.4	-2.4
Costa Rica	2001	11.6	12.8	14.3	1.5	11.6	-1.2
Ecuador	1998	55.7	82.1	38.6	-43.6	73.1	-9.1
Guatemala	2002	20.7	50.3	47.1	-3.2	50.7	0.4
Honduras	2003	34.2	60.4	60.3	-0.2	72.7	12.3
Mexico	2002	24.4	72.0	50.6	-21.4	70.7	-1.2
Panama	2002	23.6	80.8	87.5	6.6	57.3	-23.5
Paraguay	2001	8.8	36.7	39.1	2.4	30.7	-6.0
Peru	2001	31.1	46.6	43.4	-3.2	46.0	-0.5

Note: Household per capita income. Poverty threshold: two dollars/day adjusted at purchasing power parity (PPP). The figures included in columns (c) and (e) have been obtained from simulations that entail assigning the IPAD certain characteristics of PED. The difference between columns (c) and (e) and column (b) can therefore be interpreted as the impact that a change in labor experience and schooling performance would have on IPAD poverty.
Source: HDR Team calculations based on Busso, Cicowiez and Gasparini (2005)

Table 2.6. Latin America and the Caribbean (11 countries). Working population by sector (%)						
Country	Primary sector		Secondary sector		Tertiary sector	
Country	Indigenous	Non-indigenous	Indigenous	Non-indigenous	Indigenous	Non-indigenous
Bolivia (Plurinational State of)	37.6	19.1	19.8	20.9	42.6	60.1
Brazil	33.4	18.0	18.0	21.7	48.6	60.3
Chile	20.3	10.3	22.6	22.0	57.1	67.7
Costa Rica	58.8	18.6	12.5	24.9	28.7	56.5
Ecuador	62.3	26.8	14.3	19.2	23.5	54.1
Guatemala	56.0	31.2	18.5	23.0	25.6	45.8
Honduras	74.0	39.4	9.2	22.0	16.8	38.6
Mexico	50.4	13.5	20.9	29.4	28.7	57.1
Panama	68.9	16.0	7.4	19.1	23.7	64.9
Paraguay	77.9	27.0	13.7	18.9	8.5	54.1
Venezuela (Bolivarian Republic of)	32.8	10.0	19.9	19.9	47.3	70.2
Note: Refers to the population aged 15 or over. Source: CELADE (2010).						

Inequality in other dimensions of human development

Regional inequality is also reflected in other development indicators, such as per capita income, access to infrastructure and basic services, and other dimensions included in the HDI.⁹

LAC countries are among the most unequal in the world in terms of per capita household income: 10 of the world's 15 most inequality-rife countries belong to this region (UNU/WIDER, 2007; Gasparini et al., 2009a). For example, income inequality in the LAC region, as measured by the Gini coefficient, is 65% higher than in high-income countries, 36% higher than the income inequality observed in East Asian countries, and 18% higher than the level reported for sub-Saharan Africa (López-Calva and Lustig, 2010).

Whereas inequality in Central America has followed a constant downward path since the start of the nineties, inequality in the Southern Cone and the Andean region of South America increased over the nineties, and it was not until roughly 2005 that it began to drop off significantly (Gasparini et al., 2009a; López-Calva and Lustig, 2010) (See Chart 2.6). Yet, despite this more recent improvement, prevailing inequality in LAC nations remains very high: for example, the Gini index for Bolivia, Haiti and Brazil stands at over 55 (see Chart 2.7).¹⁰

To evaluate inequality in terms of different groups' access to basic infrastructure services, a number of different indicators are used, such as the availability of drinking water and electricity, the degree of housing overcrowding and the quality of materials used in housing. In this regard, for some countries of the region such as Chile and Costa Rica, the difference between the 20% of the population with the highest income and the 20% with the lowest income is relatively low, while countries such as Peru, Bolivia and Guatemala, offer poor coverage of such services, coupled with gaping breaches between the two aforementioned groups (see Chart 2.8). As regards to access to adequate housing and basic services over the period spanning 1995 to 2005, the difference in the use of quality housing materials between the 20% of the population with the greatest income and the 20% with the lowest dropped in a number of cases, with the obvious exceptions of Bolivia and, less so, Argentina, Nicaragua and Peru. As for change in access to drinking water over the period in question, Ecuador, Nicaragua and Venezuela reported increased inequality between the highest and lowest income groups, while in Guatemala, Honduras and Bolivia a similar trend was observed regarding access to electricity (see Chart 2.9).

What happens with the differences that occur between the dimensions of the HDI? Despite the fact that the components of this index have the same weight in the final result (see Technical Note 1), each one's contribution to the HDI as a whole may be different. Within a context of balanced development, each component would represent a third of the total value of the index. Thus, one might think that a share of less than a third for one of these components would indicate a relative lag in this dimension of the index, while shares of over a third would indicate the opposite. Hence, there are countries with similar HDI levels whose

⁹ The first part of this section is based primarily on Gasparini et al. (2009a).

¹⁰ In the field of employment, which is vital for generating income and other satisfactors, hourly-wage inequality is as high as income distribution inequality: It is estimated that the hourly wage in the region reflects a Gini index of 50.1% (see the statistical appendix at the end of this report).





Note: The Gini indices that appear in this chart differ from those presented in Chart 2.1, due mainly to the fact that they refer to different years or are based on information from a different source. For example, in Chart 2.1, the Gini indices for Costa Rica and Venezuela are for the year 2000, while in Chart 2.7 they are for 2006. Other examples are: El Salvador (indices for 2004 vs. 2005), Mexico (indices for 2001 vs. 2004), Nicaragua (indices for 2001 vs. 2005), Guatemala (indices for 2002 vs. 2004), Chile (indices for 2003 vs.. 2006), Ecuador (indices for 2000 vs. 2006), Bolivia (indices for 2002 vs. 2005), Dominican Republic (indices for 2000 vs. 2005), and Guyana (differences in both the years featured and the source of the data: UNU-WIDER-1993 vs.. calculations carried out by Gasparini et al, (2009), based on data for 1999). To find the most recent Gini coefficients for LAC countries, see Table A19 in the Statistical Appendix of this Report.

Source: Gasparini et al. (2009), based on SEDLAC (CEDLAS and World Bank, 2010).

components, nonetheless, have completely different levels. For example, a country with high development in health and low income may have the same HDI as a country with high income and low health. As a result, the HDI would reflect a comparable level of human development in both countries, whereas the opportunities and capabilities available in both societies would be different, as would public policy priorities.

From this perspective, for most of the LAC countries (except for the Bahamas, Costa Rica, Dominican Republic, Guatemala, Belize, Haiti, Nicaragua and Trinidad and Tobago), education "contributes" most to their HDI level. This is due to the fact that in recent decades, there has been an expansion in access to education in the region, which resulted in a notable drop in illiteracy and an increase in school attendance rates (Gasparini et al., 2009a). With respect to health, its share of the HDI value ranges between 29% in Trinidad and Tobago and 38% in Nicaragua (see Chart 2.10). Income, however, contributes the least to the HDI, with extreme cases such as Guyana, Haiti and Nicaragua, where income accounts for only 25% of their HDI. In principle, this information indicates that the income dimension is one of the biggest challenges facing the countries in the region, since, in addition to its low relative level, it is also characterised, as seen above, by greater inequality. Chart 2.11 illustrates the regional trend by showing the maximum, average and minimum HDI values and its components in LAC for 1990, 2000 and 2006. It is clear that, on average, during this period, the income dimension showed lower levels and smaller increases than the health and education dimensions.

Chart 2.8 Latin America and the Caribbean (18 countries). Indicators of housing quality and access to basic services. Difference between the highest and lowest income quintiles. *Circa* 2006



Note: The chart showcases the differences in access to basic services and housing quality as reported between the 20% of the population with the highest income and the 20% with the lowest income. The differences are expressed as percentages, except for the chart referring to the number of persons per room.

Source: Gasparini et al. (2009), based on SEDLAC (CEDLAS and World Bank, 2010).



Source: Gasparini et al. (2009), based on SEDLAC (CEDLAS and World Bank, 2010)





Box 2.4. Poverty: a multidimensional phenomenon

Just as the human development index (HDI) reflects the level of wellbeing of a country's population in three key dimensions (income, health and education), the multidimensional poverty indices seek to synthesize information on the deprivations facing the population.¹

A study conducted by Battiston et al. (2009) explores the evolution and characteristics of poverty in Latin America and the Caribbean (LAC) by utilizing a raft of multidimensional measures. The work is based on information on Brazil, Chile, El Salvador and Mexico for the period spanning 1992-2006. The dimensions considered are: income, school attendance, educational level of the head of household, access to sewage and sanitation, access to water and to housing that meets minimum standards of quality. Two findingsof this study are particularly interesting. Firstly, the research found a clear improvement in multidimensional poverty in LAC countries, irrespective of the method employed (Figure 1).²

This improvement is not only due to a reduction in the percentage of poor people experiencing two or more of the dimensions in question, but also because of a lower average number of the deprivations facing the poor population.

Nevertheless, despite the progress made over the last 10 years, rural areas still report high rates of multidimensional poverty. Thus, the second finding of Battiston et al. (2009) is that people who live outside the cities are not only more prone to poverty, but are also more likely to suffer various deprivations at the same time.

This means that people who experience deprivations within one of the dimensions of well-being have a high likelihood of not reaching the minimum levels of well-being in at least one of the other dimensions under consideration. Figure 2 depicts, for each country and region, the percentage of people who suffer deprivations in

¹ Latin America boasts a long tradition of studies based on multidimensional approaches. The focus on unsatisfied basic needs (UBN), as promoted by the Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean (ECLAC) and employed extensively in the region since the start of the 1980's, classifies geographic areas in accordance with the percentage of the population that fails to meet minimum levels under various indicators relating to the characteristics of the household and the education of its members. Since then, other methodologies for measuring multidimensional poverty have been formulated and put into practice. These attempt to overcome some of the criticisms commonly levelled at UBN approaches. Of this new wave, the method proposed by Alkire and Foster (2007) in the Oxford Poverty & Human Development Initiative (OPHI) is of particular interest, as well as the approach developed by Battiston et al. (2009).

² The Battiston et al. (2009) study also uses information on Argentina and Uruguay, although only data for the urban areas was available for those countries. According to this study, Uruguay witnessed a slight drop in multidimensional poverty in urban areas, whereas Argentina did not report any significant changes during the period in question. In comparison with the other countries under consideration, Argentina and Uruguay, along with Chile, are the nations that boast the lowest levels of urban poverty.





Box 2.4 (continued)

one or more dimension (k = 1), in two or more dimensions (k = 2), etc. The chart reveals that the percentage of people who face deprivations in two or more dimensions is substantially higher in rural areas than in urban settings. Whereas in the urban areas of El Salvador 44% of the population suffers deprivations in two or more dimensions, this proportion climbs to 93% in rural areas. In Mexico, these deprivations affect 28% of the inhabitants of urban areas and 72% in rural environments.

In Brazil, the same values stand at 18% and 74%, respectively, while in Chile they come in at 4% for urban areas and 36% for rural areas.

The percentage of people who face deprivations in four or more dimensions is also high in El Salvador, Brazil and Mexico.





Figure 2. Latin America and the Caribbean (4 countries). Incidence of multidimensional poverty based on the number (k) of minimum deprivations. Urban and rural areas. 2006 (as % of multidimensionally poor people)



Not all inequalities are the same: the *middle classes* in LAC

Inequality has many faces and expressions, and in some cases, specific aspects of the inequalities observed within each dimension of development are worthy of more detailed analysis. Along these lines, as part of the analysis of income differences among individuals it is very useful to identify and examine the characteristics of the *middle classes* of the different countries in the region. The concept of middle class originates from studies on social stratification and is important for LAC precisely because of the high level of income inequality characterising the region.

Recent studies point out that the size of the *middle class* is important because of the role this segment plays as an engine for economic growth. A relatively large *middle class* not only strengthens a country's domestic market, but has also been associated with greater social cohesion and less conflict (Birdsall, Graham and Pettinato, 2000; Easterly, 2002).¹¹

In accordance with this approach, the existence of a strong middle class is significant because it helps create "*connected societies*" where people perceive that other options in life are possible and attainable (Genicot and Ray, 2009). This, in turn, fosters greater levels of effort and social mobility than is the case in *polarised societies* (see Box 2.5).

The concept of *middle class* has several definitions, one of which makes it possible by using polarisation measurements, to quantify in any specific society the percentage of people who belong to the *middle class*.¹² Social polarisation studies seek to measure the gap between two groups with similar internal compositions but which are different from one another. According to this perspective, society can be seen as a mixture of groups in which certain individuals are similar and others are different in relation to certain observable characteristics. Based on this logic, Cruces, López-Calva and Battiston (2010) identify three income-related classes or population groups (low, middle and high) in Argentina, Brazil, Chile, El Salvador, Mexico and Uruguay for the period spanning from 1993 to 2006.

Available information would indicate that, first of all, in 2006, the *middle classes* in most of the countries analysed comprised barely more than a third of the total population, with the notable exception of Uruguay, where 40% of the population formed part

Chart 2.12. Latin America and the Caribbean (6 countries). Socioeconomic classes. 2006 (%)



of the *middle class*. Chile, on the other hand, had the largest share of low-income inhabitants (55% of the population), while Uruguay had the lowest percentage in this category (45%). As for the high-income group, Chile also stood out with barely over 10% of its population in this category, while at the opposite end stood Argentina, with 20% (see Chart 2.12).

According to the analysis, the size of the three identified income groups remained relatively stable between 1992 and 2006. Changes of just over 1% were seen in a few cases. The polarisation measure carried out by Cruces et al. (2010) also found that in each country, the largest share of households belonged to the low-income group, followed by the *middle class*, and finally by the high income group, comprised of the smallest share of the population.

The *middle class*'s share in total income in the region remained stable at around 30%, although Brazil, Mexico and Uruguay experienced a small decline over the period in question. Only Argentina and Chile showed modest increases, of around 5% and 3%, respectively. Recent approaches highlight the importance of financial security when classifying groups in a society and propose that the definition

¹¹ The concept of polarisation is mainly related to the bimodality of the distribution of income, or of some other characteristic (as opposed to the notion of unimodal distribution). Different methods have been developed to express this concept. These include those developed by Esteban and Ray (1994), Zhang and Kanbur (2001) and Foster and Wolfson (2010). The concept of polarisation is different from that of inequality and, in fact, the two can develop in opposite directions.

¹² Despite the importance of the concept of middle class, there is no consensus about how to define it in empirical terms, and there are various approaches that propose different indicators to delimit the population that makes up the middle class. The main indicators, in addition to that which uses social polarisation measures as a criterion, include definitions based on quantiles or on measures of the mode, such as the mean or median, and definitions based on measures of poverty and other thresholds. For a discussion on the topic, see Cruces, López-Calva and Battiston (2010).

Box 2.5. The polarisation of income in Latin America and the Caribbean

The study conducted by Gasparini et al. (2009b) provides estimated income-based polarisation indices. The calculations are based on the definition of polarisation suggested by Esteban and Ray (1994) for the purpose of studying various Latin American and Caribbean (LAC) countries over the period spanning 1989-2004. The results indicate that the average polarisation index for the region comes in at 44% above the European average and 40% above the average for countries from the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). The authors of the study conclude that: ted an increase in polarisation, albeit on a limited scale as a general rule (see Figure 1).

- In certain countries, the increase in polarisation was particularly relevant over the 1990's, a period that witnessed major structural changes and considerable economic growth. This behavioural pattern of polarisation during the period in question reflects the situation in Argentina, Bolivia, Colombia, Paraguay, Peru, Uruguay and Venezuela.
- Polarisation in LAC countries evolved differently over the period in question. On average, 9 of the 18 economies analized repor-

Source: HDR Team based on Gasparini et al. (2009), in turn based on SEDLAC (CEDLAS and World Bank, 2010).



Source: Gasparini et al. (2009b), based on SEDLAC (CEDLAS and World Bank, 2010)

of *middle class* be based on the vulnerability implied by the risk of falling into poverty (Goldthorpe and McKnight, 2004; Torche and López-Calva, 2010). This proposal stems from the finding that, based on the statistical definition, highly-vulnerable groups have been included in the *middle class*.¹³ This approach has significant implications in terms of public policies, as it reinforces the idea that a policy of poverty reduction is not enough to stimulate the generation of *middle classes*. Several countries in the region face the important challenge of strengthening their *middle class*, which in turn will help create more connected societies and enhance the possibility of overcoming the inequalities that are still transmitted from one generation to the next.

THE HDI AND INEQUALITY

Identifying the different types of inequality, including inequality associated with geographic location, gender inequality, inequality among different ethnic or racial groups, and inequality within other dimensions that affect human development, makes it possible to better understand the severity and complexity of this phenomenon in the region. However, a single indicator has yet to be created that is capable of pulling all the diverse measurements of inequality together to reflect, as accurately as possible, the power and scope of the human development approach. One of the most important limitations of the HDI is that, despite considering three fundamental dimensions of human development (health, education and income), it is based on taking a simple average of these three components, thus making it impossible to observe how achievements in the three dimensions are distributed among the population. By using simple averages the HDI considers equal those situations in which average achievements obtained in each case are equal. This limitation, which affects other indicators such as per capita GDP, is typical of any indicator that expresses the achievement of heterogeneous populations using an average of individual achievements. This section presents a means for overcoming these limitations. The first step is to assume as inferior any level of human development resulting from situations in which achievements are distributed unequally among the population. This methodology for calculating the inequality-adjusted human development index (IAHDI) evaluates each individual's achievement (in health, education and income) in relation to those of other members of society, and it attaches greater weight to indicators lagging further behind. In this way, the value of the HDI will not be affected for countries in which all people have equal levels of achievements, but its value will be reduced in cases where inequality exists. The size of this reduction will

Box 2.6. How the inequality-adjusted human development index (IAHDI) works

A simple way of showing the effects that inequality adjustments have on the calculation of the human development index (HDI) – the estimation of the adjusted index – would be to imagine a society in which only two people, Juan and Pedro, exist. In this case, and as an illustration, rather than exploring HDI levels, a simple evaluation of the level of attainment of this hypothetical society in terms of the educational dimension (years of schooling) is presented. Nonetheless, the principle presented here can be validly used to calculate the levels of achievement in the other dimensions (life expectancy and income) and also for aggregating such data.

If the average level of schooling in this hypothetical society stands at nine years, there could be various possible situations: Juan and Pedro each have nine years of schooling; Juan has eight years of schooling and Pedro ten, etc. Table 1 presents the range of possible pairings.

If inequality is deemed irrelevant when gauging the level of educational attainment of this society, then in all the situations depicted in Table 1, the only thing that matters would be the average. Put differently, the level of educational attainment would be equivalent to nine years of schooling in all cases.

	Schooling a each inf	Average schooling	
	Juan	Pedro	
	0	18	9
Juan has less schooling than	1	17	9
Pearo	2	16	9
	3	15	9
	4	14	9
	5	13	9
	6	12	9
	7	11	9
	8	10	9
Juan and Pedro have the same level of schooling	9	9	9
	10	8	9
Juan has more schooling than Pedro	11	7	9
	12	6	9
	13	5	9
	14	4	9
	15	3	9
	16	2	9
	17	1	9
	18	0	9
Source: HDR Team calculations			

Table 1. Individual and mean attainments. Years of schooling

¹³ See the analyses of the middle class and transitions to poverty in Mexico and Chile in Torche and López-Calva (2010) and in Hertova, López-Calva and Ortiz-Juárez (2010).



In contrast, the idea behind calculating the inequality-adjusted human development index (IAHDI) is to consider that the degree of human development (in this example, the level of educational attainment) reached by a society varies depending on the distribution of development between people. Thus, the task of calculating IAHDI employs the general means approach (see Technical Note 1), which attaches greater weight to the attainments achieved by individuals who are relatively more underprivileged within society. In the example at hand, if both Juan and Pedro have nine years of schooling, the weighting of the level of attainment in the schooling dimension would be same for both, but if Juan has only eight years of schooling and Pedro ten, then the weighting attached to the schooling of the person who has less (in this case, Juan) would be greater, meaning the average level for society as a whole would drop accordingly. In such a case, the average would be less than nine. It is possible to consider other examples from the first panel of the chart in which Juan would have successively 7, 6, 5, 4, 3, 2, 1 and 0 years of schooling and Pedro, therefore, would have 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17 and 18 years of schooling, respectively, such that the average would always be nine. In these cases, the greater the gap in the level of attainment between Juan and Pedro, the greater the weight attached to Juan's poorer attainment (and the lower the weighting afforded to Pedro's better educational attainment). At one end of the spectrum, only Juan's attainment would matter, whereas, correlatively, Pedro's would mean nothing. This effectively means that for the purpose of measuring schooling attainment, and when there is inequality, increases in the attainment of the more underprivileged among the population (in this case, Juan) matters much more than increases in the schooling of the person who has the highest level of relative attainment (Pedro, in this example). The relative weighting that will be attached to the attainment of the more underprivileged

in comparison to that of the more advanced will depend on the aversion to inequality as displayed by each society.

The principle explained in this example is applied in order to calculate the inequality-adjusted HDI. When measuring the IAHDI, the aversion to inequality is known as the inequity aversion parameter designated with the Greek letter epsilon (E). The greater the value of \mathcal{E} , the greater the aversion to inequality and the more sensitive the attainment gap index will be. A high & value reveals that the society is largely concerned about the human development of those individuals who display the lowest relative levels of achievement. In contrast, E equals zero (E=0) in the extreme case where society places no importance whatsoever on inequality. In the example on the level of educational attainment discussed above, Chart 1 illustrates the different possible scenarios for Juan and Pedro with different distributions of schooling, although maintaining in all cases the average level of educational attainment at nine years. The chart demonstrates how society's level of average achievement changes to reflect three different values of the inequity aversion parameter, meaning three situations in which society attaches different levels of importance to inequality (\mathcal{E} =0, \mathcal{E} =0.5 y \mathcal{E} =2). It can clearly be seen how the index captures the importance of the different gaps between the attainments of Juan and those of Pedro. In the extreme case in which Pedro is the only child with schooling, the aggregate index for $\mathcal{E}=0$ continues to display average attainment of nine years, whereas when E=0.5 the indicator cuts this average attainment in half (4.5). If inequality matters much more (where $\mathcal{E}=2$), the situation would be so utterly unacceptable for this society that the level of the aggregate index would stand at zero.

Source: HDR Team.

Table 2.7. Latin America and the Caribbean (18 countries). Inequality-adjusted human development index (IAHDI). Absolute and percentage reductions. *Circa* 2006

	HDI						
Country	0= 3	E=1	E=1	E=1	E=2	E=2	E=2
county	HDI	New level	Absolute decline	Percentage decline	New level	Absolute decline	Percentage decline
Argentina	0.895	0.882	-0.01	-1.5	0.842	-0.05	-5.9
Bolivia (Plurinational State of)	0.711	0.654	-0.06	-8.0	0.413	-0.30	-41.9
Brazil	0.777	0.732	-0.05	-5.8	0.629	-0.15	-19.0
Chile	0.857	0.838	-0.02	-2.2	0.801	-0.06	-6.5
Colombia	0.702	0.640	-0.06	-8.8	0.513	-0.19	-26.9
Costa Rica	0.838	0.804	-0.03	-4.1	0.709	-0.13	-15.4
Ecuador	0.791	0.755	-0.04	-4.6	0.677	-0.11	-14.4
El Salvador	0.643	0.579	-0.06	-10.0	0.477	-0.17	-25.8
Guatemala	0.615	0.560	-0.05	-8.9	0.486	-0.13	-21.0
Honduras	0.620	0.543	-0.08	-12.4	0.382	-0.24	-38.4
Mexico	0.794	0.759	-0.04	-4.4	0.686	-0.11	-13.6
Nicaragua	0.547	0.451	-0.10	-17.6	0.288	-0.26	-47.3
Panama	0.797	0.761	-0.04	-4.5	0.686	-0.11	-13.9
Paraguay	0.721	0.683	-0.04	-5.3	0.584	-0.14	-19.0
Peru	0.723	0.671	-0.05	-7.2	0.584	-0.14	-19.2
Dominican Republic	0.733	0.686	-0.05	-6.4	0.598	-0.14	-18.4
Uruguay	0.868	0.856	-0.01	-1.4	0.834	-0.03	-3.9
Venezuela (Bolivarian Republic of)	0.831	0.795	-0.04	-4.3	0.701	-0.13	-15.6
Average for Latin America and the Caribbean	0.748	0.703	-0.05	-6.0	0.605	-0.14	-19.1
Source: HDR Team calculations based on CEDLAS estimations and SEDLAC (CEDLAS and World Bank, 2010) data							

depend on the importance that a society places on inequality, expressed in terms of an inequality aversion parameter (ϵ) (Foster, López-Calva and Székely, 2005). In the empirical application of this methodology, the value of the inequality aversion parameter ϵ may vary from zero to any positive value. The case $\mathcal{E}=0$ reflects a situation in which the society is not concerned by inequality, in which case the calculation for IAHDI will be the same as the calculation for the traditional HDI. The higher the concern for inequality in society, the higher the value that is assigned to E when evaluating the level of human development attained and, accordingly, the greater the "penalty" -and subsequent decrease- applied to the original value of the HDI. In an extreme case, very high & values indicate that, when measuring the human development of a particular society, it is only important to consider the situation of individuals with the lowest levels of achievement (see Box 2.6).

As shown below, the proposed analysis is also used to add together the three components of the HDI. Thus, the average value of the HDI is reduced if there are differences in the levels of its components, i.e., if the progress in the different dimensions of development (health, education and income) occurs in an unequal manner, a situation known as "unbalanced development".

What would the outlook for human development throughout the region be if inequality were included in the task of calculating the human development index?¹⁴ The analysis of 18 countries in the region for which there is information for recent years shows that, when adjusted for inequality, the HDI decreases considerably.¹⁵

¹⁴ The following results stem from estimates reached as part of a study conducted by the Centro de Estudios Distributivos Laborales (Center for Distributive, Labor and Social Studies) from Universidad Nacional de la Plata (CEDLAS, 2010), in which a group of inequality-sensitive indices for 18 LAC countries was measured on the basis of a methodology developed by Foster et al. (2005). This methodolody had already been applied to measure inequality throughout Mexican states and municipalities, and significant changes were observed in the HDI by introducing inequality into the equation (see UNDP, 2003). More recently, this same practice was conducted in the provinces of Argentina (see UNDP, 2009b).

¹⁵ The calculations presented in this Report are not comparable with those published each year by the UNDP. The introduction of inequality into the HDI, as proposed herein, will require the use of household indicators taken from standardised national surveys. It should be noted that some of the indicators differ from those used when calculating the traditional HDI, due to the fact that information is not always available at all levels of disaggregation. For example, there is no information on the life expectancy indicator for households, thus requiring the use of variables that roughly reflect attainment in the life expectancy dimension. Alternative approaches to estimating each of the dimensions can be found in the work of Vigorito and Arim (2009).



Chart 2.13 Latin America and the Caribbean (18 countries). The burden of inequality on the Human development index (HDI). HDI losses attributable to inequality by country. *Circa* 2006 (ε =2)

One way to observe the decline in development attributable to inequality is by considering the absolute decline in the IAHDI and the percentage decrease with respect to the original HDI. As can be seen in Table 2.7, as the inequality aversion parameter (ε) increases, the greater the decrease in the IAHDI compared to the traditional HDI. With a value of ε =2, the greatest losses in human development are seen in Bolivia, Nicaragua and Honduras, where the HDI drops over 20 percentage points when inequalities existing in these countries are included in the calculation. Chile, Argentina and Uruguay are on the opposite end of the spectrum, where the decrease in the HDI after adjusting for inequality ranges between three and six percentage points.

In the rest of the countries considered, losses range from 10.8 percentage points in Mexico to 18.9 percentage points in Colombia. Chart 2.13, based on data from Table 2.7, makes it possible to make a quick comparison between the effects the inequality adjustment has on the HDI when $\mathcal{E}=2$. The figures shows that in most countries considered, the correction for inequality entails a reduction of more than 15% in the level of the original HDI, and that inequality "costs" some countries between a fifth (Guatemala) and nearly half (Nicaragua) of the value of their original welfare indexes (see Chart 2.13).

In addition, the methodology discussed above makes it possible to pinpoint the exact HDI dimension most affected by inequality. As a result, it is possible to observe specific characteristics of inequality in the region. Among the countries with the greatest losses in the HDI, it can be seen that, for $\mathcal{E}=2$, in Nicaragua the most important type of inequality can be found in the health component, whereas in Bolivia income is the most affected, and in Guatemala the key dimension is education (see Chart 2.14).

The information obtained by comparing the IAHDI levels for countries of the region is different from that obtained by simply comparing their traditional HDI levels, or each country's Gini coefficients for per capita income. This underlines the usefulness of the new approach for measuring human development, as it makes it possible to estimate more thoroughly the levels of well-being in society, and to identify the areas with the greatest setbacks. Chart 2.15 compares the losses in the HDI resulting from inequality and the Gini coefficients for income per capita in each country.

These findings show a clearer picture of the impact of inequality on the human development of certain LAC countries. In more general terms, reflecting inequality in well-being indicators requires significant improvements to the way in which people's living conditions are measured, monitored and assessed. As measurements become more accurate, policy makers will have more complete information to help ensure that public policies have a greater chance of succeeding in reducing inequality.







UNEQUAL TODAY, UNEQUAL TOMORROW. WHY DOES INEQUALITY PERSIST?

In societies with low levels of socioeconomic mobility, inequality observed in income, education, life expectancy and other indicators persists from one generation to the next. This implies that there are mechanisms for reproducing levels of achievement between generations. In societies with high mobility, on the other hand, an individual's relative position is not determined by that of the household in which he or she grew up. In such cases, high levels of inequality can exist even without its intergenerational transmission. However, LAC is characterised by low socioeconomic mobility and the intergenerational transmission of inequality. Hence, this makes it urgent for policymakers to gain a clearer understanding of the mechanisms that reproduce inequality from one generation to the next in order to ensure the design of more effective public policies that help to reduce inequality.¹⁶

Households, constraints and the transmission of achievements: inequality and intergenerational mobility.

While it may be argued that inequality and intergenerational mobility are linked, it is important to clearly define each of these concepts.¹⁷ Inequality is a measure that describes the distribution of a particular asset (education or income, for example) at a fixed moment in time. Intergenerational mobility, on the other hand, describes a process over time that associates an individual's economic or educational position at one moment in time with the level of achievement in that dimension that is obtained by his/her children in adulthood. This type of mobility should not be confused with intragenerational mobility, which refers to an individual's possibility of accessing productive sectors and jobs during the course of his/her life that allow him/her to achieve a higher level of income or social status.

¹⁶ As shown in Chapter 5, in addition to these mechanisms, it is also necessary to consider the role of political organisation and different groups' ability to influence the formulation of public policies that make situations of inequality persist.

¹⁷ This section is mainly based on the work carried out by Torche (2009).

Intergenerational mobility is important, because it provides information about the level of equality of opportunities that exists in a society. It is not desirable that parents' resources and economic status to have a strong influence on the level of well-being that can be achieved by their children, since this severely limits the opportunities that those born into the most disadvantaged households have for achieving a satisfactory quality of life. In other words, in situations of low intergenerational mobility, individuals who are born into disadvantaged households have limited access to a basic set of resources and functionings (Jencks and Tach, 2006; Sen, 1992).

A number of studies suggest that in certain households, the greater the level of economic inequality, the more the parents' situation influences their children's achievements, and the lower the level of socioeconomic mobility. In this way, increased socioeconomic inequality tends to go hand in hand with an increase in the inequalities that children experience for dimensions such as access to education, health, nutrition and basic infrastructure services, and this, in turn, greatly reduces children's life options in adulthood.

In a context where the returns on investment in human capital are high, during their adulthood, children who have little schooling due to their parents' socioeconomic status are likely to have fewer opportunities for generating income (Solon, 2004: 43). Likewise, a high degree of inequality may strengthen the political influence maintained by higher-income sectors, so that it becomes much more difficult to implement redistributive policies to promote mobility (Burtless and Jencks, 2003). Inequality may also affect mobility by decreasing the probability of interaction and cooperation among people of different social statuses, as it favours, for example, segregation by place of residence (Durlauf, 1996).

Intergenerational mobility in LAC

In LAC, higher levels of human capital promote greater social mobility, mainly because schooling is a major determinant of earnings, and in poor households, income from work is the main source of resources. There is empirical evidence suggesting that there is a high correlation between parents' low education levels and the low education levels of their children, and that this situation, in turn, determines that the children's earnings in adulthood will be relatively low (CAF, 2007).

Although there are significant variations between countries in the region, for LAC countries in general, the impact of one generation's level of schooling on the immediately following generation is more than twice as high as that reported in the

Box 2.7. Indicators of intergenerational mobility

Whereas, in general, inequality indicators reveal how a given indicator of well-being is distributed throughout the population (income level, schooling and assets) at a given time, (for example, the 2010 Gini income coefficient for Argentina), indicators such as intergenerational mobility are used to describe the association between the economic standing of the parents and that of their children when the latter reach adulthood. This degree of correlation between the economic positions of two generations is treated as an indicator of equal opportunities, or lack thereof, within a society: a weak association indicates that opportunities for socioeconomic development are relatively open to everyone (regardless of their socioeconomic background), while a strong correlation reveals that the available resources in the household have an important bearing on the individual attainment of the younger generation.

To be able to measure the degree of association between the economic position of two generations, it is wise to discard the effects that short-term fluctuations can have on them, such as those generated by the economic cycles. Different lines of applied research relating to both sociology and economics have been applied in this regard, and the findings of the empirical studies on mobility largely depend on the specific method employed to measure the long-term socioeconomic positions of the two generations and the relationship between both positions. Specialized studies have come up with the following principal indicators: social class, socioeconomic status, wage-income and total income, each of which are explained at greater length below (see Table 1).

Social class

This concept has been used to understand not only inequalities in people's economic well-being, but also to analyse a wide range of phenomena, such as differences in life styles, political involvement, social conflict and historical change (Wright, 2005). In particular, and when used to analyse mobility, social class is an approximate indicator of the different opportunities available to people to share the economic and cultural assets on offer in a society (Giddens, 1973). With this in mind, social classes are defined as groups of people categorized on the basis of both the type of labour relations they have and also the economic resources they control. Labour relations are defined in terms of the position of the person in his job (employer, self-employed, or employee) and the economic sector to which he or she belongs (agriculture, industry or services), while economic resources reflect the person's ownership of physical assets and his or her specific skills, particularly the amount and type of human capital, the kind of authority he or she wields at work, and the industrial sector to which he or she belongs (agriculture, industry or services).

Given the relative ease of obtaining reliable information on the work-related characteristics of two generations through surveys, empirical application tends to rely on definitions of social class based solely on certain work-related characteristics of the person being interviewed (and those pertaining to the parent of the interviewee when he or she was 14 years old): whether the person is an employer, self-employed, or employee, whether he or she

socioeconomic status, income.			wage-income and total			
	Concept	Source of inequality	Unit of analysis/ Level of aggregation	Dimensionality of inequality		
	Class	Labour market	Aggregated groups of occupations	Multidimensional (Types of market assets)		
	Status	Labour market	Single occupation	One dimensional (combination of occupation, education and income)		
	Labour income	Insertion in labour market	Individual	One dimensional		
	Income	All sources of monetary income	Family	One dimensional		
	Fuente: Torch	ie (2009a).				

Table 1. Differences between the concepts of class,

supervises other people, and whether he or she works in agriculture, industry or the services sector. The degree of mobility is therefore measured with regard to the current position of the interviewee and that of his or her parent.

In studies which define the upper socioeconomic class as the professionals,¹ it was found that although many children of professionals were professionals themselves, a high percentage of this professional group came from a different social class. A different situation arises in the case of agricultural workers, where it has been observed that although a great many are children of peasants, they exhibit a low hereditary link, seeing as though many such children have migrated to other classes.

It is worth noting that when classifying society in social classes, taking only into account the characteristics of people's jobs poses a number of limitations for the analysis of mobility, in that it fails to consider the high levels of aggregation and heterogeneity that exist within the groups, while also excluding those who are not involved in the paid work market. This is the case with women, whose participation rate in paid employment is less than that of men, particularly in Latin America and the Caribbean (LAC). Furthermore, there are other sources of economic well-being in addition to workrelated income, such as income transfers and financial assets. The task of measuring inequality based on the concept of social class also presents a number of downsides as an indicator of people's well-being at the extreme ends of the income distribution chain: the poorest

1 The term professionals as used here mirrors the category into which Erikson and Goldthorpe (1992) grouped professionals and managers (and an elite group of large-scale owners). This is because in practice this category refers chiefly to professionals throughout LAC countries, and the Spanish title of director (in English, manager) is seldom used to report on occupation. tend to be excluded or only partially included in the job market, whereas the wealthiest strata depend much more on the returns from their financial assets than on their participation in the job market (Grusky and Weeden, 2008).

Socioeconomic status

This indicator establishes a job structure on the basis of the average income and education level associated with each of the jobs. The original scale, prepared by Duncan (1961), has undergone various changes over time. Ganzeboom, Graaf and Treiman (1992) drew up an international index on socioeconomic status that can be used to perform comparisons between countries. This particular indicator appears less volatile and less prone to error than the income indicators, reflecting a more complete picture of the longterm economic well-being of each social group (Zimmerman, 1992; Goldberger, 1989; Hauser and Warren, 1997; Ermisch, Francesconi and Siedler, 2006; Conley and Glauber, 2007).

An alternative indicator of socioeconomic status is the wealth index, which measures the availability of a set of durable goods and financial assets while also taking the characteristics of the household into account (Filmer and Pritchett, 1999; McKenzie, 2005). This index offers various advantages, since it constitutes a one-dimensional measure of economic well-being and is less sensitive to the short-term fluctuations that could result from changes in people's different sources of income.

Wage-income and total income

Blanden (2008) developed an indicator based on the estimation of an econometric model in which a child's income is related to that of his or her father. The indicator uses values ranging from zero to one, with zero representing a situation of perfect mobility, while one expresses a situation of total immobility. This measure is highly sensitive to the lifecycle in which the income of the father and the child is measured, due to the fact that work-related income becomes increasingly dispersed as a person gets older (Grawe, 2006; Mazumder, 2005).

Another recent contribution to the discussion on mobility proposes calculating the mobility of total-household income. This indicator draws in other sources of income, in addition to workrelated earnings, such as monetary transfers and the financial assets of all members of the household. The intergenerational association of the total revenue of the household is greater than that observed for work-related income alone (Mazumder, 2005). One of the limitations of this indicator is that it requires highly accurate data on the household's various sources of income and, on many occasions, the questions on income included in the surveys present a high degree of non-responses, validity problems and under-reporting issues.

Source: HDR Team based on Torche (2009a).

United States (see Chart 1.1).¹⁸ Recent statistics show a decline in mobility among the population with the highest education levels, probably due to the limitations which a fall in income imposed on many individuals in terms of supporting the education of their children, particularly among those who lived through the crisis of the eighties. This deterioration is apparent in Brazil and Mexico, less so in Chile and negligible in Colombia (Torche, 2009). The use of different methodologies for measuring mobility in some of these cases provides additional information about the complexity of this phenomenon in the region.

In Brazil, for example, a significant structural variation component has been identified in terms of class mobility, which is a less accurate but relatively simple method for measuring this indicator (see Box 2.7). The transformation of the productive sectors of the Brazilian economy since 1950 has resulted in increased employment opportunities in manufacturing, services and trade, and has attracted many workers from the agricultural sector (Pastore, 1981, Scalon, 1999; Pastore and Silva, 2000; Ribeiro, 2007). A drop in the returns on education and the reduced influence that households seem to have on individuals' occupational status also resulted in greater class mobility (Torche and Costa Ribeiro, 2009). However, in Brazil, at least one fourth of inequality in earnings is associated with the household situation, such as the parents' levels of educational attainment, race or ethnicity, and place of birth (Bourguignon, Ferreira and Menendez, 2007).

A study by Torche (2005) in Chile found mobility levels among the population with the highest socioeconomic status, classified as upper class and mainly composed of professionals,¹⁹ to be limited both within this segment and outward, while there was greater fluidity among those referred to in the study as lower classes (consisting of rural workers and people who perform manual labour requiring little training) and the middle class (which included the rest of the working population except for professionals). Similar results were obtained when considering the asset index as a mobility indicator: the population born in the quintile of households with the lowest income has a 34% chance of remaining in this situation in adulthood, whereas for the 20% of the population with the highest income, the probability of maintaining its relative economic position is 46% (Torche, 2008). The intergenerational transmission of income levels in Chile also shows a high degree of persistence at both ends of the distribution classification, and this trend is even more pronounced among those earning higher incomes (Núñez and Miranda, 2007). Thus, research about intergenerational mobility in Chile is consistent, regardless of which mobility index (i.e., either income or education level), is used: individuals born into households with better socioeconomic conditions show lower degrees of mobility. These data indicate intergenerational persistence of social stratification.

In Mexico, upward mobility has increased over the last four decades mainly due to the change in the structure of occupations. In addition, there is evidence that during the same period, there was inter- and intragenerational educational mobility, primarily among the generations born between 1942 and 1981, which have higher levels of education than those of their parents. This educational mobility translates into income mobility, and it is greater among children whose parents have lower education levels (De Hoyos, Martínez and Székely, 2009).

However, the influence that people's living conditions has on the achievements of their children in adulthood has not decreased significantly, and this is even more evident among younger groups (Cortés and Escobar, 2003; Solís, 2005; Zenteno and Solís, 2006). As in Chile, in Mexico there is less mobility in the highest levels of income distribution in comparison with the lowest levels. In this country, the likelihood of forming part of the 20% of the population with the lowest income is 48% for individuals whose parents belong to this group. Meanwhile, individuals coming from a family in the 20% of the population with the highest income have a 59% chance of remaining in this group (Torche, 2008).

Lastly, there is also evidence that social mobility may increase or be hindered by the assortative mating phenomenon. This aspect shows the need to perform more in-depth research on the dynamics of individual development. Recent studies have analysed the degree of association existing between education levels of people who are married or are partners. These studies are based on the existence of a high association between schooling levels and income generation capacities, and they argue that the tendency to form a couple with people of a similar education level is another mechanism that contributes to persistence of inequality in the region (Mare and Schwartz, 2006).

This seems to be the case of LAC, where there is a high tendency for people to choose partners among individuals with education levels similar to their own (Dahan y Gaviria, 1999;

¹⁸ As noted in Chapter 1, educational mobility reflects the degree of association between the levels of schooling among young people of the same household. A high degree of correlation between education levels indicates a high degree of influence of the household's socioeconomic conditions on the children's educational attainment, and, therefore, low social mobility. In technical terms, as shown in Chart 1.1 in the previous chapter, intergenerational correlation of schooling in the region is 0.50, while in the United States it is 0.21. The levels of correlation in Paraguay and El Salvador are 0.37 and 0.61, respectively. To conduct comparative studies on intergenerational mobility in different countries, it is necessary to use a comparable definition of mobility. Because of the limitations on comparing occupational mobility or mobility of income from work, several researchers have chosen a measure that reflects the effect of the parent's status on the achievements of their children in adulthood, and this measure allows comparisons to be made between countries. Educational attainment is the most commonly used variable in the literature, since it is one of the main determinants of income and maintains a very close relationship with the type of work that an individual can hope to achieve upon entering the labour market.

¹⁹ While Erikson and Goldthorpe (1992) distinguish between professionals and managers (and a very small group of large scale owners), and sometimes also between "high-level" (class I) and "low-level" (class II) professionals and managers, in practical terms, in LAC this category mainly refers to professionals, because the title of manager is not often used by the people of this region when reporting their occupation.



Chart 2.16. Latin America and the Caribbean (18 countries). Schooling correlation coefficient between couples. *Circa* 2006

Torche, 2008). These studies maintain that this trend is related to inequality. Chart 2.16 shows the close correlation between education levels of the members of a couple, while Chart 2.17 illustrates how the high degree of association between couples' levels of schooling is related to the levels of inequality in each country, measured using the Gini coefficient. Research on some countries in the region shows that the formation of couples between people with similar levels of schooling is primarily related to the implications that education level has on income generation. Thus, the correlation between the schooling of couples is higher the greater the difference between earnings for different education levels (Torche, 2008b).



BREAKING THE INERTIA OF INEQUALITY

Despite recent advances in human development, LAC is still characterised by high and persistent inequality in various dimensions of development. While the region showed progress in its HDI over the period 1999-2006, incorporating the measure of inequality in the calculation of the HDI shows that these increases were actually smaller. These findings illustrate that aggregate welfare indicators often hide serious inequities and that taking inequality into account is essential for more adequately and accurately measuring the actual achievements in expanding individuals' capabilities.

The intensity and persistence of inequality in LAC also goes hand in hand with a scenario of low social mobility, and these conditions imply in reality a transmission of inequality from one generation to another in given households. Evidence shows that poverty in households whose head has a low level of schooling is correlated with lower levels of schooling attained by the children. Therefore, the earnings of the children in adulthood will also be low, and inequality will thus find a mechanism to be transmitted from one generation to another. In LAC, education and income generation have a high influence on the living conditions that may be reached by the next generation.

This Report argues that inequality can be reduced if public policy has a bearing on the mechanisms that determine the transmission of inequality from one generation to another. These mechanisms are manifested primarily in two ways. First of all, the level of achievement that a person can reach is transmitted to the household, so that the achievements made by parents in the various dimensions of well-being greatly affect the level of achievement that their children can obtain in adulthood. In addition, policies aimed at reducing inequalities of well-being between regions, groups and dimensions of development are not effective, because there are political factors that interfere with how they operate. Chapters 3 and 4 of this Report discuss the very mechanisms of transmission of achievements acting at the household level, while Chapter 5 examines how the different political balances can favour or thwart attempts at redistribution.



The transmission of achievements at the household level: *binding constraints*

3

HOUSEHOLDS AND CONTEXT

The aim of this chapter is to examine in greater detail some of the specific channels through which levels of achievement are passed on from one generation to the next. In particular, an analysis will be made of the relative importance that is played in this transmission process by household factors (i.e., the conditions of the household in which a person grows up, such as family income and levels of educational achievement), and by the determinants stemming from the context in which the household is located (for example, access to public services). It is essential to properly identify these determinants in order to design and implement public actions that are better suited for tackling poverty and inequality.

The analysis proposed in this report shows the potential of prioritising public actions geared toward improving achievements in human development while realistically assuming the limits of governments that must address many needs and have limited resources. In basic terms, the goal is to determine as accurately as possible which areas of action should be prioritised, thus providing relevant information for designing effective actions.¹

As indicated in Chapter 2, Latin America and the Caribbean (LAC) is characterised by high levels of inequality in human development and in other indicators of well-being. This is reflected in the gaps in access to *functionings*, which respond to inequality existing among different geographic regions and population groups. This situation has persisted throughout the decades,

despite the progress experienced in the region in the reduction of poverty up until 2007. Analyses show that the persistence of inequality in the region is the result of the intergenerational transmission of *relative* household achievement levels. This is observed in the intergenerational transmission of relative levels of income and schooling -even within a context in which absolute levels increase- which suggests the existence of what could be called "inequality traps" (Bourguignon, Ferreira and Walton, 2007). In fact, the transmission of these relative achievements from one generation to another does not only affect levels of income and education, it also encompasses the lack of access to quality public services and the impossibility of individuals and groups to exercise a full spectrum of basic rights. These constraints translate into obstacles that hinder the expansion of peoples' capabilities from one generation to the next, thus limiting progress in human development.

Hence, although it is evident that by eliminating constraints it is possible to expand people's capabilities, it is also important to take into account the findings of recent studies, and determine to what extent, or through which channels this expansion of *capabilities* can also improve the well-being of future generations. It has been observed, for instance, that children whose parents have experienced nutritional improvements also show positive effects on their own weight and growth, as well as better nutrition and a decreased incidence of disease (Behrman et al., 2009; Behrman and Rosenzweig, 2004). These findings are significant because they demonstrate that eliminating constraints to progress in human development benefits both those

¹ This approach was used by Hausmann, Rodrik and Velasco (2005) to develop diagnostics of economic growth.

Box 3.1. The transmission of assets

The transmission of inequality from one generation to the next depends both on the accumulation of human capital, particularly during the periods of childhood and adolescence, and on the available physical assets that enable households to generate possibilities of well-being.

Human capital and physical capital

According to Quisumbing (2007), by applying the following instruments, public policies can encourage a process whereby capital (encompassing both human capital and physical capital) is accumulated within the household and passed on to the next generation:

- Strengthening and ensuring the transparency of property rights and the laws that govern inheritance and common property;
- Reducing the initial cost of acquiring capital;
- Promoting micro-savings schemes;
- Creating safety nets that allow people to overcome deprivations and keep hold of their assets when faced with severe economic crises or catastrophic climatological events;
- Implementing grant programs, conditional cash transfers and food schemes that help enhance attendance at clinics and schools and improve the population's nutritional conditions.

Income and wealth

Recent studies have underscored the crucial correlation that exists between parents' income and that of their children (Aughinbaugh, 2000; Corcoran et al., 1992; Mulligan, 1997; Solon, 1992; Zimmerman, 1992). With regards to wealth, Gale and Scholz (1994) have observed that family transfers and bequests in the United States account for 51% of wealth, whereas a further 12% arises from payment of university expenses by parents. As a result, approximately two thirds of the net wealth of all individuals in North America stem from family transfers.

Education

Another mechanism enabling the wealthier households to transfer their assets to the next generation is education. Households that generate more income are able to access higher quality primary and secondary education for their children. Hochschild and Scovronick (2003) contend that inequality in household wealth lies at the heart of educational inequality and that inequality in the children's schooling, in turn, exacerbates the inequality of wealth for the next generation. People living on low income have fewer opportunities to maximize the educational possibilities of their children, a finding that also constrains their children's possibilities to accumulate assets over their adult lives.

who are directly affected and society as a whole. These findings also suggest lines of public policy action.²

The mechanisms of intergenerational transmission of achievements that promote the persistence of inequality in human development

An analysis of the mechanisms of intergenerational transmission of achievements should stem from the acknowledgement that there is no single factor that determines inequality in levels of human development. The causes for these inequalities may be demographic, economic, individual or collective. Nonetheless, the study of the distribution of income is a good starting point for exploring these inequalities and the mechanisms through which they are transmitted from one generation to the next. Several efforts to examine the causes of income inequality have concluded that it is in large part due to inequality in wage income, which is why most studies have concentrated on analysing the determinants of that variable.

Some of the causes of inequality are associated with mechanisms existing in the relationship between parents and their children. As shown in Chapter 1, these mechanisms are significantly determined by the constraints people face in access to goods and services and by the social context in which they live. Considering these limitations, these mechanisms largely explain the different levels of intergenerational mobility in earnings of different groups of the population. Through these mechanisms, parents can pass on to their children human capital (health and education), as well as certain preferences, ambitions and aspirations in terms of well-being.³ In this context, this chapter seeks

² It should be noted that, due to a lack of data, an analysis of the interactions occurring within households between household members is a task that still lies ahead. This makes it impossible to directly ascertain –despite the enormous importance of this type of data– the specific constraints faced by men and women individually and as members of a household. The lack of data, in turn, makes it difficult to identify the constraints which parents face when making decisions that determine levels of investment in the human capital of their children. Something similar happens with specific population groups, such as indigenous populations or different age groups. So as not to repeat this type of omission, and as an integral part of the empirical study presented in Chapter 4 of this report, an analysis is made of a number of variables that present new information about the agency and aspirations of individuals, including gender considerations, which seek to partially fill the information gap that exists in this area and contribute to a better understanding of the role that women and men play at the household level in terms of the intergenerational transmission of inequality.

³ With regard to preferences, it was found that parents can pass on to their children a greater inclination in favour of present consumption, a trend that affects young people's decisions about consumption and investment (Mayshar and Benninga, 1996; Chakraborty and Das, 2005). As for ambitions and aspirations, a sociological analysis based on the reference group technique shows that while family characteristics influence people's ambitions and aspirations, society can play an even more important role than the family in terms of influencing the next generation's living conditions (Merton, 1953; Boudon, 1974). There is very little empirical evidence in this particular field of study. Chapter

Accumulation of assets

The central idea behind wealth accumulation is that savings, investment and bequests of assets all provide the necessary means of escaping a situation of poverty and inequality. A report drawn up by Rank (2008) examines available empirical studies on the accumulation of assets during the lifecycle and analyses five relevant factors that can lead to a lack of assets within the low-income households of future generations.

- 1. The intergenerational transmission of assets. An analysis of economic intergenerational mobility reveals that a household's socioeconomic status tends to perpetuate itself. Individuals whose parents have low income are more inclined to have similar levels of income, whereas children born into high-income households are much more likely to become high income earners as adults. This intergenerational inertia in the transmission of income also leads to an intergenerational inertia by successive generations.
- 2. Race and ethnicity. Empirical studies indicate that race and ethnicity play a decisive role in determining individuals' limitations in terms of accumulating wealth over their lives. This situation can partly be put down to the initial conditions, which are generally

less favourable for certain racial or ethnic groups, and partly because of the discrimination and segregation to which these groups are exposed in many different societies.

- **3.** *Income.* Various studies have contended that the accumulation of wealth depends on both the availability of surplus income and the relative stability of such surplus income over time.
- 4. Stages of life and personal events. There are stages in our lifecycle that reflect periods of scarcity or of prosperity. Furthermore, certain events, such as unemployment or divorce, which occur at specific junctures of our lives, may have serious effects on subsequent wealth accumulation patterns.
- **5.** *Family structure.* Family structure and the changes this structure undergoes over our lives also have a bearing on wealth accumulation. In particular, it has been observed that single-mother households are at a distinct disadvantage in comparison to two-parent households.

Source: HDR Team based on Ortiz-Juárez (2009).

to analyse the mechanisms of intergenerational transmission of achievements in human capital and to examine, in particular, the effect that the set of options that is available to parents (their *capabilities*) has on the *capabilities* and functionings of the next generation.

The analysis assumes that the possibility for children to be in good health or to have a satisfactory education in their first years of life (*functionings* that will subsequently allow them to expand their *capabilities*) depends on the opportunity structure and on the agency of the adults in the household who have the responsibility for making decisions about their children's development.⁴ Thus, the opportunity structure in force represents the formal and informal institutional, social and political circumstances and norms that determine the scope in which individuals make decisions regarding their children's well-being, and *agency* reflects the ability to make these decisions (Narayan 2005; Samman and Santos, 2009).⁵ Within this framework, the constraints on their capabilities that people in disadvantaged groups of the population experience limit their ability to achieve better levels of well-being for their children, and contribute to the intergenerational transmission of low levels of achievement in human development. It is essential to highlight that this Report is far from any perspective that might suggest taking this finding as the basis for carrying out what could be called "double victimisation" of poverty and inequality. This double victimisation negatively labels people in situations of poverty for two reasons: first, for the situation of relative deprivation they face; and second, for the decisions they make concerning the education and health of their children.⁶

⁴ discusses in depth some of the factors that influence the aspirations of the younger generation based on recent data available for three geographic areas in LAC.

⁴ This assertion is based on the fact that decisions regarding investment in their children's human capital are taken by fathers, mothers or other persons in charge of the children's well-being (guardians or extended family, for example).

⁵ It should be noted that the expression agency used here can have very different meanings in other contexts. In very simple terms, in this report it refers to the capability that people have to take action in pursuit of those goals that they value and have reason to value.

⁶ The short-sighted idea that some people living in poverty would be in that situation by choice and that these people are unwilling or incapable to provide adequate conditions of well-being for their children implies a double victimisation of poverty and inequality. In this regard, it is essential to recognise that the decisions that parents take at the household level concerning the development of their children's human capital can take place in a context characterised by severe constraints that greatly limit the options actually available.

EARLY CHILDHOOD INVESTMENT IN HUMAN CAPITAL

In terms of well-being and human development, the first years of an individual's life are crucial. The proper early childhood development of girls and boys, understood as the combination of healthy physical, mental and social development in their first years of life – which is achieved, inter alia, through good care provided by parents, good nutrition and access to medical services and healthy living conditions – serves as the foundation for an expansion in other dimensions of well-being.

Thus, increased investment in human capital during an individual's childhood determines a greater ability for him or her to transform access to goods and services into that which they value and manage to "be" or "do" in subsequent stages of their lives (in Sen's terms, it is about the ability to transform goods and services into a space of *capabilities*). In particular, early development has a marked effect on the formation of human capital, as it influences individuals' future educational achievement and their ability to generate income in adulthood. In this regard, it should once again be noted that a feature of early investment in human capital, both in health and in education, is that it primarily depends on decisions made by adults comprising the family unit, and it in no way (or in almost no way) depends on the new generation: people are born and develop in environments and conditions over which they have no control.

In terms of schooling and income, available data show that differences in birth weight partially explain educational and wagebased inequality in adulthood (Behrman and Rosenzweig, 2004). Similarly, children's health determines the way in which health and income will be related in their adult life (Case, Fertig and Paxson, 2003; Case, Lubotsky and Paxson, 2002). Accordingly, early childhood development is a crucial stage of human capital investment which has high returns (Heckman and Carneiro, 2003; Cunha and Heckman, 2009), while stunted growth and malnutrition are associated with lower human capital in adulthood, including variables such as the next generation's schooling and economic productivity. These long-term implications of early childhood development investments are very important if it is considered, for example, that the height-for-age ratio at 2 years of age is related to the level of human capital that a person will achieve in adulthood and that malnutrition is associated with lower future levels of human capital (Victora et al., 2008).

These findings are extremely important for explaining how inequality is reproduced in countries where there is a considerable gap between different segments of the population. If one considers, for instance, the child malnutrition indicator for a sample of countries in the region for which recent data are available, the prevalence of this condition is 5 to 10 times higher among children that belong to the 20% of the population with the lowest income than among those who are part of the 20% of the population with the highest income (see Table 3.1).

The section presented below describes some of the mechanisms that limit or hinder the accumulation of human capital required to achieve basic human development in nutrition, health and education at an early age in different countries in the region. The analysis presented is based on the conceptual framework proposed by Kanbur (2008), which identifies, within the constraints faced by families, those that most directly and effectively limit the space of their *capabilities* to make decisions that affect their children's human capital. These constraints, known as *binding constraints* in this analysis, can correspond to both the decision space deployed at a household level and the elements unique to the context (in particular, the available supply of public services and the household's degree of access to these services).

Table 3.1. Latin America and the Caribbean (5 countries). Chronic malnutrition. Boys and girls presenting deficient height for their age (%)

	Year	20% with lower incomes (A)	20% with higher incomes (B)	Relation A/B	
Bolivia (PlurinationalStateof)	2003	41.7	5 .6	7.4	
Colombia	2005	19 .8	2 .8	7 .1	
Nicaragua	2001	35 .2	4 .5	7 .8	
Peru	2000	47.0	4 .5	10.4	
Dominican Republic	2001	15 .5	3 .0	5.2	
Source: HDR Team research based on Davidson et al. (2007).					

THE EFFECT OF INEQUALITY ON INVESTMENT IN HUMAN DEVELOPMENT

The *binding constraints* perspective makes it possible to analyse the different factors that affect the relationship between parents' *functionings* and those of their children. It is a method that identifies, within a potentially broad set of constraints, those which most acutely limit households' *capabilities* to decide on matters that affect their children's human capital. This approach makes it possible to identify the factors that most directly affect the intergenerational transmission of low levels (absolute and/or relative) of achievement in well-being. This perspective points out the central role played by households' decisions, especially within the context of the investment in the human capital of the younger generations.

Box 3.2. Beyond human capital: access to credit and poverty traps

Low economic growth and high levels of poverty are interrelated, given that as a general rule, families with low levels of income have no access to high-quality infrastructure, education and social security, or for that matter to the credit markets. This hampers the possibilities of such households to gain access to profitable activities that would enable them to augment their income in the long-term, a situation that in turn has a negative knock-on effect on investment and a country's economic growth. This creates a vicious circle whereby low economic growth leads to lower income for poorer families, who are therefore unable to access the goods and services required to increase their human capital. In this regard, the initial distribution of asset ownership (both human and physical), coupled with access to basic resources and services, and suitable infrastructure and market opportunities, together with the public policies in place to redistribute wealth, all play a crucial role.

With this in mind, property rights can be a decisive factor in helping to curb poverty. As regards access to credit, a clear definition of property rights generally helps to reduce moral hazard (which arises when the applicant uses the loan for other purposes, or does not do enough to ensure that the project is a success) and adverse selection risk (according to which access to loans is only feasible for those individuals who present the most risky projects). Similarly, the lack of ownership of land, properties or small companies, typical among the poorer strata of society, significantly reduces people's incentive to invest in maintaining and improving such assets. This irregular situation can also have a negative bearing on land productivity, the capacity of families to overcome crises and property values.

Peru's Urban Land Tenure Regularization Program (Programa para la Formalización de la Propiedad Urbana), which is helping to remedy the situation of informal urban settlements while granting property rights to people who live and work in these settlements, has revealed that official recognition of land tenure rights led to a 17% increase in the number of monthly hours of work carried out by the family, a 47% reduction in the likelihood of work being carried out at home, and a 28% drop in the probability that the children will be required to work (Saavedra and Arias, 2007).

That said, it is worth noting that the relationship between the regularization of property rights and the corresponding increase in well-being indicators is not always as direct, since the effects also depend on the backdrop against which the regularization process is applied (Payne, Durand-Lasserve and Rakod, 2009).

Source: Saavedra and Arias (2007) and Payne, Durand-Lasserve and Rakod (2009).

As indicated in Chapter 2, available data clearly show the inequality that exists in LAC in terms of access to goods and services essential for human development. This has an impact not only on the effective freedoms of parents, but also on their decisions relating to investment in the human capital of their children. As an example, it is necessary to analyse the difference in costs for accessing education for two hypothetical households, one of which lives much farther from the school than the other. For the household that is the farthest from the school, the longer distance and, consequently, the increased travel time increase the direct costs involved in sending their children to school and, in turn, decrease the time that the son or daughter can devote to collaborating on household chores or even, in the most critical cases, to working outside the home.⁷

Thus, gaps in health and education are caused, among other factors, by differences in the *capabilities* of different households,

and by the costs for each household of accessing these services. Within this context, even when the benefits of achieving a healthy standard of living and an optimal educational level are the same for everyone, the net benefit of the required investment varies among different groups due to an inequality in costs. Therefore, it is essential to understand the causes behind the main constraints that, by affecting the net return on investment in human capital, generate inequalities in investment.⁸

Analysing the limitations to human development from the perspective of *binding constraints* means understanding the interaction between available services that are within reach of households and the capability of households to use these services for the human development of their members. In this regard, it is necessary to separately analyse the causes that depend on contextual factors (such as availability and accessibility of services) and those that are determined by conditions pertaining to the household itself. An example of this type of analysis for education is shown in Box 3.4.

⁷ In economic terms, this is called opportunity cost and refers to the best alternative value of any resource. In this particular case, the resource considered is young people's time. For example, the opportunity cost of studying is the income that a person could receive if, instead of studying, he or she performed any paid work. In this sense, the greater the number of economic constraints faced by a household, the higher the opportunity cost, in relation to family income, assumed by the household in order to send their children to school.

⁸ With regard to the expected returns on education, the labour market has a dampening effect on the extent to which it rewards relatively high levels of schooling, while offering similar salaries for medium and low levels of educational attainment (see Box 3.4).

Box 3.3. Investment in human capital and the low human development trap

Human development and economic activity share a relationship of interdependence. On the one hand, human capital is the main input for production and technological change, while on the other, human development depends largely on available income and technology. Both human development and economic activity interact with geographic characteristics, such as distance in relation to the markets and the productive traits of a given region, and affect the process of shaping local policies and assigning public resources. The combination of these factors (human development, economic activity, geographic characteristics, and public policies) is largely responsible for moulding the characteristics of economic regions.

Moreover, it has been observed that early childhood development (ECD) is a must for furthering the development of people's capabilities over their adult life, enabling them to reach respectable levels of well-being in terms of life expectancy, education and income. For this reason, the ECD levels of a given locality are commonly used as indicators of the local population's level of human development.

Based on the foregoing, Mayer-Foulkes (2009a) explored the nature of the relationship that exists between the ECD levels of a locality and certain economic characteristics of the region. Concentrating on available information for different regions of Brazil, Peru, Bolivia and Guatemala, the author estimated regional levels of ECD (based on the percentage of vaccines given to children, their state of health and the height reported at a specific age), and analysed the region's characteristics in terms of its ability to provide public and private resources, levels of employment and household quality of life.

The analysis revealed that geographic inequalities in terms of ECD largely reflect the inequalities present on three different dimensions: i) inequalities in the level of macro-economic well-being reported among the regions (shaped by levels of employment, education and migration); ii) inequalities in the supply of basic services among the regions (electricity, drinking water and sanitation); and iii) inequalities among households (quality of housing construction, and the type and quantity of available assets in the household). The findings lend support to the notion that there is indeed a relationship between human development and the characteristics of the region. This observation, coupled with the obvious differences in economic growth among the regions analysed, would suggest that geographic inequalities in terms of ECD will deepen unless policies to offset these gaps are rolled out.

Source: HDR Team research on Mayer-Foulkes (2009a).

The following section provides a more in-depth description of some factors underlying the decisions and possibilities of families in terms of investment in human development in countries of LAC. Based on recent information, the section aims to identify which constraints generate low levels of achievement in health and nutrition, on the one hand, and in schooling and educational achievement, on the other. Moreover, it mentions some public policy strategies geared toward promoting the achievement of higher levels of development in these dimensions.

Health and nutrition

This section examines data on health and nutrition for the case of countries that have very different levels of achievement in these dimensions, such as Brazil, Peru, Chile and Guatemala. Chart 3.1 schematically shows that the level of health achieved by children depends on their individual characteristics (age, birth weight, etc.) and on the inputs provided by the household in which they live. The inputs of the household are determined by the availability of and access to public services and by the individual characteristics of the household, including income level and parents' age and educational level (Chart 3.1).9 The data presented below illustrate the usefulness of this approach for analysing the relative importance of factors that affect the health of the young generation, either directly (input provided by the household and individual characteristics of children) or indirectly (characteristics of the household and the context). A core aspect of this analysis is to observe that the impact that certain public policies have on the health of children in general is *mediated* by the effect of these policies on inputs provided by the household. For example, the positive impact on child health resulting from increased availability of medical services could be mitigated by a simultaneous decline in prenatal care of the mother, caused precisely by the fact that a greater availability of medical services provides greater security at the time of childbirth and during the postpartum period.

There is a relationship between the characteristics and *functionings* of parents, on the one hand, and local and regional services at their disposal, on the other. In Bolivia, Brazil, Guatemala and Peru, for instance, in addition to the variables of households, there are other local and regional factors, like migration and employment levels, that are associated with early childhood

⁹ These elements distinguish the approach proposed in this Report from traditional approaches concerning issues of malnutrition and health, which generally aim to provide food and health assistance by implementing targeted programmes, ignoring the importance of the social determinants affecting the reproduction of deprivation that affects households. The main causes that affect development in food and health include the food security of families, the physical and social environment, education, access to appropriate information, the health of the mother, family planning, access to healthcare services, household income, and working conditions, among others (Pan American Development Alliance for Nutrition and 2009).

Box 3.4. The binding constraints approach

The binding constraints approach is essentially an analytical method for pinpointing the most important and immediate determining factors facing individuals when attempting to access education, healthcare and the labour markets. These determinants may take the form of factors specific to the household (socioeconomic level, levels of schooling, etc.), or factors pertaining to the context within which the household exists (availability and accessibility of public services, rural or urban environment, etc).¹

As way of example, assume a country that features, from an analysis of available census data, low levels of schooling among certain segments of the population. In such a case, what kind of public policy would be best suited to resolving this social situation? One recommendation could be to construct more schools or increase the number of teachers, yet it is worth asking whether this recommendation would be appropriate in all cases.

The concept of binding constraints tells that the response must invariably take account of the specific characteristics of each case. Many of the studies conducted in this field have revealed that in certain contexts households that suffer major deprivations are forced to push their youngest members into work, as without this they would be unable to reach the minimum level of consumption required. In such cases, the constraints on the capabilities of the household are so suffocating that its members have no other option and the younger members are compelled to help ensure the household's basic sustenance instead of spending their time at school. In economic terms, this is a situation in which the opportunity cost of children's time (in other words, the income resulting from the children spending their time on another alternative activity, in this case, work) is too high for the household to send them to school and do without the income they are able to generate for the household.

1 The approach described above centers on identifying the most immediate factors determining access to education, healthcare and the labor markets. Mediating determining factors, such as those associated with the political context and people's participation in public policy decision-making processes are addressed separately in Chapter 5 of the Report.

In this type of situation it becomes apparent that a policy geared towards increasing young peoples' levels of schooling by increasing the number of available schools would not have any positive effect. In contrast, policies that attempt to expand these households' capabilities could be effective. For example, the authorities could roll out programs to help compensate families for the lower income they would bring in if they sent their children to school (This is the fundamental principle underpinning the conditional cash transfer schemes in place in certain LAC countries). Other policies could be implemented to promote access to credits, or transfer assets directly to households to enable them to exceed the threshold below which inequality is transmitted from one generation to the next. The initiatives proposed here are clearly very different to policies merely intended to increase the number of available schools. Thus, the binding constraints approach highlights the importance of having a conceptual framework which, by following a sequential process, helps pinpoint the effective causes of the problems observed. These findings can then serve as the basis for recommendations of suitable and effective public policies. There are a number of recent studies that support this idea. For example, the principal binding constraint preventing many countries from attaining the education-related Millennium Development Goal (MDG) is that many individuals are unable to send their children to school, despite the fact that there are available educational institutions (Glewwe and Zhao, 2005). To cite an example, it is worth highlighting the situation facing poor teenagers in Chile, for whom the educational attainment of their parents (an indicator that reflects and is associated with other shortcomings of the household) is more relevant in influencing their decisions to drop out of school than is the availability of schools. Given this situation, it becomes apparent that increasing the number of schools would not necessarily lead to an increase in young peoples' levels of schooling (Sapelli and Torche, 2004).

Figure 1 below illustrates the analysis proposed by the binding constraints approach.

Source: HDR Team based on Kanbur (2008).



Figure 1. Diagnostic of the underlying causes for low levels of schooling

Figure 3.1. Determining factors of child health



development indicators (see Figure 3.1).¹⁰ Using the concentration index as an indicator of inequality, the data analyzed show that early childhood development at a local level is positively associated, in order of importance, with an area's access to public services, its ability to attract migratory flows, its level of wealth and its employment level.¹¹ With regard to household-specific factors, early childhood development is positively related, in order of importance, to the employment status of the head of household, to access to basic services (water, electricity, sewage, etc.), to the household's level of wealth and to the parents' education. The analysis also demonstrated that in these countries there is a positive relationship between early childhood development and maternal employment, both at local and household levels (Mayer, 2009a).

As mentioned earlier, this approach makes it possible to analyse the various factors that influence the association between parents' *functionings* and those of their children, which can also be seen by empirically analysing cognitive abilities. These abilities are a good indicator of early development, as they demonstrate the health of children and their potential to receive education. In this respect, for the case of Mexico, a high positive association was observed between the cognitive ability of fathers and mothers and that of their children (see Figure 3.2; Mayer 2009b). $^{\rm 12}$

There is also a relationship between the income and schooling of parents, on the one hand, and the health of their children, on the other (see Figure 3.1). First of all, higher income levels allow for increased and better access to inputs that directly affect the individuals' health, such as better nutrition and improved housing and sanitation. Second of all, income facilitates access to better medical care. In this respect, it is important to note that access to medical care, for example, does not depend solely on the availability of medical services. If health depended only on ensuring the provision of adequate services, providing universal health care would eliminate health gaps between people with different income levels. Instead, it appears that there are other factors that affect access to health which have to do with constraints at the household level. Therefore, these determinants of household inputs must be taken into account when designing policies geared at promoting equal access to public services.

In this regard, Crespo and Reis (2009) observed that in Brazil, the provision of universal healthcare services reduces the gap in health among the most disadvantaged sectors and the most advantaged population, but it does not eliminate them. This suggests that income has an effect on health that goes beyond ensuring access to medical services, since income also influences factors like better nutrition and better living conditions. In the case of Peru, Seinfeld and Beltran (2009) analysed a government programme for providing food rations, and they showed how the impact of income on the reduction of malnutrition operates crucially as it allows greater access to food, while the provision of inputs such as healthcare services does not have the same degree of influence.

With respect to birth weight, available data suggest that the association between mothers' *capabilities* (i.e., the set of effective options to choose from) and the development of children is mediated by very specific aspects of the mothers' behaviour. In Bolivia, for example, the most important element is the waiting time between pregnancies, which is generally higher among women who have a higher level of education and income. In this sense, public policies like educational campaigns could have an impact by improving children's birth weight (Delajara, 2009a). In Nicaragua and Peru, receiving timely medical care during pregnancy has a significant and positive impact. Family income underlies this behaviour, which is why women with fewer resources delay their first visit by quite a while. In Peru, the delay of the first visit is also related to the unemployment rate: at higher levels of unemployment, the greater the delay observed in the

¹⁰ Early development of children is measured by three variables: access to vaccines, health (estimated, in turn, based on birth weight, the prevalence and severity of diarrhoea and morbidity) and expected height-for-age in children under 5 years old.

¹¹ The concentration index is a measure of inequality that is recorded in the distribution of an indicator among the population (e.g., access to vaccines.) The procedure for calculating it is similar to that used for calculating the Gini index: It classifies the population by income level and measures how the percentage of households that have access to vaccines, in the case of this example, is distributed. The index shows the extent to which the percentage of households with access to vaccines is concentrated in higher-income households.

¹² In Mayer's analysis, cognitive ability was measured based on the results of Raven matrices tests applied to household members over 5 years old. Chapter 4 of this report presents another application of the intergenerational influence of cognitive abilities in the case of Mexico.





first visit. These data suggest that universal access to prenatal care could be highly beneficial (Delajara, 2009b).

Schooling

As shown in Chapter 2, the average level of schooling in the region is unequal, despite the growth undergone in the educational dimension in recent decades. Therefore, as in the case of health and nutrition, it is essential to identify the relative importance of the context of constraints faced by the household, firstly, and of the supply and accessibility of education services, secondly, in order to aid in the design of public policies aimed at improving achievements in this fundamental dimension of human development.

One of the most commonly-used indicators to assess the state of education is the indicator that shows the percentage of the population of a certain age that attends any schooling level. While in LAC nearly 96% of children between 6 and 12 years old are enrolled in an educational institution, this percentage drops to 82% for the age group between 13 to 17 years old and decreases to 36% for the 18- to 23-year-old segment.13

If schooling varies negatively as a result of the costs involved and responds positively because of the benefits that education represents for families, it is necessary to examine what costs and







¹³ These percentages are much higher in more developed countries.

Box 3.5 Adolescent pregnancy and inequality in Latin America and the Caribbean

Adolescent pregnancy is the product of numerous factors, which vary among different cultures and human groups (Coll, 2001; Stern, 1997). As a worldwide average, 55 births per year are reported in adolescent women for every one thousand women in the 15-19 age group, whereas in Latin America and the Caribbean (LAC), this indicator jumps to 80 births, with LAC ranking second worldwide, behind only Africa, in terms of its rate of adolescent pregnancy.¹ That said, this indicator fluctutates considerably throughout the region. Available data reveals, for example, that Nicaragua reports roughly 108 births per year for every thousand adolescent women, while at the other end of the scale, the rate for Trinidad and Tobago is far lower, standing at just 32 per thousand (see Chart 1).

Among adolescents, women aged 19 report the highest prevalence of pregnacies (see Figure 2). Similarly, there is a tight relationship between educational level and adolescent maternity (see Figure 3). For example, available data indicates that roughly 68% of uneducated adolescent women from Bolivia have had a child, whether live birth or still born, and/or are pregnant, whereas this figure plummets to just 5% among women who have completed higher education. In Peru, however, the greatest incidence of adolescent pregnancies occurs among young women who have completed primary education (34.7%). Adolescent pregnancy is also linked to the marked socioeconomic stratification that dominates the region. Historically speaking, adolescent fertility has typically gone hand in hand with poverty, and is treated as one of the component elements of the "intergenerational cycle of poverty" (Rodríguez and Hopenhayn, 2007). In this regard, Peru once again provides a prime example: In Peru the percentage of low-income adolescent women who fall pregnant is seven times higher than the percentage of higher-income women. Major differences can also be observed between different countries, as illustrated by Nicaragua. Although this country reports the highest adolescent pregancy rate in the region, there is very little difference between the rate reported for the poorer strata of the population and that for the wealthier classes, with the adolescent pregnancy rate for Nicaragua being only 2.5 times greater for women from the more underprivileged sectors (see Figure 3).

With regards to place of residence, adolescents from rural areas report more pregnancies than young women from urban settings (see Figure 4). The possible reasons for this trend could include the fact that most adolescents living in urban environments aim for education or employment, which are incompatible with pregnancy at this stage of life. For adolescents from urban settings, juvenile pregnancy typically stems from a lack of information, failure of contraceptive methods or difficult access to such methods (Atkin and Alatorre-Rico, 1991).



Chart 1. Latin America and the Caribbean (33 countries). Birth rates among adolescent women aged 15 to 19 by country and average for the region. *Circa* 2006 (number of births for every thousand women)

In other regions worldwide, the birth rate (for every thousand adolescent women) is as follows: 116 in Africa, 41 in Asia (which has the same rate as for North America), 33 in Oceania and 20 in Europe.



Chart 2. Latin America and the Caribbean (6 countries). Adolescent pregnancy rate by age group. Circa 2005 (%)

Note: The adolescent pregnancy rate reflects the percentage of women aged 15 to 19 who claim to have had a child, whether live birth or still born, and/or are pregnant. Source: HDR Team based on data obtained from processing the demographic and health surveys of Measure DHS, Demographic and Health Surveys. Available at: <www.measuredhs.com>



Chart 3. Latin America and the Caribbean (6 countries). Adolescent pregnancy rates by level of schooling and socioeconomic level. *Circa* 2005 (%)

Note: The adolescent pregnancy rate reflects the percentage of women aged between 15 and 19 who claim to have had a child, whether live birth or still born, and/or are pregnant.

Source: HDR Team based on data obtained from processing the demographic and health surveys of Measure DHS, Demographic and Health Surveys. Available at: <vwww.measuredhs.com>



Chart 4. Latin America and the Caribbean (6 countries). Adolescent pregnancy rates by place of residence and ethnic group. *Circa* 2005 (%)

Note: The adolescent pregnancy rate reflects the percentage of women aged 15 to 19 who claim to have had a child, whether live birth or still born, and/or are pregnant. Source: HDR Team based on data obtained from processing the demographic and health surveys of Measure DHS, Demographic and Health Surveys. Available at: <vwww.measuredhs.com>

To what extent do adolescents' characteristics have a bearing on pregnancy rates? Bearing in mind at the outset that the studies conducted to date cannot necessarily be applied across-the-board, it has been shown that adolescents in Bolivia who live in poor households are more than twice as likely to fall pregnant or be mothers during this stage of their life than adolescents from high-income households. In a similar fashion, while each additional year of age in the 15-19 age bracket increases the probability of pregnancy by 9%, each year of schooling that is added reduces this probability by 4%. In turn, the use of contraceptives slashes the likelihood of adolescent women becoming mothers or falling pregnant by 20% (Alfonso, 2008).

The issue of adolescent pregnancy is an important one, as it may exacerbate poverty and social exclusion (Pantelides, 2004; Guzmán et al., 2001). It has been observed that in many cases adolescent mothers have less schooling, less income and are more dependent on welfare provided by social programmes than women who put off becoming a mother (Ashcraft and Lang, 2006; Barrera and Higuera, 2004; Cardoso and Verner, 2006). Maternity at young ages also has a negative bearing on the children, who tend to experience poorer levels of health and education (Buvinic et al., 1992; Haveman, Wolfe and Peterson, 1995). Chart 5 depicts how, on average, children of adolescent mothers weigh less at birth than children whose mothers were between 30 and 39 years of age at the time of birth (weight reductions fluctuate between 2.6% in the Dominican Republic to 5% in Honduras). Thus, adolescent pregnancy helps to perpetuate the vicious circle of poverty and inequality in that it restricts the development of both mothers and children alike.

Existing analyses in the field of adolescent pregnancy suggest that there is a wide range of target areas open to public policy-makers. Such pregnancies could be reduced significantly by implementing policies that champion education (including sex education), health (provision of sexual and reproductive health services) and opportunities for adolescents to become involved in activities that reflect their age and interests (Rodríguez, 2008; PRB, 2000). Similarly, and as proposed by the Programme of Action of the International Conference on Population and Development (ICPD-Cairo, 1994), in order to enhance both the efficiency and effectiveness of public programmes, the task of designing programmes geared towards adolescents should involve their full participation so as to better gauge their precise needs in terms of sexual and reproductive health.

Source: HDR Team based on Alfonso (2008), Ashcraft and Lang (2006), Atkin and Alatorre-Rico (1991), Barrera and Higuera (2004), Buvinic et al. (1992), ICPD-Cairo (1994) Cardoso and Verner (2006), Coll (2001), Guzmán et al. (2001), Haveman, Wolfe and Peterson (1995), Pantelides (2004), Rodríguez (2008), PRB (2000) Rodríguez and Hopenhayn (2007) and Stern (1997).



Chart 5. Latin America and the Caribbean (6 countries). Children's birth weight by age group of the mother. Circa 2005 (Kg.)



benefits people consider when one makes a decision to send their children to school. The benefits are represented, among other factors, by the returns on education according to educational quality. In other words, schooling affects the level of income that children can achieve in their adult life and also affects their levels of health and their quality of life.14 Thus, returns on education to increase as the quality of education that is accessible increases. Furthermore, the costs of schooling include both the direct costs of education (the cost of school supplies and uniforms, for example) and those derived from the negative impact on income that the decision to send their children to school represents in many households. Indeed, the conflict between work and schooling arises, because to send children to school means losing income or services that may be obtained from child labour, whether inside or outside the home, and such income or services may be essential for families facing significant shortages.¹⁵ In this sense, the available studies show mixed results.

In the case of Chile, for example, it has been observed that income lost because of the conflict between school and work does not have a significant impact on schooling in general, while the quality of primary education does significantly affect parents' decisions regarding their children's school attendance, as a result of the positive impact that education quality has on the returns expected from education (Guzmán and Urzúa, 2009). Clearly, in cases such as Chile, implementing policies that favour the supply of quality education in schools could help increase enrolment rates.

As for the association between households' *binding constraints*, on the one hand, and educational achievements and school performance of children, on the other, data available for Chile, Paraguay, Peru and Argentina shows diverse results.

In some countries, the provision of educational services would not be part of the factors determining low education levels. In these cases, low education levels may be the result of difficulties faced by households in sending their children to school or of the conditions in which education is provided, which include the quality of texts and materials used in classrooms and the teachers' skills and knowledge. This appears to be the case for Paraguay; in this country, problems have not been found in the supply of educational services (i.e., insufficient places in schools have not been observed), but there are results that could be improved in terms of the quality of education (Otter, Villalobos and González, 2009). The situation is similar in Chile: among a series of factors considered, the number of secondary and preparatory schools available in municipalities does not seem to significantly affect parents' decisions about their children's schooling (Guzmán and Urzúa, 2009).

It is possible that in some countries, low levels of education are related to households' constraints in terms of income and access to credit, which can limit the parents' ability to enrol their children in school. In these cases, various measures could help to increase education levels, such as promoting greater opportunities to generate income, facilitating access to credits for education, reducing direct costs (of enrolment fees and uniforms, for example) and decreasing the opportunity cost of using young people's time by implementing conditional cash transfer programmes for households.

Chile is a representative case of the importance of the constraints associated with parents' income. Available data for this country show that in 2006, children who had lived in extreme or moderate poverty in 1996 had 0.72 and 0.55 years less schooling, respectively, than children who were not poor. Moreover, children in the poorest quintile were four times more likely to not be studying in 2006 in comparison to children in the richest quintile, a fact that reveals the existence of a significant temporary association between family income and the future *functionings* of

¹⁴ This is a complex relationship, since it also involves subjective factors like the altruism of parents with respect to the new generation. In turn, there are other factors besides those already mentioned, such as the fact that the decisions of parents can be influenced by the conflict that normally arises between the number of children they want to have and the quality of life (in terms of human capital) that they can give each of them (Becker and Thomes, 1976).

¹⁵ As discussed below, offsetting these two types of costs (direct costs and those that economists call the opportunity cost of child labour) is the basis for conditional cash transfer programmes aimed at health and education.




Note: The gross enrollment ratio reflects the number of students of an age group enrolled at any educational level as a percentage of the total population of the same age group. Source: HDR Team based on SEDLAC (CEDLAS and World Bank), 2010 household mwembers. These findings are quite significant if it is considered that, while the prevalence of poverty in Chile has decreased considerably in recent years, by 2006, 21% of Chilean children still lived in poverty (Zubizarreta, 2009).

Guzmán and Urzúa (2009) also observed that, indeed, the presence of determinants in the home, which are measured based on parents' educational levels and income, influences the educational level of children and, above all, the quality of education. This is reflected in the correlation existing between access to higher levels of education and the socio-economic characteristics of the family unit. It is important to note that the work of Guzmán and Urzúa (2009) shows that this relationship can still be seen in those cases where young people have been shown to have good cognitive abilities. Thus, the study identifies cases in which ot cam be clearly seen that the interruption of schooling is due to parents' socio-economic constraints and not to matters related to the young peoples' abilities. Along these lines, the analysis illustrates that a young person who has good cognitive abilities but comes from a household living in poverty has only a 1% chance of finishing university, while this probability climbs to 65% for a young person with similar cognitive abilities who comes from a high-income household.

Educational achievement

Important elements that directly influence the educational achievement of children include contextual factors (for instance, the number and quality of schools), the household's constraints (such as parents' schooling and income levels), the children's cognitive abilities, and children's health. These factors, coupled with the costs of school services, affect the decisions that parents make concerning the number of years of schooling they aspire to for their children and influence the level of support for homework provided in the home (see Chart 3.2). This conceptual map makes it possible to observe, inter alia, that some decisions made in households offset certain shortcomings in contextual factors and thus make it difficult to have accurate knowledge about the direct impact of some public policy measures. Hence, for example, an increase in the quality of education may lead to a decrease in the time spent at home supporting children's homework, and vice versa, so in none of the cases improvement in the educational achievement of children is observed (Glewwe and Kremer, 2005).

In addition, a positive relationship can also be seen between parents' income and education and children's academic achievement. Along these lines, available data show that in LAC, there is a positive association between households' income levels and children's reading skills (Mcdonald et al., 2009). In the specific case of Paraguay, for example, a positive association was observed between income level and academic achievement (Otter et al., 2009). There was a similar situation in Peru: 44% of primary school students in urban areas achieved an adequate level of reading skills, while in rural areas, which are predominantly poor, only 14% of students with the same education had the same skills (Metzler and Wößmann, 2009). With respect to the above, it is important to note that low educational achievement levels increase the likelihood of children to repeat a school year and, eventually, also increase the chance of their dropping out of school. In Paraguay, for instance, the probability that children will drop out of school ranges between 4% and 5% in urban areas, while in semi-urban and rural areas, this percentage climbs to between 30% and 50% (Otter et al., 2009).

Income level directly affects school achievement by facilitating access to resources required to continue the educational process and by providing greater information about available alternatives and opportunities. It also has an indirect impact, since there is generally an association between income level, on the one hand, and levels of schooling and health in adults, on the other, which is reflected in the quality of support that young people receive at home (Zubizarreta, 2009).

It is important to note that as far as the quality and quantity of schools and the quality of teachers remains associated with household income levels, it will be difficult to accurately establish the degree of influence that education quality and household characteristics have on school enrolment and on educational achievement. Macdonald et al. (2009), for instance, observed that the association between wealth and human development in children is mediated by the quality of schools. Therefore, one way to combat inequality in school achievement in countries like Argentina, Brazil, Chile, Colombia, Mexico and Uruguay could be to provide resources so that the quality of education becomes the same in different schools. Homogenising educational quality provided in schools would make it possible to disrupt the relationship observed between households with higher income levels and better quality of education accessed by children and, consequently, increased educational achievement by these young people. Indeed, the issue of quality school services is one of the primary challenges for conditional cash transfer programmes.

Lastly, it is necessary to consider the results obtained from analyses of production functions that, instead of analysing underlying factors of supply and demand, investigate the direct determinants of school learning. In this sense, data suggest that both household and inputs behaviour as well as, available at school are all related to results achieved by young people on standardised tests. The analysis by Otter et al. (2009) for the case of Paraguay shows that parents' education and the time they spend with their children positively impact the educational achievement of children. Likewise, better quality of schools is also positively correlated with better school achievement.

Figure 3.2 Determinants of educational attainment



Moreover, the analysis of Alzúa (2009) for the case of Argentina demonstrates that both household inputs (represented by the number of books) and school inputs (represented by the infrastructure and ongoing training of teachers) are associated with student achievement, a result similar to that reported by Deutsch and Silber (2009) when examining factors affecting educational achievement in Colombia. In addition, as indicated above, Metzler and Wößmann (2009) report that in Peru, the knowledge of teachers on the subjects they teach affects the academic achievement of students in sixth grade and that this occurrence is relatively higher in disadvantaged areas.

The results of several research papers have been reviewed that indicate that inequality in levels of achievement in health and education may be due, beyond the existing range of services, to other constraints operating at the household level, including the limitation represented by income inequality or by the different scenarios that define the tasks of women in the home (if they work or not and whether or not they are able to plan their motherhood, for example). Similarly, as regards supply, results show that it is essential to address the problems of unequal quality in services, emphasising the need to train teachers and to match the quality of services offered in different geographical areas within each country. Thus, the planning of policies aimed at reducing inequality should begin by diagnosing which of the dimensions (supply or demand) most influences the gaps in each case in order to implement more effective measures.

Box 3.6. The Millennium Development Goals and *binding constraints:* the case of universal primary education

Against the backdrop of the 2000 Millennium Summit held in New York, delegates from 189 states approved a set of eight millennium development goals (MDGs) to be met by 2015. The second MDG is to achieve universal primary education and encompasses at least two questions: What actions can be implemented to help attain this objective, particularly in developing countries, and how much will it cost to implement such measures?

Various studies to have tackled the second question have come up with a mixed bag of results, depending on the scenarios envisaged in each case. The most comprehensive calculations estimate that the global cost of accomplishing the education-related MDG may well amount to between 208 billion and 244 billion US dollars, to be paid out between 2000 and 2015. For Latin America and the Caribbean (LAC), these estimated costs stand at roughly 2.6 billion US dollars over the same period (Bruns, Mingat and Rakotomalala, 2003).

education (in millions of US dollars)						
	Base scenario	Scenario with improvements to educational quality and efficiency				
Sub-Saharan Africa	84,650	88,132				
South Asia	113,439	145,677				
Asia-Pacific	874	2,050				
Latin America and Caribbean	1,957	2,623				
Middle East and North Africa	7,084	5,620				
Total	208,004	244,102				
Source: HDR Team based on Glewwe and Zhao (2006)						

As a general rule, these studies are based on the premise that the main explanation for why school-aged children do not attend primary school is a shortage of schools close to their homes, or because there is no space for new pupils to enrol at available schools. However, there is no evidence to suggest that these reasons apply in all cases.

In Honduras, for example, a country in which barely 50% of children complete primary education, a questionnaire was conducted in 5,768 households. The researchers observed that half of these households are located just 10 minutes away on foot from the nearest school, while 90% are less than 30 minutes on foot from the closest educational centre, clearly demonstrating that access to schooling is not a problem. Focusing on the reasons given by parents to explain the non-attendance of their children, 36% stated that their child was not interested in school, 19% cited economic problems, while 9% argued that they needed their child to work in order to help keep the household afloat.

The case of Honduras suggests that the costs of achieving the primary education MDG could fluctuate a great deal, depending on the type of binding constraints that are shown to exist in each case. In Nicaragua, for example, and based on the underlying notion that "if we build more schools, pupils will attend", the estimated cost of accomplishing universal primary education would amount to approximately 5 million US dollars per year. That said, a more exhaustive analysis paints quite a different picture: in 2000, the primary-school-aged population in Nicaragua stood at 600,000 children, half of whom were living in rural communities. If it is assumed that half of the children from such rural areas need some kind of support (i.e. roughly 150,000 children), and by relying on prior experiences confirming that an annual subsidy of 112 US dollars per pupil is enough to push up the percentage of children that complete the last year of primary education from 55% to 80%, this would require roughly 16.8 million additional US dollars per year. Put differently, in this particular case, a more thorough analysis of the constraints facing households and affecting low school attendance rates could end up tripling the initial cost, which was estimated based on the simplistic notion that poor school attendance rates could be solved by constructing more schools.

These examples illustrate the importance of pinpointing the specific circumstances that restrict progress in terms of schooling, and similarly of determining whether such constraints relate to the households themselves (which are always subject to constraints, sometimes extreme), or to contextual factors, such as a sufficient supply of educational services. Only by conducting this kind of analysis, which adequately identifies the precise binding constraints dragging back levels of educational attainment, the cost involved in effectively achieving the goal of universal primary education can be accurately calculated. The binding constraints approach, as promulgated in this report, can also be applied for the purpose of analyzing the costs required to enhance attainment in other dimensions of social well-being.

Source:HDR Team based on Glewwe and Zhao (2006).

Box 3.7. Conditional cash transfers and the intergenerational transmission of inequality

Conditional cash transfers (CCTs) currently represent an important mechanism of social policy in several countries of Latin America and the Caribbean (LAC), and also in many developing countries from other regions of the world. Although CCT schemes vary in terms of their design, scope and the context within which they are implemented, they essentially involve periodic monetary transfers to poor households, provided that the latter meet certain pre-established conditions requiring them to invest in the human capital of their children.

The actions required of the heads of households by these kinds of programmes tend to focus on health and nutrition (periodic medical check-ups, growth monitoring and child vaccinations, perinatal care and attendance by mothers at informational meetings), and also education (school enrolment and attendance, and sometimes performance-related requirements). Most CCT schemes transfer the money to the mother of the child or, in certain cases, to the pupil him- or herself. In countries in which CCT programmes have been implemented, they have proven to be effective at reducing poverty in the short-term. In locations where household investment is considered insufficient, these programmes have helped encourage investment in key aspects of child development.. Follow-up studies have also shown that CCTs help augment the human capital of the next generation and that they therefore constitute a valuable tool for reducing the intergenerational transmission of inequality.

As a general rule, CCTs have led to a significant increase in the use of educational and health services: they have pushed up enrolment rates in countries such as Honduras, Mexico and Nicaragua, and have also had a positive impact on the use of preventive medical services. In similar fashion, CCTs have allowed beneficiary households to increase their spending and improve their nutritional health by helping them acquire more and better food supplies. Moreover, available data for countries such as Ecuador and Mexico suggest that CCTs do not necessarily have a negative impact on adults' labour market participation, and in these two countries, together with Brazil and Nicaragua, the programmes have actually helped to combat child labour. Conditional cash transfer programmes in the region, however, also face significant challenges. Despite the fact that CCTs have led to a surge in the use of educational and health services, they have not always been as successful in terms of improving the actual levels of schooling and the health attained by their beneficiaries. Although improvements have been noted in certain cases, for example in the expected height-for-age and in children's health, these improvements are not widespread. In terms of education, although the cognitive skills of children at early ages were shown to have improved in certain cases as a result of CCTs, the improved schooling of the beneficiaries of these kinds of transfers did not necessarily result in significant increases in the salaries attained over their adult life. In a similar vein, the improved school enrolment rates did not necessarily lead to significant improvements in school performance.

Of the various possible causes for the limited success of CCTs in achieving mid- and long-term educational and health-related objectives, it is important to note certain constraints that shape households' decisions and which current CCT programmes, do not take into account. For example, these contraints include the possibility that parents may well act in a manner that proves incompatible with the human capital development of their children, perhaps due to a lack of information, but also, without a doubt, due to a lack of access to complementary inputs. Identifying the constraints that limit parents' decisions regarding investment in the human capital of their children is crucial to design and implement effective CCT programmes. Furthermore, the quality of available educational and healthcare services may be poor, particularly as regards the services to which the poorer population has access. This means that accessibility does not necessarily produce the benefits one would expect from better quality services. In this regard, the binding constraints approach presented in this chapter can help to pinpoint the main steps required to make CCT programmes better suited to reducing poverty.

Source: HDR Team research based on Fiszbein and Schady (2009)

CRISIS, VULNERABILITY AND PROTECTING ACHIEVEMENTS IN HUMAN DEVELOPMENT

It is essential to identify constraints that limit achievements in human development from one generation to the next, just as it is crucial to protect the achievements that have been made. In a context of scarce resources, which requires major efforts to put an end to the intergenerational reproduction of inequality, it is fundamental to prevent regressions in health, education and income generation. Two of the most important factors that may influence the decline in achievements made in human development by various countries in LAC are economic crises and extreme weather-related events. Both phenomena tend to adversely affect overall economic activity and can cause severe crises in the formation of human capital as well as accentuate levels of poverty and inequality in affected countries.

For example, it is important to note the case of the debt crisis of the 1980s, which affected equal opportunity in education in LAC. In Brazil, Colombia and Mexico, the crisis had a negative impact on the opportunities for young people to complete secondary education and enrol in higher education. To some extent, these effects also respond to the decline in the demand for education by the population with the lowest income and not only to the limited supply of secondary and university education. In an environment characterised by reduced household income, a weak social security network and constraints in access to credit, many families in poverty were forced to take their children out of school as a strategy to combat the economic situation (Torche, 2009).

Meanwhile, Chile behaved in a different manner. Immersed towards the end of the 1970s in a context marked by extremely low wages and growing unemployment rates, Chile did not experience the same negative effects in secondary and higher education. One possible cause for this difference could be the existence of a higher relative efficiency when allocating school spending and/or an increase in returns on higher education during the same period. It is likely that these factors generated sufficient incentives so that even low-income families sought to increase the educational achievement of their children, despite economic difficulties (Torche, 2009).

In addition, available data concerning the negative impact of extreme weather-related events on levels of human development are overwhelming. Due to its geographical location, various countries in LAC are exposed to these kinds of events, although it is important to note that the high economic and human costs caused by such phenomena are generally associated with conditions of extreme vulnerability. In countries like Bolivia, Colombia, Ecuador, Mexico, Peru and El Salvador, achievements in human development and reductions in poverty and inequality have been negatively affected by phenomena such as droughts, flooding, intense rains, landslides and earthquakes. These phenomena generate substantial economic losses by destroying a number of intangible assets that are key to long-term achievements in human development, such as children's school attendance and employment opportunities (López-Calva and Ortiz-Juárez, 2009).

In this regard, it is essential for public policies to go beyond a vision focused solely on recovering physical infrastructure and on designing actions to be implemented after an extreme event has occurred. Instead, it is necessary to promote the development of a more complete perspective for handling such problems, a perspective which puts equal emphasis on repairing damage, protecting human development achieved and implementing preventive measures. For example, designing public policy schemes both to prevent and in response to extreme weatherrelated events that make it possible to avoid school dropouts by children exposed to, or affected by, events of this type may help mitigate the long-term impact such phenomena have on levels of well-being. Conditional cash transfer programmes and other specific measures can also have positive effects by helping to encourage preventive behaviour for managing risk (e.g., the diversification of income sources) and by minimising adverse behaviour, such as the sale of physical assets, the reduction in household consumption, and child labour.

In general, within a context characterised by the possibility of suffering extreme economic or weather-related events, it is essential to implement preventive actions that minimise impacts caused by events of this type and that do not force the most vulnerable population to reduce their investment in human capital. Along these lines, it is crucial to apply measures to ensure that achievements in human development are protected and that inequality of well-being is reduced. Measures such as better allocating spending on education and health, strategically using cash transfer programmes (conditional and otherwise) and improving social protection systems are important elements for designing an effective strategy which aims to minimise extreme vulnerability and protect achievements in well-being.

THREE POSSIBLE LEVELS FOR FOCUSING PUBLIC POLICY: HOUSEHOLDS, THE PROVISION OF SERVICES OR BOTH

Although there are various mechanisms by which individuals' actions affect the *functionings* of their children, this chapter seeks to identify those mechanisms related to the decisions that parents make for their children, within contexts characterised by constraints that can be extreme in many households.

Based on the concept of *capabilities* used in this Report (i.e., the set of effective options that are available to people), this section primarily seeks to examine how the *capabilities* of one generation determine the human capital of the next. Identifying *binding constraints* illustrates the need to distinguish between factors pertaining to households and those that are specific to the context within which the household develops. The combination of both types of factors is what ultimately determines the chances that individuals have to decide what investments to make to improve their children's *capabilities*. In this regard, there is well-founded evidence that shows that parents' *capabilities* significantly influence the human capital of their children and the levels of development that their children can achieve in adulthood.

As for the health and nutrition of the next generation, the capabilities to invest in human capital are not only limited by factors specific to households, but also by the availability and accessibility of public services. The relative importance of these two factors varies in different regions. In some areas, the determining factor is shaped by effective access to healthcare services, which is mediated by the household's income level. In other areas, despite the fact that services are available, limitations seen in the *functionings* of households prevent use of such services.

In terms of schooling, some studies suggest that the most pressing constraints to achieving adequate levels of schooling for young people can be found at the household level; these constraints include the high opportunity costs of household members' time, the lack of access to credit and the lack of opportunities to generate income. These constraints could be eased by providing offsetting incentives such as cash transfers. As for children's educational achievement, the latest data indicate that there is a positive relationship between educational achievement and parental income, determined primarily by access to higherquality schools. Moreover, other results show that there is also a positive relationship between household inputs (the time parents spend with their children, for example) and educational achievement levels.

Therefore, by identifying some of the factors that determine inequality in human capital investment, it is possible to distinguish between the primary levels on which policy should act in order to reduce inequality and thus enable better chances for success: i) at the household level; ii) at the provision of services level; or iii) at both levels. However, policy recommendations must take into account the circumstances of each country and place and, consequently, require a detailed analysis of the various indicators in each case in order to determine what factors cause the differences in human capital levels in children.

Data considered in this chapter allows for the benefits of some public policy proposals to be assessed, but not their costs. As a result, any public policy recommendation must be based on a previous analysis that contemplates both the benefits and costs of suggested actions, thus helping to improve governments' efficiency when using available resources to achieve priority goals. Much of the contribution that this chapter seeks to provide is to highlight the necessity and usefulness of identifying the most immediate and severe constraints that affect investment in human capital in an attempt to help design effective public policies, which are crucial given the limitations on monetary and human resources facing governments in the region.

Finally, it should also be noted that it is necessary to protect achievements in human development from the effects of phenomena such as economic crises or extreme weather-related events which are beyond the public policy control and to which several countries in LAC have been exposed to. In this sense, it is urgent to develop appropriate schemes for preventing and mitigating the impact that these phenomena have on human capital formation, thereby avoiding decreases in the region's achievements in human development

Chapter 2 shows that LAC has high and persistent levels of inequality in human development in health, education and, in particular, in income. In turn, it is suggested that inequality is largely caused by mechanisms of intergenerational transmission of levels of achievement. Based on the binding constraints approach, this chapter shows what is visible, i.e., the most immediate determinants of parents' capabilities to invest in the human capital of their children within the context of the range of services available. The next chapter (Chapter 4) seeks to examine the importance of certain factors that cannot be observed directly and, therefore, are more difficult to detect; however, these factors are just as important in determining the decisions that parents make concerning their investment in the human development of their children. The proposal is based on the analysis of individuals' agency and aspirations -intrinsically valuable elements for human development-which in turn affect other functionings and whose effects on well-being and inequality are also transmitted between generations.



Process matters: the role of aspirations and autonomy in transmitting inequality

4

WHAT CANNOT BE SEEN ALSO MATTERS

As already discussed in Chapter 3, households that make up the most vulnerable sector of society are faced with numerous constraints limiting their *capabilities*, a state of affairs that leads to low relative levels of achievement in terms of well-being. These constraints, which are generally transmitted from one generation to the next, can be caused by: i) limited or no access to public goods and services (such as quality schools and hospitals); ii) constraints on the *functionings* of households, which are relatively easy to observe and measure (for example, through indicators that measure poverty conditions, adults' low levels of schooling, precarious working conditions) or, in many cases; iii) a combination of the two aforementioned types of constraint. These conditions, which are explored in Chapter 3, are essentially *what can be seen*.

Nonetheless, in order to study human development and the mechanisms underpinning the intergenerational transmission of inequality, i.e., the basis of this Report, it is also important to address the importance of the processes that affect the functionings of the younger generations, in other words, that which young people effectively manage to "be" or "do" with available resources. These processes encompass both the capacity of people to attain goals that matter to them, and their ability to act in order to make this a reality. In this chapter, a number of contextual factors that affect the formation of goals are explored, and likewise study the levels of autonomy that people have in order to reach their objectives. These factors include subjective manifestations and can therefore be tricky to observe and measure. With this in mind, the Report's proposed analytical approach is to underscore the importance not only of the opportunity freedoms but also the process freedoms required for people to attain the levels of wellbeing that matter to them.

Many of the constraints hampering the *capabilities* of people who belong to the most underprivileged sectors of society arise from interactions with other individuals from the same sector, as well as with people from other sectors of society. This means that not only whether a person belongs to a certain group needs to be explored, but also analyse how the members of this group interact among themselves, and identify how exactly the identities of the various social groups are defined.1 The contexts and the frames of reference in which households exist influence not only people's aspirations to attain different functionings, but also their perceptions of their possibility of reaching the goals they have set for themselves. Against this backdrop, there are subjective elements that shape the decisions made within households, and also the aspirations of its members regarding their expected levels of achievement in terms of development. In certain cases, these subjective elements exacerbate the dynamics through which inequality is reproduced. The purpose of this chapter is therefore to help identify and analyse these key factors.

¹ Appadurai (2004) employs the expression "terms of recognition" to describe the stereotypes that society at large constructs and attaches to people who live in poverty, which include the following: These people are living in poverty because they themselves asked for it or brought it upon themselves through a lack of initiative; they don't work because they don't want to; the well-being of their children doesn't matter to them, etc. These stereotypes, which are beyond the control of the poor, affect them and tend to determine how they interact with other members of society, thereby serving to perpetuate exclusion, poverty and inequality. A similar approach can be seen in studies about what is known as "stereotype threat". These works contend that by emphasizing the idea that a given person belongs to a group that is socially stereotyped as being less able to carry out a given task, this will undermine the person's performance of the task in question. The cases under analysis reveal that people of African descent performed worse on IQ tests (Steele and Aronson, 1995), and women obtained relatively poor scores in mathematics in comparison to men (Spencer, Steele and Quinn, 1999) when, just moments before starting the tests, their race or gender, respectively, were emphasized.

If the stubborn persistence of inequality over time were only due to constraints such as those analysed in Chapter 3 of this Report, then combating inequality would simply be a question of rolling out public policies to "level the playing field," by providing equal access to the human and physical capital available to all of society. In this manner, all people, in their capacity as autonomous actors, could aspire to attain different levels of functionings, and attainment of their aspirations would depend solely on whether the individuals exerted enough effort to reach the goals they set themselves. However, this situation simply does not exist in the real world, since inequality not only affects access to goods and services, but also limits people's ability to generate goals along with their agency capability to attain them. From this standpoint, and as stated in Chapter 1, the equal opportunities approach is a particular case of the capabilities approach, which provides the basis for this Report.²

The empirical analysis set forth in this chapter is based on two closely related concepts, which represent key components of the capabilities approach: people's aspirations and agency. Aspirations drive people to make decisions that enable them to migrate from a given situation to another they wish for themselves and their children. In this regard, it could be said that aspirations are the part of culture that face out towards the future, in contrast, for example, to customs and rituals. In turn, agency refers to people's effective capability to impact reality with a view to reaching those goals and values that matter to them (Rao and Walton, 2004). Following the conceptual framework of this Report, as presented in Chapter 1, aspirations and agency are crucial elements in the transformation process that enables an individual to convert access to goods and services into "states of being and doing". Although aspirations and agency capability manifest themselves on a subjective scale, they are heavily influenced by social context, which is the realm within which public policies can be applied to expand the whole range of people's capabilities.

Set forth below is a synthetic analysis of the importance that aspirations and *agency* pose for human development in Latin America and the Caribbean (LAC), based on an examination of a host of available *functionings* indicators of roughly 4,000 households from the principal urban areas of three LAC countries, namely Buenos Aires (Argentina), Managua (Nicaragua) and Mexico City (Mexico). The information was obtained by means

Box 4.1 The relationship between the cognitive skills of two successive generations

The economic determinants of households affect the educational performance of children and, later on, influence the conditions in which children will enter the labour market in their adult life. The influence of the cognitive abilities of one generation on the cognitive abilities of the next generation is a relatively recent topic of study, especially in Latin America and the Caribbean (LAC).

Based on the cognitive abilities indicator measured using the Raven t test, available data for Mexico show that, even when taking into account other household determinants like income level, the parents' levels of education and the place of residence, the influence of parents' cognitive abilities is the primary factor determining the cognitive abilities of children.¹ In fact, in Mexico it was observed that if the mother obtains results equal to or higher than the average achieved by adults on the Raven test, there is a 20% increase in the likelihood that her child will obtain results equal to or higher than the average obtained by young people of the same age and gender.

The cognitive abilities of the father appear to have a similar influence as those of the mother. Thus, taking into account other important factors, studies show that the children of parents with above-average cognitive abilities are 40% more likely to achieve these same results. Similarly, the analysis highlights that, while the father's cognitive abilities are closely associated with his attainments in other dimensions of human development, such as income and education level, the cognitive abilities of the mother were found to have a significant intergenerational influence that is independent of her level of achievement in other dimensions.

As a result, the factors that increase the chance that children will achieve above-average results on the Raven test include the fact that the parents have high scores in this evaluation. In addition, the fact that the mother completed secondary education (nine years of schooling in Mexico), increases by 11% the likelihood that children will obtain high results on the test compared to young people whose mother has only completed primary education, and, if the mother has 12 years of schooling, this probability increases by 16%. By contrast, the father's level of education does not seem to have an additional impact on the results that children obtain on the Raven test.

Lastly, the results obtained show that in the cases where all other factors remained constant, the fact of living in a rural area decreased young people's chance of obtaining above-average results on the Raven test by 6%.

² The equal opportunities approach is used empirically to assess inequalities in terms of access to resources and services that affect the functionings of young people. The analysis is based on variables beyond the control of young people, such as the schooling and employment of both their parents, ethnic group, gender and the geographic location in which they live (World Bank, 2009). Although this approach acknowledges the existence of collective attributes linked to the characteristics of the groups to which people belong (ethnic group, for example), in practice it implicitly assumes that the individual is an autonomous actor, capable of attaining any goal that may be set, thus supporting the idea that levelling off the playing field is enough to ensure equality between people. See Chapter 1 of this Report for a more in-depth discussion on this topic.

Source: HDR Team based on Altamirano, López-Calva and Soloaga (2009b).

¹ In the Raven test, subjects are asked to identify the missing item that completes a pattern. To figure out which item is missing in each case, it is necessary to use perceptual skills, observation skills and analogical reasoning skills, but it is not necessary to be literate.

of three mutually comparable surveys, all specifically designed for the purpose of drawing up this Report.³ The research made it possible to evaluate the extent to which parents' aspirations and *agency* influence factors such as their children's level of schooling, or these children's access to certain services. The analysis also enabled the discovery of the main determining factors behind the formation of parents' aspirations in relation to the level of education they want for their children, while also allowing an analysis of the process whereby aspirations are transmitted between generations.

Although the findings point to logically foreseeable relationships (for example, that parents' low relative aspirations and autonomy are pegged to their children's low relative *functionings*), for the first time the information gleaned, to empirically verify the existence of such effects (which are expressed in addition to the influence of other socioeconomic factors) and gauge their relative importance.

ASPIRATIONS: GAPS, INDIVIDUAL EFFORT, CONNECTED SOCIETIES AND STRATIFIED SOCIETIES

The concept of aspirations is used to refer both to the functionings that people wish to attain, and also to those they want for their children or for society as a whole. Aspirations are futureoriented and therefore represent an important driver of change for societies and individuals alike, in that they help to construct a map enabling people to travel from their current situation to wherever their aspirations may lead them. This map makes it possible to identify and develop the steps required to ensure the well-being that people wish for themselves and their children. The attainment of aspirations implies a degree of awareness of the available opportunities, and also of existing relations between different sets of opportunities. Since this awareness is distributed unequally among the different social groups or strata that make up society, based on the same causes that determine the poverty and inequality observed in different dimensions, it is possible to contend that the capacity to generate aspirations is determined by society and is a part of the set of people's capacities (Appadurai, 2004).

For a large part of the population, poverty and inequality imply fewer possibilities to change the conditions in which their lives unfold or to influence the conditions in which the lives of their children will unfold. This situation helps create a vicious circle that perpetuates poverty and inequality. As stated earlier, this is reflected in easily observable indicators, such as the quality of life, or poor educational attainment, transmitted from one generation to the next, or in indicators that are more difficult to observe and which reflect people's possibilities to set goals and take the necessary steps to achieve them.⁴

Various relevant questions arise from this analysis. In particular, it is important to examine the manner in which people form their aspirations, and to explore whether these affect the key decisions that influence the levels of well-being reached by individuals and households alike (for example, decisions that determine how much to save, or how much time and effort to pour into different activities, including the task of raising and educating children). This Chapter also analyses the extent to which a lower degree of social stratification or greater social mobility affects the process of generating aspirations, and examine whether changes in people's aspirations can bring about changes in the type of society.

The different levels of achievement that people wish to reach in different dimensions of their lives are shaped by social context, meaning that they are highly influenced by experience, the social rules in place, socioeconomic conditions and their observations of other people and their ways of life. People are more heavily influenced by those who most resemble them, or those who have experiences that individuals deem relevant to their own lives. It is only natural to believe, for example, that during the process of creating aspirations concerning the schooling of their children, parents will primarily take into account the things they observe around them as part of their circle of neighbours, friends, relatives and work colleagues.

Thus, both the level of schooling reached by the children of people with whom a given individual interacts and those people's aspirations regarding the educational levels they wish for their children constitute a significant source of information that affects and shapes the aspirations that the individual in question sets for the schooling levels for his or her own children. The information stemming from interactions with people who make up the social network of belonging, coupled with information from other sources (such as the media), opens up a huge spectrum of possibilities for forming individual's own aspirations, which has been coined the *aspirations window* (Ray 2006;Genicot and Ray, 2009).⁵

³ The questionnaires applied in the three metropolitan areas are available at the Report's web page: www.idhalc-actuarsobreelfuturo.org .

⁴ This analysis shies away from the "culture of poverty" concept, which contends that poor people are responsible for their living conditions (Lewis, 1961; Valentine, 1969). Agency and aspirations play a specific role in households, and help determine their set of capabilities, in that they form part of the transformation function (see Figure 1.1 in Chapter 1 of this Report). The fact that both agency and aspirations are socially determined implies that public policies geared towards promoting the capabilities of people facing underprivileged situations should target all households. Available data for polarised or stratified LAC societies suggest that the region has a huge task ahead in this regard.

⁵ There is an abundance of sociological studies on the role that aspirations play in obtaining different levels of achievement in terms of well-being (see, for example, Sewell and Shah, 1968; Vaisey, 2009, and the bibliography cited by these authors). The economic approach has been studied by Ray 2006, which has inspired more recent publications (Genicot and Ray, 2008; Jaoul-Grammare, 2007; Atanassio and Kaufman, 2009).

The example of the schooling that parents want for their children shows also that the educational *aspirations window* may be comprised of several levels, ranging from successful conclusion of secondary education (as observed, for example, among neighbours or friends), to achievement of a postgraduate qualification (as observed, for example, among family members or colleagues). Based on the parents' educational level and the personal and economic effort they must channel into enhancing their children's access to different levels of education, the parents formulate aspirations regarding the level of schooling they want for their children.

This approach throws an additional element into the analytical tool box, namely the *aspirations gap*, meaning the difference between the current situation (for example, a child that has completed primary education) and the target situation (perhaps for the child to attain a postgraduate qualification). As aspirations help to pave the way from one situation to the other, the closing the *breach* could entail at least three different scenarios.

Firstly, if the distance between the current situation and the desired situation can be travelled with a reasonable effort, people will have incentives to attempt it and thereby close the gap. In contrast, if the distance is considerable and people are unable to perform the effort required to bridge the gap, it will obviously remain open. Lastly, it is possible that people's efforts may be inhibited by an absence of alternatives in their surroundings. Following the approach advocated herein, according to which development is understood as expanding the capabilities that people have to choose between alternative ways of life that they value, the latter two scenarios, that is, the gap that is impossible to close and the non-existence of alternatives, reflect lower levels of well-being since they are indicative of a decline in people's *capabilities*.

The fact that there may be a great distances between the current situation, the possible situation and the desired situation brings the analysis back to the notion of connected societies discussed in Chapter 2, which tackles the concept of polarisation, and it is helpful to understand the key role that aspirations play in propagating inequality within LAC. A society where income distribution is *connected* everywhere, so that the income level of each individual or household is always accompanied by other, relatively close levels of income, will generate broader aspirations windows, with at least one upward path accessible for each level of effort. Put differently, people living in connected societies observe a continuous flow of possibilities around them to which they may aspire and which do not entail prohibitively large steps to reach. From a capabilities standpoint, the existence of a more panoramic aspirations window entails a broader set of possible functionings.

Figure 4.1 depicts the differences between the *aspirations gap* of a *connected society* and that of a highly stratified society. Within

the latter, there are huge relative rifts between the different levels of achievement. The upper panel demonstrates that individuals, even when they start with different absolute levels of well-being, have a continuous range of possible efforts to access greater levels of *functionings*, whereas the lower panel reveals a plateau of aspirations among individuals who share similar levels of achievement, as well as the existence of insurmountable *gaps* to attaining greater levels of well-being. It is worth asking within which of the situations analysed do LAC cities fall, and whether these cases are closer to the scenario depicted in the upper panel or the lower panel of Figure 4.1.

As with the indicators developed in Chapters 2 and 3 of this Report, the empirical results displayed below point to a high degree of inequality in the availability of schooling alternatives open to young people, which in turn is reflected in the stratification of the aspirations mentioned by the two interviewed generations (children and parents).

It is possible that *connected societies*, in which individuals perceive that other ways of life are attainable, promote more effort and greater social mobility than *polarised societies*, in which groups are shaped, for example, by the perceptions of those with similar levels of income.⁶ That said, it is worth asking whether this situation is actually verifiable in practice and whether there is space for the introduction of public policies.

The findings of recent studies conducted against the backdrop of various social programmes would suggest that learning based on observation of the positive experiences of other relatively close or intimate individuals can lead to changes in aspirations and encourage positive future outlooks, while promoting investment in education and more profitable activities in terms of income generation. This has been observed, for example, in Nicaragua, where the successful activities of a group of women (beneficiaries of a social welfare programme that supports the women's economic activities) served to widen the aspirations window of other people who did not have access to such aid (Macours and Vakis, 2009). Similar results were reported in Mexico, where, within the context of the Progresa-Oportunidades programme, the frequent talks between programme beneficiaries and doctors and nurses had a positive effect on people's educational aspirations for their own children (Chiapa, Garrido and Prina, 2010).7

These examples illustrate that people can react positively when the set of available *capabilities* expands. In the examples mentioned above, the expansion was brought about by the

⁶ As discussed in Chapter 2 of this Report, the concept of polarised societies refers to cases in which there are two or more groups with certain clearly delimited characteristics that define them while also marking them apart from the other groups. Thus, the people that make up each group possess a strong sense of self-ascription, as well as a sense of distance or alienation in relation to the other groups within the society.

⁷ Other studies conducted in the United States, England and Australia reveal that there is a high correlation between people's educational aspirations and the levels of wellbeing achieved over the course of their adult life (Khoo and Ainley, 2005).

introduction of local-level public programmes that opened up new horizons to promote improved levels of well-being within households (In accordance with the possible scenarios set forth in Figure 4.1, this situation would be equivalent to a reduction in the distance between level B' and level A'). Nevertheless, and although these advances are important per se, their scope may be limited in comparison to the major challenges involved in attaining *connected societies* in LAC. On a final note, it is worth noting that both aspirations and agency are elements that arise primarily from the interaction between people. As a result, only a fully-comprehensive public policy that helps bridge the gap between successive levels of achievement by making these different paths in life both visible and attainable for society at large, will be able to effectively expand people's *capabilities*.





Source: HDR Team, based on Genicot and Ray (2008).

Box 4.2 Conditional cash transfers and their impact on the empowerment and aspirations of women: the case of the Progresa-Oportunidades programme in Mexico

One of the main strengths of conditional cash transfer (CCT) programmes designed to strengthen human capital is that they facilitate the achievement of additional goals, such as promoting the empowerment of women, supporting associations among communities or beneficiary groups to achieve a particular objective, or elevating people's aspirations concerning living conditions or the level of educational achievement they want to reach.

A very good example of fostering the empowerment of women is the Oportunidades programme (originally called Progresa), which has been implemented in Mexico since 1998. This programme provides conditional monetary support to increase children's regular attendance at school and healthcare centres, thus helping in improve the literacy and nutritional status of children in poverty. In addition, it promotes the empowerment of women by requiring that the transfer be given to the female heads of households.¹ This enables women benefitting from the programme to increase their control over household resources and to strengthen their negotiating power at home.² Available data in this area show that the Progresa-Oportunidades programme had a a positive impact on factors that have a bearing on women's negotiating power and influence at home. The actions that helped increase women's level of empowerment include:

- An increase in the amount of available resources in the hands of women;
- The promotion of women's knowledge about health and hygiene issues as a result of taking part in group discussions;
- The creation of a network of co-beneficiaries organised to provide regular assistance to women benefitting from the programme;
- The organization of regular meetings to foster the participation and community-centred organisation of women;
- The provision of additional resources to women that are controlled by them in order to increase their confidence and self-esteem;
- The promotion of education for girls.

In particular, when assessing the impacts of the Progresa-Oportunidades programme on living conditions in households in poverty, De la Brière and Quisumbing (2000) found that women who had higher levels of education and more work experience prior to marriage were more likely to make certain household decisions themselves rather than in conjunction with men. This is the case with decisions relating to issues like children's health and education (i.e., decisions concerning school attendance or when to have a doctor's appointment), children's clothing expenses, and household's food and durable goods expenses.

Thus, the analysis revealed that in areas where the Progresa-Oportunidades programme operated, the likelihood that this kind of decision would be unilaterally made by men decreased, and it showed that cash transfers have a positive marginal effect on the possibility of women making decisions by themselves.

Another important aspect of CCT programmes is that they help to promote people's aspirations in education, health and income. The Progresa-Oportunidades programme, for example, includes an educational component based on subsidies that are designed to ensure that children and young people enrol in school and attend regularly, and it encourages parents to recognise the advantages that education has for their children (De la Brière and Quisumbing, 2000). The Progresa-Oportunidades also promotes gender equality by giving larger scholarships to girls and young females, an action that is based on findings that show that in households in poverty, women are more likely than men to drop out of school and do so at an earlier age (Adato and Mindek, 1999).

Women benefitting from the programme who participated in focus groups stated that they valued the education of boys and girls equally, although in many cases men did not think that it was important for daughters to continue attending school, since it was likely that they would marry very young. Mothers also stated that they saw education as a tool that makes it possible for women to earn a higher income. As for professional aspirations, mothers said that they hoped their daughters would work as secretaries, nurses or employees in a shop, pharmacy or factory, which would make it necessary for their daughters to complete secondary education (nine years in Mexico). Results also showed that women saw education as a prerequisite for better jobs or to migrate from their villages to cities, considered necessary to achieve a better standard of living.

¹ Adato et al. (1999) argue that the decision to give transfers directly to mothers was based on findings from studies which indicate that if women administer the resources, there is a greater likelihood that these resources will translate into considerable improvements in children's health and nutrition than when men manage the resources. For a review of specialised literature, see Thomas (1990).

² However, some have argued that, although the programme has empowered women, the Progresa-Oportunidades programme has reaffirmed the hegemonic gender standards which attribute to women activities such as those of caregiver, preventer and provider of health and education within the household (Meza Ojeda, et al., 2002).

Source: HDR Team based on Adato and Mindek (2000) and De la Brière and Quisumbing (2000).

AGENCY AND AUTONOMY

Agency, defined as "what a person is free to do and achieve in pursuit of whatever goals and values he or she regards as important" (Sen, 1985), is a key concept in any analysis of poverty and inequality. The relatively low levels of *agency*, as typically observed among people who live in poverty, exacerbate these people's limited set of *capabilities* with a further element that inhibits their aptitude to participate, negotiate, have a political voice and demand the accountability of the institutions that affect their lives (Narayan, 2002). In Sen's analysis, *agency* is understood as *process freedom*, and its expansion, jointly with people's *capabilities* (*opportunity freedom*), is the overriding goal of development.

Agency is a complex phenomenon: it is multidimensional, intrinsically relational (dependent on interaction with other people) and its scope, including the manner in which this is exercised, is associated with cultural guidelines (Samman and Santos, 2009). Sex, socioeconomic level, religion and ethnicity are just some of the factors that can affect relative levels of agency. This Report, which focuses on analyzing the intergenerational transmission of inequality, attaches particular importance to studies that analyse the relative position of people who present lower levels of agency. In this regard, research into the role of agency within Latin America is practically non-existent. This Report therefore aims to make a valuable contribution based on the information obtained from surveys conducted in the three LAC cities listed above. The purpose of this investigation was to pinpoint the various aspects of agency that are related to the role played by people in decision-making processes within the household and to their possibilities to bring about changes within the local environment.8

As covered at length in the appendices to this Report, the study into *agency* envisaged four global indicators: i) whether the person considers that he or she has control over day-to-day decisions (global decision-making power); ii) the position of the interviewee on a scale of one to ten, reflecting his or her freedom to choose and decide (decision-making freedom scale); iii) how easy or difficult it would be, in the eyes of the person, for him or her to make changes that affects situations in the apartment building or to the city block in which he or she lives (possibility to effect change – block or building); and iv) how easy or difficult it would be, in the eyes of the person, for him or her to make changes in the neighbourhood or locality in which he or she lives (possibility to effect change – neighbourhood or locality).

The analysis also paid heed to three specific indicators that relate to decision-making in specific contexts: i) minor household purchases; ii) the main activity that the interviewee performs; and iii) the education of their children. It should be noted that the questions asked in each of the contexts were prepared so that the resulting data could be compared. Thus, the first question asked in each case was to find out who tended to make decisions in this particular context.9 In those cases where the interviewee replied that he or she was not involved in the decisions relating to the specific context in question, the interviewee was asked whether he or she was able to participate should he or she so wish. Following an affirmative response, this person was deemed to participate in the decision-making process, given that non-participation was interpreted as a voluntary waiver of his or her power in favour of other people. These questions make it possible to identify "decision-making power in relation to household purchasing", the "role within the household" and the "decision-making power regarding the education of the children". The findings of the analysis conducted in accordance with this approach are presented later in this chapter.

STRATIFICATION THROUGHOUT LAC

Both an analysis of aspirations and a study into *agency* take on particular importance in *disconnected societies*, since the starting points in this type of society can be very different, depending on people's relative standing on the social scale. It must therefore be asked what the situation of LAC countries is as regards the extent of the social stratification.

The findings of the surveys conducted in the three Latin American metropolitan areas under analysis (Buenos Aires, Mexico City and Managua) point to high levels of stratification. In particular, it is evident that a low socioeconomic status (low SES) for households is associated with social networks also characterized by low levels of schooling and income, which have been observed among the family members, friends and work colleagues of the interviewees (see Chart 4.1). Thus, it would be fair to contend that the three cities under analysis constitute *disconnected societies*, in ac-

⁸ The question module implemented to measure the role of agency was that proposed by the Oxford Poverty and Human Development Initiative (OPHI) research centre, based on the work of Ibrahim and Alkire (2007). This module forms part of a series of questionnaires that the OPHI wishes to add to the traditional household surveys with a view to analysing five dimensions that have been tagged as "missing" in existing poverty survey instruments (Oxford Development Studies, 2007; OPHI, 2008). See Appendix 1 for further details on the task of measuring agency in accordance with the approach proposed by this Report.

⁹ The question regarding the role that the interviewee plays in the decision-making process within the household is one of the most common in empirical studies intended to measure the level of empowerment of a population (see, for example, the demographic and health surveys conducted in various LAC countries). Possible responses to the question of who makes the decisions within the household include the following: solely the interviewee; the interviewee and his/her partner; the interviewee and another member of the household; the interviewee and another person unrelated to the household; or solely the partner of the interviewee or another person from the household. The responses make it possible to distinguish two groups of people: one group comprising those involved in the decision-making process within the household (regardless of whether they decide themselves or make joint decisions with another person), and another group made up of those individuals who play no role in the decision-making process.

Chart 4.1. Buenos Aires, Mexico City and Managua. Schooling of parents' family networks, friends and colleagues, by socioeconomic status (SES). 2009 (%)



* This category includes adults with no schooling or with only primary school. For the case of Buenos Aires, the survey considered that respondents had completed primary school if they had completed between fifth and seventh grade; for Managua, complete primary education is up to fifth grade or five years of education; and for Mexico City, primary education is up to sixth grade or six years of education.

** This category includes professionals and/or others who have completed postgraduate studies. Source: HDR Team calculations based on Genicot and Ray 2008.

cordance with the indicators describing the characteristics of the social networks, a situation that can be added to the polarised income levels discussed in Chapter 2.¹⁰ In relation to *agency* indicators, and as it can be seen from Chart 4.2, the information reveals that stratification also affects this dimension in the three geographic locations under analysis, particularly when comparing the lowest and the highest SES *agency* indicators.

STRATIFICATION OF EDUCATIONAL ASPIRATIONS

An initial analysis of the data on aspirations suggests that the stratification of the educational aspirations of parents in relation to their children would appear to be less rigid than their socioeconomic stratification: in the three metropolitan areas under analysis, at least six of every ten parents stated that, regardless of their SES, they aspired, for their children to attain universitylevel qualifications (see Chart 4.3). This fact illustrates a certain educational mobility, which would be related to the educational expansion confirmed in the region over recent decades, as reflected in the increase in the population's years of schooling.¹¹ That said, and in the case of low SES, aspirations were shown to concentrate on an educational level lower than universitygrade, while people with a high SES aimed for post-graduate education (see Chart 4.4). This finding points to a high level of stratification.

With regards to the question about who exactly shapes the formation of educational aspirations, the results reveal that there are two primary influences: the person's own experience and the experience of family members. In this regard, own experience can be defined as a variable that reflects an individual's "reading" of the information provided by his or her environment (according to the conceptual framework proposed by this Report and presented in Chapter 1, this would essentially be the *transformation function*),

¹⁰ Studies conducted in various regions reveal that LAC levels of polarisation are among the highest to be found worldwide (Shubhasree and Decornez, 2003; Gasparini et al., 2008). More specifically, Gasparini et al. (2008) have shown that the average polarisation rate for LAC is more than 40% higher than the average for developed countries. It is interesting to note that Russia, Europe's most polarised country, has a similar level of polarisation to Uruguay, which is actually the LAC country with the lowest polarisation rate. The statistical annex to this Report includes a series of polarisation measures for several LAC countries.

¹¹ As a general rule, these results coincide with the data presented by other investigations carried out in countries such as the United States, United Kingdom and Australia. For further reading on this topic, see Vaisey (2009) and Strand and Winston (2008), as well as the studies cited by these authors.

which is heavily stratified in relation to schooling, income and the characteristics of social networks. The findings also indicate that teachers and tutors have a low direct influence on shaping the educational aspirations that parents have for their children, with Mexico City being the only case in which such actors had any kind of bearing in this regard (see Chart 4.5).

The use of econometric tools in the analysis makes it possible to determine the influence that a given factor exerts on a given variable, while taking into account the simultaneous effect of other factors. This provides crucial information on educational aspirations. Firstly, there is an important relationship between the educational aspirations that the parents have for their children and the parent's own level of schooling. It was also apparent that social interaction with people who possess high levels of schooling (specifically, family members, friends and work colleagues) has a positive influence in that it fosters the development of educational aspirations, in other words, the attainment of higher levels of schooling (see Charts 4.6, 4.7 and 4.8).

For the case of Buenos Aires, the fact that the parent completed primary or lower level schooling led to a 29% increase in the likelihood that he or she would aspire to a relatively low level of schooling for his or her children (lower than university-level). In contrast, if the parents had friends or work colleagues with university or postgraduate training, this increased the likelihood, by 11% and 12% respectively, that the parent would aspire for their children to attain university-level schooling.

Furthermore, the analysis revealed that the aspirations of young people are closely related to those of their parents. Bearing in mind the influence of other factors pertaining to the household, such as the parents' levels of schooling, household's characteristics, or the structure of social networks, it was apparent that when parents aspire to certain levels of schooling for their children, this significantly increases the likelihood that the young people will also want to reach that educational



Note: The agency capacity index takes on values between zero and one, such that the higher the index, the greater is the agency capacity of interviewed parents. The first step in calculating this index is to apply the principal components method, which synthesises and combines information contained in the seven agency variables considered: the freedom of choice scale, overall decision-making power, the ability to promote changes in the block and/or town, decisions about household purchases, decisions concerning children's education and the role performed at home. Subsequently, the method for calculating the human development index (HDI) is applied to the indicator derived from the principal components, thus resulting in the agency capacity index (see Annex 1).

Source: HDR Team based on household surveys conducted for this Report in Buenos Aires, Mexico City and Managua.

Chart 4.3. Buenos Aires, Mexico City and Managua. Parents who aspire to university education for their children, by socioeconomic status (SES). 2009 (%)



Note: The figure shows the percentage of parents who aspire for their children to obtain a university degree.

Source: HDR Team based on household surveys conducted for this Report in Buenos Aires, Mexico City and Managua.

Chart 4.4. Buenos Aires, Mexico City and Managua. How far do parents want their children to study? Do parents aspire for their children to progress beyond or fall short of university training?



Chart 4.5. Buenos Aires, Mexico City and Managua. Main influences on the formation of educational aspirations. 2009 (%)



level. This finding is a prime example of the intergenerational transmission of aspirations, which, being socially stratified- as reflected by the gaps between the aspirations of low and high SESs- serve to exacerbate the intergenerational reproduction of inequality (see Chart 4.7). A similar trend was observed with regards to the relationship between parents' levels of freedom and autonomy and the degree of children's satisfaction with their own lives: the greater parents' freedom and autonomy (which, in turn, is associated with socioeconomic conditions), the greater the degree of children's satisfaction with their own lives (see Chart 4.8).

THE PATH TOWARDS CONNECTED SOCIETIES

This chapter has illustrated just how certain specific idiosyncratic factors, which are limited by the socioeconomic context in which the family unit exists, are key to generating the goals and also the levels of self-confidence required to reach them. Given the stratification observed in the three metropolitan areas under analysis, it could be reasonably argued that these elements play

Chart 4.6. Buenos Aires, Mexico City and Managua. Impact of parent's education and of networks on the formation of educational aspirations for their children.



a role in propagating inequality. Similarly, there are major gaps in people's aspirations, not only due to the social context, but also to individual functionings, which are limited when people live in underprivileged socioeconomic conditions. When the distance is too great between individuals' aspirations and the resources required to reach them, the gap cannot be closed. This situation is typical of stratified societies, in which the distance between the aspirations of people from more privileged groups of society and those from more underprivileged sectors is very pronounced.

However, recent experiences showing the positive influences stemming from interactions with people who hold higher relative levels of achievement offer some clues into how public policies could be used to help close these *gaps*.¹² These cases reveal that people react positively to an expansion in the set of options from which they can effectively choose. Nonetheless, progress in this

area may be limited by the enormous task that still remains to bring about a genuinely more connected society. In this regard, the implementation of specific public policies geared towards forging an "offsetting" role for schools, such as by expanding their cultural influence, could help expand the capabilities of people from more underprivileged households.

With regards to public policies, a more comprehensive perspective must be adopted that takes into account all of the effective causes of the transmission and persistence of inequality, in order to design and implement truly effective social plans and programmes. With this in mind, the aim of this chapter is to emphasise the fact that the relevant considerations to be factored into the equation do not merely include those that can be easily observed, such as achievement levels in terms of education, life expectancy and household income, but also those that influence people's aspirations and *agency capacity*, which are transmitted from one generation to the next and which exacerbate the persistence of low levels of achievement among the most underprivileged groups of society.

¹² The positive influence stemming from interaction with people with higher relative levels of achievement may materialize as a result of contact between, for example, local individuals and community leaders, or as a effect of talks with professionals who are not normally present in the locality, such as doctors and nurses.

Chart 4.7. Buenos Aires, Mexico City and Managua. Intergenerational influence on aspirations. 2009. (%)



Note: The percentages shown in the figure indicate the influence that parents aspirations have on children's aspirations to achieve a particular level of education. The results come from a multinomial probit analysis (see Altamirano, López-Calva and Soloaga. 2009b).

Source:HDR Team calculations based on Altamirano, López-Calva and Soloaga (2009b).

Chart 4.8. Buenos Aires, Mexico City and Managua. Correlations between parents' agency capacity indicators and the satisfaction with life indicator for children. 2009 (%)



Note: The percentages indicate the degree of correlation between the satisfaction with life indicator of children and each one of the four agency capacity indicators of parents.

Source: HDR Team calculations based on Altamirano, López-Calva and Soloaga (2009b).

Box 4.3 The impact of what cannot be seen on inequality: additional evidence

The *dissimilarity* index, which expresses the degree of inequality of opportunities existing in a society, has been used in recent analyses to measure inequality. Studies of this kind consider factors that are relatively easy to observe, such as parents' levels of education, type of occupation, place of residence and family's ethnicity.¹ Within the context of the analysis presented in this chapter, and to complement the above-mentioned factors, a study was carried out of how factors such as aspirations and *agency* (associated with *process freedom*) and social networks also affect the inequality measure.

The results from this complementary analysis showed that, first of all, aspirations and agency do not appear to have significant additional influence on the measurement of inequality of opportunities calculated using indicators of *functionings* like access to public services, level of education attained at a certain age and child labour. In other words, results obtained by calculating the inequality of opportunities in a society based on commonly-used variables (educational level of parents, father's occupation, ethnicity and place of residence) do not change after including variables such as aspirations and agency in the analysis.

Nevertheless, the factors that cannot be seen proved to have significant influence when analysing inequality relating to educational aspirations. As regards aspirations to a postgraduate level of education, for instance, inequality indicators (in this case, dissimilarity indices) showed much higher values (generally over 30%), even in cases in which the calculation was only based on the above-mentioned commonly-used variables, without taking into account aspirations and agency. By including these two variables when calculating inequality of opportunities in educational aspirations, the inequality indicators increased by six percentage points for young people in Buenos Aires and Mexico City and by nine percentage points for young people in Managua. Likewise, the inequality of opportunities measure of parents' aspirations with respect to the level of educational achievement to be attained by their children increased by seven percentage points in Buenos Aires, 14 in Mexico City and 12 in Managua (see Figure 1). These data show that aspirations are distributed unequally in society and that this unequal distribution becomes more evident after incorporating variables such as social capital, and process variables, such as aspirations and agency, into the measurement. The results highlight how important it is for the analysis to include contextual factors that are manifested at a household level and serve to perpetuate the intergenerational transmission of inequality.

Source: HDR Team calculations based on household surveys conducted for this Report in Buenos Aires, Mexico City and Managua.



who have the most to those who have the least) in order to achieve equality of opportunities. The greater the value of DI, the more inequality of opportunities there is in a particular society.

Source: HDR Team calculations based on Altamirano, López-Calva and Soloaga (2009b).

¹ The dissimilarity index, used for measuring inequality, estimates the lack of equal opportunities by calculating the percentage of the analysed functioning indicator (access to school, electricity or drinking water and sanitation, for example) that should be redistributed among the population from those with the most access to those with the least or no access, so that all of society's segments manage to achieve equal opportunities. For the set of Latin America and the Caribbean (LAC) countries analysed, the dissimilarity index was 12% for the case of access to school, 27% for access to drinking water and sanitation and 8% for access to electricity (The World Bank, 2008).



From the household to the *polis*: the political economy underpinning the persistence of inequality

5

THE SYSTEMIC INEQUALITY TRAP

Inequality breeds inequality. The low levels of household achievement revealed by human development indicators persist from one generation to the next due to a complex combination of factors. In addition, however, *systemic* factors also play a role in reproducing unequal access to opportunities and spaces of effective choice. Whereas the preceding chapters of this Report explored the intergenerational transmission of low relative levels of attainment in terms of human development among households, this chapter will analyse the role that the political system and the numerous groups capable of influencing it play in the process of perpetuating inequality.

As already discussed, the persistence of inequality in human development stems not only from factors associated with the households themselves, but also from causes tied up with the immediate social context in which people exist. In particular, Chapter 3 analyses the crucial importance of investing in human capital in the early stages of life, which depends on the inherent link that binds the individuals of two successive generations. Moreover, Chapter 3 also describes the most important constraints hindering the ability of the most underprivileged households to invest in the nutrition, health and education of their children. Chapter 4 explores the impact that people's aspirations and *agency capacity* (two elements that make up *process freedom*) have on the transmission of inequality within households, and contends that these factors should also be considered when designing public policies aimed at combating inequality.

This chapter analyses the systemic processes within the structure of the political *system* and the state, which help perpetuate inequality, especially in terms of the different forms of political representation. Existing mechanisms for decision-making and the way in which interests of the different groups are aggregated can help to perpetuate inequality, or, at the very least, hamper the task of reducing it. There are two prime examples of this situation.

The first example is the tax structure. Albeit with certain exceptions, LAC is characterized by a tax system that favours tax collection through consumer taxes (and indirect taxes in general), whereas tax revenues from direct taxes levied on income and property are relatively low (see Table 5.1).¹

The tax reforms applied throughout the region in an attempt to alter this balance have largely proved unsuccessful. Certain academics contend that consumer taxes can be used as an effective mechanism for redistribution, in that they increase the fiscal capacity of the state, provided that public spending is progressive (Engel, Galetovic and Raddatz, 1998). This argument, however, is based on the initial assumption that there is a political balance making it unfeasible to increase taxes on income, earnings and property. Moreover, information on the taxes paid by those companies and people that top the scale in terms of earnings and income distribution is not publicly available for most LAC countries. Without violating the principle of privacy, it should be possible to find out, for instance, how much the fifty wealthiest people and the leading companies in each country pay as income tax. As it currently stands, it is simply not possible to get hold of this valuable information.

¹ For a more in-depth discussion of this issue, please refer to the documents resulting from the Agenda for Democracy in Latin America and the Caribbean (Agenda para la Democracia en América Latina y el Caribe) (UNDP, 2010).

Table 5.1 International comparison of tax burden as a percentage of gross domestic product. 2005 (%)								
Region or country	Total	Income and capital gains	Property taxes	Other direct taxes	Subtotal of direct taxes	Goods and services and transport	Other taxes	Social security
Latin America and Caribbean	17.0	3.8	0.8	0.2	4.8	9.4	0.5	2.3
OECD	36.4	12.9	2.0	0.0	14.9	11.5	0.2	9.3
EU 15	40.1	13.7	2.1	0.4	16.2	12.1	0.3	11.3
United States	26.8	12.5	3.0	0.0	15.5	4.6	0.0	6.6
Japan	26.4	8.5	2.6	0.0	11.1	5.3	0.1	10.0
Source: HDR Team calculations based on Cetrángolo and Gómez-Sabaini (2007).								

Although figures reveal that per capita social spending in the region has increased over the last 15 years in absolute terms and also as a proportion of both total spending and gross domestic product (GDP), the changes geared towards forging a more progressive and transparent tax collection structure have either failed or petered out over time. This is due to the fact that, through a systemic bias, the different capacities of people to influence public policies help to perpetuate structures of inequality.

The second example essentially concerns the regulatory capacity of the state. It is evident that more vulnerable groups not only have limited access to goods and services, but that they also have less chance of having their voice heard as consumers. With this in mind, guaranteeing environments of real competition, while effectively regulating markets prone to natural monopolies, are both key functions of the state. Weak institutions have a negative bearing on the state's ability to discharge these functions, and this often means that those people with less income are often excluded from certain markets, or have access to them but under very unfavourable conditions.² A number of recent studies have highlighted the fact that companies with market power tend to exert considerable influence on the political and legal system, thus enabling them to shield themselves from the regulatory action of the state (see, for example, Guerrero, López-Calva and Walton, 2009).

Furthermore, exercising market power is highly regressive in itself, in that it has a greater impact on the well-being of the population with lower levels of income and exacerbates inequality. These effects are not only regressive in terms of income distribution among households, but also aggravate regional inequalities (see Box 5.1). It is therefore crucial to analyse the regulatory capacity of the state and identify the actions that can be undertaken to increase its effectiveness and transparency, helping break, in this way, the cycle through which inequality is reproduced. Based on the notion that inequality breeds inequality, Chart 5.1 illustrates the channels through which this phenomenon affects efficiency and growth. This line of reasoning is not only based on the starting conditions (high levels of inequality and state weakness), but also on the mechanisms through which inequality is transmitted: i) differential access to influence public policies (including the problems associated with the quality of representation, poor accountability, and state capture) and; ii) inefficient markets, which are such mainly because of concentrated market structures and because certain companies wield dominant market power. The upshot of all these factors is the uneven distribution of resources and distorted public policy objectives, as well as sluggish growth. Breaking free from the cycle through which the political system reproduces inequality is a complex task.

Agency, participation and political representation

As regards the task of combating inequality, the state is able to play an active role in broadening and guaranteeing access to education and healthcare, for example, and in promoting fair access to high-quality services. Furthermore, it must ensure equal access to political participation through institutional channels. This proposal, which forms part of the analysis contained herein, is consistent with the two pillars that underpin the human development approach: *opportunity freedom and process freedom* (see Chapter 1). Equal human development therefore requires the existence of a strong and effective state.

The results of the analysis raise a number of questions: Why does public policy not counteract prevailing and persistent inequality, and why, in certain cases, does it actually exacerbate the problem? How are social inequality and political inequality related? What factors cause different levels of influence in the decision-making processes of state institutions to perpetuate or even increase social inequality? What are some of the most important failings of the political system that result in the persistence of inequality throughout the region?

² Markets featuring natural monopolies are those characterised by high fixed costs, such that the average cost decreases throughout the relevant range of product demand (and is greater than the marginal cost). Prime examples would be certain segments of the services sector with network characteristics: electricity transmission and distribution, drinking water, and telephony (particularly fixed-line markets).

In order to find the answers to these questions, the following sections of this report examine the effects of inequality on public policy processes and also present a basic classification of the main mechanisms that create distortions and encourage the uneven distribution of resources. First it is important to understand the relationship between the operation of the political system and inequality. Irrespective of the complexity of this relationship, democracy is considered essential for human development. The chapter concludes with an analysis of certain irregular and il-

Box 5.1 The regressive effect of market power on the well-being of households in Mexico

A perusal of specialised publications suggests that the exercise of market power has extremely negative effects on the living conditions of the most vulnerable groups in society. A number of research efforts, including studies conducted by Creedy and Dixon (1998; 1999) for the case of Australia, work done by Comanor and Smiley (1975) and Hausam and Sidak (2004) on the United States, and the analysis carried out by Urzúa (2008; 2009) on Mexico, unanimously conclude that the exercise of market power is regressive and has a proportionately greater negative impact on low income sectors..

In the case of Mexico, available data show that the exercise of market power on a set of consumer goods and services not only has a greater negative effect on lower income households, but this regressiveness can also be observed geographically, since as a result, poorer states, generally those in the south, experience greater relative declines in welfare than more prosperous regions. Based on data obtained from the 2006 National Household Income and Expenditure Survey (ENIGH), Urzúa (2009) measured the decline in welfare endured by households as a result of the exercise of market power on the following products: tortillas, processed meat, soft drinks, milk, chicken and eggs, beer and medicine. The results clearly show that, in both urban and rural areas, declines in welfare become more pronounced as household income decreases. In urban areas, households that make up the lowest-income decile of the population suffer relative declines in welfare that exceed by about 20% the declines observed in households in the highest-income decile of the population. Differences are even more pronounced in rural areas: rural households in the lowest-income decile of the population face declines in welfare that exceed by 26.4% the reductions observed in households comprising the ninth decile. In regional terms, southern regions, which have the highest levels of poverty, generally face greater relative declines in welfare than regions in the north. In Chiapas, for instance, the decline in social welfare observed is 31.0% greater than the decline in Baja California.

By examining the declines in welfare resulting from the exercise of market power in the services sector, it is possible to see that these declines are greater among the wealthiest strata of the population. The industries studied include transportation, private education, communications, energy, healthcare and financial services. The legal practices, such as clientelism, state capture, corruption and institutional weakness, which undermine and break the chain of delegation of functions within the democratic system, affect the results of public policy and help to perpetuate and propagate inequality throughout the region.³

Table 1 Welfare losses as a result of the exercise

Urban househo	olds	Rural househo	Rural households			
Decile	Loss as a proportion of the loss observed in the least-affected decile	Decile	Loss as a proportion of the loss observed in the least-affected decile			
I	1.198	I.	1.264			
II	1.176	Ш	1.219			
III	1.158	Ш	1.236			
IV	1.134	IV	1.214			
V	1.128	V	1.211			
VI	1.109	VI	1.150			
VII	1.073	VII	1.148			
VIII	1.052	VIII	1.043			
IX	1.036	IX (the least affected)	1.000			
X (the least affected)	1.000	Х	1.030			
Note: Losses shown are in relation to estimated losses for the least-affected income decile (decile X in the case of urban households and decile IX in the case of rural households). Source: HDR Team calculations based on Urzúa (2009b).						

results show that the highest-income households are the most affected, which is not surprising if one takes into account that some of these services could be considered luxury goods (such as private education). Nevertheless, when these results are analysed in conjunction with data obtained for the case of consumer goods, it can be seen that overall declines in welfare due to the exercise of market power are significantly greater in the poorest deciles of the population.

Source: HDR Team based on Urzúa (2009a; 2009b).

³ The aim of this chapter is not to present an exhaustive view of the challenges facing democratic institutionality in the region. The United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) in LAC has other initiatives that address this issue on a permanent basis and offer a perspective on democratic governance (UNDP, 2004, OAS-UNDP, 2009). This chapter will simply offer a few examples to help illustrate this report's systemic vision of how inequality is perpetuated, and will analyse the issue of institutionality from a human development standpoint.



THE DEMOCRATIC POLITICAL SYSTEM AND ITS COMPLEX RELATIONSHIP WITH INEQUALITY

The task of analysing the capacity of the state to curb inequality in LAC makes it necessary to understand how the democratic system enables public policy to respond to the needs of groups whose ability to organize themselves and influence the political world differs. Equality is one of the normative foundations of the democratic republican system, which is based on the notion that all people are equally entitled to citizenship. Nevertheless, history has shown that the relationship between equality and democratic systems has been far from simple and linear, because in practice, different social groups have had uneven access to resources and power, which in turn has given rise to unequal political balances.

Agency, defined as individuals' and households' capacity to shape their own development, has a political side, as well, in terms of access to power and political participation, with "power" meaning individual's capacity to influence the process of resource allocation and to shield him or herself from arbitrary actions. In this regard, and although it is important to analyse the ways in which democracies have historically resolved the problem of unequal access to resources, it must be stressed that a political system based on democratic rule is a requirement for human development.

The value of democracy is based on its intrinsic value for human freedom, its instrumental value as a system capable of generating political incentives that encourage governmental responsibility and accountability, and its constructive value in shaping values and in championing the concepts of duties, rights and human needs among citizens (Sen, 1999). As Sen points out, these qualities of the democratic system can be treated as being independent of regional differences, thus making democracy a universal value. Democracy is therefore an inseparable part of human development. No non-democratic option would allow for the full development of human freedoms.

The effect of the political system on inequality remains a hot topic. It is important not to accept without question just *any* combination of institutional structures and rules, even when they meet the minimum requirements for democracy,⁴ because not all sets of arrangements guarantee improvement in equality. In other words, it is necessary to pinpoint the specific empirical structures of the democratic system best suited for bridging the gaps between individuals and groups.⁵ The discussion set forth in this chapter identifies certain elements that could help the democratic system respond to the demands of groups that are at a relative disadvantage.

Historically, the democratic system has generated a number of mechanisms of political representation, some of which are better suited to promoting accountability and the participation and empowerment of underprivileged groups. In turn, democracy's long-term effectiveness at reducing inequality would also appear to depend on the state's capacity to act, which is reflected, for example, in the amount of tax revenues collected by the government. International case studies indicate that as the process of migrating to democracy advances and as the state's capacity steadily increases, a positive effect on the distribution of income is observed (Boix, 2003).

There are two prerequisites for the redistribution of income: mechanisms to ensure accountability and effective political competition. These two elements are essential for guaranteeing the proper functioning of the democratic system, the validity of which is not based solely on the organization of periodic elections. If state capacity is not accompanied by a process of democratic consolidation involving accountability, checks and balances, and political competition, democracy will have no positive impact on reducing inequality (Lee, 2005).

As previous chapters have shown, LAC is the region with the highest levels of inequality worldwide. In turn, inequality

⁴ These can be defined, for example, in terms of the already classic concept of polyarchy (Dahl, 1971), according to which the state must guarantee, as a bare minimum, the freedoms of association, thought and expression, the universal right to vote and to run for public office, access under equal conditions to multiple sources of information, free and fair periodic elections conferring pre-established and widely-disclosed terms of office, and the existence of institutions that control government policies and make them dependent on the public vote and other manifestations of public preferences.

⁵ In 2004, the Project on the Development of Democracy in Latin America (Proyecto sobre el Desarrollo de la Democracia en América Latina, or PRODDAL), issued a report, which acknowledges the sheer scale of the challenge posed by persistent inequality in LAC despite the significant advances made over recent decades in terms of political democracy, used a metaphor to describe the modern-day reality of the region: a triangle made up of democracy, poverty and inequality. The report similarly pointed out that democracy, in all LAC countries, goes hand in hand with hugely diverging levels of poverty and situations of extreme inequality, a phenomenon that is not exclusive to LAC (UNDP, 2004: 35-36). Further reading on this subject, can be found in the documents resulting from the Agenda for Democracy in Latin America and the Caribbean Agenda para la Democracia en América Latina y el Caribe (UNDP, 2010).

is a persistent factor in the design of political institutions, the provision of public goods and services, and in the results of public policies in general.⁶ Bearing in mind that democracy has a positive effect on equality and that, in most LAC countries, democracy has cemented its position as the most prevalent form of government, it is necessary to identify those factors which in democracy, within a context of high inequality, continue to prevent this positive effect from flourishing. In other words, it is important to pinpoint the weaknesses of the region's democratic systems which prevent them from effectively combating the stubborn levels of inequality that plague the region.

The following sections present examples of public policies applied in LAC that reveal the poor regulatory capacity of the state, which is associated with failures and weaknesses within the system of political representation.

WHY IS THE REGULATORY CAPACITY OF LAC STATES FAILING? THE DIFFICULTY OF REPRESENTING THE INTERESTS OF ALL

The relationship between inequality and the political system is not only apparent from the asymmetrical tax structure discussed above, but also from the poor regulatory capacity of the state, which allows for the presence of monopolies or oligopolies, murky rules of the game and a poor response to citizens' needs. The upshot of this situation is that certain groups, generally the most underprivileged, are faced with added difficulties and costs when it comes to accessing high-quality goods and services.

To explain how these mechanisms work, this section will focus on two issues. First, an explanation will be made of why unequal distribution exists in spite of citizens's preferences for more egalitarian approaches to distribution. Second, an analysis will be presented of the mechanisms which, although initially designed to ensure equal citizen representation, have become so distorted in terms of quality and functioning that they have become instruments that perpetuate the privileges afforded to the minority sectors. These distortions assume four principal forms: clientelism, state capture, corruption and institutional weakness associated with low civic engagement.

The undesired metamorphosis of citizen preferences regarding redistribution

The relationship between citizens' preferences and redistribution makes it possible to pinpoint a number of characteristics of democracy that are affected by inequality and which could eventually give rise to a raft of democratic weaknesses, which, in turn, perpetuate inequality. An important question, then, is how individual preferences in relation to redistribution are formulated and aggregated.

Can it be assumed that all individuals in a society share a common opinion about policies aimed at redistributing resources among individuals and groups? Although theoretically speaking it would seem reasonable to think that a democratic system should be based on a broad social agreement regarding the benefits of equality, in reality it is apparent that different sectors of society have contrasting opinions about just how important equality is for ensuring the well-being of the majority, and about the best ways of promoting and achieving equality.

On the one hand, certain individuals may believe that in order to obtain greater levels of equality the state should "compensate" inequalities and attempt to redistribute available resources to favour the more vulnerable sectors. Others, however, refuse to accept that the state should be involved, on the basis that the level of achievement reached by each person should be the direct result of individual effort. There are many possible stances between these two polar opinions.

It would also be possible to contend, for example, that those with fewer resources would be in favour of a policy geared towards redistribution, as they would be the first to benefit from the resulting public investment and the enhanced capacity of the state to intervene in the process. In turn, those further up the social ladder could also put forward rational arguments to justify increased state intervention, given that, in the long-term, the progressive bridging of the development gaps dividing the most privileged sectors and the more vulnerable groups could eventually lead to greater aggregate well-being. That said, numerous analyses have found that sometimes the preferences of those with higher levels of income regarding the implementation of a tax rate capable of compensating certain individuals or groups for differences in earnings depend on the individual cost that the redistribution would entail for each individual (Meltzer and Richard, 1981).

There is no clear correlation between people's interest in reducing inequality and their preferences in terms of redistribution. This apparently weak link between citizens' interests in combating inequality and their preferences regarding distribution may be explained by the so-called *expectation of high social mobility*. This is based on the notion that even the more underprivileged groups of society may prefer a low tax rate in the future, if they expect

⁶ The 2004 PRODDAL report on democracy in Latin America states: "In relation to clean elections, citizens are afforded a generic level of equality, normally by exercising their voting rights. In contrast, when dealing with state-level bureaucracies, citizens are frequently placed in situations of massive de facto inequality. They tend to come up against bureaucracies that act on the basis of formal and informal rules (which are neither transparent nor readily understandable) and adopt (or fail to adopt) decisions that have important consequences for citizens. Although this is a widespread problem, it is much more serious and systemic in societies plagued by poverty and inequality" (UNDP, 2004).

their income to increase in the mid- or long-term at a faster rate than that of other sectors of society, meaning that the rate could eventually affect them or their descendants. As a result, and as a natural progression of this argument, it is possible that voters may opt to favour their long-term expectations by actually backing a policy that harms their interests in the short-term. This would explain why most democracies tend to not implement highly progressive redistributive reforms (Bénabou and Ok, 2001).

Similarly, it is possible that inequality is considered fair within societies that attach a greater weight to individual effort than they do to chance (Alesina and Angelettos, 2005; Di Tella and Dubra, 2009). Another possible explanation is that individuals are not necessarily able to connect a certain public policy to the positive effects it may have on inequality. For example, an analysis of the American public's support for tax cuts suggests that people's opinions about such policies are determined by each person's perception of his or her own short-term needs and of the possible benefits of such cuts, despite the fact that the very same people supporting the cuts may well perceive that gaps in the income of the different social groups have widened and believe that this widening is a negative phenomenon (Bartels, 2005). Thus, the persistence of unequal conditions among individuals or groups can partly be explained as a result of the public's widespread unawareness of the final effects of a given public action. The persistence of inequality should not necessarily be treated, therefore, as the product of people's preferences for reduced redistribution.

In this context it is conceivable that citizens will opt for public policies that do not help to forge more egalitarian societies, even though in general terms this may well be the kind of society they prefer. This kind of situation, coupled with a host of institutional shortcomings, creates a trap in which inequality is reproduced, hindering intergenerational social mobility and the attainment of higher levels of human development.

The negative mutations of political representation

Democracy can be viewed as a contract through which the majority of citizens, by holding periodic elections, are able to define, among other key issues, the manner in which resources, freedoms and responsibilities are to be distributed among members of society. As a fundamental part of this agreement, voters evaluate the proposals put forward by the candidates competing to act as their representatives in state institutions, and decide whom to elect to power at the polling stations. This need to delegate power can be justified by the extreme complexity of the problems facing the state and by the need to ensure a certain degree of technical expertise to tackle public duties, something that most citizens are unable to handle themselves. In an environment characterized by constraints on information, time and effort, citizens delegate to their chosen representatives (whether professional politicians or political parties) the responsibility for deliberating and making decisions that govern the workings of the state, as well as the task of formulating and implementing public policies. The democratic system entails an agreement between citizens and their representatives within the government, the legislative branch and other state institutions. This agreement is characterized by an asymmetry of information among the different parties, which tends to mean that citizens' mechanisms of control over their representatives are likely to be imperfect. This element, a characteristic of democracy, largely affects the way in which public preferences are aggregated to create specific public policies (see Box 5.2).

Box 5.2 Political representation

The issue of representation in the democratic system, which has been widely analysed by political science, has led to extensive discussions about its advantages, strengths and limitations. Historically speaking, the debate on representation has generated two theoretical views: the notion of representatives as delegates who refine and expand the will of the people, ¹ and the conception associated with Burke's position arguing that representatives should legislate based on their own criteria and judgements concerning the interests of voters and not directly by acting on the will of voters (Miller and Stokes, 1963).

Pitkin (1967) established an influential classification of forms of representation consisting of four categories: symbolic, formalistic, descriptive and substantive. The principle on which Pitkin based his theory of representation is the existence of a degree of distance and asymmetry between representatives and their constituency. According to Pitkin (1967), what matters is preserving the autonomy of both in order to protect constituents' ability to demand accountability from their representatives. The key to establishing the degree of representatives' autonomy resides in citizens' objective interests, which become the measure for determining whether the limits of representation have been violated.

Important contemporary contributions to the theory of representation include the standpoints of Williams (1998), who defines representation as "mediation", and Hardin (2004), who argues that only through an empirical and historical explanation of the roles that representatives have played is it possible to establish the duties corresponding to them.

Source: HDR Team based on Hardin (2004), Miller and Stokes (1963), Pitkin (1967), Thomassen (1994) and Williams (1998).

1 For further information on the Madisonian concept of democracy, see Thomassen (1994).

Weaknesses along the chain of democratic delegation

One way of understanding this process schematically is to follow the approach used to analyse the workings of contracts that present asymmetries of information among the parties (McCubbins and Page, 1987). This approach explores the relationship between the parties, the *principal* and the *agent*, and underlines the fact that the *democratic contract* implies the existence of a chain of delegation along which citizens (the *principal*, according to this approach) delegate to the legislators and civil servants of executive power (the *agent*) the task of formulating and implementing public policies, which, by definition, must seek to mirror the principal's preferences (see Box 5.3).

Although, strictly speaking, every citizen's vote carries the same weight, every individual has different resources to reduce information-related asymmetries, and also the costs they incur vary considerably should they lose control of their representatives. As a general rule of thumb, people or groups with less income depend more on the state for gaining access to basic public services, and for this reason their well-being is the most negatively impacted by any shortcomings in the state-offered services. On the other hand, people or groups with higher incomes tend to have more resources to ensure improved access to such services, and are likewise able to satisfy their needs via private channels if and when the public services become unavailable, are insufficient or of poor quality. Thus, the prevailing inequality that characterizes the balance of power between people or groups with different resources at their disposal and who exert differing levels of influence on public policies, can affect the democratic contract with regards to the processes of forming and incorporating citizens' preferences, while also distorting the task of designing and implementing public policies.

During the delegation process, citizens grant their representatives (legislators and government officials) the power to represent their interests. With regards to citizens' preferences, the majority may well favour a greater or lesser degree of redistribution, or perhaps wish to maintain existing levels of distribution. The task of their representatives is to become the "interpreters" of these preferences (whether they merely fulfil the delegated function, or represent an objective interest autonomously) and to promote, vote on and implement public policies that aim to achieve the kind of results that matter to citizens. In short, their work is to duly represent the interests and preferences of those who voted them in. The following sections of this report address a number of closely-related phenomena that generate significant weaknesses along the power delegation chain and which, in certain cases, distort the very basis for its existence.

Box 5.3 The principal-agent approach

The principal-agent approach was developed within the context of neoclassical microeconomic theory and is widely used in many economic and political analyses. According to this approach, the principal is the individual (or group of individuals) who enters into a contract for the provision of any service he cannot procure for himself due to lack of expertise, to high opportunity costs or to limitations in available resources, or simply due to practical reasons. On the other hand, the agent is responsible for providing the service. The third element in this theory is the asymmetry that exists between the parties as regards access to the information required to establish how the contract should be applied. These asymmetries of information favour the agent and give rise to what is known as adverse selection and moral hazard. The adverse selection problem takes place during the selection process of the service provider, when the principal enters into a contract with the agent without having full information about the characteristics of the latter or on the basis of distorted information. For example, an adverse selection problem occurs when a political candidate promises potential voters that he or she will fight for their interests and then, after taking office, violates his or her promise and instead favours the interests of groups that have funded his political campaign. The other problem caused by asymmetry in access to information that is relevant to entering the contract is moral hazard, which arises once the contract has been signed by the parties. In this case, once the agent has been contracted, he or she has incentives to use in his or her favour the information advantage that he or she has. This advantage occurs because the results observed by the principal do not depend solely on the actions and effort of the agent, but on other factors that are beyond the agent's control.

In political models, voters (the principal) hand over the mandate to the politicians (the agent). Adverse selection problems are observed when the politicians, who know their capabilities better than the voters, have an incentive to present them in a misleading way, causing voters to possibly choose politicians who do not properly represent their interests. Moral hazard problems occur because, given the difficulty and expense associated with monitoring the elected politicians' actions, there is an incentive for them to behave opportunistically, which does not faithfully represent voters' interests.

Source: HDR Team based on McCubbins and Page (1987).

Clientelism

Clientelism can be summarized as an asymmetric relationship between a *patron* and a *client*, in which the patron supplies the client with assets and services in exchange for political support and the *client's* vote come election time. As a result, inequality tends to encourage clientelism while this, in turn, helps to perpetuate inequality. On repeated occasions, citizens renounce their political rights and their role as *principals* in formulating public policy in exchange for assets that matter to them in the short-term and which they cannot access through institutional channels.

Clientelism is therefore an irregular practice within the system of political representation arising from the tangible benefit that both the politician or public servant and the citizen obtain by reason of their relationship. One of the defining features of this practice is the proximity that exists between the parties involved. On the one hand, *clients* (the citizens) generally create relationships of dependence with the assets or services provided by the patron (the politician, the public servant or the candidate for office), and their close relationship with the patron enables them to access such favours more frequently. In turn, the agent needs to establish a closer relationship with his or her *client*, beyond a simple exchange of favours at election time, to ensure that the latter complies with his or her undertaking to vote for the patron and also to prevent other candidates from winning over their client (Brusco, Nazareno and Stokes, 2004). Similarly, those who are elected to office engage in clientelism to improve their chances of re-election.7 As voters include people with divergent levels of well-being, politicians interested in practicing clientelism start out by exerting their influence on those voters who, for them, represent the lowest costs. Put differently, they focus their strategy on those individuals who have the greatest needs and who, therefore, can provide the greatest returns by exchanging assets for votes (Dixit and Londregan, 1994). As a result, citizens involved in clientelism tend to be those who perceive that their interests are not fully met through established institutional channels, whereas those whose basic needs are satisfied choose to set up a more programmatic relationship of representation, in which there is no explicit waiver of their political or voting rights or any kind of clientelism.

As stated at the start of this chapter, the state's regulatory capacity is an important factor enabling it to implement policies that make a difference in how resources are distributed within the society and which, as a result, promote equality. When institutional capacity is low, the state's public assets are in danger of being taken over by political networks keen to use them for their own benefit, thereby creating inconsistency in the public's access to public assets and services (Leal and Dávila, 1990; Gutiérrez, 1998; Fox, 1994; Auyero, 2001; Levitsky, 2003; Calvo and Murillo, 2004; Magaloni, 2006). As mentioned above, clientelism is a practice that stems from inequality and, at the same time, helps to breed it.

State capture

Clientelism and state capture can be treated as two sides of the same coin. Clientelism is a practice whereby state resources are appropriated by the political elite, who use public institutions and political power to defend or promote their individual or group interests. There is the risk of state capture, on the other hand, in environments characterized by the presence of individuals and groups with a great deal of power, resources and influence, and by the existence of political representatives and civil servants who treat politics and public duty as a means of increasing their personal wealth. This phenomenon occurs when those who hold public office decide to represent directly the interests of the most powerful individuals or groups in exchange for individual political or economic gain.

Economic elites are a prime example of a social group that uses its power and resources to promote measures and public policies that benefit its interests, such as tax cuts or exemptions, operating permits or access to privileged information, among other prerogatives. In contrast to other forms of corruption, which typically involve selectively applying and distorting institutional rules and regulations originally intended to promote the interests of the majority of the population in an equal manner, state capture involves designing and implementing rules explicitly created to cater to the interests of a specific sector which will benefit from the application thereof (Hellman, Jones and Kaufmann, 2000).

State capture typically occurs against a backdrop of weak state institutions and a lack of professionalization of civil servants. Faced with these conditions, individuals or groups that have lower relative levels of well-being and who have less resources and political influence find themselves at a disadvantage in comparison to the more privileged groups when it comes to demanding that public officials defend their interests, satisfy their needs and be accountable to them. Similarly, and as inequality increases, the more privileged people and groups have more and more resources with which to undermine the regulatory capacity of the state and benefit their own interests, and less incentive to stand up for a fair political, administrative and economic system that effectively promotes social equality (You and Khagram, 2005).

The inequality that prevails in the distribution of power and resources makes increasingly unlikely the development of

⁷ Of course, exceptional cases of countries where re-election is limited, such as Mexico, should also be considered.. If individual re-election is not permitted, then politicians have incentives based on more long-term goals in order to promote their political career within a party.

political alternatives that are immune to the influence of the economic, political and social elite, who actually benefit from the persistence of inequality. Thus, state capture, as with clientelism, is a phenomenon that stems from existing inequality and, in turn, helps to breed it. A prime example of this kind of situation is the educational system in Mexico. As already discussed in this Report, education is one of the main tools for combating inequality and of breaking its intergenerational transmission. However, when the education provided by the state is captured by an actor who wields great economic power and considerable political influence, and when the public is unable to demand that the state render accounts of how this crucial service is provided, the upshot is low-quality public schooling and little chance that the situation will improve. This is the case with public primary education in Mexico, which is of poor quality. Moreover, the trade union that pools together most of the workers in the sector does not represent the interests of most citizens - choosing instead to cater to sector-based interests - and does not render accounts to the public (see Box 5.4).

A state in which regular and transparent elections are held, but in which public institutions and civil servants are not accountable to citizens, provides rich pickings for those interested in studying clientelism and state capture, both of which grossly distort the "contract" of political representation. The existence of citizens with little information, coupled with politicians who are unwilling to provide such information in a credible and complete manner, help to perpetuate a model that prevents democracy from being fully harnessed to reduce inequality.

Throughout most LAC countries, the migration to democratic systems brought with it more information and enhanced regulation of public duties, making total state capture more difficult (Crisp, Moreno and Shugart, 2001). Several key elements have allowed the region to make slow progress toward ensuring greater accountability on the part of elected representatives. These have included: i) the creation of independent institutions to oversee the organization of transparent elections and to ensure a more professional career path for public servants; ii) the creation of entities that provide citizens with the information they require to make decisions; and, iii) the oversight of public duties.

LAC is a region in which many different combinations of political practices can be found, depending on the country in question. In some cases, clientelism can be seen to co-exist with the development of programmatic politics. Similarly, partial state capture in key areas for human development is not necessarily a bar to institutional reinforcement.

Against this backdrop of contradictory phenomena, and in addition to clientelism and state capture, there are at least two additional factors that undermine the democratic system: the corruption of public officials, and weak citizen engagement in public action. These two elements also help perpetuate inequality and endanger the potential usefulness of public spending as a key instrument for achieving greater levels of equality in human development.

Corruption

As regards the contract of democratic representation, corruption can be said to occur when the *agent* (for example, a public servant), given his or her relative advantage over the *principal* (the public or the legislature itself, which is typically charged with controlling the government) in terms of information, fails to honour his or her delegated powers by employing public resources for his or her own gain.

A classic example of this phenomenon would be when a civil servant, in exchange for a bribe (monetary, in kind, or other), bestows undue priority to someone in order to make them the beneficiary of some kind of programme, or furnishes them with confidential information, and in this way grants certain individuals or groups access to resources and benefits unavailable to others precisely because they are lacking the required information. Although the task of designing public policy may well reflect the voters' interests, and irrespective of whether the public's mandate is honoured in general terms, the fact that this kind of irregular behaviour exists leads to an inefficient use of public resources and generates the widespread perception among the public that they need to pay more (the bribe) to access these other resources.

Widespread corruption within a political system leads to grave consequences. Such a situation can prevent the attainment of greater equality, in that corruption promotes tax evasion, blurs the focus of social programmes and discourages the more vulnerable groups from investing in resources that could help improve their underprivileged situation (Gupta, Davoodi and Alonso-Terme, 2002). At the same time, public tolerance of corruption erodes the culture of accountability and creates new opportunities for citizens, regardless of their level of income, to ignore the rules in place because they believe that there is a more effective way of accessing state resources than following the legal path. These practices create a vicious cycle of institutional weakness and an insufficient supply of public resources, which undermines economic growth and human development (Rose-Ackerman, 2001).

Corruption also arises when public resources are used for private ends in very similar conditions to those of clientelism. A prime example is Colombia's System to Identify Potential Beneficiaries of Social Programmes (Sistema de Identificación

de Potenciales Beneficiarios de Programas Sociales, or SISBEN). The purpose of this programme is to identify the individuals who are most deserving of a range of different subsidies granted by the different social welfare schemes. The information gleaned from the surveys on which this system is based and which must be updated periodically over the year, has been used on numerous occasions by local leaders to obtain votes, thus violating the system's criteria and principles (Camacho and Conover, 2007). A further anecdotal example of this problem is the testimony of a public servant from the healthcare sector, who was quoted by the press as saying: "politicians' anxiousness to control this survey lies in the fact that each family included in it and therefore granted healthcare, employment or old-age subsidies translates into five or ten votes in favour of the 'godfather' who granted them this 'miracle" (El País, 2009). This phenomenon was also observed in Mexico, where cash transfer schemes, such as the National Solidarity Programme (Programa Nacional de Solidaridad, or Pronasol), were administered largely with party politics and electoral concerns in mind, instead of targeting the needs of the more underprivileged population (Díaz-Cayeros, Estévez and Magaloni, 2006). A similar situation was found to exist with the conditional cash transfers in Ecuador intended to promote child education (Araujo and Schady, 2006).

Institutional weakness and civic engagement

The frequent application of arbitrary criteria in distributing public resources completely ignores the objective needs of the population, while breaching the democratic contract and often generating the idea among the public that social relations and proximity to power are crucial and much more useful factors than more formal institutional processes for accessing assets, public services and state resources (Gaviria, 2007). The notion that formal institutional processes are detached from reality and that breaching them may not entail any shortterm consequences generates perverse incentives for citizens. Within this context, some people may choose not to cooperate with certain policies that could help to bring about an improved redistribution of wealth, simply so as not to incur the cost that supporting such policies would entail for them individually.

It is common for citizens with more resources to harness this greater relative weight to access state assets and to make the most of institutional weakness for their own ends. In terms of public spending, for example, this kind of behaviour could lead to a distribution of resources that increases inequality. In fiscal terms, institutional weakness generally gives rise to low tax revenue from those taxpayers who opt not to pay taxes despite being able to do so.

There are many examples of this kind of behaviour and none relate exclusively to a specific social group. In Colombia, for example, verifying the information provided under the SISBEN programme has become somewhat of a nightmare for the central government, as various studies have suggested that many households have familiarized themselves with the method of classifying beneficiary families and, as a result, interviewees have been manipulating the information they provide to the pollsters in order to be added to the list of potential beneficiaries (DNP, 2008; *El Tiempo*, 2010).

By making sustained improvements to state institutions and their credibility, and by promoting incentives among the population with a view to increasing their commitment to the proper functioning of the social democratic contract, citizens can be helped in lending their unflinching support to public policies aimed at combating inequality, regardless of the socioeconomic stratum to which each individual belongs. Without the cooperation of the population, there will be insufficient resources and effort to break free from the vicious cycle of inequality.

Box 5.4 Education, clientelism and state capture in Mexico

Although the Mexican government has a legacy of social revolution, it has failed to successfully confront the problem of inequality, which has persisted for decades despite the fact that social spending has steadily increased in Mexico since 1990.¹ Within today's context, analysing inequality in Mexico makes it necessary to analyse the differences seen in education, because, as in other countries in the region, inequality in education influences income levels and constitutes one of the primary mechanisms behind the intergenerational transmission of inequality.

In spite of its recognised value as an instrument capable of promoting equal opportunities, in recent decades achievements in education have been insufficient. However, the problem is not the lack of resources, but rather the way in which resources are invested: In many cases, the core objective of the education system appears to be to prevent conflicts with teachers rather than to promote educational opportunities for the population. For example, Mexico still does not have an accurate census of teachers' salaries. Moreover, at a number of educational institutions, teachers are still paid in cash, a practice which encourages corruption and a lack of administrative control. Within a context such as this, increased resources would not necessarily mean improved educational quality.

There are many examples which show the ability of the National Union of Education Workers (SNTE) to obtain corporate benefits, regardless of the quality of the services provided. SNTE leaders control the structure tasked with supervising the work of its members and have an influence on the distribution of a large amount of labour benefits. Furthermore, through various mechanisms, the SNTE has managed to influence the legislative process in favour of the organisation's interests.

For its part, the rigidity of the employment relationship reduces the margin available for demanding quality in the educational services provided. In Mexico, increased spending on education helped to expand coverage, but the problem of poor quality still persists.

1 As a proportion of the gross domestic product (GDP), public social spending has gone from levels nearing 2% in 1950 to approximately 12% in 2007.

According to findings from studies conducted by the Program for International Student Assessment (PISA) of the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), Mexico has a very low level of educational performance. Data show that only three out of every 1,000 students aged 15 were able to obtain a score above the advanced level (over 625 points) on the math test, which is a very unfavourable result when compared to the performance levels observed in other nations like Korea, where 182 out of 1,000 students passed the advanced level, and Slovakia, where 94 out of 1,000 students reached that level. Even nations that are less developed than Mexico did better, as is the case of Thailand, a country in which 15 out of 1,000 students passed the advanced level. The data presented by the PISA also show that 38% of Mexican students barely reached the lowest level of performance on the tests, while 28% did not even reach that level.

The absence of a culture based on merit, coupled with the heavy influence exercised by the SNTE, makes it difficult to efficiently utilise public resources in the area of education. Moreover, the lowest-earning portion of the population has been unable to make use of its electoral weight to demand more and better education, and the middle classes have not shown sufficient interest in boosting the quality of public education, which is most likely due to the fact that they can satisfy their educational requirements in the private market.

Available data on education in Mexico reveal that the failure of programmes aimed at reducing educational inequality is due in some measure to the capturing of these programmes by bureaucracies and unions and to the fact that these groups have traditionally been used by successive governments as instruments of control in a process by which union members receive special benefits in return for political loyalty. This in turn explains why the supposed beneficiaries of educational programmes (students and their parents) have little input on decisions concerning the development of education in this country.

Source: HDR Team based on Elizondo (2009).

Box 5.5 The political economy of conditional cash transfers

In recent years, scholars have conducted in-depth studies on the characteristics, results and challenges of conditional cash transfers (CCT) in terms of promoting the human capital of children and, indirectly, as regards the fight against the intergenerational transmission of inequality. Nonetheless, the implementation of CCTs involves a series of wider considerations that must also be taken into account. These include the rationality characterising their application in comparison to other types of transfers (cash or in kind), their potential use for obtaining short-term political benefits, and their role within the broader context of social protection policies.

The conditioned nature of CCT programmes, can help ensure their implementation in a society where the redistribution of resources is not easily accepted by most citizens. This low degree of acceptance may be partly due to the fact that CCT programmes are implemented only among a carefully targeted population, which implies that there are far fewer beneficiaries than the number of taxpayers who help fund these policies. However, since receiving CCTs is subject to the fulfilment by beneficiary households of certain conditions, such as greater investment by parents in their children's human capital, most citizens tend to better accept these targeted transfers, particularly under adverse economic circumstances.

The use of public resources for predominantly political purposes, especially during election periods, is an issue that still concerns much of society, and which represents major challenges for the performance of public institutions. Transferring public resources to vulnerable population groups for political and partisan purposes is a long-standing practice in countries of Latin America and the Caribbean (LAC). In general, CCT plans in the region are designed to include rules and procedures that prevent their use for political purposes. However, the lack of full and timely information among the beneficiary population, in conjunction with the complex local environment in which CCTs are applied, require ongoing monitoring throughout the different phases of these programmes.

Last of all, the success of CCTs in various countries, especially in terms of increasing the use of educational and healthcare services, has placed them in a privileged position among national social policy strategies. Nevertheless, despite their enormous potential as tools for strengthening human capital in the long run, no CCT programme can replace the existence of a comprehensive social protection system. Along these lines, the primary challenges ahead for social policy include improving access to and the quality of educational and healthcare services, and promoting the levels of achievement in these areas among boys and girls in relatively disadvantaged households. It is also essential to foster consensus within each country to strengthen the actions that, from other areas of social development, complement the role of CCTs, including caring for the elderly in poverty and providing assistance to homeless children and to those who, due to their age, do not benefit from CCTs.

Source: HDR Team based on Bastagli (2009), Fiszbein and Schady (2009) and Kitschelt and Wilkinson (2007).

TOWARDS A VIRTUOUS CIRCLE: HOUSEHOLDS, POLITICAL PARTICIPATION AND THE REDUCTION OF INEQUALITY

The relationship between the political system and inequality must be analysed from a standpoint that shuns overly simplistic explanations. Available data reveals that there is no direct correlation between the democratic system and social equality. Assuming from the outset that democracy is inherently superior as a value and that it is inseparable from the human development paradigm, it is necessary to pinpoint the specific empirical structures of the democratic system that champion improved equality, because it is precisely the principle of equal rights and duties for all citizens that underpin the universality of democracy as a fair and equitable social choice. With this in mind, the importance of variables such as state capacity; the strength of public institutions; the costs of participation, negotiation and information; perceptions of the social value of equality and the relationships of representation between citizens and the political players, all serve to place this relationship within a much broader context.

Although theoretically and from a normative standpoint democracy is expected, as a bare minimum, to guarantee fair public access for citizens to the resources and mechanisms that will strengthen their *capabilities*, it is essential to factor in the difficulties and problems inherent in its functioning, in that democracy is essentially a political system based on the aggregation, interpretation and implementation of preferences. Democracy is, in essence, a political system of majority-based delegation, and as such entails the existence of multiple actors who have different, and often conflicting, information, influences and interests.

Thus, the task of reducing human development inequality among people and groups depends largely on factors such as the possibility for citizens to gain access to mechanisms for acquiring the information that will allow them to evaluate public policies in sufficient depth; the existence of a suitable institutional design that ensures that the preferences of the more underprivileged sectors are represented during collective decision-making processes; and the proper functioning of political institutions that prevent or curb state capture by minority groups.

The existence of irregular and illegal practices such as clientelism, the capture of state institutions and corruption, which undermine and break the chain of delegation and introduce agency and control problems between the representatives and their constituents (i.e., principals), can have a hugely negative impact on key aspects of human development. In each of these cases, uneven power relations and influences between different people and groups tend to hit the most vulnerable sectors hardest and prevent them from escaping this situation of relative disadvantage.

In terms of the political economy, a basic agenda aimed at combating human development inequality in LAC and preventing the intergenerational transmission of inequality could aim to reduce inequalities in terms of power and influence with a view to eradicating the aforementioned irregular practices, while strengthening key state institutions and enhancing their credibility, thereby fostering civic engagement. In a similar vein, it would be crucial to ensure that citizens become increasingly active and engaged in political participation; this, in turn, would ensure the visibility of all sectors of society and their needs, and reduce the incidence of asymmetrical power relations and influence when implementing public policies and distributing resources.⁸

⁸ See, for example, the arguments raised by Evans (2004), Rodrik (1999) and Sen (1999).



Acting on the future: breaking the intergenerational transmission of inequality

6

INEQUALITY, HUMAN DEVELOPMENT AND PUBLIC POLICY

The first chapter of this Report examines the relationship between access to public goods and services, available life choices as a measure of personal freedom, and inequality of capabilities. The stories mentioned at the beginning of this work about Ali's and Zahra's lost shoes in Children of Heaven and the bicycle stolen from Antonio Ricci in Bicycle Thieves intuitively show what constitutes the basis of the human development approach: a distinction between means and ends; specifically, between goods, services and opportunities, on the one hand, and effective freedom, on the other. Equality in access to goods and services, ex ante, is important because of its instrumental nature. Nonetheless, if people do not have autonomy and agency capacity, within a context of a real expansion of the life choices that are open to society as a whole, it is not possible to speak of human development. Thus, the usual question about whether development without equality is possible becomes meaningless, as does analysing whether it is possible for there to be development without agency or without the full participation of individuals in the decision-taking processes that take place within households and the community. These questions make no sense because, within the framework of this approach, equality of *capabilities* and effective freedom constitute the very definition of development.

According to the approach proposed in this Report, the persistence of inequality in Latin America and the Caribbean (LAC) and its transmission from one generation to the next are the result of two main causes: First of all, as was discussed in Chapters 3 and 4, there are mechanisms that determine the transmission of low levels of achievement in well-being at the household level. Chapter 3 proposed the binding constraints approach as a methodology to analyse the factors that influence the inability of households to increase the levels of social achievement of subsequent generations. These factors are a complex and overlapping combination of limitations, some of which are determined by households' initial conditions and their limited or non-existent access to quality resources, while others respond to the social environment, the characteristics of public policy, and the wider functioning of the political system. Similarly, as seen in Chapter 4, what can not be seen is also important. The constraints faced by households and the limitations of the contexts within which they are immersed also affect their members' subjective assessment as to what levels of achievement in terms of well-being can be attained, and influence their aspirations and their ability to independently choose the life plans they consider valuable, thus diminishing their ability to be active subjects of their own development.

Second of all, the implementation of redistribution policies is limited, due to the fact that inequality is also manifested in people's and groups' heterogeneous capacities to influence the allocation of resources and public action, as described in Chapter 5. In this respect, the state's weakness in terms of its regulatory capacity tends to have regressive social implications.
THE MESSAGE: YES, IT IS POSSIBLE TO REDUCE INEQUALITY IN LAC

The central message of this Report is that it is possible to break the vicious cycle of inequality. A first step towards achieving this goal is to establish the reduction of inequality as an explicit objective. In recent years, up to 2007, most countries in the region managed to both reduce inequality and promote economic growth, albeit aided in part by external conditions. However, the decline in inequality that occurred in those years was largely the result of successful poverty reduction policies and the development of a more focused social policy based on the implementation of specific programmes, including conditional cash transfer (CCT) programmes. At the same time, the expansion of educational coverage at the various levels of education was an additional factor that contributed to reducing inequality in LAC (López-Calva and Lustig, 2010). Nonetheless, this decrease in inequality quickly reached its limits due to a number of factors, which included:

- The lack of comprehensive social safety nets aimed at reducing vulnerability in the face of the extreme crises that sometimes arise in societies at the individual, household and systemic levels (extreme weather-related or economic events). The effects of the crisis of 2008 and 2009 show that progress in the region in terms of the reduction of poverty and inequality is reversible.
- The increase in levels of inequality due to constraints that are not taken into account by programmes aimed at expanding coverage of healthcare and education, or by those that promote the expansion of demand for these public services. These constraints include poor quality in the provision of healthcare and educational services, as well as institutional and regulatory aspects, among others, which disproportionately affect lower-income groups, including issues relating to property security, personal safety and access to justice (UNDP, 2009a).¹
- The inequality that affects the quality of employment and the possibility of achieving successful job placement. As shown by results of recent studies, young people from across the Southern Common Market (Mercosur) perceive an inconsistency between the possibilities of increasing their levels of educational achievement and their poor expectations for job placement (UNDP, 2009b).

Thus, beyond the numerous reasons that limited inequality reduction in LAC in recent years, it must be noted as a fundamental principle that it is insufficient to decrease inequality as a by-product of successful poverty reduction policies, as has recently been the case. Reducing inequality in itself should constitute a core objective of public policy. For the normative and practical reasons discussed in this Report, inequality should be fought by means of public policy instruments that are explicitly designed to reduce inequality. This goal should be thought of as a way to complement a comprehensive policy for social protection and the provision of quality services with universal components. Such actions require a rigorous analysis of the binding constraints that affect households in poverty, as well as those households with lower levels of achievement in terms of well-being but who do not face extreme shortages.² Although there is a clear overlap between the causes of poverty and those that generate inequality, inequality affects a larger share of the population and poses more challenges. As will be seen later, social policy can reduce poverty indicators, but if corresponding actions are not accompanied by specific policies aimed at reducing inequality, the extent of public intervention will be insufficient to combat this serious phenomenon.

RECENT ACHIEVEMENTS: SOCIAL POLICY OF THE LAST TWO DECADES

The changes witnessed in social policy in the region during the 1990s were reflected in the size and in the distribution of spending. As for the size, Chart 6.1 shows the trend in social spending and in public spending as a whole as a percentage of gross domestic product (GDP) in 21 countries of LAC. Starting in 1990, public social spending followed an upward trend, increasing by nearly 5% of GDP, despite the fiscal constraints faced by most countries during that period. However, total public spending did not follow a clearly upward trend. Consequently, as can be seen in the chart, the share of public social spending as part of total public spending increased during this time, a generalised trend in the economies of the 21 countries in question. Moreover, in the region there was a significant increase in social spending per inhabitant, which grew on average by almost 50% between 1990-1991 and 2000-2001 and rose an additional 30% between 2000-2001 and 2006-2007 (ECLAC, 2009). Most of the increase in spending was concentrated in the areas of safety and social

¹ As an example, it is necessary to highlight the temporary closure of 20 schools in San Salvador as a result of widespread insecurity. The measure, announced by local newspapers on 21 April 2010, was enacted after three teachers were murdered.

² For an analysis of different approaches of changes in the middle classes and a definition of middle class that considers the likelihood that households have of falling into poverty, see Cruces, López-Calva and Battiston, (2010) and Ortiz-Juárez and López-Calva (2010).





assistance services as a result of the increasing number of retirees and pensioners in the population and due to the implementation of new social programmes.

With respect to distribution, policies aimed at combating poverty and at protecting the most vulnerable segment of the population promoted, in practice, a more progressive impact of social spending, which, in turn, resulted in a better distribution of income. Figure 6.2 shows the effect of CCTs on the distribution of income per capita. If the transfers had had no effect whatsoever on distribution, the dots would be concentrated on the diagonal line dividing the quadrant. However, it can be seen that in general the transfers helped to decrease inequality. Nonetheless, certain more disaggregated analyses show marked diversity regarding the impacts that social spending has had on income distribution. Spending on social assistance services and on primary education, for example, clearly had progressive redistributive effects, considering that between 50% and 60% of this type of spending was concentrated on the two poorest quintiles of the population.³

3 Analyses that study the short-term impact of social spending tend to underestimate the progressive effect of certain areas of spending that have a medium- and long-term

In short, it is possible to say that the countries of LAC made a major effort to improve the impact of social spending, primarily by implementing programmes focused on combating poverty and by eliminating generalised subsidies through the prices of goods and services. Moreover, these measures were developed within the context of limited leeway for fiscal policies, as is analysed in Chapter 5 of this Report.

The effects of CCTs and income protection programmes

Since conditional cash transfer programmes have been the most widely used programmes in the region over the last decade, it is important to analyse their implications within the context of the intergenerational transmission of levels of achievement in wellbeing. These programmes had a positive effect on income and consumption in the least favoured sectors of society, which led to

impacts. For example, spending on tertiary education, which is generally considered regressive by incidence analyses, had a significant effect on reducing inequality in Chile in the first decade of the 21st century (Eberhard and Engel, 2009). See also the discussion in (Grynspan and López-Calva, 2010).

Chart 6.2. Latin America and the Caribbean (18 countries). Gini coefficient for household per capita income before and after receiving transfers. *Circa* 2008



a decrease in poverty levels (see Table 6.1).⁴ As stated in Chapter 2, these types of programmes serve two major purposes: first, to transfer income flows to households in poverty, and, second, to promote investment by households in the human capital of the youngest generation in order to increase their capacity to generate income in the future and break the cycle of the intergenerational transmission of poverty. Thus, these programmes were explicitly designed to combat structural poverty and to reduce the most pressing resource constraints facing these households by demanding, in exchange for cash transfers, a co-responsibility commitment, i.e., a condition generally related to households' investment in the education and health of their children.

Systems for monitoring and verifying beneficiaries' compliance with programme conditions vary greatly across countries. Typically, household eligibility is based on an assessment of their poverty situation, taking into account information about the households' structural conditions and the level of assets available to them. By design, CCT programmes do not usually cover households that are in a transitory situation of poverty. These programmes are therefore not a useful tool for counteracting the negative effects of transitory crises, unless they are explicitly designed to be implemented in specific extreme situations. Many countries in LAC have adopted CCT programmes -- with variations in design and implementation -- as the basis of social policy aimed at combating poverty. Accordingly, nearly 26 million households in the region are benefitting from this type of programme, with Brazil (with over 15 million beneficiaries) and Mexico (with more than 5 million) as the countries where CCTs have achieved the greatest coverage (see Box 6.1).

While some programmes by definition are not considered part of the CCT group, they are variations on the same, in the sense that their design is based on the same foundation. This is the case of the Bono Juancito Pinto voucher programme implemented in Bolivia, which does not include specific conditions in its design, except for a general requirement for children to attend school (see Box 6.2). Moreover, in addition to CCTs, some countries have launched programmes designed to protect the incomes of people after having experienced events such as acute economic crises or extreme weather-related phenomena, which are situations that usually cause sudden jumps in the unemployment rate. These programmes include Programa Trabajar in Argentina, Plan Nacional de Empleo de Emergencia in Bolivia,

⁴ For details about these results, see Skoufias et al. (2006), ECLAC (2009) and Lindert et al. (2009).

Programa de Empleo Directo in Chile, Programa de Empleo Temporal in Mexico and Programa Trabajando en la Ciudad in Peru. Although no data are available to fully assess the results of these employment programmes (whereas such data does exist for CCT programmes some studies suggest that these measures have led to a stabilisation of personal income and a reduction in the unemployment rate (Reinecke, 2005).

In addition, while it is still not possible to fully evaluate the effect that CCTs have on intergenerational mobility, data available so far are heterogeneous regarding the effects of CCTs on the human capital of children. While, on the one hand, there have been modest increases achieved in levels of education and health, it has also been observed that the programmes do not manage to increase children's learning levels. These findings indicate that the levels of achievement in well-being of the new generation of beneficiaries will likely be similar to those achieved by their parents, and that these achievements will continue to be low in comparison to those seen in the most favoured sectors of society. Income assistance programmes lack a component designed to protect the school attendance of children during periods of crisis, which is why they are not in a position to counteract the serious effects of extreme economic or weather-related events on the investment in human capital of the youngest generations.⁵

Non-explicit assumptions

In order for CCT programmes to promote better job placement opportunities for future generations and thus help break the vicious cycle of poverty, at least four conditions must be met:

- 1. Co-responsibility, the basis of this type of programme, must be effectively fulfilled.
- 2. The quality of services provided in health and education, including curricular contents, must help increase beneficiaries' employment opportunities and productivity.
- 3. After completing the programmes, CCT beneficiaries must have effective opportunities for productive employment.
- 4. Selection criteria for beneficiaries must be clear and transparent, which means having solid and reliable administrative instruments and preventing manipulation of the programmes for political or partisan purposes.

Providing these conditions are met, CCT programmes are likely to have a greater impact on reducing persistent levels of poverty experienced in LAC countries. This, per se, however, does not make them instruments for reducing inequality, although these programmes can have positive effects in this regard. In addition, the results of some long-term evaluations show that CCT programmes have limited effects on the job placement of beneficiaries (Freije and Rodríguez-Oreggia, 2010).

		Amount of	Effects found in:					
Country	Programme	the transfer (% of consumption)	Consumption per capita (%)	Poverty (headcount)	Poverty gap	Squared poverty gap		
Brazil	Bolsa Família	8	7 ⁱ	N/A	N/A	N/A		
Colombia	Familias en Acción	13-17	10 ⁱⁱ	-0.03 ⁱⁱ	-0.07 ⁱⁱ	-0.02"		
Ecuador	Bono de Desarrollo Humano	7-8	N/S	N/A	N/A	N/A		
Honduras	Programa de Asignación Familiar	11-9	7'''	N/S ⁱⁱⁱ	-0.02 ⁱⁱⁱ	-0.02 ⁱⁱⁱ		
Mexico	Oportunidades	19-21	7.8 ⁱⁱⁱ	-0.1""	-0.03"	-0.03'''		
Nicaragua	Red de Protección Social	29-31	29.3 ^{iv}	-0.07 ^{iv}	-0.13 ^{iv}	-0.09 ^{iv}		

Table 6.1. Latin America and the Caribbean (6 countries). Effect of conditional cash transfers on poverty

N/S: Effect not significant N/A: Not available

i. Effect after five years of program deployment
 ii. Effect after four years of program deployment
 iii. Effect after two years of program deployment
 iv. Effect after one year of program deployment
 Source: Fiszbein and Schady (WBPRR, 2009)

⁵ For a review of the potential effects of crises on social indicators, see the findings of the project on crises and the Millennium Development Goals, published by the Regional Bureau for Latin America and the Caribbean (RBLAC) of the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP), and summarised in Fernández and López-Calva (2010).

Box 6.1. Conditional cash transfer programmes in several LAC countries

A number of countries in the Latin America and the Caribbean region have implemented conditional cash transfer programmes, with variations as to the conditions to be met by beneficiaries in terms of health and education. According to available data, by 2005, approximately 26 million households were benefitting from these programmes.

Table 1. Latin American and the Caribbean (19 countries) Conditional cash transfer programmes, conditions and coverage								
			Conditior	nalities	Beneficiaries			
Country	Programme	Start	Education	Health	Households	Individuals	Persons in situation of poverty (%)	
Argentina	Plan Familias	2002	Yes	Yes	504,784 (2007)	2.4 million (2007)	27	
Bolivia (Plurina-	Juancito Pinto (education)	2006	Yes	No	NA	1.2 million children (2007)	NA	
tional State of)	Bono Juana Azurduy (health)	2009	No	Yes	NA	NA	NA	
	Bolsa Família	2003	Yes	Yes	11 million (2006)	52.3 million (2006)	84	
	Bolsa Alimentação	1995	No	Yes	NA	1.5 million (2003)	NA	
Brazil	Bolsa Escola	1995	Yes	No	4.8 million (2001)	8.2 million (2001)	NA	
	Programa de Erradicação Trabalho Infantil (PETI)	1995	Yes	No	NA	3.3 million (2002)	NA	
Chile	Chile Solidario	2002	Yes	Yes	290,000 (2006)	1.38 million (2006)	47	
Chile	Subsidio Unitario Familiar	1981	Yes	Yes	NA	1.5 million (2007)	NA	
	Familias en Acción	2000	Yes	Yes	1.7 million (2007)	8.1 million (2007)	39	
Colombia	Subsidio Condicionado a la Asistencia Escolar (SCAE)-Bogotá	2005	Yes	No	NA	10,000 (2008)	NA	
Costa Rica	Avancemos	2007	NA	NA	58,000	276,080	34	
Ecuador	Bono de Desarrollo Humano	1998	Yes	Yes	1.06 million (2006)	5.04 million (2006)	99	
El Salvador	Red Solidaria	2005	Yes	Yes	89,000 (2008)	423,640 (2008)	12	
Guatemala	Mi Familia Progresa	2008	Yes	Yes	250,000 (2009)	1.19 million (2009)	NA	
Honduras	Programa de Asignación Familiar	1998	Yes	Yes	411,000 (2005)	1.96 million (2005)	NA	
Jamaica	Programme of Advancement through Health and Education (PATH)	2001	Yes	Yes	NA	300,000 (2008)	NA	
Mexico	Progresa/Oportunidades	1997	Yes	Yes	5 million (2007)	23.8 million (2007)	72	
Nicoroguo	Atención a Crisis	2005	Yes	Yes	3,000 (2005)	13,428 (2005)	NA	
Nicaragua	Red de Protección Social	2000	Yes	Yes	21,619 (2004)	102,906 (2004)	NA	
Panama	Red de Oportunidades	2006	Yes	Yes	70,000 (2009)	333,200 (2009)	27	
Paraguay	Programa Tekopora	2005	Yes	Yes	14,000 (2009)	66,640 (2009)	13	
Peru	Juntos	2005	Yes	Yes	336,555 (2007)	1.6 million (2007)	17	
Dominican	Programa Solidaridad	2006	Yes	Yes	461,446 (2008)	2.2 million (2008)	46	
Republic	Tarjeta de Asistencia Escolar	2001	No	Yes	100,000 (2003)	446,000 (2003)	NA	
Trinidad and Tobago	Conditional Cash Transfer Program	2006	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	
Uruguay	Plan Equidad	2007	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	

NA: Not available

Note: When no information was available on the number of beneficiaries, this figure was calculated by multiplying the number of beneficiary householdses by 4.76. Source: HDR Team research based on ECLAC (2008), Fiszbein and Shady (2009), Grosh et al. (2008) and Johannsen, Tejerina, and Glassman (2007).

Source: HDR Team calculations based on ECLAC (2009), Fiszbein and Shady (2009), Grosh et al. (2008) and Johannsen et al. (2007).

Box 6.2. The Bono Juancito Pinto programme in Bolivia

Objectives

- Promote the accumulation of human capital in order to break the intergenerational reproduction of poverty.
- Encourage children's public school attendance and their completion of the primary education cycle.
- Support households so that they can cover the costs of school supplies, transportation, food and other expenses related to their children's education.
- Help to achieve universal primary education, one of the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs)

Beneficiaries

• Children enrolled in the first through the eighth grade of primary education in public schools (nearly 1.8 million beginning in 2009).¹

Eligibility criteria

- Students must be registered in the Registration Book and in the teacher's Class List in September of the school term
- Students must regularly attend classes during the school term; their attendance must be certified by the teacher, the school director and the school board.
- Type of benefit: annual voucher of 200 bolivianos (about U.S. \$ 26.00).²

Effects achieved

- Redistributive: On average, 75% of the children receiving the voucher come from households in poverty.
- Educational: There are data suggesting that the programme leads to less lagging behind at school and an increase in the percentage of children enrolling in the first grade of primary school at six years of age.
- Use of the transfer: About 65% of the value of the voucher is spent directly on the student, while roughly 20% is used to cover direct educational expenses (school supplies and transportation).

Source: HDR Team based on Nicole Czerniexicz (2008) and UDAPE (2010).

2 The voucher can cover about 53% of family spending on education in urban areas and offset over 100% of this expense in rural areas.

FROM FIGHTING POVERTY TO REDUCING INEQUALITY: BEYOND CCT PROGRAMMES

The *binding constraints* approach presented in this Report proposes that measures should be designed to reduce the most immediate constraints faced by households, thus making it possible to interrupt the intergenerational transmission of low levels of relative achievement in dimensions such as health, education and income.

In a context similar to the one proposed in this Report, Sen (2004) has suggested the so-called Triple R analysis, i.e. the Reach, Range and Reason analysis. In simple terms, this analysis implies that, first of all, public actions should reach the people, the households and the communities for which they were designed (Reach). Secondly, to be effective, these measures should be comprehensive, in other words, they should address all of the identified binding constraints (Range). Lastly, these actions should be consistent and should affect beneficiaries' aspirations, objectives and autonomy, thus encouraging them to become active subjects and not passive recipients of development policies (*Reason*). This is the public policy approach upon which this Report is based. In this sense, it is essential to bear in mind that initial inequality must not be understood as just another piece of contextual information, but rather one of the most important factors that conditions the success of public policy. With this in mind, three key elements come into play when formulating public policies:

- 1. Interventions should be based on a clear definition of the political coalitions that make them viable and take into account the cost-benefit matrix of the actors involved.
- 2. Interventions should be comprehensive and based on a detailed analysis of the binding constraints that perpetuate low levels of relative achievement. This includes taking into account the incidence of objective, contextual and resource-related conditions and constraints, and also, subjective aspects that help shape individuals' aspirations and the goals they set for themselves in life.
- 3. Although there are important reforms related to the state's capacity to respond to the challenges and constraints imposed by inequality, public policies aimed at addressing this problem can incorporate elements that strengthen citizen dynamics and empowerment, such as setting basic rules governing transparency, improving the accountability of operators of public interventions, and strengthening consumer protection mechanisms in specific markets. When designing programmes, it is important to incorporate elements that help to empower and strengthen potential beneficiaries' citizenship. Examples of these

¹ When the programme began in 2006, it covered children who were enrolled in public schools from the first to the fifth grade. In 2007, coverage was extended to include children enrolled to the sixth grade of primary education, plus all students at special education schools and students in the alternative youth education system. Beginning in 2008, the programme expanded its reach to include the eighth grade of primary education.

elements include ensuring transparency when selecting the intended beneficiaries, preventing political manipulation, and creating legal entities before which appeals may be lodged in the event that the rights stipulated by public policy are not provided.⁶

Although there are programmes that have already incorporated these kinds of elements, it is necessary to expand and augment this broad approach to public policy. In this regard, Chile Solidario (see Box 6.3) and Comunidades Solidarias Urbanas in El Salvador, for example, are both programmes that have the coherent design characteristics of comprehensive public policies.

THE PATH AHEAD

As confirmed by this Report, inequality is indeed a complex problem. Although inequality reduction is directly related to combating poverty, an inequality approach requires the development of a distinct perspective and the application of specific instruments that are different from those used to fight poverty. Curbing inequality requires the development of a fully-comprehensive public policy aimed at bridging the huge gaps between the different strata within LAC societies. Closing these gaps by making different paths in life both visible and attainable, while expanding peoples' freedom to choose effectively between different life options, would help develop more *connected* societies. Attention to geographic inequalities and to inequalities relating to gender and racial or ethnic origin should be a priority for public policy planning. given that the specific institutional. cultural and historical factors of each of the countries in the region raise particular challenges.

The message that this Report wishes to convey is that the intergenerational transmission of inequality can be broken. To achieve this, actions must be taken not only at the level of households and their immediate surroundings, but also at the state level and its systems of redistribution and regulation. The cycle whereby inequality is reproduced and perpetuated in LAC can be reversed through the design and implementation of comprehensive policies that tackle all the binding constraints that block the way to spaces of effective choice for large swathes of the population. As regards the fight against inequality within households and their immediate surroundings, this Report provides specific examples of initiatives that have been implemented in the region with promising results. On the systemic side, the state's tax capacity and its regulatory effectiveness both require reforms in order to modify the structure of incentives for political actors by making regressive policies more visible and costly. Thus, by implementing reforms that help the system of political representation and state action respond better to the demands and interests of groups with lower levels of relative influence, it will be possible to enhance the progressivism of public dynamics. The purpose of this Report is to help make inequality the focus of priorities in public policy and to propose specific measures that promote the reduction of inequality, thereby leading to a greater efficiency in the fight against poverty, a more inclusive economic growth, a more efficient functioning of the state, and an improved quality of the systems of political representation.

⁶ For further reading on the political economy of designing conditional cash transfer programmes and the effects thereof on citizenship, see Levy (2006), Camacho and Conover (2009), Estevez et al. (2010), Rodriguez-Chamussy (2010), in addition to the discussions raised in various chapters of this Report.

Box 6.3. The Chile Solidario Programme

The aim of the Chile Solidario programme is to help reduce poverty mainly from the standpoint of demand by providing short-term assistance (psychosocial support, direct cash transfers and social assistance programmes) and by implementing a medium-term development strategy that seeks to afford families in poverty preferential access to public services in order to raise their standard of living. This programme is also characterised by its explicit focus aimed at coordinating ongoing initiatives and maximising their benefits for households that live in extreme poverty and that, therefore, have urgent needs.

Families who benefit from this programme come from the poorest segments of the population and are chosen based on a test of socio-economic status. As part of the programme, income transfers are made to women so that they can meet their families' most pressing needs. The design of this programme, which aims to increase the welfare of households living in extreme poverty, is based on a strategy that works on both the demand for and provision of public services. Moreover, the programme limits households' participation to a maximum of five years.

A fundamental aspect of the demand component of the Chile Solidario programme is an intense period of psychosocial support that lasts for two years and is centred on contacts between the beneficiaries and programme development specialists. The interval between meetings gets longer over time. During this period, a local social worker works intensively with families on planning a strategy that will enable them to escape from extreme poverty. These social workers also provide social assistance in a number of areas (identification of family dynamics, education, health, housing, employment, income, etc.), dimensions in which households should attain minimum levels of achievement as a result of their participation in the programme. Thus, the social worker has a dual role: to help families create or restore their functions and capabilities, while at the same time helping them become "connected" to a network of social services.

As part of the assistance component of the programme, each participating family receives a monthly cash transfer, the amount of which, in itself small, decreases over time and is intended to offset the cost of participation. In addition, during the intensive initial phase and for three years thereafter, beneficiary households receive preferential access to various public subsidies and social programmes. The objective of this preferential access is to make participating households become "visible" to public service providers so that they can better meet the needs of this sector of the population. In order to bridge the gap in demand for these services, the programme helps participating households connect with public service providers (the social protection network) and to independently access the service provision network of their choice.

The social services component of the programme seeks to coordinate the actions of the various existing agencies, so that the social services provided are suited to the actual needs of the population each is designed to serve. This component, in turn, seeks to determine in which cases it is necessary to offer services at the local level. This comprehensive approach is based on data showing that isolated and sector-based programmes are not effective in addressing the multiple dimensions of development that are closely interrelated, nor do they promote the emotional well-being of people living in extreme poverty. In practice, the coordination of actions aimed at influencing the dimensions of employment, health, education, housing and children's services, among others, is carried out at the local level. This is done with specialised and highly motivated staff. In addition, regular local meetings are held between the sectors responsible for providing the different services.

The results of the assessments of the Chile Solidario programme show that it has made remarkable achievements, including: i) a significant positive effect in terms of the access by beneficiary households to public services, which is one of the programme's main objectives; ii) a significant improvement in the likelihood that children aged 4 to 5 and from 6 to 15 attend school; iii) an increased probability that beneficiaries register with the public health system, and an increased number and frequency of visits to healthcare centres for preventive care of children under 6 years of age; iv) an increase in visits to healthcare centres for preventive care for the elderly; v) significant improvements in the psychosocial well-being of the beneficiaries; and vi) in rural areas, a reduction in the incidence of poverty in 20% of participating households.

Source: HDR Team based on Galasso and Carneiro (2009).

Bibliography

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS¹

- Altamirano, A., L. F. López Calva and I. Soloaga. 2009a. "El Impacto Intergeneracional de las Habilidades Cognitivas. El caso de México".
 Background document to the Regional Human Development Report for Latin America and the Caribbean, 2010.
- ----. 2009b. "El Impacto Intergeneracional de las Aspiraciones Educativas. Análisis en Tres Ciudades Latinoamericanas". Background document for the Regional Human Development Report for Latin America and the Caribbean, 2010.
- Alzúa, M. L. 2009. "The Quality of Education: Education Production Function and Policy Change". Background document for the Regional Human Development Report for Latin America and the Caribbean, 2010.
- Amarante V., Arim R., Salas G. and Vigorito A. 2009. "Human Development and Inequality: the Adjusted Human Development Index".
 Background document for the Regional Human Development Report for Latin America and the Caribbean, 2010.
- Arias-Ortiz, E. 2010. "Perceived Social Mobility and Educational Choices in ALC". Background document for the Regional Human Development Report for Latin America and the Caribbean, 2010.
- CEDLAS (Center for Distributive, Labour and Social Studies). 2010. "Pérdida en el Índice de Desarrollo Humano (IDH) Atribuible a la Desigualdad para América Latina y el Caribe". Background document for the Regional Human Development Report for Latin America and the Caribbean, 2010.
- Contreras, D., M. Fuenzalida and C. Acero. 2009. "The Determinants of Low Intergenerational Mobility in Chile". Background document for the Regional Human Development Report for Latin America and the Caribbean, 2010.
- Crespo, A. and M. Reis. 2009. "Child Health and Socioeconomic Status in Brazil: Is that the Origin of the Gradient?". Background document for the Regional Human Development Report for Latin America and the Caribbean, 2010.

- Delajara, M. 2009a. "Birthweight Outcomes in Bolivia: The Role of Maternal Human Capital, Ethnicity, and Behavior ".Background document for the Regional Human Development Report for Latin America and the Caribbean, 2010
- Delajara, M. 2009b. "Factores Intrageneracionales e Intergeneracionales en la Determinación del Peso al Nacer en Perú, Honduras, Nicaragua y República Dominicana". Background document for the Regional Human Development Report for Latin America and the Caribbean, 2010.
- Deutsch J., and J. Silber. 2009. "Estimating an Educational Production Function for Five Countries of Latin America on the basis of the PISA data". Background document for the Regional Human Development Report for Latin America and the Caribbean, 2010
- Di Tella, R. and J. Dubra. 2009. "The Interruption of a Policy for Less Corruption in the Health Sector, and Better Health care in Argentina". Background document for the Regional Human Development Report for Latin America and the Caribbean, 2010.
- Elizondo, C. 2009. "Desigualdad y Educación: el caso de México". Background document for the Regional Human Development Report for Latin America and the Caribbean, 2010.
- Fields, G. 2009. "Income Mobility within a Generation. An Introduction to the State of the Art in Latin America." Background document for the Regional Human Development Report for Latin America and the Caribbean, 2010.
- Gasparini, L., G. Cruces, L. Tornarolli and M. Marchionni. 2009a. "A Turning Point? Recent Developments in Inequality in Latin America and the Caribbean". Background document for the Regional Human Development Report for Latin America and the Caribbean, 2010.
- Genicot, G. and D. Ray. 2009. "Aspirations, Inequality, Investment and Mobility". Background document for the Regional Human Development Report for Latin America and the Caribbean, 2010.

These documents are available at < www.idhalc-actuarsobreelfuturo.org >

Gignoux, J. 2009. "Educational Expansion and Inequality of Earnings

Opportunities: Recent Trends in Latin American Countries". Background document for the Regional Human Development Report for Latin America and the Caribbean, 2010.

- Guzmán, J. and S. Urzúa. 2009. "Disentangling the Role of Pre-Labor Market Skills and Family Background when Explaining Inequality".
 Background document for the Regional Human Development Report for Latin America and the Caribbean, 2010.
- Kanbur, R. 2008. "Intergenerationalities: Some Educational Questions on Quality, Quantity and Opportunity". Background document for the Regional Human Development Report for Latin America and the Caribbean, 2010.
- Macdonald, K., F. Barrera, J. Guaqueta, H. A. Patrinos and E. Porta. 2009. "The Determinants of Wealth and Gender Inequity in Cognitive Skills in Latin America." Background document for the Regional Human Development Report for Latin America and the Caribbean, 2010.
- Mayer-Foulkes, D. 2009a. "Economic Geography of Human Development: Stratified Growth in Bolivia, Brazil, Guatemala and Peru".
 Background document for the Regional Human Development Report for Latin America and the Caribbean, 2010.
- ----. 2009b. "The Cognitive Transition in Mexico: Economic Geography and Local Governance Matrix". Background document for the Regional Human Development Report for Latin America and the Caribbean, 2010.
- Metzler, J. and L. Wößmann. 2009. "The Role of Teacher Knowledge for Student Inequality in Peru." Background document for the Regional Human Development Report for Latin America and the Caribbean, 2010.
- Otter, T., C. Villalobos and C. Gonzalez. 2009. "Quality and Inequality Determinants in Primary Education in Paraguay." Background document for the Regional Human Development Report for Latin America and the Caribbean, 2010.
- Pachón, M. 2009. "La Economía Política de la Desigualdad." Background document for the Regional Human Development Report for Latin America and the Caribbean, 2010.
- Samman, E. and M. E. Santos. 2009. "Agency and Empowerment: A Review of Concepts, Indicators and Empirical Evidence." Background document for the Regional Human Development Report for Latin America and the Caribbean, 2010.
- Samman, E., M. E. Santos and G. Yalonetzky. 2009. "The Role of Agency in the Transmission of Inequality". Background document for the Regional Human Development Report for Latin America and the Caribbean, 2010.
- Seth, S. 2008. "A Class of Association Sensitive Multidimensional Wellbeing Indexes". Background document for the Regional Human Development Report for Latin America and the Caribbean, 2010.
- Silber, J. and J. Deutsch. 2009a. "On the Intergenerational Transmission of Inequality in Life Chances: an Ordinal Approach". Background document for the Regional Human Development Report for Latin America and the Caribbean, 2010.
- -----. 2009b. "An Ordinal Approach to the Study of Inequality in Life Chances: The Case of Latin America.". Background document for the Regional Human Development Report for Latin America and the Caribbean, 2010.

- Seinfield, J. and A. Beltrán. 2009. "Identifying Successful Strategies for Fighting Child Malnutrition in Peru." Background document for the Regional Human Development Report for Latin America and the Caribbean, 2010.
- Torche, F. 2009. "Sociological and Economic Approaches to the Intergenerational Transmission of Inequality in Latin America". Background document for the Regional Human Development Report for Latin America and the Caribbean, 2010.
- Urquiola, M. 2009. "The Intergenerational Transmission of Education in Latin America. What are the Key Constraints?" **Background document for the Regional Human Development Report for Latin America and the Caribbean**, 2010.
- Zubizarreta, J. R. 2009. "Educational Outcomes of the Children of the Poor: the Chilean Case". Background document for the Regional Human Development Report for Latin America and the Caribbean, 2010.

BIBLIOGRAPHICAL REFERENCES

- Abel, A. B. and D. B. Bernheim. 1991. "Fiscal Policy with Impure Intergenerational Altruism". *Journal of Political Economy*. 59: 1687-1711.
- Adato, M., D. Coady, S. Handa, R. Harris, R. Pérez and B. Straffon. 1999.
 "El impacto del Programa de Educación, Salud y Alimentación (Progresa) de México al nivel de la localidad". Mimeographed document.
 Washington, DC. International Food Policy Research Institute.
- Adato, M. and D. Mindek. 2000. "Progress and Women's Empowerment: Evidence from Six Mexican States", in Adato, M., B. de la Brière, D. Mindek and A. Quisumbing. The Impact of Progress on Women's Status and Intrahousehold Relations. Report for the Progress programme, Mexican Government. Washington, DC: International Food Policy Research Institute.
- Aguilar, M. and I. Espinoza. 2004. "El uso del tiempo de los y las Nicaragüenses". INEC (National Institute of Statistics and Census).
 Programme for the Improvement of Surveys and the Measurement of Living Conditions in Latin America and the Caribbean (Mecovi).
- Aguirre, R., C. García Sainz and C. Carrasco. 2005. "El tiempo, los tiempos, una vara de Desigualdad". *Mujer y Desarrollo series,* no. 65. ECLAC.
- Alesina, A. and G. M. Angeletos. 2005. "Fairness and Redistribution", American Economic Review, 95(4): 960-980.
- Alfonso, M. 2008. "Girls Just Want to Have Fun? Sexuality, Pregnancy, and Motherhood among Bolivian Teenagers". Working Paper #615.
 Research Department, Inter-American Development Bank, Washington, DC. Pan American Alliance on Nutrition and Development. 2009. "Documento básico, premisas conceptuales y principios Estratégicos". Lima: SINCO Editores, S.A.C.
- Alkire, S. and J. E. Foster, 2007. "Counting and Multi-dimensional Poverty Measures". Working Paper No. 07. OPHI, University of Oxford. Available at: <www.ophi.org.uk>.
- Appadurai, A. 2004. "The Capacity to Aspire: Culture and the Terms of Recognition", in R. Vijayendra, and M. Walton (Eds.), *Culture and Public Action*. World Bank: 59-84
- Araujo, M. C. and N. Schady. 2006. "Cash Transfers, Conditions,

School Enrollment, and Child Work: Evidence from a Randomized Experiment in Ecuador". Policy research working paper no. 3930. World Bank.

Araya, M. J. 2003. "Un acercamiento a las Encuestas sobre el uso del tiempo con orientación de género". Mujer y Desarrollo Series, no. 50, ECLAC, Santiago de Chile.

Arriagada, I. 2004. "Estructuras familiares, trabajo y bienestar en América Latina". Working paper presented at meeting of experts: Cambios de las familias en el marco de las transformaciones globales: necesidad de políticas públicas eficaces. ECLAC, Social Development Unit. Santiago de Chile.

Ashcraft, A. and K. Lang. 2006. "The Consequences of Teenage Childbearing". Working Paper 12485. NBER, Cambridge, MA.

Atkin, L. C. and J. Alatorre-Rico. 1991. "The Psychosocial Meaning of Pregnancy Among Adolescent in Mexico City". Paper presented at the Biennial Meeting of the Society for Research in Child Development. April. Seattle, WA.

Attanasio, O. and K. Kaufmann. 2009. "Educational Choices, Subjective Expectations, and Credit Constraints". Working Paper 15087, NBER, Cambridge, MA.

Atkinson, A. B. 1980. "Inheritance and the Redistribution of Wealth", inG. A. Hughes and G. M. Heal (Eds.). Public Policy and the Tax System:Essays in Honour of James Meade. London: Allen & Unwin.

Atkinson, A. B. 1981. "On Intergenerational Income Mobility in Britain". Journal of Post Keynesian Economics, 3 (2): 194-218.

Atkinson, A. B., A. K. Maynard and C. G. Trinder. 1983. Parents and Children: Incomes in Two Generations. London: Heinemann.

Aughinbaugh, A. 2000. "Reapplication and Extension: Intergenerational Mobility in the United States". Labour Economics, 7 (6): 785-796.

Auyero, J. 2001. Poor People Politics: Peronist Survival Networks and the Legacy of Evita. Durham: Duke University Press.

Azevedo, V. and C. P. Bouillon. 2009. "Social Mobility in Latin America: A Review of Existing Evidence". Working paper #689. Research Department. Inter-American Development Bank (IDB). Washington, DC.

Barrera, F. and L. Higuera. 2004. "Embarazo y fecundidad adolescente". Working Paper no. 4. Fedesarrollo, Bogota.

Bartels, L. M. 2005. "Homer Gets a Tax Cut: Inequality and Public Policy in the American Mind". *Perspectives on Politics*, 3 (1): 15-31.

Bastagli, F. 2009. "From Social Safety Net to Social Policy. The Role of Conditional Cash Transfers in Welfare State Development in Latin America". Working paper no. 60. International Policy Centre for Inclusive Growth, UNDP, Brasilia. Available at: <www.ipc-undp.org>

 Battiston, D., G. Cruces, L. F. López-Calva, M. A. Lugo and M. E. Santos.
 2009. "Income and Beyond: Multidimensional Poverty in Six Latin American Countries". *Research for Public Policy: MDGs and Poverty. MDG*-11-2009. RBLAC-UNDP, New York.

Becker, G. S. and N. Tomes. 1976. "Child Endowments and the Quantity and Quality of children". *Journal of Political Economy*, 84 (4): S143-S162

-----. **1986.** "Human Capital and the Rise and Fall of Families." *Journal of Labor Economics*, 4: S1-S39.

Behrman, J., N. Birdsall and M. Székely. 2003. "Economic Policy and Wage Differentials in Latin America". Working Document no. 29. Center for Global Development.

Behrman, J. R. and P. Taubman. 1985. "Intergenerational Earnings Mobility in the United States: Some Estimates and a Test of Becker's Intergenerational Endowments Model". *The Review of Economics and Statistics*, 67 (I): 144-151.

Behrman, J. R., A. Gaviria and M. Székely. 2001. "Intergenerational Schooling Mobility in Latin America". *Economía*, 2 (I): 1-31.

Behrman, J. R., and M. R. Rosenzweig. 2004. "Returns to Birthweight". Review of Economics and Statistics, 86 (2): 586-601

Behrman, J. R., M. C. Calderon, S. P., J. H., R. M., and A. D. Stein. 2009. "Nutritional Supplementation of Girls Influences the Growth on their Children: Prospective Study in Guatemala." Mimeographed document. University of Pennsylvania, PA. Available at: ">http://paa2009.princeton.edu/download.aspx?submissionId=90620>

Bénabou, R., 1996. "Equity and Efficiency in Human Capital Investment: the Local Connection". *Review of Economic Studies*, 63: 237-264.

Bénabou, R. and E. Ok. 2001. "Social Mobility and the Demand for Redistribution: The POUM Hypothesis". *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 116: 447-487

Behrman, J., A. Gaviria and M. Székely. 2001 "Intergenerational Mobility in Latin America", *Economía, vol 2* (1): 1-44.

Berlin, I. 1969. "Two Concepts of Liberty". In Berlin, I. (ed.) Four Essays on Liberty. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Binder, M. and C. Woodruff. 2002. "Inequality and Intergenerational Mobility in Schooling: The Case of Mexico". *Economic Development and Cultural Change*. 50 (2): 249-267.

Birdsall, N., C. Graham and S. Pettinato. 2000. "Stuck in the Tunnel. Is Globalization Muddling the Middle Class?" Working document no. 14. Center on Social and Economic Dynamics. Brookings Institution, Washington, DC.

Bjorklund, A. and M. Jantti. 1998. "Intergenerational Mobility of Economic Status: is the United States different?" Working document. Swedish Institute for Social Research, Stockholm.

Blanden, J. 2008. "How Much can We Learn from International Comparisons of Social Mobility?" Mimeographed document.

Boix, C. 2003. *Democracy and Redistribution*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Boudon, R. 1974. Education, Opportunity and Social Inequality. New York: Wiley.

Bourguignon, F. 2004. "The Poverty-Growth-Inequality Triangle". Working Papers 125, Indian Council for *Research on International Economic Relations*. New Delhi, India.

Bourguignon, F. and S. R. Chakravarty. 2003. "The Measurement of Multidimensional Poverty". *Journal of Economic Inequality*. 1: 25-49.

Bourguignon, F., F. H. G. Ferreira and M. Menéndez. 2007. "Inequality of Opportunity in Brazil". *Review of Income and Wealth.* 53 (4): 585-618.

Bourguignon, F. F. H. G. Ferreira and M. Walton. 2007. "Equity, Efficiency and Inequality Traps: A research agenda". *Journal of Economic Inequality*, 5: 235-256

Breen, R. 2004. Social Mobility in Europe. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

- Brusco, V., M. Nazareno and S. Stokes. 2004. "Vote Buying in Argentina". Latin American Research Review, 39 (2): 66-87.
- Bruns, B., A. Mingat and R. Rakotomalala. 2003. Achieving Universal Primary Education by 2015: A Chance for Every Child. Washington, DC: World Bank.
- Burtless, G. and C. Jencks. 2003. "American Inequality and its Consequences". In H. Aaron, J. Lindsay and P. Nivola (Eds.). Agenda for the Nation: 61-108. Washington, DC: Brookings.
- Busso, M., M. Cicowiez and L. Gasparini, 2005. Ethnicity and the Millennium Development Goals. Bogota: ECLAC, IDB, UNDP and World Bank.
- Buviniç, M., Valenzuela, J. P., Molina, T. and González, E.. 1992. "The Fortunes of Adolescent Mothers and their Children: The transmission of poverty in Santiago, Chile." *Population and Development Review, 18* (2): 269-297.
- **CAF (Andean Development Corporation). 2007.** "Oportunidades en América Latina. Hacia una mejor política social". Caracas: Soluciones Gráficas.
- Calvo, E. and M. V. Murillo. 2004. "Who Delivers? Partisan Clients in the Argentine Electoral Market". *American Journal of Political Science*, 48 (4): 742-757.
- ----. 2008. "When Parties Meet Voters: Partisan Networks and Distributive Expectations in Argentina and Chile". American Political Science Association. Document presented at the Annual Meeting 2008 of the American Political Science Association, Boston, Massachusetts.
- Camacho, A. and E. Conover. 2007. "Evaluating the Effects of Public Health Insurance on Child Health in Colombia". Working document.
- ----. 2009. "Manipulation of Social Program Eligibility: Detection, Explanations and Consequences for Empirical Research". CEDE document No. 2009-19. Available at: http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=1543444##>
- Cardoso, A. and Verner, D. 2006. "School Drop-out and Push-out Factors in Brazil: The role of Early Parenthood, Child labor, and Poverty". *IZA Discussion Paper Series No. 2515*. Institute for the Study of Labor, Bonn.
- Case, A., A. Fertig and C. Paxson. 2003. "From Cradle to Grave?: The Lasting Impact of Childhood Health and Circumstance". Working Paper 9788. NBER, Cambridge, MA.
- Case, A., D. Lubotsky and C. Paxson. 2002. "Economic Status and Health in Childhood: The Origins of the Gradient". *American Economic Review*, 92 (5): 1308-1334.
- ECLAC (Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean). 2007. Panorama Social de América Latina. Santiago, Chile: ECLAC.
- -----. 2008. Panorama Social de América Latina. Santiago, Chile: ECLAC.
- -----. 2009. Panorama Social de América Latina. Santiago, Chile: ECLAC.
- -----. 2010. "La hora de la igualdad. Brechas por cerrar, caminos por abrir". Electronic version only. Available at: < http://www.eclac.cl/ publicaciones/>.
- ECLAC (Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean)

- UNDP (United Nations Development Programme) and AERI (Applied Economics Research Institute). 2003. *Hacia el Objetivo del Milenio de reducir la pobreza en América Latina y el Caribe*. Santiago de Chile: United Nations.

- Cetrángolo, O. and J. C. Gómez-Sabaini. 2007. "La tributación directa en América Latina y los desafíos a la imposición sobre la renta". Macroeconomía y Desarrollo Series No. 60. ECLAC, Santiago de Chile.
- Chakraborty, S. and M. Das. 2005. "Mortality, Human Capital and Persistent Inequality." *Journal of Economic Growth*, 10: 159–92
- Chiapa, C., Garrido, J.L. and Prina, S., 2010. "Impacto de Oportunidades sobre las aspiraciones educativas de las madres". Mimeographed document. El Colegio de México.
- Chumacero, R. and R. Paredes. 2002. "Does Centralization Imply Better Targeting? Evaluating Emergency Employment Programs in Chile". Mimeographed document. Economics Department, University of Chile.
- ICPD (International Conference on Population and Development), Cairo. 1994. Available at: http://www.un.org/popin/icpd2.htm
- **Coll, A. 2001.** "Embarazo en la adolescencia ¿Cuál es el problema?". In S. Donas B. (Ed.). *Adolescencia y juventud en América Latina*. Costa Rica: Libro Universitario Regional.
- Comanor, W.S. and R. H. Smiley. 1975. "Monopoly and the Distribution of Wealth". The Quarterly Journal of Economics, 89 (2): 177-194.
- **CONAMU (Consejo Nacional de las Mujeres)**, 2006. "Encuesta de Uso del Tiempo en Ecuador". Información Estratégica II Series. Quito.
- Contreras, D. and S. Gallegos. 2007. "Descomponiendo la desigualdad salarial en América Latina: ¿Una década de cambios?". Estudios Estadísticos y Prospectivos Series no 59. ECLAC, Statistics and Economic Projects Division, Santiago de Chile.
- **Conley, D. and R. Glauber. 2007.** "Family Background, Race and Labor Market Inequality". *The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 609: 134-152.
- Corcoran, M., R. Gordon, D. Laren and G. Solon. 1992. "The Association Between Men's Economic Status and Their Family and Community Origins". *The Journal of Human Resources*, 27 (4): 575-601.
- **Cortés, F. and A. Escobar. 2003.** "Movilidad Social Intergeneracional en los Años de Reforma Económica: un Estudio del México Urbano". *Revista de la CEPAL, 85*: 149-167.
- Creedy, J. and R. Dixon. 1998. "The Relative Burden of Monopoly on Households with Different Incomes". Economica, 65 (258): 285-293.
- ----. 1999. "The Distributional Effects of Monopoly". *Australian Economic* Papers, 38 (3): 223-237
- Crisp, B., E. Moreno, and M. Shugart. 2003. The Accountability Deficit in Latin America. On Democratic Accountability in Latin America. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Cruces, G., L. F. López-Calva and D. Battiston. 2010. "Down and Out or Up and In? In Search of Latin America's Elusive Middle Class". Research for Public Policy: Inclusive Development. ID-03-2010. RBLAC-UNDP, New York.
- **Cunha, F., and J. J. Heckman. 2009.** "The Economics and Psychology of Inequality and Human Development". Discussion Paper Series. UCD Geary Institute.

- Czerniexicz, N. 2008. "Presentación en el Foro de Discusión sobre Políticas Públicas".
- Dahan, M and A. Gaviria. 1999. "Sibling Correlations and Social Mobility in Latin America". Working Paper No. 395. Research Department, International Development Bank. Washington, DC.
- Dahl, R. 1971. Polyarchy, Participation and Opposition. New Haven: Yale University Press.
- Davidson R. G., S. Rutstein, K. Johnson, E. Suliman, A. Wagstaff and A. Amouzou. 2007. "Socio Economic Differences in Health, Nutrition, and Population. An overview." World Bank.
- De Ferranti, D, G. E. Perry, G. H. G. Ferreira and M. Walton. 2003. *Inequality in Latin America and the Caribbean. Breaking with History?*. Washington, DC: World Bank.
- De Hoyos, R., J. Martínez and M. Székely. 2009. "Educación y Movilidad Social en México". Mimeographed document. Undersecretary of Higher Secondary Education, Ministry of Public Education, Mexico.
- De la Brière, B. and A. Quisumbing. 2000. "El impacto de Progresa en la toma de decisiones al interior de los hogares y el aprovechamiento escolar relativo de niños y niñas", in Adato, M., B. de la Brière, D. Mindek and A. Quisumbing. El impacto de Progresa en la condición de la mujer y en las relaciones al interior del hogar. Report presented to the Progresa Programme. Washington, DC: International Food Policy Research Institute.
- Dearden, L., S. Machin and H. Reed, 1997. "Intergenerational Mobility in Britain". *The Economic Journal*, 107 (440): 47-66.
- Díaz-Cayeros, A., F. Estévez and B. Magaloni. 2006. "Clientelism and Porfolio Diversification: A model of Electoral Investment with Applications to Mexico". In H. Kitschelt and S. Wilkinson (Eds.), *Patrons* of *Policies*. London: Cambridge University Press.
- Diaz-Cayeros, A., B. Magaloni, and F. Estévez. 2007. Strategies of Vote Buying: Social Transfers, Democracy and Welfare in Mexico. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Di Cesare, M. and J. Rodríguez. 2006. "Análisis micro de los determinantes de la fecundidad adolescente en Brasil y Colombia". *Papeles de Población, No.* 48. Papeles de Población, No. 48: 107-140.
- Dixit, A. K. and J. Londregan. 1994. "Redistributive Politics and Economic Efficiency". Discussion Paper no. 1056. CEPR, London.
- DNP (Colombian National Planning Department). 2008. "Actualización de los criterios para la determinación, identificación y selección de beneficiarios de programas sociales". Conpes Social document no. 117. Colombia.
- Duncan, O. D. 1961. "A Socioeconomic Index for All Occupations" and "Properties and Characteristics of the Socioeconomic Index", in: A. Reiss (Ed.). Occupations and Social Status. New York: Free Press.
- Dunn Christopher, E. 2007. "The Intergenerational Transmission of Lifetime Earnings: Evidence from Brazil". *The B. E. Journal of Economic Analysis & Policy. 7 (2)*. Available at: </www.bepress.com/ bejeap/vol7/iss2/art2>.
- **Durlauf, S. 1996.** "A Theory of Persistent Income Inequality". *Journal* of *Economic Growth*. (1): 75-93.
- Dworkin, R. 2000. "Sovereign Virtue". *Economic Journal*, 107 (440): 47-66.

- **Easterly, W. 2002.** "Inequality does Cause Underdevelopment: New Evidence". *Working Paper Series no. 1.* Center for Global Development, Washington, DC.
- El País, 2009. "La 'pesca milagrosa' del SISBEN", available at: http://www.elpais.com.co/paisonline/calionline/notas/Julio262009/sisben.html
- El Tiempo, 2010. "Hay 17 mil falsos pobres colados en el SISBEN", available at: <http://www.eltiempo.com/archivo/documento/MAM-2864695>
- Eberhard, J. and E. Engel. 2009. "The Educational Transition and Decreasing Wage Inequality in Chile". Research for Public Policy: Inclusive Development. ID-04-2009. RBLAC-UNDP, New York.
- Engel, E., A. Galetovic and C. Raddatz. 1998. "Reforma tributaria y distribución del ingreso en Chile". Working document no. 40. Center for Applied Economics, University of Chile.
- Engerman, S. and K. Sokoloff. 2002. "Factor Endowments, Inequality, and Paths of Development among New World Economies". Economía, 3 (1): 41-109.
- Erikson, R. and J. Goldthorpe. 1992. The Constant Flux: A Study of Class Mobility in Industrial Societies. Oxford: Clarendon Press.
- Ermisch, J., M. Francesconi and T. Siedler. 2006. "Intergenerational Mobility and Marital Sorting". *The Economic Journal*, 116: 659-679.
- Esteban, J. and D. Ray. 1994. "On the Measurement of Polarization". *Econométrica*, 62 (4): 819-851.
- **Evans, D. 2004.** Greasing the Wheels: Using Pork Barrel Projects to Build Majority Coalitions in Congress. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Fernández, A. and L. F. López-Calva. 2010. "Transitory Shocks, Permanent Effects: Impacts of the Economic Crisis on the Well-Being of Household in Latin America and the Caribbean". *Research for Public Policy: MDGs and Poverty. MDG-*01-2010. RBLAC-UNDP, New York.
- Ferreira, S. and F. Veloso, 2006. "Intergenerational Mobility of Wages in Brazil". Brazilian Review of Econometrics, 26 (2): 181-211.
- Filmer, D. and L. Pritchett. 1999. "The Effect of Household Wealth on Educational Attainment: Evidence from 35 Countries". *Population* and Development Review, 25 (I): 85-120.
- Fiszbein, A., N. Schady, F. H. G. Ferreira, M. Grosh, N. Keleher, P. Olinto and E. Skoufias. 2009. Conditional Cash Transfers. Reducing Present and Future Poverty. Washington, DC: World Bank.
- Foster, J. E. and A. K. Sen, 1997. "On Economic Inequality: After a Quarter Century", in Sen, *On Economic Inequality, extended edition*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Foster, J. E. and C. Handy. 2008. "External Capabilities." OPHI Working Paper No. 8. University of Oxford.
- Foster, J. E., M. McGillivray and S. Seth. 2008. "Rank Robustness of Composite Indicators". OPHI Working Paper No. 26. University of Oxford.
- Foster, J. E., L. F. López-Calva and M. Székely. 2005. "Measuring the Distribution of Human Development: Methodology and an Application to Mexico". *Journal of Human Development.* 6 (1): 5-25.
- Foster, J. E. and M. C. Wolfson. 2010. "Polarization and the Decline of Middle Class: Canada and the US". *Journal of Economic Inequality*, 8 (2): 247-273.

- Fox, J. 1994. "The Difficult Transition from Clientelism to Citizenship: Lessons from Mexico". *World Politics*, 46: 151-184.
- Fukuda-Parr, S. and A. K. Shiva Kumar (Eds.), 2003. Readings in Human Development. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Galasso E., and P. Carneiro. 2009. "Conclusiones de la Evaluación de Chile Solidario". Mimeographed document. Available at: <www. galerna.ioeweb.net/archives/247>
- Gale, W. G. and K. J. Scholz. 1994. "Intergenerational Transfers and the Accumulation of Wealth". *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 8 (4): 145-160
- **Gammage, S. 2009.** "Género, pobreza de tiempo y capacidades en Guatemala. Un análisis multifactorial desde una perspectiva económica". ECLAC, Subregional Headquarters in Mexico.
- Ganzeboom, H., P. de Graaf and D. Treiman. 1992. "A Standard International Socio-Economic Index of Occupational Status". *Social Science Research*, 21: 1-56.
- Gasparini, L. and G. Cruces. 2008. "A Distribution in Motion: The Case of Argentina. A Review of the Empirical Evidence". *Research for Public Policy: Inclusive Development*. ID-06-2009. RBLAC-UNDP, New York.
- Gasparini, L., M. Horenstein, E. Molina and S. Olivieri. 2008. "Income Polarization in Latin America: Patterns and Links with Institutions and Conflict". Oxford Development Studies, 36 (4): 461-484.
- Gasparini, L., M. Horenstein, E. Molina and S. Olivieri. 2009b. "Income Polarization: An Exploratory Analysis for Latin America". Mimeographed document. CEDLAS-UNDP
- **Gaviria**, **A. 2007**. "Social Mobility and Preferences for Redistribution in Latin America". *Economía*, *8* (I): 55-88.
- Genicot, G. and D. Ray. 2008. "Mobility: Outline". Association. 8 (I): 55-96.
- Giddens, A. 1973. The Class Structure of the Advanced Societies. London: Hutchinson.
- **Glewwe, P. 2002.** "Schools and Skills in Developing Countries: Education Policies and Socioeconomic Outcomes". *Journal of Economic Literature,* 40 (2): 436-482.
- Glewwe, P. and M. Kremer. 2005. "Schools, Teachers, and Education Outcomes in Developing Countries". *Working Paper No. 122*. CID, Harvard University.
- **Glewwe, P., M. Kremer and S. Moulin. 2002.** "Textbooks and Test Scores: Evidence from a Randomized Evaluation in Kenya". Washington, DC.: World Bank
- **Glewwe, P. and M. Zhao . 2005.** "Attaining Universal Primary Completions by 2015: How Much will it cost?. Mimeographed document. University of Minnesota
- Glewwe, P., M. Zhao and M. Binder. 2006. "Attaining Universal Primary Schooling by 2015: An Evaluation of Cost Estimates". In Achieving Universal Basic and Secondary Education: How Much will it Cost. Cambridge, MA: American Academy of Arts and Sciences. Available at: http://www.amacad.org/publications/Glwwe.pdf
- **Goldberg**, **O.** and **N.** Pavcnik. 2007. "Distributional Effects of Globalization in Developing Countries". *Journal of Economic Literature*, 45 (I).
- **Goldberger, A. 1989.** "Economic and Mechanical Models of Intergenerational Transmission". *American Economic Review.* 79 (3): 504-513.

- Goldthorpe, J. and A. McKnight. 2004. "The Economic Basis of Social Class". *Research Paper No. CASE080*, London School of Economics.
- Gómez Gómez, E. 2008. "La Valoración del Trabajo no Remunerado: una Estrategia Clave para la Política de Igualdad de Género". In: OPS (Pan American Health Organization), La economía invisible y las desigualdades de género. La importancia de medir y valorar el trabajo no remunerado. Washington, DC: PAHO.
- Grawe, N. 2006. "Life Cycle Bias in the Estimation of Intergenerational Earnings Persistence". *Labour Economics*, 13 (5): 551-570.
- Grosh, M., C. Del Ninno, E. Tesliuc, and A. Ouerghi. 2008. For Protection and Promotion: The Design and Implementation of Effective Safety Nets. Washington, DC: World Bank
- Grossman, M. 2004. "The Demand for Health, 30 Years Later: a Very Personal Retrospective and Prospective Reflection". *Journal of Health Economics*, 23: 629–36.
- Grusky, D. and K. Weeden. 2008. "Are There Social Classes? A Framework for Testing Sociology's Favorite Concept". In D. Conley and A. Lareau (Eds.). *How Does Class Work*? New York: Russell Sage.
- Grynspan, R. and L.F. López-Calva. 2010. "Democracia, Gobernabilidad y Cohesión Social en la Región Latinoamericana". *Pensamiento Iberoamericano*, 1 (2007/2): 85-104.
- Guerrero, I., L. F. López-Calva and M. Walton. 2009. "Inequality Traps and Its Links to Low Growth in Mexico". In Levy, S. and M. Walton, No Growth Without Equity?: Inequality, Interests, and Competition in Mexico. Washington, DC: World Bank; Basingstoke, NY: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Gupta, S., H. Davoodi and R. Alonso-Terme. 2002. "Does Corruption Affect Income Inequality and Poverty?" *Economics of Governance*, 3 (1).
- **Gutiérrez**, F. 1998. "La Ciudad representada, política y conflicto en Bogotá". Bogota: Tercer Mundo Editores and IEPRI (Institute of Political Studies and International Relations).
- Guzmán, J. M., M. Falconier, R. Hakkert and J. M. Contreras. 2000. "Políticas de población para adolescentes: diagnóstico de situación y políticas de salud sexual y reproductiva". Working Papers Series CST/ ALC, No 9. UNFPA (United Nations Population Fund), Mexico.
- Haggard, S. and M. McCubbins. 2001. Presidents, Parliaments and Policy. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Hanushek, E. A., and L. Wößmann. 2008. "The Role of Cognitive Skills in Economic Development". *Journal of Economic Literature*, 46 (3).
- Hardin, R. 2004. "Representing Ignorance". Social Philosophy and Policy, 21: 76-99.
- Hassler, J., J. Rodríguez Mora and J. Zeira. 2007. "Inequality and Mobility". Journal of Economic Growth, 12 (3): 235-259.
- Hauser, R. and J. Warren. 1997. "Socioeconomic Indexes for Occupations: A Review, Update and Critique". In: A. Raftery. (Ed.). Sociological Methodology. 27. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Hausman, J. A. and J. G. Sidak. 2004. "Why Do the Poor and the Less-Educated Pay More for Long-Distance Calls?". Contributions to Economic Analysis and Policy, 3 (1), Art. 3. Available at: < http://www. bepress.com/bejeap/contributions/vol3/iss1/art3>
- Hausmann R., D. Rodrik and A. Velasco. 2005. "Growth Diagnostic".

Mimeographed document. Kennedy School of Government, Harvard University.

- Haveman, R., B. Wolfe, and E. Peterson. 1995. "The Intergenerational Effects of Early Childbearing". *Discussion Paper No. 1071-95*. Institute for Research on Poverty. University of Wisconsin-Madison.
- Heckman, J. and P. Carneiro. 2003. "Human Capital Policy". Working Paper 9495. NBER, Cambridge, MA.
- Hellman, J. S., G. Jones and D. Kauffmann. 2000. "Seize the State, Seize the Day: State Capture, Corruption, and Influence in Transition". Documento de trabajo sobre investigación de políticas no. 2444. World Bank. Available at: http://info.worldbank.org/etools/docs/library/17638/seize.pdf>
- Hertova, D., L. F. López-Calva and E. Ortiz-Juárez. 2010. "Bigger... But Stronger? The Middle Class in Chile and Mexico in the Last Decade". *Research for Public Policy: Inclusive Development.* ID-02-2010. RBLAC-UNDP, New York.
- Hochschild, J. and N. Scovronick. 2003. The American Dream and the *Public Schools*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Hout, M. 1989. Following in Father's Footsteps. Cambridge, Massachusetts: Harvard University Press.
- -----. 2003. "How Might Inequality Affect Intergenerational Mobility? A Review and an Agenda". Working document. Survey Research Center. University of California. Berkeley.
- Ibrahim, S. and S. Alkire. 2007. "Agency and Empowerment: A Proposal for Internationally Comparable Indicators". Oxford Development Studies, 35 (4): 379-403
- **INE Chile (National Statistics Institute of Chile).** 2008. "Encuesta Exploratoria sobre uso del tiempo en el gran santiago. Presentación de resultados preliminares". Prepared for the Sixth International Meeting of Experts on Time Use Surveys. Mexico City.
- INEC Costa Rica (National Institute of Statistics and Census). 2008. Principales resultados del módulo de uso del tiempo. San José: Diseño Editorial SA.
- Ishida, H. (Ed.). 2007. Social Stratification and Social Mobility in Late-Industrializing Countries. Sendai: SSM Research Committee.
- Jaoul-Grammare, M. 2007. "Social Attributes, Equity and Higher Educative Path. Microeconometric Study of a Discrete Choice Model with Logistic Regression". *Applied Economic Letters*, 14 (4-6): 287-291
- Jencks, C. and L. Tach. 2006. "Would Equal Opportunity Mean More Mobility?". In: S. Morgan, D. Grusky and G. Fields (Eds.), *Mobility and Inequality*. Stanford: Stanford University Press.
- Johannsen J., J. L. Tejerina, and A. Glassman. 2007. "Conditional Cash Transfers in Latin America: Problems and Opportunities". Mimeographed document. Inter-American Development Bank, Washington, DC.
- Justino, P., J. Litchfield and L. Whitehead. 2003. "The Impact of Inequality in Latin America". Working document no. 21. Poverty Research Unit at Sussex, University of Sussex.
- Keefer, P. 2007. "The Poor Performance of Poor Democracies". The Oxford Handbook of Comparative Politics: 886-909. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Khoo, S. T. and J. Ainley. 2005. "Attitudes, Intentions and Participation", Research Report no. 41, Australian Council for Educational Research,

Melbourne. Available at: http://www.acer.edu.au/research/projects/lsay41.pdf>

- Kitschelt, H. and I. Wilkinson. 2007. Patrons, Clients and Policies. North Carolina: Duke University.
- Klasen, D. and Nowak-Lehmann (Eds.). 2009. Poverty, Inequality and Policy in Latin America. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Leal, F. and A. Dávila. 1990. Clientelismo: El sistema político y su expresión regional. Bogota: Tercer Mundo Editores and IEPRI (Institute of Political Studies and International Relations).
- Lee, C. S. 2005. "Income Inequality, Democracy, and Public Sector Size". American Sociological Review, 70: 158-181.
- Levittky, S. 2003. Transforming Labor-Based Parties in Latin America: Argentine Peronism in Comparative Perspective. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Levy, S. 2006. Progress against Poverty: Sustaining Mexico's Progresa-Oportunidades Programme. Washington, DC: Brookings Institution Press.
- Lewis, Ó. 1961. Antropología de la pobreza: Cinco familias. Mexico-Buenos Aires: FCE.
- Lindert, K., E. Skoufias, and J. Shapiro. 2009. "Globalization and the Role of Public Transfers in Redistributing Income in Latin America and the Caribbean". *Research Paper No.* 2009/2. UNU-WIDER.
- López-Calva, L. F. and E. Ortiz-Juárez, 2009. "Evidence and Policy Lessons on the Links between Disaster Risk and Poverty in Latin America: Methodology and Summary of Country Studies". Research for Public Policy: MDGs and Poverty. MDG-01-2009. RBLAC-UNDP, New York.
- López-Calva. L.F. and E. Ortiz-Juárez. 2010a. "Stability of the Middle Class in Mexico and Chile: Evidence from Panel Data". Mimeographed document. RBLAC-UNDP, New York.
- López-Calva, L.F. and E. Ortiz-Juárez. 2010b. "A Distribution-Sensitive Human Development Index: Empirical Application to Mexico, Nicaragua and Peru". Mimeographed document. RBLAC-UNDP, New York.
- López-Calva, L. F. and N. Lustig (Eds.). 2010. Declining Income Inequality in America: A Decade of Progress? Baltimore, MD. Brookings Institution Press.
- Machinea, J. L. and H. Hopenhayn. 2005. "La esquiva equidad en el desarrollo latinoamericano. Una visión estructural, una aproximación multifacética". Informes y Estudios Especiales Series, no. 14. Santiago de Chile: ECLAC.
- Macours K. and R. Vakis. 2009. "Changing Households' Investments and Aspirations through Social Interactions Evidence from a Randomized Transfer Program Policy Research". Working Paper 5137. World Bank.
- Magaloni, B., Díaz-Cayeros A. and F. Estévez. 2007. "Clientelism and Portfolio Diversification: a Model of Electoral Investment with Applications to Mexico". In H. Kitschelt and S. Wilkinson (Eds.) Patrons, Clients and Policies. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Maluccio, J. A., J. Hoddinott, J. R. Behrman, A. Quisumbing, R. Martorell and S. Aryeh. 2009. "The Impact of Nutrition During Early Childhood on Education among Guatemalan Adults". *PIER Working Paper No.* o6-026. Available at: http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=946107
- Mare, R. D. and C. Schwartz. 2006. "Educational Assortative Mating and the Family Background of the Next Generation: A Formal Analysis". Sociological Theory and Methods,. 21(2):253-278.

- Márquez, G. and M. F. Prada, 2007. Bad Jobs, Low Productivity, and *Exclusion*. Washington, DC: IDB (Inter-American Development Bank).
- Mayer-Foulkes, D. and C. Larrea. 2005. "Racial and Ethnic Health Inequalities: Bolivia, Brazil, Guatemala, and Peru". *Working Paper* 333. CIDE, Mexico City.
- Mayshar, J. and S. Benninga. 1996. "Heterogeneity of Intertemporal Tastes and Efficient Capital Markets as Sources of Inequality: Extending a Theme by Rae and Ramsey with some Policy Implications". Mimeographed document. Hebrew University.
- Marjoribanks, K. 2003. "Family Background, Individual and Environmental Influences. Aspirations and Young Adults' Educational Attainment: a Follow-up Study". *Educational Studies*, 29 (2/3): 233-242.
- Mazumder, B. 2005. "Fortunate Sons: New Estimates of Intergenerational Mobility in the US. Using Social Security Earnings Data". *Review of Economics and Statistics*, 87 (2): 235-255.
- McCubbins, M. and T. Page. 1987. "A Theory of Congressional Delegation". In M. D. McCubbin and T. O. Sullivan (Eds.), *Congress: Structure and Policy*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- McKenzie, D. 2005. "Measuring Inequality with Asset Indicators". Journal of Population Economics, 18: 229-60.
- Metzler, A. and S. Richard. 1981 "A Rational Theory of the Size of Government". *Journal of Political Economy*, 89 (5).
- Meza Ojeda, A., E. Tuñón Pablos, D. E. Ramos Muñoz and E. Kauffer Michel. 2002. "Progresa y el empoderamiento de las mujeres: Estudio de caso en vista hermosa, Chiapas". Papeles de Población, No. 031: 67-93.
- Merton, R. 1953. "Reference Group Theory and Social Mobility". In R. Bendix and S. M Lipset (Eds.) *Class status and power*. New York: The Free Press.
- Miller, W. E. and D. E. Stokes. 1963. "Constituency Influence in Congress". The American Political Science Review, 57 (1): 45-56.
- Milosavljevic, V. 2007. "Estadísticas para la equidad de género. Magnitudes y tendencias en América Latina". ECLAC, Santiago de Chile.
- Mulligan, C. B. 1997. Parental Priorities and Economic Inequality. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Narayan, D. 2002. "Empowerment and Poverty Reduction ". Mimeographed document. Washington, DC: World Bank.
- Nebel, M. and P. Flores-Crespo (Eds.). 2010. Desarrollo como libertad en América Latina. Fundamentos y aplicaciones. Mexico City. Universidad Iberoamericana, Mexico City. (Pending publication).
- Núñez, J. and L. Miranda. 2007. "Recent Findings on Intergenerational Income and Educational Mobility in Chile". Working document no. 244, Economics Department, University of Chile.
- Nussbaum, M. 2000. Women and Human Development: the Capabilities Approach. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- OAS (Organization of American States) UNDP (United Nations Development Programme). 2009. "La democracia de ciudadanía. Una agenda para la construcción de la ciudadanía en America Latina". New York: OAS-UNDP
- OHCHR (Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights). 2006.

"Preguntas frecuentes sobre el enfoque de derechos humanos en la cooperación para el desarrollo". Office of the High Commissioner of the United Nations.

- ILO (International Labour Organization)- UNDP (United Nations Development Programme). 2009. "Trabajo y familia: hacia nuevas formas de conciliación con corresponsabilidad social". Santiago: ILO-UNDP.
- **ONE Cuba (National Statistics Office of Cuba). 2001.** "Encuesta sobre el uso del tiempo". Available at: <www.one.cu/publicaciones/enfoquegenero/tiempo/eut.pdf>.
- UN (United Nations). 1994. "Programa de acción de la conferencia internacional sobre la población y el desarrollo". Available at: http://www.un.org/spanish/conferences/accion2.htm>
- ----. 2000. "Declaración del Milenio". United Nations General Assembly. New York. Available at: <www.un.org/spanish/milenio/ ares552.pdf>.
- OPHI (Oxford Poverty and Human Development Initiative). 2008. "The Missing Dimensions of Poverty Data: Information on the Indicators and Survey Modules". Available at: http://www.ophi.org.uk/pubs/MISSING_DIMENSIONS_MANUAL.pdf.
- PAHO (Pan American Health Organization). 2005. "La igualdad de género y el empoderamiento de las mujeres. Requisitos para el logro de los Objetivos de Desarrollo del Milenio". Informative Issue. Gender, Ethnicity and Health Unit. Washington, DC. Available at: http://www.paho.org/spanish/ad/ge/MDG-hojainformativao605.pdf>
- Ortiz-Juárez, E. 2009. "Literature Review on the Role of Assets". Mimeographed document. RBLAC-UNDP, New York
- Oxford Development Studies. 2007. "The Missing Dimensions of Poverty Data" (Special Issue), 35 (4).
- Paes de Barros, R., F. H. G. Ferreira, J. Molinas Vega and J. Saavedra Chanduvi. 2009. Measuring Inequality of Opportunities in Latin America and the Caribbean. Washington, DC: Palgrave Macmillan and World Bank.
- Pantelides, E. A. 2004. "Aspectos sociales del embarazo y la fecundidad
- adolescente en América Latina". Notas de Población, 31 (78) (LC/G.2229-P): 7-33. Santiago de Chile. ECLAC.
- **Pastore**, J. 1981. *Inequality and Social Mobility in Brazil*. Madison: University of Wisconsin Press.
- Pastore, J. and N. Silva. 2000. Mobilidade Social no Brasil. Sao Paolo: Makron.
- Payne, G., A. Durand-Lasserve and C. Rakod. 2009. "The Limits of Land Titling and Home Ownership". Environment and Urbanization. 21 (2): 443-462
- Pedrero N., M. 2005. "Trabajo doméstico no remunerado en México. Una estimación de su valor a través de la Encuesta Nacional sobre Uso del Tiempo". INMUJERES (National Institute of Women). Mexico City.
- Peña, M. and J. Bacallao. 2002. "Malnutrition and Poverty". Annual Review of Nutrition 7(22): 241-253.
- Piketty, T., B. Atkinson and F. Bourguignon. 2000. "Theories of Persistent Inequality and Intergenerational Mobility". In Handbook of Income Distribution, Vol. 1: 429-476. Amsterdam: Elsevier.

- Pitkin, H. 1967. The Concept of Representation. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- **UNDP (United Nations Development Programme). 1990.** *Human Development Report 1990. Concept and Measurement of Human Development.* Bogota. Tercer Mundo Editores.
- -----. 1995. Human Development Report 1995. The revolution for gender equality. New York: UNDP
- -----. 1999. Human Development Report Uruguay. Human development in Uruguay. Montevideo: UNDP
- -----. 2002. Human Development Report Panama 2002. Commitment to Human Development: A National Challenge. Panama: Impresora Pacífico.
- -----. 2003. Human Development Report Mexico 2002. Mexico City: Ediciones Mundi-Prensa.
- -----. 2004. La Democracia en América Latina. Hacia una Democracia de Ciudadanas y Ciudadanos. Buenos Aires. Available at: < http://www. undp.org/spanish/proddal/idal_1b.pdf>
- -----. 2005a. Human Development Report Brazil 2005. Racism, poverty and violence. Sao Paulo: PrimaPagina.
- -----. 2005b. Human Development Report Mexico 2004. El reto del desarrollo local. Mexico City: Ediciones Mundi-Prensa.
- ----- .2005c. Human Development Report Guatemala 2005. Ethnic and Cultural Diversity: Citizenship in a plural state. Guatemala: Editorial Sur, Edisur.
- -----. 2006a. Human Development Report Honduras 2006. Hacia la Expansión de la Ciudadanía. San José: UNDP
- -----. 2006b. Desarrollo Humano en Chile. Las Nuevas Tecnologías: ¿Un Salto al Futuro?. Santiago de Chile: UNDP
- -----. 2006c. Arunachal Pradesh Human Development Report 2005. New Delhi: Planning Department, Government of Arunachal Pradesh.
- -----. 2007a. Informe sobre Desarrollo Humano 2006/2007, Migración y Desarrollo Humano. Mexico: UNDP
- -----. 2007b. Cambodia Human Development Report 2007 Expanding Choices for Rural People. Ministry of Planning-UNDP
- -----. 2008a. Human Development Report El Salvador 2007-2008. El Empleo en uno de los Pueblos más Trabajadores del Mundo. San Salvador.
- -----. 2008b. Human Development Report Paraguay 2008. Equidad para el desarrollo.
- -----. 2008c. Human Development Indices. A Statistical Update, 2008. New York: UNDP. Available at: http://hdr.undp.org/en/media/HDI_2008_EN_Content.pdf>
- -----. 2008d. Human Development Report Dominican Republic 2008. Desarrollo Humano, una Cuestión de Poder. Santo Domingo: UNDP.
- -----. 2008e. Guatemala: ¿ Una Economía al Servicio del Desarrollo Humano? Human Development Report Guatemala 2007/2008. Guatemala: Editorial Sur, Edisur
- -----. 2009a. Human Development Report 2009. Overcoming barriers: Human mobility and development. New York: UNDP.
- -----. 2009b. Aportes Para el Desarrollo Humano en Argentina 2009. Buenos Aires: UNDP.
- -----. 2009c. Aportes para el Desarrollo Humano en Argentina. Cuaderno 2: Segregación residencial en Argentina. Buenos Aires: UNDP.

- UNDP (United Nations Development Programme) DRF (China Development Research Foundation). 2005. "China Human Development Report 2005. Development with Equity". DRF-UNDP.
- UNDP (United Nations Development Programme) Instituto Desarrollo de Capacitación y Estudios – DGEEC (Dirección General de Estadísticas, Encuestas y Censos). 2003b. "Human Development Report Paraguay 2003". Imprenta Mercurio.
- PRB (Population Reference Bureau). 2000a. "¿Es la Educación el Mejor Anticonceptivo?". Newsletter. Measure Communication. Washington, DC.
- -----. 2000b. "The World's Youth 2000". PBR. Available at: http://www.prb.org/pdf/WorldsYouth_Eng.pdf>
- UN Millennium Project. 2005. *Task Force on Education and Gender Equality.* Taking Action: Achieving Gender Equality and Empowering Women. New York: UNDP.
- Quisumbing, A. R. 2007. "Poverty Transitions, Shocks and Consumption in Rural Bangladesh: Preliminary Results of a Longitudinal Household Survey". *CPRC Working Paper 105*. International Food Policy Research Institute, Washington, DC.
- Rank, M. R., and Hirschl, T. A. 2008. "Estimating the Life course Dynamics of Asset Poverty". Paper presented at the Panel Study of Income Dynamics Conference on Financial Well-Being Over the Life Course, University of Michigan, November 20–21, Ann Arbor, Michigan.
- Rao, V. and M. Walton. 2004. "Chapter I. Culture and Public Action: Relationality, Equality of Agency and Development". in Rao, V. and M. Walton. *Culture and Public Action*. Stanford: Stanford University Press.
- Rawls, J. 1971. A Theory of Justice. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Ray, Debraj, 2006. "Aspirations, Poverty, and Economic Change," in A.
 V. Banerjee, R. Benabou and D. Mookerjee, editors, Understanding Poverty, London, Oxford University Press.
- Reinecke, G. 2005. "Income Protection through Direct Employment Programmes: Recent Concepts and Examples from Latin America". *International Social Security Review*, 58 (2-3): 163-183.
- **Ribeiro, C. 2007.** Estrutura de classe e mobilidade social no Brasil. Sao Paulo: EDUSC.
- **Rodríguez, J. 2009.** "Reproducción adolescente y desigualdades en América Latina y el Caribe: un llamado a la reflexión y a la acción". Madrid. OIJ-ECLAC-UNFPA
- **Rodríguez J. and M. Hopenhayn. 2007.** "Maternidad adolescente en América Latina y el Caribe. tendencias, problemas y desafíos". Desafíos, Nffl 4. Santiago de Chile: ECLAC/UNICEF.
- Rodríguez-Chamussy, Lourdes. 2009. "Local Electoral Rewards from Centralized Social Programs: Are Mayors Successful at Credit Claiming?". Department of Agricultural and Resource Economics, University of California at Berkeley.
- Rodríguez-Oreggia, E. and S. Freije-Rodríguez. 2009. "Evaluación de impacto sobre empleo, salarios y movilidad ocupacional intergeneracional del programa oportunidades", in SEDESOL, Evaluación Externa del Programa Oportunidades 2008. A Diez Años de Intervención en Zonas Rurales (1997-2007). Mexico City: Secretariat of Social Development.

- Rodrik, D. 1998. "Democracies Pay Higher Wages". Discussion paper No. 1776. CEPR.
- -----. 1999. The New Global Economy and Developing Countries: Making Openness Work. Washington, DC: Overseas Development Council.
- **Roemer, J. E. 1998.** *Equality of Opportunity.* Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Rose-Ackerman, S. 2001. "Political Corruption and Democratic Structure". In J. Arvind K. (Ed.), *The Political Economy of Corruption*. London and New York: Routledge.
- Rosenzweig, M., and T. P. Schultz. 1983. "Estimating a Household Production Function: Heterogeneity, the Demand for Health Inputs, and Their Effects on Birth Weight". *Journal of Political Economy*, 91 (5): 723-746
- Saavedra, J. and O. S. Arias. 2007. "Reducción de la pobreza y la desigualdad en América Latina y el Caribe: Promesas y Retos para las Políticas Públicas". In J. L. Machinea. and N. Serra (Eds.), Visiones del desarrollo en América Latina. Santiago de Chile: ECLAC-CIDOB Foundation.
- Sabates-Wheeler, R. 2008. "How are Patterns of Asset Inequality Established and Reproduced?". In M. Walton, A. J. Bebbington, A. A. Dani and A. de Haan (Eds.), *Institutional Pathways to Equity: Addressing Inequality Traps*. Washington, DC: World Bank.
- Sapelli, C. and A. Torche. 2004. "Deserción Escolar y Trabajo Juvenil: ¿Dos Caras de una Misma Decisión?" *Cuadernos de Economía*, 41:173-198
- Sánchez-Páramo, C. and N. Schady. 2003. "Off and Running? Technology, Trade and Rising Demand for Skilled Workers in Latin America". Mimeographed background document for the report *Closing the Gap in Education and Technology in Latin America*. Washington, DC: World Bank.
- Santos, M. E., M. A. Lugo, L. F. Lopez-Calva, G. Cruces and D. Battiston. 2010. "Refining the Basic Needs Approach: A Multidimensional Analysis of Poverty in Latin America". *Research on Economic Inequality*. [Pending publication].
- Scalon, M. C. 1999. Mobilidade Social no Brasil: Padrões e Tendências. Rio de Janeiro: Revan-IUPERJ/UCAM.
- Schultz, T. P. 2004. "Health Economics and Applications in Developing Countries". *Journal of Health Economics* 23: 637-641
- Sen. A. K. 1980. "Equality of what?" In McMurrin, S. (ed.) The Tanner Lectures on Human Values, Vol.1. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- -----. 1985. Commodities and Capabilities. Amsterdam: The Netherlands.
- -----. 1992. Inequality Reexamined. Cambridge, Massachusetts: Harvard University Press.
- -----. 1998. Development as Freedom. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- -----. 1999. "Democracy as a Universal Value". Journal of Democracy, 10 (3): 3-17.
- -----. 2002. *Rationality and Freedom*. Cambridge, MA: Belknap Press of Harvard University Press.
- -----. 2005a. "Social Choice Theory". In Arrow, K. J. and M. D. Intriligator (eds.) *Handbook of Mathematical Economics, 2nd edition,* Vol. 3: 1073-1181, Amsterdam: North Holland.
- -----. 2005b. "The Three R's of Reform". *Economic and Political Weekly* (May 7, 2005).

- -----. 2009. The Idea of Justice. Cambridge, MA: Belknap Press of Harvard University Press.
- Sewell, H. and V. P. Shah, 1968. "Social Class, Parental Encouragement, and Educational Aspirations". *The American Journal of Sociology*, 73 (5): 559-572.
- Shubhasree, S. and S. Decornez. 2003. "Income Polarization and Inequality Across Countries: an Empirical Study". *Journal of Policy Modeling*, 25: 335-358
- Skoufias, E., K. Lindert, and J. Shapiro. 2006. "Redistributing Income to the Poor and the Rich: Public Transfers in Latin America and the Caribbean". Social Protection Discussion Paper No. 0605.
- Solís, P. 2005. "Cambio Estructural y Movilidad Ocupacional en Monterrey, México". *Estudios Sociológicos*, 23 (67): 43-74.
- Solon, G. 1992. "Intergenerational Income Mobility in the United States". American Economic Review, 82 (3): 393-408.
- Spencer, S. J, C. M. Steele, and D. M. Quinn. 1999. "Stereotype Threat and Women's Math Performance". Journal of Experimental Social Psychology, 35: 4-28.
- Stanton, E. 2007. "The Human Development Index: A History". Working Paper Series No 127. Political Economy Research Institute. University of Massachusetts, Amherst.
- Steele, C. M. and J. Aronson. 1995. "Stereotype Threat and the Intellectual Test Performance of African Americans". *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 69 (5): 797-811.
- Stern, C. 1997. "El embarazo en la adolescencia". Salud Pública de México, 39 (2). Mexico City.
- Strand, S. and J. Winston. 2008. "Educational Aspirations in Inner City Schools". Educational Studies, 34 (4).
- Székely, M. 2001. "The 1990s in Latin America: Another Decade for Persistent Inequality, but with Somewhat Lower Poverty". Working Paper no. 454. Inter-American Development Bank.
- Thomas, D. 1990. "Intrahousehold Resource Allocation: An Inferential approach". *Journal of Human Resources*, 25 (4): 635-664.
- Thomassen, J. 1994. "Empirical Research into Political Representation: Failing Democracy or Failing Models". In M. Kent Jennings and T. E. Mann (Eds.). *Elections at Home and Abroad. Essays in Honor of Warren E. Miller.* Ann Arbor: The University of Michigan Press.
- Todd, P. E. and K. I. Wolpin. 2003. "On the Specification and Estimation of the Production Function for Cognitive Achievement". *The Economic Journal*, 113: F3-F33.
- Torche, F. 2005. "Unequal But Fluid: Social Mobility in Chile in Comparative Perspective". American Sociological Review, 70: 422-450.
- ----. 2008a. "Movilidad Intergeneracional en México: Primeros Resultados de la Encuesta ESRU de Movilidad Social en México". Mimeographed document. Sociology Department. New York University.
- -----. 2008b. "Educational Assortative Mating and Economic Inequality: A Comparative Analysis of Three Latin American Countries". Mimeographed document. Sociology Department. New York University.
- -----. 2009b. "Economic Crisis and Inequality of Educational Opportunity in Latin America". Mimeographed document.
- **Torche, F. and C. Costa-Ribeiro. 2009.** "What Drives Social Mobility? Education and Growing Social Fluidity in Brazil". To be published at Research in Social Stratification and Mobility.

- Torche, F. and L. F. López-Calva. 2010. "Stability and Vulnerability of the Latin American Middle Class". En: K. Newman (Ed.). *Dilemmas of the Middle Class around the World*. Nueva York: Oxford University Press.
- UDAPE (Social and Economic Policy Analysis Unit). 2010. "Esquemas de Protección Social en Bolivia: Hacia una Protección Social Universal". Presentation given at the International Meeting *Protección*, *promoción y seguridad social*. Quito, March 2010. Available at: <www. unasur-social.org/unasur/images/documentos/encuentro/Proteccion_Social_Bolivia.ppt>.
- UDELAR (Universidad de la República, Uruguay) and INE Uruguay (Uruguay National Institute of Statistics). 2008. "Uso del Tiempo y Trabajo no Remunerado en el Uruguay". Montevideo: Sociology Department of the Faculty of Social Sciences, Universidad de la República, and Socio-demographic Statistics Division, National Statistics Institute of Uruguay, with the support of UNIFEM (United National Development Fund for Women) and Inmujeres (National Institute of Women). Available at: <www.ine.gub.uy/biblioteca/ uso%20del%20tiempo%202007/Documento%20Uso%20del%20 Tiempo%20y%20Trabajo%20no%20remunerado.pdf>.
- Urzúa, C. M. 2008. "Evaluación de los Efectos Distributivos y Espaciales de las Empresas con Poder de Mercado en México". Mimeographed document. Tecnológico de Monterrey, Campus Ciudad de México.
- Vaisey, S. 2009. "What People Want: Rethinking Poverty, Culture, and Educational Attainment". Berkeley: Sociology Department, University of California.
- Valentine, C. 1969. Culture and Poverty. Chicago: Chicago University Press.
- Vallentyne, P. 2005, "Debate: Capabilities versus Opportunities of Well Being". Journal of Political Philosophy, 13 (3): 359-371
- Victora, C. G , L. Adair, C. Fall, P. C. Hallal, R. Martorell, L. Richter and H. Singh Sachdev, on behalf of the Maternal and Child Undernutrition Study Group. 2008. "Undernutrition 2: Maternal and Child Undernutrition: Consequences for Adult Health and Human Capital". *The Lancet 371* (9609): 340-357. Available at: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/picrender.fcgi?artid=2258311&blobtype=pdf >
- Wagstaff, A. and E. van Doorslaer. 2000. "Measuring and Testing for Inequity in the Delivery of Health Care". *Journal of Human Resources*, 35 (4): 716-733.
- Wagstaff, A., O. O'Donnell, E. Van Doorslaer and M. Lindelow. 2008. Analyzing Health Equity Using Household Survey Data: A Guide to Techniques and their Implementation. Washington, DC: World Bank.
- Williams, M. 1998. Voice, Trust and Memory: Marginalized Groups and the Failings of Liberal Representation. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Wright, E. O. (Ed.). 2005. Approaches to Class Analysis. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Yasukawa, Y., Ortuño and Brockman. 2009. "Derechos y Política Social", published by Proceso magazine, La Prensa de La Paz, Bolivia. 28 December 2009.
- You, J. S. and S. Khagram. 2005. "A Comparative Study of Inequality and Corruption". *American Sociological Review*, 20: 136-157.
- Zenteno, R. and P. Solís. 2006. "Continuidades y Discontinuidades

de la Movilidad Ocupacional en México". *Estudios Demográficos y Urbanos*, 21 (3): 515-546.

- Zhang, X. and R. Kanbur. 2001. "What Difference Do Polarization Measures Make? An Application to China". *Journal of Development Studies*, 37 (3): 85-98.
- Zimmerman, D. 1992. "Regression Toward Mediocrity in Economic Stature". *The American Economic Review*, 82 (3): 409-29.

STATISTICAL REFERENCES

- CEDLAS (Center for Distributive, Labour and Social Studies) Universidad de la Plata. 2010. Available at: http://www.depeco.econo. unlp.edu.ar/>
- CELADE (Latin American and Caribbean Demographic Centre). 2010. Sistema de Indicadores Sociodemográficos de Poblaciones y Pueblos Indígenas. CELADE. Available at: http://celade.cepal.org/redatam/ PRYESP/SISPPI/>.
- ECLAC, Statistical Information of Latin America and the Caribbean (CEPALSTAT). 2010. Available at: http://websie.ecALC.cl/sisgen/ConsultaIntegrada.asp.
- DHS (Demographic and Health Surveys). 2010. Available at: <www. measuredhs.com>
- General Board of Statistics and Censuses of the Government of the City of Buenos Aires. 2005. "Encuesta Anual de Hogares. Ciudad de Buenos Aires. Año 2005. Encuesta de uso del tiempo. Cuadros básicos". Available at: http://estatico.buenosaires.gov.ar/areas/hacienda/sis_estadistico/2005/eut_cuad_basicos.pdf
- United States Census Bureau. 2010. International Data Base. Available at: <www.census.gov/ipc/www/idb/region.php>.
- SEDLAC (CEDLAS and World Bank). 2010. Socio-Economic Database for Latin America and the Caribbean. Available at: http://www.depeco.econo.unlp.edu.ar/sedALC>.
- UNU/WIDER (United Nations University-World Institute for Development Econocmics Research), 2008. UNU/WIDER World Income Inequality Database. Available at: <www.wider.unu.edu/research/ Database/en_GB/database/>.

Technical notes

TECHNICAL NOTE 1 Methodology for estimating the inequality sensitive Human Development Index

The human development index (HDI), first published in 1990, was designed to compare different countries' achievements in three dimensions of human development, which are measured with four specific indicators:

- Economic well-being, expressed by per capita GDP in dollars adjusted for purchasing power parity (PPP).
- Education, measured by the adult literacy rate (with a 2/3 weighting) and the gross enrolment rate (with a 1/3 weighting).
- Long and healthy life, assessed by life expectancy at birth.

Aggregating the dimensions is simple. To do so the values must be standardised between 0 and 1, and none of these should have a relative weight greater than the others. Hence, the human development index is the arithmetic average of the three dimensions, as expressed by the following formula:

(1)
$$HDI = \frac{\text{income + education + health}}{3}$$

The simplicity of its calculation is probably the HDI's most important characteristic as it facilitates the tasks of interpretation and communication, and in this way enhances the political relevance of achievements attained in each of the component dimensions. However, this same simplicity has also made it the target of criticism, including the claim that the HDI is not sensitive to inequality in the distribution of human development among the population.

Proposals in the recent literature have attempted to correct this weakness in order to obtain a more robust human development indicator. Anand and Sen (1995) for example, developed a measure that reflects gender inequality in human development. In other words, it calculates the level of human development of men and women and then aggregates the resulting values based on generalised averages to discount inequality between the two groups. Hicks (1997) on the other hand, proposed an index that discounts the level of inequality – measured by Gini coefficient - from each dimension of human development and then obtains the value of the index as the arithmetic average of these dimensions.

The literature has also shown however, that such methodologies violate several properties of the conventional HDI.¹ For this reason, Foster et al. (2005) propose a family of inequality sensitive indexes that encompass all the desirable qualities of the HDI. The construction of these indexes is based on generalised averages that discount the level of inequality of each dimension. The process consists, first of all, in transforming the distribution values of each dimension in accordance with the following expression:

dimension(X) =
$$\left(\frac{x_1^{1-\varepsilon} + \cdots + x_n^{1-\varepsilon}}{n}\right)^{\frac{1}{1-\varepsilon}}$$
 (2)

The dimensions are then aggregated by means of the arithmetic mean and the inverse transformation is applied to the resulting index. In this way, the inequality sensitive index (IAHDI) is a generalised average of the generalised averages of each dimension:

$$IAHDI = \left[\frac{(\text{income})^{1-\varepsilon} + (\text{education})^{1-\varepsilon} + (\text{health})^{1\varepsilon}}{3}\right]^{\frac{1}{1-\varepsilon}} (3)$$

In the expressions above, $\varepsilon > 0$ is an inequality aversion parameter. If $\varepsilon = 0$, the result is the conventional HDI; if $\varepsilon = 1$, the index aggregates the distributions based on the geometric mean, and if $\varepsilon = 2$, the achievements are aggregated in accordance with the harmonic mean. In general, as the value of ε increases, the levels of inequality existing between individuals and between dimensions is punished, so the value of the IAHDI will fall consistently as long as greater inequality persists.

This methodology has been applied recently in several studies that estimate the level of human development adjusted for inequality with different levels of disaggregation. For example, the *Human Development Report Mexico 2002* estimated an inequality sensitive index using data that had been aggregated on a state-wide scale (UNDP, 2003). This "refined development index" uses generalised means based on the expressions above. *The report Aportes para el Desarrollo Humano en Argentina 2009* also presented an estimation of an individual index based on the national household survey (UNDP, 2009). Along these same lines, Alkire and Foster (2010), López-Calva and Ortiz-Juárez (2010) and Vigorito and Arim (2009) also present estimations of an inequality-sensitive index based on household data.

In this Report, the IAHDI is built on the methodology proposed by Foster et al. (2005), using household indicators from national surveys of a group of 18 Latin American countries, standardised by CEDLAS.

¹ For example, Hicks' methodology does not comply with the quality of consistency in sub-groups (see discussion in Foster et al., 2005).

It is important to point out that some indicators are different from those used in the conventional HDI, due to the fact that information is not always available at all the different levels of disaggregation. For example, the life expectancy indicator is not available for each household considered, so it is necessary to look for variables that approximately reflect achievement in the health dimension.

In the exercise presented in this report, the methodology used for constructing each dimension of the IAHDI and its aggregation is based on expressions (2) and (3) above.

Income index

For each survey, the total per capita annual income of each household is obtained, which is adjusted to the national accounts and is then converted into international dollars using a correction factor in accordance with the purchasing power parity (PPP). With these reconciliations, the income index is obtained by comparing the real income of household i, on a logarithmic scale, with minimum and maximum reference values, in accordance with the following formula:

(4)

income
$$_i = \frac{\log(\text{real value}_i) - \log(\min)}{\log(\max) - \log(\min)}$$

where min and max are the traditional values of 100 and 40,000 dollars PPP, respectively, established by the UNDP. The resulting value will be between 0 and 1; but, in order not to truncate the distribution, income of over 40,000 dollars remain unaltered, so the income index can be greater than 1 in some cases. Moreover, in order not to underestimate the index and avoid the loss of observations, the incomes considered are strictly positive, so values of zero or negative values are substituted by a minimum value of 150 dollars.

Education index

The estimation of this index on a household level can generate a loss of observations in households in which there are no individuals who are of school age, as enrolment depends on the age and a presence of such subjects. To correct this problem, the education index proposed in this report keeps the literacy component, but replaces the enrolment component with one that reflects the accumulated years of schooling for individuals of seven years of age or over (the necessary age to accumulate at least one year of basic education). ²

Concerning the schooling component, the exercise conducted by UNDP (2009) is taken as a reference. In this exercise, a standard was set for each individual in the household in which the minimum reference value is zero (no schooling) and the maximum value depends on the individual's age, based on the following logic: a seven year old individual will have a maximum of one year of schooling; an eight year old will have a maximum of two years of schooling, and so on for individuals of 22 years of age or more, who will have a maximum of 16 years of schooling, which means that they have spent at least four full years of professional studies. Based on the above, the schooling index for individual j of seven years of age or more in household i is obtained by comparing his or her accumulated schooling with the maximum and minimum reference values, pursuant to the following formula:

schooling_{ij} =
$$\frac{\text{observed value}_{j \ge \min}}{\max - \min}$$
 (5)

The individual values obtained in the expression above are averaged arithmetically and the resulting value is attributed to the members of the household that have reached the necessary age for accumulating schooling (under seven years of age). The main advantage of this is the avoidance of a loss of observations that would occur by assuming that children will aspire to attaining at least the average of the other members of the household.

In general, this procedure gives a single value for household i, which is the average schooling of all its members. If a minimum reference value of 0 is set, which signifies that no member of the household has accumulated any schooling, and a maximum value of 1, where all the members of the household have attained the maximum schooling for their age, the schooling index for household i can be formally expressed as:

schooling_i^{*} =
$$\frac{\text{schooling}_i - 0}{1 - 0}$$
 (6)

However, in order not to under-estimate the index, and in the event that some members of the household have accumulated some learning and experience in their lives, irrespective of whether they have been to a formal education centre or not, schooling indexes of 0 are replaced by an index of 0.5.

With regard to the second component of the education index, the traditional definition has been followed, which considers as literate those individuals of 15 years of age or more who know how to read or write a message. Hence, the adult literacy rate of household i can be calculated as:

² In Brazil, Guatemala and Nicaragua, among other countries, formal education starts one year later than in other countries, so counting the age is delayed by one year to prevent under-estimating the accumulated years of schooling in these countries.

literacy_i =
$$\frac{1}{n_i} \sum_{j=1}^{m} a_j$$

where n_i is the total number of adults of 15 or more years of age in household *i*, *m* is the total number of literate adults and aj is an indicator that has a value of 1 if adult *j* is literate and 0 if he or she is not. Once again, assuming maximum and minimum reference values of 0 and 1 that indicate illiteracy and full literacy respectively, the literacy index of household *i* can be formally expressed as:

(8)
$$\operatorname{literacy}_{i}^{*} = \frac{\operatorname{literacy} - 0}{1 - 0}$$

(7)

For the reasons mentioned above, this index is assigned a minimum level of 0.5 instead of 0 in those households in which none of the adults know how to read or write.

Finally, to calculate the education index, only the literacy and schooling indexes, obtained from (7) and (8) are aggregated, using the traditional weightings established by UNDP:

education
$$_{i} = \frac{2}{3}$$
 (literacy^{*}_i) + $\frac{1}{3}$ schooling^{*}_i (9)

Health index

Due to a lack of information about life expectancy at the household level, this Report considers access to drinking water and the availability of a toilet in the household as alternative health indicators, as evidence has been found that these have a major impact on the health of the population, especially on children's health (Galiani et al., 2005).

The calculation at a household level involves using two probit type econometric models to discover the association between these indicators and several explanatory household variables, including the age of the head of the household, income, members' levels of education, geographic location, the total number of members and children and the construction materials of which the house is built. The results of these models are interpreted, on the one hand as the probability of the household to access sources of drinking water and, on the other, as the probability of having adequate sanitation.

Table NT1.1 Latin America and the Caribbean (18 countries). Components of the inequality adjusted human development index (IAHDI). Results obtained from expression (2)

Country	N	Income		Education			Health			
Country	rear	ε = 0	ε = 1	ε = 2	ε = 0	ε = 1	ε = 2	ε = 0	ε = 1	ε = 2
Argentina	2008	0.866	0.841	0.765	0.877	0.868	0.843	0.943	0.940	0.936
Bolivia (Plurinational State of)	2007	0.550	0.499	0.232	0.815	0.767	0.667	0.767	0.731	0.690
Brazil	2008	0.717	0.671	0.557	0.781	0.732	0.626	0.832	0.798	0.728
Chile	2006	0.767	0.749	0.718	0.870	0.853	0.802	0.935	0.923	0.904
Colombia	2004	0.589	0.523	0.377	0.741	0.691	0.600	0.776	0.724	0.653
Costa Rica	2008	0.743	0.704	0.595	0.798	0.761	0.659	0.973	0.971	0.968
Dominican Republic	2007	0.694	0.672	0.628	0.791	0.741	0.645	0.714	0.647	0.534
Ecuador	2008	0.658	0.624	0.550	0.811	0.769	0.670	0.905	0.898	0.890
El Salvador	2007	0.676	0.649	0.579	0.725	0.662	0.545	0.527	0.451	0.366
Guatemala	2006	0.576	0.545	0.493	0.651	0.572	0.457	0.617	0.564	0.511
Honduras	2008	0.474	0.386	0.233	0.713	0.651	0.536	0.674	0.636	0.593
Mexico	2008	0.785	0.754	0.673	0.821	0.786	0.703	0.777	0.738	0.683
Nicaragua	2005	0.481	0.450	0.398	0.694	0.625	0.509	0.465	0.327	0.168
Panama	2008	0.763	0.727	0.646	0.848	0.818	0.740	0.780	0.739	0.678
Paraguay	2007	0.564	0.532	0.426	0.795	0.762	0.675	0.805	0.787	0.767
Peru	2008	0.705	0.685	0.661	0.788	0.736	0.620	0.675	0.600	0.498
Uruguay	2008	0.814	0.802	0.787	0.850	0.837	0.802	0.940	0.934	0.925
Venezuela (Bolivarian Rep. of)	2006	0.756	0.710	0.575	0.832	0.803	0.743	0.905	0.882	0.839
Average Latin America	2007	0.677	0.640	0.550	0.789	0.746	0.658	0.778	0.738	0.685

Acting on the future: breaking the intergenerational transmission of inequality 131

With these results, the health index is constructed as an arithmetic average of the estimated probabilities for each indicator, because there is no specific reason why greater relative importance should be assigned to any indicator in particular. The value obtained could be interpreted as the average achievement of access to a healthy physical environment for the members of the household, which can be expressed as:

(10) health_i =
$$\frac{1}{2}$$
 (pr_{water}) + $\frac{1}{2}$ (pr_{toilet})

As the results of the above expressions are probabilities, the reference values that compare each household's achievement are automatically 0 and 1, where the former means no achievement and the latter represents full achievement.

Table NT1.2 Latin America and the Caribbean (18 countries). Inequality adjusted human development index (IAHDI) Results obtained from expression (3)

Country	Year	Inequality adjusted human development index				
		ε = 0	ε = 1	ε = 2		
Argentina	2008	0.895	0.882	0.842		
Bolivia (Pluri-national State of)	2007	0.711	0.654	0.413		
Brazil	2008	0.777	0.732	0.629		
Chile	2006	0.857	0.838	0.801		
Colombia	2004	0.702	0.640	0.513		
Costa Rica	2008	0.838	0.804	0.709		
Dominican Republic	2007	0.733	0.686	0.598		
Ecuador	2008	0.791	0.755	0.677		
El Salvador	2007	0.643	0.579	0.477		
Guatemala	2006	0.615	0.560	0.486		
Honduras	2008	0.620	0.543	0.382		
Mexico	2008	0.794	0.759	0.686		
Nicaragua	2005	0.547	0.451	0.288		
Panama	2008	0.797	0.761	0.686		
Paraguay	2007	0.721	0.683	0.584		
Peru	2008	0.723	0.671	0.584		
Uruguay	2008	0.868	0.856	0.834		
Venezuela (Bolivarian Rep. of)	2006	0.831	0.795	0.701		
Average Latin America	2007	0.748	0.703	0.605		
Source: Drawn up for this Report by CEDLAS, National University of La Plata, with SEDLAC data (CEDLAS and World Bank).						

Selected references

- Alkire, S. and J. Foster. 2010 "Inequality Adjusted HDI's". Support document to the Global Human Development Report 2010. New York: OIHD UNDP.
- Anand, S. and Sen, A. K. 1995. 'Gender Inequality in Human Development: Theories and Measurement". Human Development Report Office Occasional Paper 19. New York: UNDP.
- Foster, J., L.F. López-Calva and M. Székely. 2005. "Measuring the Distribution of Human Development: Methodology and an Application to Mexico". Journal of Human Development, 6 (1): 5-29.
- Galiani, S., P. Gertler and E. Schargrodsky. 2005. "Water for Life: The Impact of the Privatization of Water Services on Child Mortality". Journal of Political Economy, 113 (1).
- Hicks, D.A. 1997. "The Inequality-Adjusted Human Development Index: A Constructive Proposal". World Development, 25 (8): 1283-1298.
- López-Calva, L. F. and E. Ortiz-Juárez. 2010. "A Distribution-Sensitive Human Development Index: Empirical Application to Mexico, Nicaragua and Peru". Photocopied document. New York: RBLAC, UNDP.
- UNDP (United Nations Development Programme). 2003. Informe sobre Desarrollo Humano México 2002. Mexico City: Ediciones Mundi-Prensa.
- UNDP (United Nations Development Programme). 2009. Aportes para el Desarrollo Humano en Argentina 2009. Post-Keynesian Economics. 3: 194-218. Buenos Aires: UNDP.
- Vigorito, A. and R. Arim. 2009. "The Distribution of Human Development in Latin America", Support document to the Regional Human Development Report LAC 2010.

Below is an explanation of the procedure followed by Paes de Barros et al. (2008) to calculate the Dissimilarity Index, (DI) which measures inequality of opportunities when the operating indicator (or advantage) to be measured is dichotomous, for instance, the availability or lack of water and sanitation services.

First, the population is divided into K types, where each type is a combination of the circumstances to be considered. Let I be the number of circumstance and mI the number of possibilities for each one. For example, if only two circumstances are considered such as 1) Region: rural/urban and 2) Father's schooling: 0-24 years of schooling, then the population will be divided into $2 \times 25 = 50$ types. In this case, I = 2, $m_{region} = 2$, $m_{schooling} = 25$ and there would be $K = \prod_{i} m_{i} = K$ possible types, that is, $k \in \{1, 2, \dots, 50\}$. Let d be a variable such that d = 2 if they have the advantage and d = 0if they do not have it. The probability that the total population has a certain advantage, or the proportion of the total population that has the advantage is $\overline{p} = E(d) = p(d = 1)$. The probability of having the advantage in question determining membership of type k, or the proportion of the population of type k that has the advantage is $p(x_{i}) = p(d = 1|x = x_{i})$. The probability of belonging to type k or the proportion of type k people in comparison with the total population is $f(x_{i}) = p(x = x_{i})$. Then the ID is calculated as

$$ID = \frac{1}{2\overline{p}} \sum |p(x_k) - \overline{p}| f(x_k)$$

To find p(x k) a probit type regression is utilized in which the dependent variable is the advantage and the independent variables are the circumstances. Then it is calculated as

$$\sum_{k} p(x_{k}) f(x_{k})$$

adding this to the type k, or equivalently, as

$$\frac{\sum_i p(x_{i_k})}{N}$$

Adding to the N individuals, *i* of the population, where i_k is the type of individual *i*.

Interpretation: the DI is the percentage of the total advantages that would have to be redistributed among the types into which the population was divided so that everybody has the same probability of possessing an advantage, irrespective of the type that the individual belongs to. For inequality of opportunities to be zero (DI = 0), it is necessary that $p(x_k) = \overline{p}$ for all of k, that is, that the probability of having the advantage has to be independent of the type that the individual belongs to.

Take note that the DI depends on three factors. The first is that the total proportion (coverage) of the population that has a certain advantage; from more to less, will be the DI. The second factor is p(x k), that is, the probability of having a certain advantage because a person belongs to type k, and finally, it depends on f(x k), that is, on the distribution of the population types. The areas that indicate inequality of opportunities are given by those that are under or over the average for the population (see Figure 1). The DI is associated with the area represented by the sum of these areas. In the case of Figure 1, to attain equality of opportunities, the advantages of the types of household 3, 4 and 5 would have to be redistributed to types of household 1 and 2.



Selected references

- Paes de Barros, R. and M. de Carvalho. 2008. "Measuring Inequality of Opportunity in Latin America and the Caribbean". Photocopied document.
- Paes de Barros, R., M. De Carvalho and S. Franco. 2007. "Preliminary Notes on the Measurement of Socially-Determined Inequality of Opportunity when the Outcome is Discrete". Unpublished original. Río de Janeiro: IPEA.



APPENDIX 1 How is agency measured?

One of the four global indicators is obtained by asking the person if he/she considers that he/she has control over all, most, some or none of the decisions that affect his/her everyday activities. This variable is called global decision-making power. For another of the global guestions, the drawing of a 10-step staircase is used. The interviewee is told that the people who have no freedom to choose or decide about their own lives are on the first step, while on the top step, the tenth, are those that have full freedom to choose and decide. Then the person is asked which step he or she would put him/herself on. This variable is called the freedom of choice staircase. Finally, the interviewee is asked if he or she believes that he/she could change anything in his block/ building and, in another question, if he/she could change anything in his/her neighbourhood/town. The options in these two questions are: "no", "yes, but it would be very difficult", "yes, but it would be difficult", "yes, easily" and "yes, very easily". For the analysis, the second two options were grouped together in one ("Yes, but it would be difficult or very difficult") and the last two in another one ("Yes, easily or very easily"). These variables are called possibilities of change in block or building and possibilities of change in neighbourhood or town.

The specific indicators refer to three particular contexts: minor household shopping, main activity of the person (housewife/participates in the labour market and in which activity) and the education of the children. The set of questions as a whole is equivalent for the three contexts. First of all, the person is asked who usually makes the decisions in that context in particular.¹ The possibilities are: the interviewee and his/her partner jointly, the interviewee and another member of the household, the interviewee and another person, the interviewee's partner on his/her own or another person of the household on his/her own. This way, two groups of people can be identified: those that take part in household decision-making (whether they make the decisions on their own or with somebody else) and those who do not take any part. In the event that the person declares that he/she does not take any part in the decision-making in this context, the person is asked if he/she could if he/she wanted to. If the answer is yes, then the person is considered as if he/she really did take part in the decision-making, as the situation is considered as a voluntary cession of power to other parties. With these questions, variables known as household shopping decision making/role in the household/education of the children are created.

Secondly, and based on the psychological theory of self determination (Self-Determination Theory, SDT) developed by psychologists Edward L. Deci and Richard M. Ryan (Deci and Ryan, 1985; Ryan and Deci, 2000), an attempt is made to reveal the motivation behind decision-making in each context. The self-determination theory defines the concept of autonomy as the degree to which one accepts, supports and agrees with his/her own actions (Deci and Ryan, 1985, Ryan and Deci, 2000). As Alkire (2005), Ibrahim and Alkire (2007) and Alkire and Chirkov (2007) have suggested, the concept of autonomy in the self determination theory is aligned with the concept of the role of agency in accordance with Sen: to act in accordance with what one values and what one has reasons to value. To this end, it can be useful to develop measurements in this area to move forwards in measuring the role of agency.

The basic postulate of the self-determination theory sustains that autonomy is not an "all or nothing" dilemma, but a continuum that goes from a very low to a very high internalisation of people's behaviour. On the lowest level of the degree of internalisation of actions is what the authors call external regulation, which refers to the case in which a person acts to obtain a reward or to avoid a punishment; the individual carries out the action because of somebody else's insistence. At a higher level of autonomy is introjected regulation, in which a person acts to experience self-approval or the approval of another person, or to avoid blame or guilt. Finally, at the upper end of the scale is identified or integrated regulation. In this case, the person acts in accordance with his or her values and with what has meaning and is important for him or her.²

The authors of the self-determination theory have designed questions aimed at identifying different levels of autonomy in actions with extrinsic motivation. These questions are the base for drawing up a relative autonomy index (RAI).The concept of autonomy postulated by the authors should not be associated or confused with the concept of individualism. People can accept cultural practices and, therefore, be au-

² In practise, the authors distinguish between identified and integrated regulation. The latter is for a higher level of autonomy than the former. Identified regulation takes place when the person consciously backs a given behaviour or value because it makes personal sense and is personally important. With integrated regulation, people consider that their behaviour is in harmony with their values, in synchrony with their daily life and in co-ordination with other identifications. When this question is asked, people frequently have difficulties in differentiating the two motivations; which is why, in this survey, it was summarised in a single autonomous motivation.

¹ This is the most common question about empowerment used in empirical studies.

tonomous in their actions in a variety of both verticalist and horizontalist, individualist and collective cultural contexts. These questions have been used in empirical studies with a view to measuring the degree of autonomy and to assess its association with subjective well-being (and also for the purpose of analysing what kind of cultural practices are accepted with the greatest ease) in very different cultural contexts. To this end, Ibrahim and Alkire (2007) propose using them – with some adaptations – to measure the role of agency.³

The question consists of presenting the interviewee with a series of statements, which are not mutually exclusive, with which he/she must express a level of agreement: "that is not right", "it is not completely right", "it is partially right" and "it is completely right". Each of the statements seeks to capture one of the three kinds of regulation mentioned above. In the adaptation made for this survey, the question consists of five statements. The first captures a situation of lack of control over the decision in that particular context. The next two statements attempt to capture behaviour patterns based on external pressure (pressure brought by the life partner or by any other person, community or society). The fourth statement registers behaviour patterns based on introjected regulation and the last statement captures integrated and identified regulation. A set of statements is presented to those who have reported that they do not participate in decision making in that context (the set of statements refer to non-participation) and another set of equivalent statements is given to those who report that they do participate in decision making in that context.⁴

The statements made in each context have the following structure:

Table 1: Adapting the questions to the self determinationtheory

RAI = (-1)[external pressure response 1] + (-1)[external pressure response 2] + (-1) [introjected regulation response] + (3)[integrated and identified regulation response].⁵

For those that declare that *they do not take part* in decision making in this context:

1. That is not 3. That is par	right 2. That is not completely right tially right 4. Completely right			
No control	The truth is that I cannot decide about [context]. I cannot make that decision.			
External regulation 1	I do not make decisions about [context] because my partner does not let me.			
External regulation 2	I do not make decisions about [context] because someone else, society, social organisations and/ or my community do not let me.			
Introjected regulation	I do not make decisions about [context] because that is what others expect of me. If I made the decisions about [context] maybe they would blame me for something and or I would feel guilty about something.			
Integrated/ identified regulation	I do not make decisions about [context] because I prefer not to.			

For those that declare that *they do participate* in decision making in this context:

1. That is not 3. That is par	right 2. That is not completely right tially right 4. Completely right			
No control	The truth is that I make/take part in decisions about [context] because I have no choice. I have to.			
External regulation 1	I take/take part in the decisions about [context] in accordance with how my partner forces me to.			
External regulation 2	I make/take part in decisions about [context] in accordance with how somebody else, society, social organisations or my community forces me to.			
Introjected regulation	I make/take part in decisions about [context] because it is what people expect of me. If I didn't, maybe they would blame me for some- thing or I would feel guilty about something.			
Integrated/ Identified regulation	I choose freely to make/take part in decisions about [context].			

As the two sets of statements are mutually exclusive and because the important thing is not whether the person takes part in the decision making in the context (that has already been picked up in the previous question), but their motivation for doing so (whether they participate or not),

³ Chirkov et al. (2003) applied them in the United States, Russia, Turkey and South Korea, Chirkov, Ryan and Willness (2005) in Canada and Brazil. Chirkov et al. (2003) quote several papers that include the application of the questionnaire in other countries.

⁴ Take note that this is an adaptation of the authors' original proposal. In the original proposal, there is only one statement referring to external pressure (where it comes from is not considered) and two that refer to high autonomy, one for identified regulation and another for integrated regulation. On the other hand, the philosophy of the statements is different. In the authors' original version, the statements do not explicitly refer to "decision making", but to specific actions, so that the questions are applicable in both individualist and collectivist cultures. In Latin America, this change was made to facilitate an understanding of the questions, as these are profoundly individualist contexts. These adaptations are also analysed in Chapter 4.

In its original version, the index is calculated as RAI = (-2)[external pressure response]
 - [introjected regulation response] + [identified regulation response] + 2[integrated regulation response].

the answers given to each statement by those that participate and those that do not are combined in order to obtain the same variable for each kind of external regulation, one for introjected regulation and one for identified regulation, for the whole sample. These variables are then used to construct the relative autonomy indexes (RAI), another adaptation to the approach proposed by Deci and Ryan (2000). The relative autonomy indexes are constructed in the following manner: As Ibrahim and Alkire (2007) do, the first statement, which refers to a lack of control, is excluded from the calculation of the index because it only indicates that there is no possibility to choose. One can verify that the RAI varies between -9 and 9, on a scale of increasing autonomy. These questions formed the base for creating what are known as the relative autonomy/household shopping index, relative autonomy/role in the household index and the relative autonomy/children's education index.

Agency index by socio-economic level

Based on the above, an agency index is formulated, shown in Chapter 4, which summarises the information on the seven headings (four globally and three on particular contexts) addressed here as agency indicators.

The first step to generate the index is to use the main components method for categorical discreet variables (MC). In short, the aim of the MC analysis is to identify a latent factor or an underlying factor that is not always directly observable, from its different manifestations in several dimensions observed empirically. That is, establish a new set from an original set of variables, this one with fewer variables, that expresses what the original variables have in common.

In our case, the MC method is applied to the following variables: freedom of choice staircase, global decision making power, possibilities of changes in the block and/or town, and the three relative autonomy indexes (decisions about household shopping, children's education and the role in the household). Table A1.1 shows the eigenvalues of the resulting components for the three geographical areas analysed, which enables us to identify three components (or sub-indexes) for the three cities. With these components, one can explain 64% of the total variability of the seven agency indicators in the case of Buenos Aires, 69% in Mexico City and 66% in Managua.

Furthermore, Table A1.2 shows the weight of the seven variables or of the values of the variables that are categorically discreet in each of the three components.

Table A1.1 Main components of the agency index. Eigenvalues.

Component	Eigenvalues	Variance explained	Cumulative variance explained		
Buenos Aires					
1	1.7995	0.2571	0.2571		
2	1.5300	0.2186	0.4756		
3	1.1419	0.1631	0.6388		
4	0.8333	0.1190	0.7578		
5	0.7795	0.1114	0.8692		
6	0.7139	0.1020	0.9712		
7	0.2019	0.0288	1.0000		
Mexico City					
1	1.9247	0.2750	0.2750		
2	1.7075	0.2439	0.5189		
3	1.1846	0.1692	0.6881		
4	0.8081	0.1154	0.8036		
5	0.6413	0.0916	0.8952		
6	0.5930	0.0847	0.9799		
7	0.1408	0.0201	1.0000		
Managua					
1	1.9220	0.2746	0.2746		
2	1.4356	0.2051	0.4796		
3	1.2800	0.1829	0.6625		
4	0.9066	0.1295	0.7920		
5	0.7560	0.1080	0.9000		
6	0.5823	0.0832	0.9832		
7	0.1175	0.0168	1.0000		
Source: HDR Team based on the household surveys conducted for this report in Buenos Aires, Mexico City and Managua.					

138 Regional Human Development Report for Latin America and the Caribbean 2010

Table A1.2 Main components of the agency index. Component saturation									
		Buenos Aires	;		Mexico City			Managua	
	Coef. 1	Coef. 2	Coef. 3	Coef. 1	Coef. 2	Coef. 3	Coef. 1	Coef. 2	Coef. 3
Global decision-making power	Global decision-making power								
1	-0.0843	-0.4106	-1.1681	-0.1320	-0.0172	-0.8486	0.1500	-0.6824	0.2033
2	-0.0362	-0.1764	-0.5018	-0.0139	-0.0018	-0.0894	0.0044	-0.0201	0.0060
3	0.0287	0.1399	0.3980	0.1106	0.0144	0.7112	-0.1432	0.6517	-0.1941
Shopping RAI	0.0316	0.5713	-0.2038	-0.2485	0.5085	-0.0985	-0.1744	0.6158	0.1735
Role in the household RAI	-0.0122	0.5314	-0.2669	-0.2406	0.5186	-0.0183	0.0116	0.0009	0.6714
Children's education RAI	-0.0045	0.5391	-0.0691	-0.3017	0.4903	-0.0158	0.0638	0.0947	0.6856
Father's freedom of choice ladder	0.1085	0.2073	0.6490	0.0678	0.2005	0.6716	0.0483	0.4568	-0.1178
Possibilities of change in block	or building								
1	-0.7559	0.0468	0.0366	-0.6811	-0.3610	0.1156	-0.5599	-0.0883	0.0312
2	-0.0195	0.0012	0.0009	-0.0155	-0.0082	0.0026	0.2784	0.0439	-0.0155
3	0.7268	-0.0450	-0.0352	0.6575	0.3484	-0.1116	0.9913	0.1563	-0.0553
Possibilities of change in neighbourhood or town									
1	-0.7144	0.0182	0.1106	-0.6447	-0.2998	0.1532	-0.5692	-0.1052	0.0166
2	0.0578	-0.0015	-0.0089	0.0509	0.0237	-0.0121	0.2681	0.0495	-0.0078
3	0.8023	-0.0204	-0.1242	0.7226	0.3360	-0.1717	0.9860	0.1821	-0.0288
Source: HDR Team based on the household surveys conducted for this report in Ruenos Aires, Meyico City and Managua									

Total agency index

Once we have the components, we can start to generate the total agency index, derived from the MC, by adding up the three resulting sub-indexes. Then, to obtain an indicator that can be more clearly interpreted, the following transformation is applied:

Agency index_i =
$$\frac{\text{Index by } CP_i - \text{Index by } CP_{min}}{\text{Index by } CP_{max} - \text{Index by } CP_{min}}$$

The expression above shows the position of each individual in comparison with the minimum agency value observed, weighted for the maximum distance between the individuals with the highest and lowest level of agency. This transformation, similar to the one for calculating the human development index, gives us an index in a range of 0 to 1.

Hence, those individuals that have an index equal to zero are on the lowest agency level. Thus, if an individual has an index of 0.5, it means that his/her agency level is halfway between the individual with the highest and the individual with the lowest agency level. Table A1.3 shows the maximum and minimum values of the index used in the last transformation of the agency index. Finally, table A1.4 presents the index values by averages of the total agency index, derived from the last transformation, for each socio-economic level of the three geographical areas analysed.

Table A1.3 Agency index by main components. Descriptive statistics. SEL Mean Min. Max. Stan. or example.

SEL	Mean	Min.	Max.	Stan. dev.			
Buenos Air	es						
Low	-0.408	-7.363	3.658	1.756			
Medium	-0.255	-6.173	3.658	1.746			
High	0.255	-4.287	3.658	1.508			
Total	-0.290	-7.363	3.658	1.741			
Mexico City	Mexico City						
Low	-0.673	-6.687	4.023	1.908			
Medium	0.158	-5.659	4.023	1.584			
High	0.950	-3.820	4.023	1.704			
Total	-0.175	-6.687	4.023	1.866			
Managua							
Low	-0.287	-9.192	4.036	2.017			
Medium	-0.056	-9.447	4.036	1.623			
High	-0.012	-9.258	4.036	1.885			
Total	-0.149	-9.447	4.036	1.844			
Source: HDR Team based on the household surveys conducted for this report in Buenos Aires. Mexico City and Managua.							

Table A1.4 Latin America and the Caribean (Buenos Aires, Mexico City and Managua). Total agency index by socio-economic level (SEL). Descriptive statistics

SEL	Mean	Min.	Max.	Stan. dev.	
Buenos Air	es				
Low	0.631	0.000	1.000	0.159	
Medium	0.645	0.108	1.000	0.158	
High	0.691	0.279	1.000	0.137	
Total	0.642	0.000	1.000	0.158	
Mexico City	y				
Low	0.562	0.000	1.000	0.178	
Medium	0.639	0.096	1.000	0.148	
High	0.713	0.268	1.000	0.159	
Total	0.608	0.000	1.000	0.174	
Managua					
Low	0.679	0.019	1.000	0.150	
Medium	0.697	0.000	1.000	0.120	
High	0.700	0.014	1.000	0.140	
Total	0.690	0.000	1.000	0.137	
Source: HDR Team based on the household surveys conducted for this report in					

Buenos Aires, Mexico City and Managua.

Selected references

- Alkire, S. 2005. "Subjective Quantitative Studies of Human Agency". Social Indicators Research, 74 (1). 217-60.
- Alkire, S. and V. Chirkov. 2007. "Chapter 4. Testing a New Indicator in Kerala", in Pillai, N. V. and A. Alkire (eds.). "Measuring Individual Agency or Empowerment: A Study in Kerala". *MPRA Paper* No. 9289. Available at <http:// mpra.ub.uni-muenchen.de/9289/>
- Chirkov, V., R. Ryan, Y. Kim and U. Kaplan. 2003. "Differentiating Autonomy from Individualism and Independence: A Self-Determination Theory Perspective on Internalization of Cultural Orientations and Well-Being". Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 84 (1): 97-110.
- Chirkov, V., R. M. Ryan and C. Willness. 2005. "Cultural Context and Psychological Needs in Canada and Brazil: Testing a Self-Determination Approach to the Internalization of Cultural Practices, Identity, and Well-Being". Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology, 36: 423-443.
- Deci, E. L. and R. Ryan. M. 1985. "Intrinsic Motivation and Self-determination Theory of Human Behaviour". New York: Plenum.
- Ibrahim, S. and S. Alkire. 2007. "Agency and Empowerment: A Proposal for Internationally Comparable Indicators". Oxford Development Studies, 35(4): 379 – 403.
- Ryan, R.M. and E.L. Deci. 2000. "Self Determination Theory and the Facilitation of Intrinsic Motivation, Social Development and Wellbeing". *American Psychologist*, 55: 68-78.
- Samman, E., M. E. Santos and G. Yalonetzky. 2009. "Agencia de los Padres y Logros de los Hijos: Explorando el Caso de América Latina". Support document to the LAC Regional Human Development Report 2010. New York: RBLAC, UNDP.

APPENDIX 2

Surveys on aspirations and autonomy in three geographic areas of Latin America and the Caribean

Framework of analysis

Most of the available surveys on countries of Latin America and the Caribean (LAC) only allow very partial analyses of the intergenerational transmission of human development. In general, these surveys only allow an analysis of the influence of schooling and the income level (or assets) of the generation of the parents on schooling and access to services of the generation of the children, as described in Chapter 3. As described in Chapter 1, there are other factors that determine both the processes and the functionings observed in people. These factors have a major impact on an individual's agency level, aspirations and social capital. Given the lack of systematic information about these factors and their relation with functioning variables of the family group, the Regional Report team decided to design a questionnaire to include them and to conduct the survey in three geographic areas of LAC. In particular, the surveys sought to relate agency levels (autonomy) and aspirations of adults (parents) with functioning variables of the young people (autonomy, level of schooling, employment and aspirations). The survey also revealed information about adolescents' access to public services, health and education.

Target population

The target population of the survey were households with one person residing there, be it a parent or guardian, with at least one child between 12 and 18 years of age. 4.078¹ surveys were done in three geographic areas of the region: i) Metropolitan area of Buenos Aires (MABA); ii) Metropolitan Area of Mexico City; and iii) Province of Managua.

Thematic cover

The indicators included in the surveys are classified under three main thematic headings: i) Socio-demographic and economic indicators (for example, the number of members of a household and information about the dwelling), ii) about the parent or guardian interviewed (for example, information on schooling and the occupation of the parents, transmission of assets, empowerment, use of time, social networks and aspirations) and iii) about the adolescent interviewed (for example, school attendance, reasons for absence, aspirations or expectations for life, empowerment and use of time). For questions of space, the section below presents descriptive statistics only for some variables.

Socio-demographic and economic results.

The samples of households from the three metropolitan areas of LAC present similar characteristics (see Table A2.1). For example, 61% of the adults interviewed in MABA and Mexico City are women, while 53% are women in Managua. Most of the adults are between 30 and 49 years old. As for the young people interviewed, women represent 46% in Buenos Aires, 47% in Mexico City and 48% in Managua. The mean age of the three areas is 15.

Aspirations

One of the most important issues addressed by the surveys is aspirations. Each of the parents interviewed was asked: "What level of education would you like (name of the selected adolescent) to reach?" As can be seen in the graphs A2.1 to A2.4, the level of schooling that parents most want for their children is university level. But, it was found that there is a strong stratification of aspirations depending on socio-economic level (in the city of Buenos Aires and in Mexico City) and on rural or urban area (in Managua). Table A2.1 Latin America and Caribean (Buenos Aires City, Mexico City and Managua). Basic socio-demographic and economic characteristics of the parents and teenagers interviewed, 2009 (%)

Characteristics of the adults interviewed	Buenos Aires	Mexico City	Managua	
of the adults interviewed				
Woman	61	61	53	
Between 19 and 29	3	2	4	
Between 30 and 44	52	70	53	
Between 45 and 59	43	25	36	
60 or older	2	2	7	
Married or with a partner	72	85	84	
Separated or divorced	19	9	10	
Widowers	5	2	2	
Single	4	3	5	
Public sector employee	12	21	17	
Housewife	25	36	32	
Boss or employer	5	5	2	
Self employed	23	22	29	
Employee in the private sector	29	15	16	
Domestic help	6	1	3	
de los jóvenes				
Women	46	47	48	
Age (average)	14.8	14.9	15.0	
Makes three meals a day	86	85	89	
Under-weight	1	1	4	
Over-weight	33	44	36	
Goes to school	93	90	89	
Goes to private school	34	15	35	
Works	32	20	22	
de los hogares				
High socio-economic level ¹	8	13	15	
Medium socio-economic level	42	34	42	
Low socio-economic level	50	53	43	
Federal Capital / Federal District / Urban area ²	22	55	43	

as 10 x 6 (ten questions to generate six categories of socio-economic level, which were later grouped into three). In each of the ten questions, a score is assigned to each answer, so that the sum of the ten questions generates a total that allows us to situate a household in one of the six strata. This mechanism is used by survey agencies in Mexico. The ten questions include the schooling of the person that earns most of the household income. In the case of the City of Buenos Aires and Managua, a logical route procedure was followed to classify households: questions were asked about the schooling and job of the person who provides most of the household income. 2. The distinction of the geographic location in the case of the City of Buenos Aires is the Federal Capital vs. Areas of the Buenos Aires suburbs (belonging to the Province of Buenos Aires); in Mexico City, this refers to the Federal District (vs. municipalities belonging to one of the states bordering on DF). In Managua, on the other hand, the <u>distinction is in terms</u>

of the states bordering on DF). In Managua, on the other hand, the distinction is in terms of urban area vs. rural area.

Although most low stratum parents aspire to a university education for their children (62% in Mexico City and 57.2% in Buenos Aires), there is still a large proportion of this stratum (31% in Mexico City and 41.7% in Buenos Aires) that only aspire to a complete secondary education for their children (equivalent to high school graduate in Mexico City and the final years of the secondary cycle in Buenos Aires). In the rural areas of Managua, 25.7% of parents aspire to their children completing high school (equivalent to 11 years of schooling) and 72.1% hope they go to university. The proportions in the urban area of Managua are 11.7% and 83.1% respectively. As for aspiring to higher levels of education, it was found that a greater percentage of parents in Mexico City, mainly from high stratum households, hope that their children will do post-graduate studies (18.8%).

Selected references

Altamirano, A. and I. Soloaga. 2009. Resultados básicos de la Encuesta sobre desigualdad intergeneracional: Ciudad de Buenos Aires, Ciudad de México y Managua. Support document for the Regional Human Development Report for Latin America and the Caribean 2010.



Source: HDR Team based on the surveys of households conducted for this Report in Buenos Aires, Mexico City and Managua.

Graph A2.2 Mexico City. Parents' schooling aspirations for their children by socio-economic level (SEL), 2009 (%)



purce: HDR Team based on the surveys of households conducted for this Report in Buenos Aires, Mexico City and Managua.

Graph A2.3 Managua. Parents' schooling aspirations for their children by socio-economic level (SEL), 2009 (%)



Source: HDR Team based on the surveys of households conducted for this Report in Buenos Aires, Mexico City and Managua.

Graph A2.4 Managua. Parents' schooling aspirations for their children by area, 2009 (%)



Level of schooling aspired to

Source: HDR Team based on the surveys of households conducted for this Report in Buenos Aires, Mexico City and Managua.

APPENDIX 3

1. National Reports on Human Development in Latin America (up to June 2010)

Country	Title	Focus of the Report
Argentina	Human Development Report Argentina 1995	Defines important thematic areas for Argentina: the degree of freedom, justice, com- munications, education, health, nutrition, employment, demographics, income and market access. Presents a study of the different dimensions of social life in order to visualise the theoretical framework of human development and compare it with our social reality, measured by the available statistics.
Argentina	Human Development Report Argentina 1996	This report analyses relationship between human development and economic growth and the role of the State in three key aspects: employment, childhood and regional balances. Human development is also considered from the regional perspective of Mercosur and the impact of migratory currents. The index is also calculated for the provinces of Buenos Aires, Mendoza, Neuquén, Catamarca and Entre Ríos. There is also an appendix with information about youth employment in the country and in each of the provinces of Argentina.
Argentina	Human Development Report Argentina 1997	The main issue is local government. It puts forward a proposal on local management from the point of view of human development. To that end, an analysis is conduc- ted of the Argentine municipalities, their history and their political organisation. Mo- reover, the report highlights successful experiences of growth in human development on a municipal level and includes province-wide statistical information.
Argentina	Human Development Report Argentina 1998	This report explores the values needed to construct a national identity. It was drawn up as a nationwide report and also for the provinces of Chaco, Chubut, Entre Ríos, Mendoza, Salta, San Luis, Santa Cruz, Tierra del Fuego and the City of Buenos Aires and includes a gender disparity index. A survey was conducted for the report on the identity of the Argentines, society's assessment of the family, neigh- bours, the community and the factors of power (such as the church, the media, etc.).
Argentina	Human Development Report Argentina 1999	This Report presents a proposal to improve human development and estimates the costs. The report focuses on the state of health and education and these dimensions' impact on human development. It includes nationwide information and also reports on the following provinces: City of Buenos Aires, Chaco, Chubut, Entre Ríos, Formosa, Jujuy, La Pampa, Mendoza, Salta, San Luis, Santa Cruz and Tierra del Fuego.
Argentina	Contributions to Human Develop- ment in Argentina, 2002	The document is organised into three lines: i) the territorial pattern of human deve- lopment in Argentina, ii) the competitive capacities of the provinces and iii) visions of democracy in an extreme crisis situation. The central theory that underpins the report is the need to design a federal territorial strategy of human development and fiscal and social policies that turn the aspiration of a federal country into reality. This is the only way, it argues, that the relations between the nation and the provinces can be conceived in terms of co-operation and not as a bid for political power.
Argentina	Human Development Report 2005. Argentina after the crisis: a time of opportunities	This report picks up on the territorial focus adopted in the Human Development Report Argentina 2002 to explore in greater depth the analysis of the north of Argentina, the most backward region, without neglecting a review of the changes that have occurred in the main social and economic indicators of the country. This report also moves forward in the field of beliefs and aspirations in the new post-crisis setting. How do Argentines see themselves? How do they see others? What impression do they have of public institutions? What is their experience of politics? How committed are they to the law? What are their expectations with regard to their personal future and the future of the country? Questions such as these determine collective moods in a society that has left a crisis behind it that shook its economic, social, political and cultural foundations.
Argentina	Contributions to Human Develop- ment in Argentina, 2009. Volume 1	This document publishes two lines of research that make a contribution to the debate on human development in Argentina with regard to the bicentennial anniversary of Argentina's independence. The first of these shows the state of human development in the country. The second offers analyses, diagnoses and proposals for policies to deal with the problems of productive innovation.
Argentina	Contributions to Human Develop- ment in Argentina, 2009. Volume 2	This piece of research addresses residential segregation, giving priority to its size and, above all, an analysis of its effects on the population. The objective is to provide food for thought to the discussion on public policies that lead to equity in the country, for which, it opens the debate on differentiated strategies for facing increasingly unequal situations.
Bolivia	Human Development in Bolivia 1998	This document analyses the state of Human Development in Argentina from different angles. One of these angles is the municipalisation of the territory. It also presents a balance of environmental management, social fabric and economic development.
Country	Title	Focus of the Report
---------	--	--
Bolivia	Human Development Report Bolivia 2000	This Report analyses Bolivia through its people, discovering their aspirations and the values that motivate and direct their actions. Its main conclusion is that people's and communities' aspirations are more likely to come true when agreements are reached and strategic alliances forged through deliberation and mutual respect.
Bolivia	Human Development Report Bolivia 2002. Political capabilities for development.	The aim of this report is to characterise and understand the changes arising in Bolivia over the last 20 years, and to detect the trends that are emerging, thus contributing to the debate on the country's development options.
Bolivia	Human Development Report Bolivia 2004. Interculturalism and Globalization. Bolivia's Potential	The report explores the possibility of promoting human development in Bolivia in the frameworks of the new technological-information paradigm. This involves answering the question of whether a poor and backward country like Bolivia will be capable of actively becoming part of the information society. In this framework, the 2004 Report dares to suggest a "Bolivian way" towards information technology with human development, that is, a society whose wealth creation is increasingly based on the capacity to produce, process and disseminate knowledge and, above all, on the fact that said wealth be widely distributed among the members of a community, capable of operating freely under the new international rules.
Bolivia	Human Development Report Bo- livia 2007. The state of the State	This report investigated the state of the Bolivian State in two phases. The first phase asks how did we get here? And answers from a historical, ethnographical, sociological and political-administrative point of view about the construction of the Bolivian State and the "unresolved tensions" that underlie the process of national/state construction.
Brazil	Human Development Report Brazil 1996	This Report reviews the human development situation and its multiple dimensions, and it focuses on the regions and the states of the country. This report assesses Brazil's challenges in social policies and their results in terms of sustainable human development, presenting the human development index (HDI) and other indicators for three levels of analysis: states, regions and nation.
Brazil	Human Development Report Brazil 1998	Published together with the Atlas on human development in Brazil, this report pre- sented: i. The concept of sustainable human development and the human develop- ment index; ii. An analysis of the human development index trends in Brazil from 1970 to 1996; and iii. The concept, methodology and an analysis of the living conditions index (LCI) and the human development index by municipalities in Brazil from 1970 to 1996.
Brazil	Human Development Report Brazil 2001	Along with presenting the human development index by city (over 150 neighbour- hoods), the report presents an in-depth analysis of the ten priority areas of human development in the city of Rio de Janeiro: Living conditions, population, health, en- vironment, violence, human settlement, transportation, education, income and social perception.
Brazil	Human Development Report Brazil 2005. Racism, Poverty and Violence.	This Report analyses racial inequalities in areas like income, education, health, employment, housing and violence, and concludes that the Afro-Brazilian population is in a worse situation in all the indexes. The study addresses the racial myths that have arisen in the course of Brazilian history – such as scientific racism and racial democracy - history and the challenges of the Afro-Brazilian movement in the country and the political poverty to which this population is subjected.
Chile	Human Development in Chile 1996	The main theme of the report is the devolution process in Chile and its implications for the spatial equity of human development. The document highlights a strong geo- graphic inequality between the Chilean regions and municipalities. For this reason, it indicates the need to consolidate and strengthen the devolution process. The human development index is calculated for each of the country's 13 regions and for the municipalities. Moreover, a special competitiveness index is calculated for the regions.
Chile	Human Development in Chile 1998. Paradoxes of Modernity: Human Security	The main focus of this report is human security. Fields such as work, social security systems, social confidence, inter-personal and social relations are studied, among others. The report identifies a significant divide between people's everyday security needs and the priorities of economic development. It highlights the importance of subjectivity in evaluating the modernisation process. For this reason, for the first time, qualitative research methods (focus groups) are used. It presents an objective and subjective human security index. For the research into perceptions and opinions of the people, it uses a national survey.
Chile	Human Development in Chile 2000: Towards a stronger society to govern the future	This report focuses on the relations that exist between people's aspirations, social ca- pital and citizenship. The main objective is to make proposals about how to construct a stronger society to govern changes. The objective of this is to identify individual and social aspirations. Governing the future is a social, rather than an individual task. There is a need to broaden the concept of human development from "individual ca- pabilities" towards "social capabilities".

Country	Title	Focus of the Report
Chile	Human Development in Chile 2002: We, the Chileans: A cultural challenge	About to celebrate 200 years of independence, the Chileans find themselves in a situa- tion of confrontation amongst themselves. "Who are we Chileans?" and "What kind of country do we want?" The Human Development Report Chile 2002 calls for a po- pular debate about these questions, in the perspective of a human development that seeks to make people the subject and effective beneficiary of Chile's development. At this time, the country faced a cultural challenge, as what needed discussing were the practical forms of living together and the collective imagery about living together harmoniously. The report presents the results of several empirical studies, including a map of cultural activities in Chile. The research suggests that "Chilean" has become a fragmented concept. This has to do with the difficulty that Chileans would have to ex- perience life as a collective player, capable of moulding his/her future. Articulating the different experiences and representations of national harmony is a cultural challenge that must be addressed in order to lay the foundations of a national project.
Chile	Human Development in Chile 2004: Power What for and for whom?	Chile is experiencing a time of opportunities. There is a will to act to be more and bet- ter, but the objective opportunities and the subjective desire do not spontaneously or automatically translate into realising these opportunities. Capacities are required for this. Even though many lie in personal abilities and resources, all capacities come, di- rectly or indirectly, from how power is organised and distributed in society. This report is a call for a debate about power. From the point of view of this report, power is not a struggle that does not get anywhere, and that is why the question is put as to how to construct it and grow it for everybody. Power can be discussed not as an expression of a conspiratorial act, but by accentuating its dimension as a space of possibilities for human development.
Chile	Human Development in Chile 2006: "Technologies: A leap into the future?"	The central objective of this report is to observe the impact of technology on the everyday lives of the Chilean people. It seeks to move towards understanding three fundamental issues: First: What are the main challenges of the general spread of new technologies? Second: To what extent is their use being effectively harnessed to expand individual and collective capacities? And third: What social capacities are required to make the most of their potential? Can technologies be the instrument for a qualitative leap in development? Together with the new opportunities, there are tasks that remain to be done, such as tackling inequality, reinforcing civil society and the bridging the distance between the people and the State. To what extent do these traits of Chilean society represent an obstacle, not only to mass access to technology, but also to achieving its full potential? Or on the contrary, can these technologies be the instruments that will finally enable us to successfully overcome these scourges of development?
Chile	Human Development in the Chil- ean rural world 2008. Six million on new paths.	The objective of this report is to explore the transformation of the rural world over the last 50 years and identify how the people of the countryside live and how they are perceived. The report uses the concept of rural in a broader sense. The object of refe- rence are the territories where the preponderant economic activity is fishing, farming and livestock, whether this is in its immediate condition of activity in the natural space or in its other forms, which are just as associated with the links of the new chains of production.
Chile	Human Development in Chile 2009. The way of doing things.	This report sustains that a major obstacle to development in Chile is the way in which things are done, that is, the specific and every day practises. This arises from a diagnosis of the current situation of the country. In its institutional aspect, its economy, in its culture, Chilean society is very different today compared with twenty five years ago. The increased complexity and economic uncertainty, greater social diversity and personal autonomy, make it more and more important how people relate to one another, how they make decisions and co-operate to carry out specific actions. This report shows that the challenge of increasing the country's opportunities and of translating these opportunities into results for people is related increasingly with the importance of phenomena that occur in everyday practices, or whose consequences must be appreciated in them.
Colombia	Human Development Report Colombia 1998	This report presents and analyses the set of human development indicators proposed by UNDP: the human development index (HDI), the gender related development index (GDI) and the human poverty index (HPI). Apart from calculating these indexes for the departments of the country, the report introduces the living conditions index (LCI).
Colombia	Human Development Report Colombia 1999	Apart from up-dating the previous indicators and describing the performance of the education and health indicators, this report analyses the issues of violence, employment, inter-generational transmission of human capital, environment and political atmosphere, with emphasis on the impact of the economic slow-down on vulnerable groups.
Colombia	Human Development Report Colombia 2000	The report deals with human development and human rights, offering a panoramic view of the achievements and the difficulties faced in satisfying the rights to education, work, health, and social integration of traditionally excluded groups and citizen participation.

Country	Title	Focus of the Report
Colombia	Human Development Report Co- lombia 2003. Understand in Order to Transform the Local Roots of Conflict	This report reveals how the armed conflict, with all its complexity, has been a hammer blow to achieving greater levels of well-being for the people, it has meant turning society's gaze and finding methodological instruments for an analysis of a specific na- tional reality, in the light of human development. The main finding of the NHDR 2003 is the virtuous circle that is generated between human development as a political, economic and social theory, and the alternatives for mitigating the effects of the ar- med conflict in Colombia. The report acknowledges that the conflict has, in its origins, expansion and degradation, been an eminently countryside phenomenon; in second place, that regional diversity affects the dynamics of the conflict: and thirdly, that the armed conflict and its actors are multi-dimensional and multi-faceted. It proposes a complex and integral view of the conflict and viable and realistic alternatives.
Costa Rica (*)	Human Development Report 2005. Overcoming Fear: Citizen (In)security	The problems of law and order (or lack thereof) in Costa Rica are perceived by the population as determining factors in the deterioration of their quality of life. This entails highly serious consequences for development: it harms the exercise of essential rights of all freedoms and causes changes in people's behaviour in order that they may feel safer. The origin of the widespread feeling of insecurity has two sides: the first is the result of perception (the interaction between the media news, the image of the streets and public spaces, the stories told by relatives and friends and, in general, based on all kinds of information that can affect people's moods). The second lies in the deeds that really are crimes and which reveal, on many occasions, the insufficiency of the mechanisms of the State to guarantee the population's fundamental rights.
Cuba	Research on Human Development in Cuba 1996	This is a summary of the work conducted by Cuban authors about the contents of the di- fferent editions of the Global Report and also includes some ideas about how Cuba was treated in these reports. It highlights the basic aspects of the Cuban strategy for human development and offers a statistical exercise that makes it possible to compare the four- teen provinces of Cuba with regard to the degree of human development attained.
Cuba	Research on Human Development in Cuba 1999	This report focuses on the issue of equity. It devotes special attention to the challenges that must be faced by strategies aimed at achieving human development and equity in the current context of globalisation, and offers an over-view of the points of view of different international agencies on these issues. Furthermore, it studies the basic areas of human development and equity in Cuba, with special reference to the role of the State and social participation, issues concerning employment, income and social security; education, culture and gender; and health, housing and environment.
Cuba	Research on science, technology and human development in Cuba 2003	The central theme is the role of science and technology, underscoring their contribu- tion to meeting the Millennium Development Goals. The report presents systematic information about the different expressions and achievements of scientific and tech- nical development and their contribution to the economic, social and environmental dimensions.
Ecuador	Human Development Report Ecuador 1999	This report introduces the central elements of the paradigm of human development and goes over the issues that guide the main actions of UNDP in the world and in Ecuador, including the fight against poverty, democratic governance, gender policies and sustainable human development. The second part of the report is devoted to the core issue: devolution and human development. The report sought to make a tech- nical and objective contribution to a subject that occupied a predominant place on the national public agenda in 1998 and 1999 and on which the positions of the most representative actors in society tended to be radical (autonomies vs. devolution).
Ecuador	Information and Communication Technologies and their Effect on Human Development. Human Development Report 2001.	The main contribution of the NHDR 2001 was to put the issue of information and communication technologies (ICT) on the public agenda for discussion. This discussion had already started, especially concerning the possible advantages for commercial activity (electronic commerce), but the debate had not been addressed from a social perspective, and even less so from the point of view of human development. As a finding, many projects and initiatives were found that were being carried out in Ecuador, but anonymously and without any form of coordination. Thanks to the report, these were discovered and contacts were made between the different projects. The human development indicators (HDI, IDG, IPG, HPI) were presented.
Dominican Republic	Human Development in the Do- minican Republic 2000	One of the great challenges facing the Dominican Republic is the conciliation of the processes of reform and high economic growth with the extension of essential human capacities, in order to increase access to the opportunities by each and every one of its inhabitants. Although there has been much improvement in recent years, there are still gaps in terms of education and health. This situation highlights the need for the government to allot more resources to providing social services, in particular, basic social services. The evidence presented in the report highlights the need to continue reinforcing the rule of law, through institutional modernisation and an increase in people's participation in public decision making. Giving greater depth to the process of reform of the judicial system would translate into a fairer society with a greater capacity to respect people's rights.

Country	Title	Focus of the Report
Dominican Republic	National Human Development Report, 2005	Towards an inclusive and renovated world inclusion. For over 50 years, the Dominican Republic was the fastest growing country in the whole Latin American and Caribean region, at an average annual rate of 5.4%. However, this economic growth was not reflected to the same extent in the well-being indicators of the population. The report concludes that the cause of poverty and low relative levels of human development was not the lack of financing and economic resources, but the national political and business leaders' low level of commitment to collective progress., together with a lack of a social empowerment pact among the majority sectors of Dominican society. The consequence of this lack of commitment is that inequalities have become more acute despite the availability of resources, and the country is now in a social, economic and institutional dynamic that reinforces exclusion. This situation has been driven by a search for economic returns and political dividends, both in the short term, thus compromising the future.
Dominican Republic	Human Development Report Dominican Republic 2008.	The Dominican economy and society are caught up in an exclusionary dynamic which is rapidly exhausting itself. – based on an institutional-political model that reproduces these inequalities. Rather than resorting to external pressures or agents that bring "order" to the country, such as NAFTA or the IMF, an alternative should be sought that arises from within Dominican society, to make it legitimate and sustainable. This alternative could lie in local empowerment and development, so that there is a counter-weight to the action of the political and economic elites, and can transform the country though a process of more inclusive, participative development that respects the rule of law. This report will study the prior, concomitant and corrective conditions that must prevail for the empowerment of local agents to be positive and so that they will transform society into a fairer one, which enables the country to join the world economy efficiently, with equity and participation for all.
El Salvador	Human Development Report El Salvador 1997	This report was the first study of human development indexes in El Salvador applying the methodology developed in world reports. It focuses on developing a calculation methodology and the provides results at national, urban-rural, departmental level and by sexes, while making an in-depth analysis of the results. For the first time, the estimation of the indexes made it possible to appreciate the major territorial differen- ces in the country, in terms of human development.
El Salvador	Human Development Report El Salvador 1999. The State of the Nation	This report represents a first complete analysis of the human development situation in El Salvador. It encompasses economic, social, environmental and political aspects, placing special emphasis on two aspects: the participation of the people and human security. Some of its main findings are: a) that the country has managed to attain greater order in the macro-economic field, b) that agriculture, where poverty is con- centrated, is receding in relation to other sectors of the economy; c) that the deficits in human development, expressed in diseases, ignorance, unemployment, natural risks and violence, lack of representation in the political system and attention to the essen- tial demands of the people, dominate the panorama; d) that the divide between the urban poor and the rural poor tends to increase and e) that the excluded sectors tend to increase, with an increase in children in the streets in street gangs.
El Salvador	Human Development Report El Salvador 2001	Apart from evaluating the impact of earthquakes, this report contains an evaluation in which the main advances and challenges for human development in El Salvador are highlighted a decade after major changes. The report confirms that legal-political, economic and social changes embarked upon in the nineties have produced satisfac- tory results with regard to established objectives, consisting of initiating a process of democratic transition, strengthening macro-economic stability, reactivating economic growth and reducing poverty. The main divides and challenges identified include: the growing political polarisation, consolidation of democracy, sustained growth, equity in the distribution of income, the fight against poverty, control of crime, universal access to basic social services, environmental sustainability and legal security.
El Salvador	Human Development Report on globalization within a Gender Perspective, 2003	The main findings were divided into three sections: the transformations, challenges and options that the country had prior to embarking on opening up the country to trade and joining the globalised world by signing the Free Trade Agreement (FTA) with the United States. According to the report, El Salvador had undergone three main transformations: a change in the growth pattern (the country ceased being predominantly agricultural; substitution of the tandem agricultural exports ISI – by remittances, cross-border exports, non-traditional exports); changes in job creation re- flect the economic change; the phenomenon of migration and population changes.

Country	Title	Focus of the Report
El Salvador	Human Development Report El Salvador 2005. A look at the new us: the impact of migration	The report deals with the diverse dynamics that are being generated in Salvadoran society as a result of the international migration phenomenon. The main findings were: 1. Migration has become a way for El Salvador to participate in globalisation; 2. Migrations have helped to create an even more unknown El Salvador: in the mean time, the diagnosis and planning of a country that no longer exists has continued; 3. The ties with the migrant population offer El Salvador a historic opportunity to become a nation of high human development; 4. The country's decision for the future: that anybody who stays should enjoy the options and opportunities presented by high human development, and whoever emigrates should enjoy their full rights; 5. Culture is called upon to play a key role in the integration of the Salvadoran identity wherever this may be found. Migrations reduce poverty and inequality (thanks to remittances), but they do not eliminate its structural causes.
El Salvador	Human Development Report El Salvador 2007-2008: Employment among one of the hardest work- ing people of the world	This report discusses the importance of work and employment as a means for people to improve their living conditions in terms of human security and human develo- pment. In the area of economics, the report analyses the structure and the factors that determine the supply and demand of work and their interaction in the labour market, and the relations between how the economy behaves and job creation on a nationwide scale. It also analyses institutionality, the coverage and operation of the social security networks in the country and the challenges that these face to attain universal coverage. The final part of the report provides some elements for construc- ting a national employment and social cohesion pact, with the fundamental objective of strengthening human development, democracy and peace in El Salvador.
Guatemala	The contracts of human develop- ment, 1998	For the first time, this report presents a measure of human development (and its com- ponents: income, education and health) by departments and regions of the country. This is a major effort to make a statistical presentation of the profound differences that run through Guatemalan society. At the same level of disaggregation, it presents the social development exclusion index and the women's development index. It also includes some of the basic issues of development, such as education, health, employ- ment and fiscal policy. And finally, it analyses other aspects such as subjects of debate, which include the abuse of natural resources, violence and insecurity, political demo- cracy and multi-culturallity.
Guatemala	The rural human face of human development, 1999	The first part picks up on the issues analysed in the previous report; including the issue of employment and macro-economic conditions, and the degree of preparedness for globalisation. The second part examines rural development. The findings on political and socio-cultural changes that have occurred in recent years are important, as are the structural transformations, where the transformation of small growers and small coffee producers is highlighted. For the first time, financial services and the land market in rural areas are analysed, and an assessment is made of the effects of Hurricane Mitch on the rural development of the country.
Guatemala	The integrating power of human development. Human Develop- ment Report 2000	This report contains an analysis of the different economic, political and social manifes- tations of exclusion, taking into account the divides between rural and urban areas, men and women, and indigenous and non indigenous peoples. The exclusions suffe- red by specific groups such as the disabled, elderly adults, homosexuals, people affec- ted by AIDS, are analysed. The report starts with a reference to the historic legacy of exclusion and ends with an optimistic view of a Guatemala with less exclusion in 2020. It contains three novel issues in Guatemala: measuring poverty, the Social Dimension of Exclusion at the end of the 20th century and the Social Reponses to Exclusion.
Guatemala	Financing Human Development. Human Development Report 2001	This is an analysis of the nature of the Guatemalan State, from the point of view of tax and fiscal policy. In particular, it deals with the fiscal pact, transparency and the reform of the State. Attention is paid to public spending and, for the first time, an analysis is conducted of household spending on different dimensions (education, health, housing and water and sanitation) of human development. An assessment is made of poverty and an analysis is conducted about the concentration of income. Historic references to tax rates and the behaviour of military spending and spending on education and health are important.
Guatemala	Human Development, Women and Health. Human Development Report2002	There are two main threads running through the report: the concept of human de- velopment as the foundation for assessing the steps forward and backwards made by Guatemala and the consideration of the situation of women, bearing in mind its multiple dimensions. The report is divided into three parts: the first, with a general perspective of human development in Guatemala, with the emphasis on what happe- ned in the 1990s; the second focuses on the situation of women, bearing in mind their life cycle, that is, evaluating the condition of girls and adolescents, adult women and elderly women; and the third section deals with the health situation, bearing in mind its historic, social and economic dimensions.

Country	Title	Focus of the Report
Guatemala	Towards a National Agreement on Human Development. Human Development Report 2003	Major progress has been made in Guatemala over the last 15 years in the economic, political and social arenas. This report identifies these challenges and proposes solutions that could be driven by a new government from 2004. More specifically, and bearing in mind that the main problems are to be found in: i. Security and human rights; ii. Economic growth and iii. Social development. There has to be a drive for society to propose policies and actions as a whole in these three areas.
Guatemala	Ethnic and Cultural Diversity: Citi- zenship in a plural state. Human Development Report 2005	The report offers a set of proposals for a change of policies that the State and socie- ty could apply in facing the major problems of Guatemala. It is a text that provides support for governmental action and public policies. The NHDR 2005 addresses one of the structural issues behind the slow advance in human development in Guatema- la: the profound inequality that is systematically and historically associated with the ethnic-cultural diversity that characterises the country. It also documents the trends and changes that have occurred in the period 1994-2004 in different areas of human development for the different linguistic communities that exist in the country, and it proposes key issues, like breaking away from the association between diversity and inequality to move forwards towards a new form of organising the State and the re- lations of power between ethnically and culturally different groups.
Guatemala	Economy at the service of human development. Human Develop- ment Report 2007-2008	The purpose of this report is to help provide an answer to the following questions: Why does the Guatemalan economy not grow at a faster and more sustained rate? Why does it redistribute so little? Why does it not generate virtuous circles of human development in other spheres? What changes need to be made in policies, institutions and actors to place the economy at the service of human development and to reduce the extreme inequalities that the country suffers in matters of human development? The document raises questions as to whether the different economic policies that have been implemented in the course of Guatemalan history have served human development. It addresses structural aspects such as the role of the State in facilitating economic development without promoting human development. It examines the roles of the different actors that have always protected interests that do not always trigger capacities, which limit some freedoms and waste opportunities for human development.
Honduras	Human Development Report Honduras 1998.	The main threads of this report are equity and social integrity. The report points out that it was in the rural area and among women where inequalities have been produced and consolidated and these have prevented a progressive and horizontal integration of Honduran society.
Honduras	Human Development Report Honduras 1999. Report on the pillars of human security and participation	The pillars of human security and participation are studied. It shows the vulnerabi- lity of Honduran society as a consequence of historic social, political, economic and ecological debts, and that these make the institutions and their human capital more fragile.
Honduras	Human Development Report Honduras 2000.	For growth with equity The strands under analysis are the pillars of growth and sus- tainability, so this report analyses the possibilities and the limitations of Honduran society to make its economy grow and that this means the deployment of opportu- nities and well-being for all with growth that does not sacrifice the environmental dimension. To this end, a review is conducted of the reserve of natural resources that the country has, together with the human capital (education) and the social capital (institutions and confidence).
Honduras	Human Development Report Honduras 2002. For an inclusive democracy	The NHDR 2002 was devoted to the analysis of the process of political democratisation in Honduras over the last 20 years. Its main findings were: Honduras has reached an average level of human development. But it includes a warning that there is a ten- dency towards stagnation; political democracy in Honduras is tending to take hold. The reforms should be given continuity to fend off the dangers of a regression. The deficit of democratic legitimacy in the country is not due to the feeble achievements of economic reforms, but to favouritism and sectarianism that rules among the main actors in the political system, the political parties. Although many of the conditions that generate corruption and impunity persist, some of the foundations have been laid for a trustworthy judicial system. A basic institutionality has been created for the protection of human rights, but a citizenship culture has not been consolidated. The major challenge for its sustainability consists in strengthening the socioeconomic, ins- titutional and cultural foundations.
Honduras	Human Development Report Honduras 2003. Culture & Human development.	The report warns of a slow-down in human development. New and greater interven- tions are required to prevent slipping back. There are pronounced divides in the level of development between departments, municipalities and genders. Income remains the main factor of inequality between men and women. Although more resources have been devoted to social spending, this is still too low in comparison with Latin America and the Caribean . The sustainability of spending is at risk if economic effort and income levels do not improve. There are symptoms that show that tax revenues have given little consideration to the principle of equity. The rural-urban transition is incomplete and shows signs of great fragility. Social challenges such as HIV/AIDS, street gangs and corruption are on the rise and this is damaging the social fabric.

Country	Title	Focus of the Report
Honduras	Human Development Report Hon- duras 2006. Towards an expansion of citizenship	Towards an expansion of citizenship. The main findings of this report are: 1. The per- sistent stagnation of human development; 2. Economic reforms, although they have achieved some macro-economic goals, have not promoted an extension of citizenship, as they have not helped to significantly reduce the problems of poverty, inequality and social exclusion; 3. The reforms of the State require greater celerity and effecti- veness to revert institutional fragility and lack of credibility in the eyes of the people; 4. Honduran citizenship is increasingly restricted to private life and it is losing the capacity for collective action on society and development, but it does have social ties that have major potential for reversing this tendency and for promoting human de- velopment; 5. Citizenship is threatened by social violence and lack of law and order in the streets; 6. For Hondurans, emigrating abroad is an option for off-setting the limited framework of existing options and opportunities in the country. In contrast, important reasons not to migrate prevail, which represent a valuable asset for the expansion of citizenship, such as the conviction that remaining in the country helps to "make the country work".
Honduras	Human Development Report Honduras 2008-2009.	The report analyses and reflects on the varied forms of social exclusion faced by young Hondurans, and suggests political measures, programmes and projects for social inclusion, the construction of young citizenship and human development. The report advocates fighting the main forms of social exclusion that limit the real potential of young people, and fostering their participation in designing, executing and monitoring programmes and projects aimed at making them strategic players in development.
Mexico	Human Development Report Mexico 2002	The first national report explains the meaning of the concept of human development, it proposes a measurement for it – by federal entity, with an internationally comparable methodology – and describes the state and the evolution of inequality in development through its different dimensions during the second half of the 20th century. The central result indicates that regional inequalities persist in Mexico. On the other hand, contrasts between regions of the country are observed. The central challenge consists of eliminating regional inequalities by promoting growth, so that the regions of the south-southeast can exploit their human development potential. This suggests better focused policies for education and health and investment in infrastructure to foster a connection with world markets and greater investment.
Mexico	Human Development Report Mexico 2004	The second national report starts with an analysis of the regional inequalities shown in the 2002 report, based on the municipal human development index, to propose a local view of human development. The central theory states that a large part of inequality between individuals and between regions in the country is due to the local dynamic in economic, social and institutional terms. It also proposes that it is possible to have an impact on this with specific public policies at municipal and state levels.
Mexico	Human Development Report Mexico 2006-2007: Migration and human development	It explores the relations between human development and migration in different dimensions: Migration and HDI; Internal migration and local conditions; Effects of migration on health and education; International migration and remittances; and Mi- gratory policy. It is considered important to study the effect that migration has on human development, due to the fact that there are precedents that suggest a stringent analysis should be conducted in this matter, such as for example: In Mexico, more than 3.5 million people changed their place of residence between 1995 and 2000, approximately 3.6% of the censored population in 2000. Practically one in a hundred Mexicans crosses the borders of his/her state to change residence each year. 10% of all Mexicon natives reside in the United States, one seventh of the work force born in Mexico works in the United States and the international remittances sent are the equivalent of 3.5% of the GDP in 2005.
Nicaragua	Human Development in Nicara- gua 2000. Equity to overcome vulnerability	This shows the situation of the country in matters of opportunities and divides that exist for capacity building and for enjoying greater levels of well-being for the Nica- raguan people. The population and its state of health, education, employment and income were analysed for the vital dimensions for capacity building. This evaluation included the human development index, which showed how much the country has advanced and what still remains to be done to attain greater levels of human deve- lopment. Globalisation, the family, environment and the political context were consi- dered as the most important issues as elements of the surroundings that facilitate or hinder the promotion of human development.
Nicaragua	Human Development Report Nicaragua 2002.	This report focuses its analysis on what Nicaraguans miss and their goals, and the spaces that they identify for making the dreams and projects come true: the family, school, work, the community and the country. It highlights the contrast between the aspirations and the opportunities to be found in these spaces. It attempts to explore the main socio-cultural factors that facilitate or hinder the realisation of these aspirations. It tries to identify the main elements that hinder or facilitate Nicaragua's take off towards a society with higher levels of human development.

Country	Title	Focus of the Report
Nicaragua	Human Development Report Nica- ragua 2005: The autonomous re- gions of the Caribean Coast. Does Nicaragua accept its diversity?	IThis report offers elements and points of view that are a call to Nicaraguan society to clear away the "historic differences" and to build a multi-cultural state that recognises its wealth of diversity without fear. Coastal autonomy is a valuable conquest, a pending opportunity and a possible challenge. Within this context, the report shows that the inhabitants of the Caribean Coastal autonomous communities (Indigenous, Afro-Nicaraguan and ethnic communities) want to make their economic, cultural, administrative and political autonomy a central element for attaining sustainable human development and for the sustainable human development of the whole of Nicaragua. To achieve this, the divides in human development have to be overcome, and there has to be support for the personal and collective capacities of people, especially the capacities of those groups that have been historically excluded.
Panama	National Human Development Report Panama 2002. Commitment to Human Develop- ment: A National Challenge	This report places its emphasis on three sub-themes: education and poverty, social spending and investment and the human groups in a state of vulnerability. This snap-shot reveals that even if Panama has mid-to-high levels of human development, there are districts that lag far behind and are left out of development. Of all these, the top priority groups are the indigenous peoples, whose poverty is not only profound, but also complex, because there are communities with multiple deficits, which are clearly revealed in the very voices of the indigenous groups. The unequal distribution of schooling compromises job opportunities. To address these profound inequalities and poverty, the report proposes major challenges, to whit:: institutional reforms, public policies focused on vulnerable groups, dynamic and sustained economic growth, reduction of inequalities in service quality with regard to multi-culturality, citizen participation and fostering a new ethical culture of national solidarity.
Panama	National Human Development Report 2004. From invisibility to a leading role: the voice of the young people	This NHDR deals with the issue of young people in Panama,. It studies what it is "to be young" in a globalised, diverse world, with a crisis in traditional values and immersed in a society whose democracy is plagued by inequality and poverty. Furthermore, the report seeks to understand the potential of this heterogeneous group and what role they can play as leaders of social change. The report suggests that it is urgent to esta- blish the conditions and to build channels of communication so that young people can make the journey from invisibility to playing a lead role.
Panama	National Human Development Report Panama 2007. Institutions and Human Development	This report's central hypothesis is that the process of reform of the Panamanian State will remain incomplete until the legally constituted laws become processes of change at the level of the people's everyday lives. To this end, the report uses the image of an iceberg to illustrate that beneath the visible horizon, i.e., the formal laws, there is another reality that cannot be seen, but it is experienced and is important to understand. These are the informal or unwritten laws. Obviously, challenging the hypothesis involves, in principle, recognising the kind of State that exists and the kind of State that is desirable for human development. Institutionality is decisive for reversing poverty and the lack of opportunities that curb the country's human development. The report confirms that the people are quite clear about what the main challenges or problems of the country are. It also detected their frustration in the face of the persistent delay in constructing lasting solutions.
Paraguay	Human Development Report Paraguay 1995	This report presents an analysis of the national situation from a gender perspective. Its topics are especially related to the main issues of the Beijing Summit.
Paraguay	National Human Development Report Paraguay 2003. Develop- ment of people, by people and for the people	The theme of the report is a general analysis of development in Paraguay, based on a human development focus. The social, economic and political indicators have tended to improve in recent decades. However, a lack of economic growth since the second half of the 90s and the problems of under-employment and unemployment have helped to aggravate poverty and inequalities.
Paraguay	National Human Development Report Paraguay 2008. Equity for development.	This report refers to inequalities as an obstacle to human development in Paraguay. This is the central theme, and it is addressed from three perspectives: An analysis concerning how the State works as a generator and a reducer of inequalities. To this end, an analysis is conducted of the State from the point of view of New Statehood (PRODDAL). It analyses the exercise of citizenship by the Paraguayan people from the point of view of full citizenship (PRODDAL) and how this exercise has an impact on the kind and levels of inequality. Finally, it addresses the quality of economic growth and its relations with inequalities. For this purpose, it takes on board the idea of the HDR 1996 on economic growth with quality. Furthermore, an analysis is conducted of the complexity and the dynamism of inequalities and their historic background in Paraguay. It also presents the different indexes of human development, disaggregated by departments and municipalities.

Country	Title	Focus of the Report
Peru	Human Development Report Peru 1997	This report presents a description of the UNDP human development approach, and a discussion of the advances that have been made since the nineties in the field of economic performance, employment and its associated variables, education, health and the environment, and personal and social security. Furthermore, the report presents four cases of striking progress and the lessons learned from them. The report is rounded off with a calculation of the departmental HDI for 1991, 1993 and 1995, of gender and poverty indexes, and a departmental security index for the 24 departments of the country, as well as sector-wide statistics of human development.
Peru	Human Development Report 2002	For the first time in Peru, the HDI is presented on a provincial level (194). It describes the style of development that has led to a high level of capital centralism and coastal advance, at the expense of the rest of the country. The report verifies that development only spreads on the condition that the mechanisms of the State and of the market are articulated. Structural differences and disparities mean that the country requires public policies that reflect the real situation of each region. The second strand of the paper is to identify Potentials. These are understood as the optimum use of unexploited resources or capital. The quantitative approach makes it possible to address another form of "reading" reality, a more pro-active way, with the involvement of all social actors. The NHDR offers elements for dealing with the main structural problems that drive the country's human development. It considers the contradiction between poverty and potentials and the measures – in the economic and social sphere – that should be taken into consideration in order to harness the potentials that generate human development.
Peru	Human Development Report Peru 2005. Let's make competitiveness an opportunity for everybody.	This report pinpoints the key elements of UNDP's approach that have clear implica- tions for defining policies. The first aspect, which is summarised in the diagram of "chain competitiveness" in Chapter 1, indicates that external, global demand causes successive demands on a smaller scale, insofar as the exportable supply is oriented so as to ensure efficient internal articulation; competitiveness can and should really be a chain of demands and of returns for the entire national population. Chapter 5 pre- sents an empirical effort that demonstrates a causal order, a sequence of development at the local level (in a sample of 181 districts of the country). This empirical model, starts with social variables as the basis, includes variables of competitiveness as inter- mediaries, and ends with the final effect on local development, to then start again on the virtuous circle of development. The report also presents a new indicator; "the algorithm of human development" HDA, which evaluates in percentages advances in the satisfaction of the basic needs for human development: health, food, housing, education, employment and retirement.
Peru	Human Development Report Peru 2006. Towards decentralisation of citizenship.	The central purpose of this report is to analyse the process of reinstalling democracy within the framework of the current efforts to devolve the system of government and achieve regional integration. The report was divided into two volumes:. In the second half of 2005, a broad examination was conducted of Peruvian democracy – which included two important essays and the largest survey of politics that has been carried out in the country – which was published in 2006 (before the presidential elections).
Peru	Human Development Report Peru 2009. For the transcendence of the State at the service of the people	The report consists of two volumes that explore a vision of the State from two angles: The first volume analyses the conception of the State as a provider of basic services throughout Peru and the second volume explores the conception of the State under a geographic criterion.
Uruguay	Human Development in Uruguay 1999	The report recognises that Uruguayan society has managed to adapt to greater chan- ges in its age structure than almost any other country of the region and that the mag- nitude of the change required in the near future will be smaller than will be necessary for the other countries of the region. The report identifies the country's main challen- ge within the labour market as the need to reach a basic stability in certain sources of well-being within a context of flexible labour markets. This means re-conceptualising the debate. On the one hand, it is necessary to dissociate flexibility from precarious- ness. Although this is not a simple task, this dissociation is a vital challenge. The report also identifies the risk of social fragmentation. To fight exclusion, poverty and the potential fracture of mid sectors and the self-exile of the upper classes, it is essential to urgently consider the policies of regional planning and reinforce public spaces as necessary components of social policies that have achieved so much for Uruguayans in areas like education, health, housing and social security.

Country	Title	Focus of the Report
Uruguay	Human Development Report Uruguay 2002	Human Development ReportUruguay 2001. International insertion, employment and human development The report contextualises events in the labour market with the effects of major changes in recent decaedes in Uruguay's kind of international in- sertion. These changes have had an impact on the social situation, which, in turn in the mid- and long terms, will have an impact on the social dynamic, fed by economic performance. In the nineties, economic growth was positive: per capita income increased at an an- nual rate of 3%, within a context of growing exposure of national production to international competition. One of the necessary questions is whether this growth translates into an improvement in social indicators. Analysing and interpreting these ties in the particular case of Uruguay is the purpose of the 2001 edition of the Natio- nal Human Development Report. The challenge considered is, then, to design active policies aimed at the labour market that will mitigate the negative effects of the new scheme of incentives that arises from the process of international insertion and the opening of the economy, without contradicting it, in a part of the labour market that includes most of the population.
Uruguay	Human Development in Uruguay 2005. Uruguay: towards a knowl- edge based development strategy	The objective of the report is to analyse the real situation of Uruguay in the face of the current asymmetric dissemination of the process of technological innovation. Chapter I details the conceptual toolbox necessary for understanding the elements involved in a process of technological innovation within a knowledge-intensive eco- nomy. Chapter II examines the advantages and disadvantages accumulated by Uru- guay to date in the process of technological innovation. Based on the analysis, a set of companies and research and development agencies with innovative dynamism were identified, which were the subjects of the survey. The results are analysed in Chapter III. The objective is to evaluate the future possibilities for overcoming the difficulties verified in the innovation process in Uruguay. Chapter IV presents the conclusions and makes some recommendation for innovation and learning policies arising from the empirical work. The chapter culminates with a reflection concerning the ties between technical change and human development.
Uruguay	Human Development Report Uru- guay 2008. Politics, policies and human development	This report examines the foundations on which human development is based in Uru- guay with emphasis on the political dimension. To this end, it works with official in- formation produced in Uruguay and information from two surveys designed for this report: a survey of the business, political and social elites of Uruguay, and a public opi- nion survey. The result is an in-depth analysis of the political institutions, the quality of democracy and the political culture of Uruguayan citizens.
Venezuela	Human Development Report Venezuela 1995.	This report examines the foundations on which human development is based in Uru- guay with emphasis on the political dimension. To this end, it works with official in- formation produced in Uruguay and information from two surveys designed for this report: a survey of the business, political and social elites of Uruguay, and a public opi- nion survey. The result is an in-depth analysis of the political institutions, the quality of democracy and the political culture of Uruguayan citizens.
Venezuela	Human Development Report Venezuela 1996	The report presents an analysis of the human development situation of Venezuela, starting with its placement within the international and Latin American contexts. The General Census of the Population and Housing 1991 made it possible to calculate the basic indicators disaggregated by sex and, from this data, a comparative analysis was done showing the divide between men and women. The report also presents a set of human development indicators for Venezuela, which provide a broad view of the social, demographic and economic situation of the country. By using the Main Components method, the components of the HDI are correlated, with a set of indicators that measure basic needs with regard to income, housing, health services, education and others. The analysis led to a different and alternative classification from the internationally proposed one of high, medium and low HD, as the federal entities were grouped in four categories.
Venezuela	Human Development Report Venezuela 1997	A set of strategies and actions are discussed for achieving HD objectives. This report contains one novelty. Following UNDP recommendations about designing the human development index for different social groups, this report calculates the HDI for popu- lations grouped according to the methodology of Basic Needs, i.e., for the Not poor or persons with Basic Needs Met, for people in a situation of poverty or people with an Unsatisfied Basic Need; and finally, for people with more than two Unsatisfied Ba- sic Needs. A methodological note was added explaining the followed in building the index. This note explains how each of the components was calculated, indicating the sources of information used. It also describes how the index for grouped populations was constructed according to the Basic Needs methodology, and an analysis of the results obtained.

Country	Title	Focus of the Report
Venezuela	Human Development Report Venezuela 1998	The central theme is human development and devolution: The first part presents the concept of human development and the evolution of the Human Development Index, disaggregated by federal entity. The report goes on to summarize of the evolution of administrative policy in Venezuela (from a centralised to a devolved system), followed by a reflection about the devolution process initiated in Venezuela in 1989 and the legal framework that supports it The education and health situation is highlighted and an analysis is made of the possibilities for municipalities to achieve HD within the framework of devolution, followed by proposals of topics for further discussion. Finally, the report includes a methodological note that explains the steps and inputs necessary for constructing the HDI and a sample calculation is presented.
Venezuela	Human Development Report Venezuela 1999	This report deals with the relations between public spending, devolution and human development. There is an analysis of the provision of public resources assigned to the social sectors in the federal entities of the country and their relation with the progress and deficits of these entities. In the first part, the report contains a synthesis of conceptual aspects of Human Development (HD), an analysis of the performance of the HDI in Venezuela from 1991 to 1996 and a general view of the relations between HD and social spending. In addition, important factors of the level and distribution of social spending are identified, such as economic growth, sources of financing and the harnessing of resources. The second part explains the financing of devolution and its relations with HD, highlighting aspects of the Organic Devolution, Delimitation and Transfer of Competence of Public Power Act, aspects directly linked to the HD of the regions.
Venezuela	Human Development Report Ven- ezuela 2000. Ways of overcoming poverty	The conceptual framework referring to the analysis of poverty from the perspective of human development, is in Chapter I, titled "Human development and poverty". Chapter II, "Focus of the Social Survey 1998. Analysis of poverty and human development", reviews the alignments of the survey and its links with the human development focus. The report's objectives, scope and limitations are explained, together with its conceptual, methodological focus and the analysis strategies that were employed. Chapter III, "Characterisation of living conditions and poverty", presents the main results of the analysis of the living conditions of the Venezuelan population.
(*) It does not include the Costa Rica State of the Nation Reports Source: HDR Team based on the Latin American Journal of Human Development, http://		

www.revistadesarrollohumano.org/

2. Other reports

Country	Title	Focus of the Report
Argentina	Human Development in the 21st century Argentina.	This report introduces the basic concepts of human development and describes and analyses the strong inter- and intra-regional disparities of late 20th century Argentina. The objective of this publication is to reach large sectors of society – in particular, the education sector – and facilitate the ownership of fundamental concepts of human development by secondary education level educators and, through them, to pass them on to the students. The report was written in collaboration with IIPE/UNESCO and presents an innovative format by introducing a range of different educational elements.
Bolivia	Human Development Report on Gender Bolivia 2003	This thematic report deals with Gender and human development and how a human development focus can help to promote processes of advancement of women and advances in the achievement of gender equity by conceiving women not only as beneficiaries of reforms, but basically as active agents in the processes of transforming their lives. This approach to the problem involves the development of public gender policies aimed mainly at constructing and developing in women the capacity to aspire, the capacity to exercise their rights to pursue their own freedom, and the capacity to play an active part in collective processes of change.
Bolivia	The Altiplano Marítimo Region and macro-regional integration, 2003	This report evaluates first of all, the competitiveness conditions of these two depart- ments, their economic restructuring guidelines and their effects on human develop- ment. The report also analyses the relations between the Bolivian Altiplano, the South of Peru and the North of Chile. The articulation of this Macro-region, which has been called the <i>Altiplano Marítimo</i> , would be a factor that would increase the human de- velopment of these three regions. The underlying idea is that the opportunities for the poorest citizens of the macro-region increase as new economic and social comple- mentarities are generated and if the processes of development are thought out in a logical, common way to the mutual benefit of all concerned.

Country	Title	Focus of the Report
Bolivia	Human Development Report in the Bolivian North Amazon Region, 2003	The aim of this study is to investigate the situation of the "north Amazon" in historic, economic, political and social terms. The region, which used to be considered peripheral and isolated, is now considering becoming a central component of globalisation and it has new potential for the development of the country, it is changing at an increasing speed, which brings new challenges. This paper seeks to explore its capacities to take on the new challenges posed by these transformations, by identifying tensions, limits and potential. The objective of this report is to present the process of change and evolution of the "north Amazon" and the trends that emerge from there to contribute to sustainable human development.
Bolivia	The Altiplano Marítimo Region and macro-regional integration, 2003	This report evaluates first of all, the competitiveness conditions of these two de- partments, their economic restructuring guidelines and their effects on human deve- lopment. The report also analyses the relations between the Bolivian Altiplano, the South of Peru and the North of Chile. The articulation of this Macro-region, which has been called the Altiplano Marítimo, would be a factor that would increase the human development of these three regions. The underlying idea is that the opportunities for the poorest citizens of the macro-region increase as new economic and social comple- mentarities are generated and if the processes of development are thought out in a logical, common way to the mutual benefit of all concerned.
Bolivia	Human Development Report in the Bolivian North Amazon Region, 2003	The aim of this study is to investigate the situation of the "north Amazon" in historic, economic, political and social terms. The region, which used to be considered peripheral and isolated, is now considering becoming a central component of globalisation and it has new potential for the development of the country, it is changing at an increasing speed, which brings new challenges. This paper seeks to explore its capacities to take on the new challenges posed by these transformations, by identifying tensions, limits and potential. The objective of this report is to present the process of change and evolution of the "north Amazon" and the trends that emerge from there to contribute to sustainable human development.
Bolivia	Human Development Report Tarija 2003	The aim of the Human Development Report on Tarija, Bolivia is to understand the change that the region is undergoing and the emerging options from the perspective of human development, and thus contribute to the production of social accords that reinforce the human development of Tarija and of Bolivia. The starting point was a balance of Tarija's human development and the main trends in the structural changes that have taken place in the region over the last decade. Secondly, an analysis was conducted of the subjective trends concerning these transformations, that is, how the people and society are experiencing this process. Third, an analysis was carried out of the political and institutional capacities to be found in Tarija, as these are the foundation for managing these changes. Fourth, the new pattern of macro-regional integration between the south of Bolivia, the north of Argentina and the north of Paraguay was explored, as this is a factor that is affected by the accelerated change occurring in Tarija. The Report closes with a balance of the opportunities, risks and challenges involved in the new possibilities that hydrocarbon resources may bring for the development of Tarija and Bolivia. Finally, some prospective scenarios for Tarija are considered.
Bolivia	Human Development Index in the Municipalities of Bolivia, 2004	In this publication, readers can find the human development indexes and other pertinent social indicators for Bolivia's 314 municipalities.
Bolivia	Human Development Report Santa Cruz and the eastern Macro-Region, 2004	This report explores trends in the process of development in Bolivia's Santa Cruz re- gion, which is the country's most dynamic region, but also one of the most affected by the current crisis The starting point of the Report is an overview of the development process in Santa Cruz over the last fifty years (chapters 1, 2 and 3) before embarking on an in-depth analysis of the structural trends that are presently contributing to its exhaustion and which makes the idea of continuity without any form of change unsustainable (chapter 4). Finally, the report argues that the eastern Macro-Region, defined as a new region, which merges Santa Cruz and La Chiquitania with the neigh- bouring states of Matto Grosso and Matto Grosso do Sul, has sufficient potential for renewed regional development inspite of the crisis and could become the territory that extends the Santa Cruz model beyond the dynamism of the integrated region (chapters 5 and 6).

Country	Title	Focus of the Report
Bolivia	Human Development Report The Bolivian Andean Region 2004	This publication considers sustainable Human Development in the city of La Paz over time, starting with social, economic and environmental aspects. The analysis is presen- ted in four parts: the first is a description of the national context, the second deals with the urban context, placing particular emphasis on local history, culture, organi- sations and institutions, social amenities and environmental problems. The third part presents an analysis of the Human Development situation in the city of La Paz with regard to demographic trends, employment problems, housing and health services, education, citizenship participation, and the specific problems faced by women and minors. The fourth part presents estimates of income distribution, poverty maps, the HDI is calculated for the city of La Paz and this is compared with other countries of the world. The last part is devoted to an analysis of potential and recommendations for human development policies for the city of La Paz.
Bolivia	Regional transformations in Bolivia in a moment of crisis and change, 2004	The UNDP has published four Human Development reports focusing on the principal regions of Bolivia, which share geographic, cultural, political and economic affinities. These reports present a set of regional indicators for the Altiplano Maritimo, the Southern Axis, the North Amazon and the Santa Cruz South West regions. These areas were chosen because of their dynamic interconnections with broader spaces that go beyond the borders of Bolivia. In this publication, we have a complete summary of all the research efforts and proposals made. This publication includes, within a single volume, all of the different views presented in the four regional studies.
Bolivia	Quality of life in Cochabamba. Regional Human Development Report 2004	Based on qualitative and quantitative data, this report applies the concept of human development from the perspective that no quality of life is effective unless it is socially and environmentally sustainable. The first part of the report defines the scenario and its people; the second and third parts re-evaluate the concepts and the measurements of sustainable nationwide human development and analyses the economic determining factors of development, its industrial, agricultural, services, commerce and transportation structure. The report then turns to the examination of the cultural determining factors, and finally, the problems of human security, of which those concerning water are of particular importance, because of the role these factors play in accentuating inequalities and weakening the productive structure. Another factor that is mentioned is coca production, because of the political and economic vulnerability that surrounds it as it is the centre of international conflicts and relations. The final chapter synthesises the conclusions and makes recommendations and proposals that aspire to helping to form a political agenda for regional development.
Bolivia	Boys, girls and adolescents in Bolivia: Four million development players, 2006	This thematic report, produced in collaboration with UNICEF and Plan Internacional, considers an alternative reading of human development in Bolivia from the perspective of capabilities, rights, opportunities and aspirations of millions of boys, girls and adolescents. 225 thousand boys and girls are born every year in Bolivia, but barely four out of every 10 survive the "obstacle course" of the first 17 years of life: Surviving the first year of life, going through childhood without suffering chronic nutritional problems, finishing primary and secondary education and not having to go out to work before they are 14 years old. The "obstacle course" faced by boys, girls and adolescents is marked by the social, cultural and regional heterogeneity that is characteristic of the country. There are several, rather than just one way of "being a child" in Bolivia, and neither is there a single way of imagining their human development. The challenge of the future is to move from words to actions with integral and devolved public policies that reflect the diversity of society.
Bolivia	The economy beyond gas, 2006	This Thematic Human Development Report is bold enough to consider an economy "beyond gas", an economy that generates employment and income for 3.9 of the 4 million members of the country's working population. We believe that the central challenge of our time in history is to move from a "narrow based" economy, anchored in memories of tin and the promise of gas, to a "broad based" economy, which diversifies sectors and multiplies competitive and productive players. With such a change of perspective one can glimpse the enormous potential impact on distribution and growth in favour of workers, who form the base of the productive pyramid.
Bolivia	National Police and Public Safety, 2006	This Human Development report is built entirely on the results of two surveys carried out within the framework of the "Modernisation with your Participation" Project, commissioned in early 2005 by the then "National Commission for Reforming the National Police" and driven decisively by the National Police and the Ministry of the Interior. The project included the application of a nationwide domestic survey of 2,750 members of the National Police and a survey of 3,200 citizens in urban areas of the country. After a phase of exploration, research and design, and an intensive awareness raising campaign and consultations with members of the police force, the field work for both surveys was done in October 2005 with the support of a team of professionals from the National Police and implementation by the consulting firm Ruiz & Mier.

Country	Title	Focus of the Report
Bolivia	Thematic Human Development Report: Bolivia, The other Fron- tier, 2008	Bolivia is trapped in a pattern of impoverishing growth. To date, the Bolivian economy has not been able to transform its natural resources into high quality jobs. With a long history of dependence on silver, tin, rubber and hydrocarbons, there is a development model based on few players and few sectors: Bolivia has a narrow based economy. Beyond the frontier of primary natural resources there is, however, an alternative economy, another frontier, based on environmental services, eco-tourism, forestry management, bio-trade and organic agriculture that generates jobs by conserving the environment and improving labour standards. Tens of thousands of producers, communities and associations are already building the other frontier from a wide variety of places. This report is devoted to exploring the potential of the other frontier in Bolivia and considers that natural resources do not have to be a fatality, but that they require new forms of harvesting and harnessing them.
Colombia	Human Development Report on Colombia's Coffee-Growing Axis, a pact for the region, 2004	Historically, coffee has always been considered the foundation for development in the central region of Colombia. Coffee growing has been seen as an economic model in which the presence of many small producers/growers has led to a more equitable redistribution and this sector's traditional organisation into coffee institutions represents strategic social capital. This Regional Report however, presents a detailed description of the effects of the coffee crisis on the human development of the inhabitants of the coffee-growing region. The largest contribution to this Regional Report comes from the design and implementation of a methodology for calculating the human development index (HDI) in non-capital municipalities, for which information is usually limited. Calculating the HDI for the 51 municipalities of the three departments of the Coffee Axis (for 1993, 1997, 2000 and 2002) is a pioneering effort in the region and in Colombia that lays the foundation for identifying, discussing, building a consensus around and implementing alternative public and private policies and programmes to overcome the effects of the coffee crisis, which has become the most serious threat to human development in the region. The estimates of the HDI for the 51 municipalities of the Axis show a major loss of human development in the region in the late 1990s – thus widening the region's gap compared to the national HDI index, and pinpointing what has come to be called the lost decade in terms of the human development of the coffee Axis. One of the main findings of this report reveals the large differences in the levels of development between municipalities – differences which became further accentuated after 1997 – and a high concentration of opportunities in the capitals and surrounding municipalities. The report's most important results include: the analysis of the structure and performance of the coffee rise; and which has econe the effect so is a provide the deside in terms of the population's capacity to access knowledge; low levels
Colombia	Human Development Report Valle del Cauca, 2007	The Valle del Cauca Regional Human Development Report's central theme is social in- tegration, a process which creates opportunities for building a more inclusive society in all areas - social, cultural, geographic, political and economic. The report highlights the participative process, by giving priority to extensive consultations, collegiate re- flections, broad debates and collective analysis for building diagnoses, solutions and the common production of agreements and pacts, between representative sectors of the Cauca Valley community, all proven measures for promoting Human Development in the region. The preparation and dissemination of the Regional HDR Valle del Cauca report is also an educational process that communicates values, competencies and commitments. The dynamics of the Report open spaces for collective reflection about the best characteristics and processes, respect and social values. The intent is to use mass and selective media to implement an educational campaign that highlights the importance and the value of the department's cultural diversity as a driving force of Human Development. With the co-ordination of a highly competent team of people the support of more than 10 public and private institutions of the region, the main local university and the promotion of the UNDP and other international co-operation institutions, the Regional HDR Valle del Cauca report was scheduled for publication during the second half of 2007.

Country	Title	Focus of the Report
Colombia	Human Development Report Bogota, 2008	The city is a complex object and all the distinctions that are made within it are made for the specific objective of analysing it. Based on the idea that the city is a spatial agglomeration of heterogeneous individuals, the HD Report for Bogota divides the city into four cities. Agglomeration is the starting point from which a physical city is obtained, which is the spatial structure that constitutes and connects the spaces of the city. These connections and groupings make for a constant exchange among the inhabitants; the agglomeration of heterogeneous individuals is an attracting force that generates a range of different economies and different commercial relations. This exchange is the economic and social city. Heterogeneity involves understanding the city as a political and cultural phenomenon, as a place in which different perspec- tives, ways of life and traditions, and also different interests and different needs for distributing the advantages of urban life, all converge. This latter aspect can generate conflicts and disagreements that involve the need to construct measures to prevent them, security measures and, above all, principles for living together in harmony. The Human Development Report for Bogota studies each of these four cities: physical, eco- nomic and social, political and cultural, from the perspective of human development, that is, with the aim of expanding people's opportunities to live a fully human life. The Report then deduces the rights and freedoms that the city should offer each of its inhabitants, in each of these dimensions. In the same way, the Human Development Report for Bogota opts for an extension of the public sphere, for social integration, to strengthen citizen participation and democratic politics. Because in the analysis of the change that the city has undergone, one can find not only a good example of what can be achieved with an approach that contemplates these aspects, but also a starting point for understanding the city that we live in today and, above all, the city
Mexico	Human Development Report San Luis Potosí 2005, 2006	Human Development Report San Luis Potosí, Mexico 2005 - The Human Development Report for San Luis Potosí 2005 is the first state-level study inspired by the natio- nal reports that the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) has drawn up since 2002 in Mexico. The main findings that we can find in the Report include the following: Between 1950 and 2000, the state of San Luis Potosí increased its human development index (HDI) faster than the national average; Between 2000 and 2003, the HDI of San Luis Potosí advanced by 1.5% and moved up from the 21st to the 20th place in the national rankings; As for inequality in human development, the state contributes 2% to national inequality; Twenty six municipalities of the state show a HDI lower than 0.70 points and only two municipalities can be considered to have a high level human development (HDI higher than 0.80) in accordance with inter- national standards; Despite the fact that the municipalities with the lowest human development levels in the state are considered poor in accordance with national and international standards, the enormous heterogeneity and the lower levels of develo- pment and more pronounced levels of inequality prevailing in other states mean the no municipality of San Luis Potosí is among the 50 municipalities of the country with the lowest human development.
Mexico	Human Development Report Michoacán, 2007	The objective of this project is to draw up a Human Development Report for the State of Michoacán as a first step to an in-depth analysis of central issues, such as the distribution of income as a component of regional inequality (regions, micro-regions and municipalities), health, education and other important dimensions of human development for the State. The aim of this report is also to serve as the basis for inclusive and democratic discussions about policy priorities in the state, and as a social asset for promoting equitable and sustainable development for all the inhabitants of the state.
Mexico	Human Development and Gender in Mexico 2000-2005, 2009	This edition offers an up-date based on the best and most recent information available in the country for analysis of this kind. Moreover, this document provides continuity to the analytical exploration of the issue of violence against women.
Mexico	Human Development Report Jalisco, 2009	The Human Development Report Jalisco 2009 explains the recent trends in different dimensions of development in the state; it identifies the main challenges the state faces, and highlights at the same time, a set of opportunities that could be harnessed with public, private and social action to improve the quality of life of the people of Jalisco.

Country	Title	Focus of the Report						
Mexico	Human Development and Vio- lence against women in Zacate- cas, 2007	This publication analyses violence against women in Zacatecas from the human deve- lopment perspective, which postulates that the expansion of people's options should not be restricted by social constructs that limit and discriminate against women, and in this way restrict their opportunities and freedoms, and that men and women should be considered as equal participants and beneficiaries of the transformations of their social condition.						
Mexico	Human Development and Gender Indicators in Mexico, 2006	This document offers a panoramic view that is as broad or as detailed as you want. It includes information that until recently was scattered and unconnected, and it does so using an approach that highlights gender inequality as a curb to people's full development.						
Note: The Hun nal of Human	Note: The Human Development tables or other series published by the HDI teams are not included. Source: HDR Team based on the Latin American Jour- nal of Human Development, http://www.revistadesarrollohumano.org/							

Statistical appendix

Table A1 Latin America and the Caribean. Human Development Index. 1980-2007									
HDI position 2007	Country	1980	1985	1990	1995	2000	2005	2006	2007
47	Antigua and Barbuda							0.860	0.868
49	Argentina	0.793	0.797	0.804	0.824		0.855	0.861	0.866
52	Bahamas						0.852	0.854	0.856
37	Barbados						0.890	0.891	0.903
93	Belize			0.705	0.723	0.735	0.770	0.770	0.772
113	Bolivia (Pluri-national state of)	0.560	0.577	0.629	0.653	0.699	0.723	0.726	0.729
75	Brazil	0.685	0.694	0.710	0.734	0.790	0.805	0.808	0.813
44	Chile	0.748	0.762	0.795	0.822	0.849	0.872	0.874	0.878
77	Colombia	0.688	0.698	0.715	0.757	0.772	0.795	0.800	0.807
54	Costa Rica	0.763	0.770	0.791	0.807	0.825	0.844	0.849	0.854
51	Cuba						0.839	0.856	0.863
73	Dominica						0.814	0.814	0.814
90	Dominican Repubic	0.640	0.659	0.667	0.686	0.748	0.765	0.771	0.777
80	Ecuador	0.709	0.723	0.744	0.758			0.805	0.806
106	El Salvador	0.573	0.585	0.660	0.691	0.704	0.743	0.746	0.747
74	Granada						0.812	0.810	0.813
122	Guatemala	0.531	0.538	0.555	0.621	0.664	0.691	0.696	0.704
114	Guyana						0.722	0.721	0.729
149	Haiti	0.433	0.442	0.462	0.483			0.526	0.532
112	Honduras	0.567	0.593	0.608	0.623	0.690	0.725	0.729	0.732
100	Jamaica					0.750	0.765	0.768	0.766
53	Mexico	0.756	0.768	0.782	0.794	0.825	0.844	0.849	0.854
124	Nicaragua	0.565	0.569	0.573	0.597	0.667	0.691	0.696	0.699
60	Panama	0.759	0.769	0.765	0.784	0.811	0.829	0.834	0.840
101	Paraguay	0.677	0.677	0.711	0.726	0.737	0.754	0.757	0.761
78	Peru	0.687	0.703	0.708	0.744	0.771	0.791	0.799	0.806
62	Saint Kitts and Nevis						0.831	0.835	0.838
69	Saint Lucía						0.817	0.821	0.821
91	Saint Vicent and the Grenadines						0.763	0.767	0.772
97	Surinam						0.759	0.765	0.769
64	Trinidad and Tobago	0.794	0.791	0.796	0.797	0.806	0.825	0.832	0.837
50	Uruguay	0.776	0.783	0.802	0.817	0.837	0.855	0.860	0.865
58	Venezuela (Bolivarian Republic of)	0.765	0.765	0.790	0.793	0.802	0.822	0.833	0.844
Source: UNDP (20	09a).								

Table A2 Latin America and the Caribean. Gender-related Development Index and components. 2007												
		Gender Develo Index 20	Gender-related Development Index (GDI) 2007		Life Expectancy 2007		Literacy Rate (% 15 or older) 1999–2007		Enrollment rate (%) 2007		Estimated income (PPP US\$) 2007	
HDI Position 2007	Country											
37	Barbados	30	0.900	79.7	74.0			100.2	85.8	14.735	22.830	
44	Chile	41	0.871	81.6	75.5	96.5	96.6	82.0	83.0	8.188	19.694	
47	Antigua and Barbuda					99.4	98.4					
49	Argentina	46	0.862	79.0	71.5	97.7	97.6	93.3	84.0	8.958	17.710	
50	Uruguay	45	0.862	79.8	72.6	98.2	97.4	96.3	85.6	7.994	14.668	
51	Cuba	49	0.844	80.6	76.5	99.8	99.8	110.7	91.5	4.132	8.442	
52	Bahamas			76.0	70.4			72.2	71.4			
53	Mexico	48	0.847	78.5	73.6	91.4	94.4	79.0	81.5	8.375	20.107	
54	Costa Rica	47	0.848	81.3	76.4	96.2	95.7	74.4	71.6	6.788	14.763	
58	Venezuela (Bolivarian Republic of)	55	0.827	76.7	70.7	94.9	95.4	75.7	72.7	7.924	16.344	
60	Panama	51	0.838	78.2	73.0	92.8	94.0	83.5	76.1	8.331	14.397	
62	Saint Kitts and Nevis							74.1	72.1			
64	Trinidad and Tobago	53	0.833	72.8	65.6	98.3	99.1	62.2	59.9	16.686	30.554	
69	Saint Lucía			75.5	71.7			80.6	73.8	6.599	13.084	
73	Dominica							82.7	74.5			
74	Granada			76.7	73.7			73.8	72.4			
75	Brazil	63	0.810	75.9	68.6	90.2	89.8	89.4	85.1	7.190	12.006	
77	Colombia	64	0.806	76.5	69.1	92.8	92.4	80.9	77.2	7.138	10.080	
78	Peru	65	0.804	75.8	70.4	84.6	94.9	89.9	86.4	5.828	9.835	
80	Ecuador			78.0	72.1	89.7	92.3			4.996	9.888	
90	Dominican Republic	74	0.775	75.2	69.8	89.5	88.8	76.7	70.4	4.985	8.416	
91	Saint Vincent and the Grenadines			73.6	69.4			70.3	67.6	5.180	10.219	
93	Belize			78.0	74.2			79.2	77.4	4.021	9.398	
97	Surinam	79	0.763	72.5	65.3	88.1	92.7	79.3	69.4	4.794	10.825	
100	Jamaica	81	0.762	75.1	68.3	91.1	80.5	82.0	74.3	4.469	7.734	
101	Paraguay	82	0.759	73.8	69.6	93.5	95.7	72.2	72.1	3.439	5.405	
106	El Salvador	89	0.740	75.9	66.4	79.7	84.9	74.8	73.3	3.675	8.016	
112	Honduras	95	0.721	74.4	69.6	83.5	83.7	78.3	71.3	1.951	5.668	
113	Bolivia (Pluri-national State of)	91	0.728	67.5	63.3	86.0	96.0	83.6	89.7	3.198	5.222	
114	Guyana	96	0.721	69.6	63.7			83.0	84.7	1.607	3.919	
122	Guatemala	103	0.696	73.7	66.7	68.0	79.0	67.8	73.2	2.735	6.479	
124	Nicaragua	106	0.686	75.9	69.8	77.9	78.1	72.7	71.5	1.293	3.854	
149	Haiti			62.9	59.1	64.0	60.1			626	1.695	
Source: LINDE												

Table A3 Latin America and the Caribean. Gender Empowerment Index and components. 2007									
		Gender Empower 20	ment Index (GEI) 07	Political participation (parliamentary seats)	Participation in senior official and management positions	Participation in professional and technical positions	Relation between estimated income for men and women		
HDI Position 2007	Country	Position	Value	(% of total)	(% of total)	(% of total)			
37	Barbados	37	0.632	14	43	52	0.65		
44	Chile	75	0.526	13	23	50	0.42		
47	Antigua and Barbuda			17	45	55			
49	Argentina	24	0.699	40	23	54	0.51		
50	Uruguay	63	0.551	12	40	53	0.55		
51	Cuba	29	0.676	43	31	60	0.49		
52	Bahamas			25	43	63			
53	Mexico	39	0.629	22	31	42	0.42		
54	Costa Rica	27	0.685	37	27	43	0.46		
58	Venezuela (Bolivarian Republic of)	55	0.581	19	27	61	0.48		
60	Panama	47	0.604	17	44	52	0.58		
62	Saint Kitts and Nevis			7					
64	Trinidad and Tobago	14	0.801	33	43	53	0.55		
69	Saint Lucía	51	0.591	17	52	56	0.50		
73	Dominica			19	48	55			
74	Granada			21	49	53			
75	Brazil	82	0.504	9	35	53	0.60		
77	Colombia	80	0.508	10	38	50	0.71		
78	Peru	36	0.640	29	29	47	0.59		
80	Ecuador	41	0.622	28	28	49	0.51		
90	Dominican Republic	64	0.550	17	31	51	0.59		
91	Saint Vincent and the Grenadines			18			0.51		
93	Belize	81	0.507	11	41	50	0.43		
97	Surinam	58	0.560	25	28	23	0.44		
100	Jamaica			14			0.58		
101	Paraguay	79	0.510	14	35	50	0.64		
106	El Salvador	70	0.539	19	29	48	0.46		
112	Honduras	54	0.589	23	41	52	0.34		
113	Bolivia (Pluri-national State of)	78	0.511	15	36	40	0.61		
114	Guyana	53	0.590	30	25	59	0.41		
122	Guatemala			12			0.42		
124	Nicaragua	67	0.542	18	41	51	0.34		
149	Haiti			5			0.37		
Source: UNDP (2009a).								

Table A4 Latin America and the Caribean. Health Index. 1980-2007									
HDI Position 2007	Country	1980	1985	1990	1995	2000	2005	2006	2007
37	Barbados	0.785	0.809	0.828	0.833	0.840	0.859	0.863	0.867
44	Chile	0.735	0.781	0.809	0.833	0.863	0.887	0.889	0.891
47	Antigua and Barbuda	0.698	0.715	0.731	0.748	0.766	0.781	0.784	0.786
49	Argentina	0.742	0.761	0.776	0.795	0.813	0.830	0.833	0.836
50	Uruguay	0.755	0.776	0.792	0.809	0.828	0.845	0.849	0.852
51	Cuba	0.814	0.825	0.827	0.840	0.861	0.882	0.887	0.891
52	Bahamas	0.712	0.737	0.750	0.742	0.755	0.790	0.797	0.804
53	Mexico	0.693	0.730	0.763	0.796	0.821	0.841	0.846	0.850
54	Costa Rica	0.793	0.823	0.842	0.863	0.879	0.891	0.894	0.896
58	Venezuela (Bolivarian Republic of)	0.720	0.744	0.768	0.781	0.791	0.804	0.807	0.811
60	Panama	0.750	0.774	0.786	0.802	0.822	0.836	0.839	0.842
62	Saint Kitts and Nevis	0.667	0.684	0.705	0.727	0.753	0.778	0.783	0.787
64	Trinidad and Tobago	0.706	0.719	0.732	0.734	0.725	0.729	0.733	0.737
69	Saint Lucía	0.741	0.765	0.771	0.773	0.782	0.802	0.806	0.810
73	Dominica	0.760	0.808	0.845	0.854	0.856	0.863	0.864	0.865
74	Granada	0.669	0.687	0.734	0.780	0.809	0.832	0.835	0.838
75	Brazil	0.624	0.656	0.688	0.722	0.753	0.778	0.782	0.787
77	Colombia	0.675	0.710	0.722	0.740	0.766	0.788	0.791	0.795
78	Peru	0.584	0.633	0.676	0.717	0.758	0.791	0.796	0.800
80	Ecuador	0.632	0.684	0.731	0.771	0.806	0.828	0.831	0.833
90	Dominican Republic	0.628	0.668	0.711	0.743	0.766	0.784	0.787	0.790
91	Saint Vincent and the Grenadines	0.681	0.713	0.738	0.751	0.756	0.767	0.771	0.774
93	Belize	0.762	0.781	0.787	0.799	0.819	0.841	0.846	0.851
97	Surinam	0.680	0.697	0.706	0.715	0.718	0.724	0.726	0.729
100	Jamaica	0.756	0.763	0.770	0.772	0.767	0.771	0.774	0.778
101	Paraguay	0.696	0.705	0.717	0.732	0.751	0.771	0.775	0.778
106	El Salvador	0.522	0.577	0.682	0.730	0.742	0.762	0.767	0.771
112	Honduras	0.574	0.640	0.690	0.725	0.755	0.775	0.779	0.783
113	Bolivia (Pluri-national State of)	0.449	0.512	0.563	0.602	0.633	0.662	0.667	0.673
114	Guyana	0.597	0.606	0.619	0.623	0.636	0.674	0.683	0.691
122	Guatemala	0.537	0.576	0.621	0.666	0.712	0.744	0.748	0.752
124	Nicaragua	0.558	0.594	0.652	0.706	0.744	0.782	0.789	0.795
149	Haiti	0.427	0.458	0.499	0.542	0.569	0.590	0.595	0.600
Source: UNDP (20	09a).								

Table A5 Latin America and the Caribean. Education Index. 1980-2007									
HDI Position 2007	Country	1980	1985	1990	1995	2000	2005	2006	2007
37	Barbados						0.945	0.945	0.975
44	Chile	0.835	0.839	0.866	0.871	0.897	0.918	0.918	0.919
47	Antigua and Barbuda							0.920	0.945
49	Argentina	0.856	0.885	0.906	0.907		0.945	0.946	0.946
50	Uruguay	0.845	0.881	0.895	0.897	0.926	0.953	0.955	0.955
51	Cuba	0.902	0.879	0.883	0.873	0.914	0.952	0.976	0.993
52	Bahamas						0.880	0.878	0.878
53	Mexico	0.791	0.791	0.801	0.809	0.843	0.874	0.879	0.886
54	Costa Rica	0.793	0.808	0.833	0.835	0.853	0.881	0.882	0.883
58	Venezuela (Bolivarian Republic)	0.772	0.782	0.832	0.819	0.844	0.886	0.900	0.921
60	Panama	0.819	0.814	0.814	0.828	0.867	0.886	0.887	0.888
62	Saint Kitts and Nevis						0.896	0.896	0.896
64	Trinidad and Tobago	0.838	0.849	0.874	0.872	0.870	0.861	0.861	0.861
69	Saint Lucía						0.891	0.896	0.889
73	Dominica						0.855	0.848	0.848
74	Granada						0.884	0.884	0.884
75	Brazil	0.700	0.703	0.720	0.745	0.876	0.888	0.888	0.891
77	Colombia	0.721	0.716	0.730	0.820	0.844	0.873	0.875	0.881
78	Peru	0.782	0.799	0.805	0.842	0.875	0.878	0.885	0.891
80	Ecuador	0.807	0.809	0.823	0.820			0.867	0.866
90	Dominican Republic	0.700	0.721	0.695	0.702	0.818	0.835	0.837	0.839
91	Saint Vincent and the Grenadines						0.817	0.817	0.817
93	Belize			0.694	0.712	0.704	0.769	0.762	0.762
97	Surinam						0.843	0.848	0.850
100	Jamaica					0.797	0.827	0.830	0.834
101	Paraguay	0.702	0.706	0.789	0.810	0.843	0.871	0.871	0.871
106	El Salvador	0.553	0.566	0.679	0.691	0.709	0.800	0.798	0.794
112	Honduras	0.562	0.583	0.577	0.581	0.745	0.806	0.806	0.806
113	Bolivia (Pluri-national State of)	0.615	0.637	0.744	0.762	0.857	0.892	0.892	0.892
114	Guyana						0.947	0.939	0.939
122	Guatemala	0.435	0.446	0.450	0.586	0.655	0.702	0.709	0.723
124	Nicaragua	0.575	0.567	0.567	0.592	0.739	0.758	0.760	0.760
149	Haiti	0.351	0.377	0.411	0.489			0.578	0.588
Source: UNDP (2009a).								

Table A6 Latin America and the Caribean. Income Index. 1980-2007									
HDI Position 2007	Country	1980	1985	1990	1995	2000	2005	2006	2007
37	Barbados						0.866	0.866	0.866
44	Chile	0.674	0.668	0.709	0.763	0.786	0.811	0.817	0.823
47	Antigua and Barbuda	0.694	0.747	0.818	0.819	0.837	0.856	0.876	0.873
49	Argentina	0.780	0.746	0.730	0.771	0.783	0.791	0.803	0.815
50	Uruguay	0.730	0.692	0.719	0.745	0.758	0.765	0.776	0.788
51	Cuba						0.683	0.706	0.706
52	Bahamas						0.886	0.886	0.886
53	Mexico	0.785	0.782	0.780	0.777	0.810	0.816	0.822	0.826
54	Costa Rica	0.703	0.680	0.699	0.724	0.743	0.761	0.772	0.782
58	Venezuela (Bolivarian Republic)	0.802	0.770	0.771	0.781	0.771	0.777	0.791	0.801
60	Panama	0.708	0.718	0.695	0.723	0.744	0.764	0.775	0.790
62	Saint Kitts and Nevis	0.650	0.680	0.746	0.781	0.805	0.820	0.826	0.830
64	Trinidad and Tobago	0.839	0.806	0.781	0.786	0.823	0.884	0.903	0.911
69	Saint Lucía	0.629	0.635	0.718	0.732	0.744	0.759	0.762	0.765
73	Dominica	0.599	0.640	0.688	0.699	0.720	0.725	0.729	0.729
74	Granada	0.585	0.601	0.662	0.666	0.715	0.722	0.712	0.717
75	Brazil	0.732	0.722	0.723	0.735	0.739	0.750	0.754	0.761
77	Colombia	0.668	0.670	0.694	0.711	0.705	0.724	0.733	0.743
78	Peru	0.695	0.678	0.643	0.673	0.681	0.705	0.716	0.728
80	Ecuador	0.687	0.676	0.678	0.683	0.678	0.712	0.717	0.719
90	Dominican Republic	0.590	0.588	0.595	0.613	0.661	0.676	0.690	0.702
91	Saint Vincent and the Grenadines	0.557	0.595	0.640	0.645	0.682	0.705	0.715	0.725
93	Belize	0.595	0.577	0.633	0.658	0.682	0.700	0.704	0.703
97	Surinam	0.711	0.681	0.673	0.666	0.670	0.711	0.720	0.727
100	Jamaica	0.642	0.632	0.667	0.693	0.686	0.696	0.699	0.686
101	Paraguay	0.631	0.621	0.626	0.636	0.616	0.621	0.625	0.633
106	El Salvador	0.643	0.613	0.619	0.652	0.662	0.668	0.672	0.678
112	Honduras	0.567	0.555	0.557	0.564	0.571	0.593	0.600	0.607
113	Bolivia (Pluri-national State of)	0.616	0.581	0.581	0.595	0.606	0.615	0.620	0.624
114	Guyana	0.512	0.476	0.461	0.517	0.540	0.544	0.540	0.555
122	Guatemala	0.620	0.590	0.595	0.611	0.624	0.628	0.632	0.638
124	Nicaragua	0.561	0.544	0.498	0.493	0.519	0.534	0.538	0.542
149	Haiti	0.520	0.493	0.476	0.418	0.423	0.405	0.406	0.408
Source: UNDP (200									

Table A7 Latin America and the Caribean.Contribution to human development by components.2007 (%)

Country	Health index	Education index	Income index
Trinidad and Tobago	29	34	36
Antigua and Barbuda	30	36	34
Bolivia (Pluri-national State of)	31	41	29
Saint Kitts and Nevis	31	36	33
Bahamas	31	34	35
Guyana	32	43	25
Surinam	32	37	32
Barbados	32	36	32
Venezuela (Bolivarian Republic of)	32	36	32
Argentina	32	36	31
Brazil	32	37	31
Uruguay	33	37	30
Colombia	33	36	31
Saint Lucía	33	36	31
Peru	33	37	30
Mexico	33	35	32
Panama	33	35	31
Saint Vincent and the Grenadines	33	35	31
Chile	34	35	31
Jamaica	34	36	30
Dominican Republic	34	36	30
Paraguay	34	38	28
Granada	34	36	29
El Salvador	34	35	30
Cuba	34	38	27
Ecuador	34	36	30
Costa Rica	35	34	31
Dominica	35	35	30
Guatemala	36	34	30
Honduras	36	37	28
Belize	37	33	30
Haiti	38	37	26
Nicaragua	38	36	26
Source: HDR Team based on UNDP dat	ta (2009a).		

Table A8 Lat	in America al	nd the Ca	ribean (20	countrie	es). Willennium I	Developm	ient Goals			
		Err	adicate extren	ne poverty	and hunger		Attain univ	ersal primar	y education	
	Percentage of national consumption of the poorest quintile	(%	"Prevalence o 6 of children a <u>c</u>	f infant mal Jend under	nutrition 5-year old)"		"Pri (%	mary Complet of populatio	ted " n)"	
	(latest year available)	1990-96	2002-2008	GOAL	Degree of Progress	1991	2006-2007	GOAL	Degree of Progress	
Argentina	3.5	5.4	3.8	2.7	Sufficient	n.d.	99.1	100	n.d	
Bolivia	1.8	15.7	6.0	7.9	Good	n.d.	97.7	100	n.d	
Brazil	3.0	5.7	4.6	2.9	Insufficient	93	106.0	100	Good	
Chile	4.1	1.6	0.7	0.8	Good	n.d.	94.8	100	Good	
Colombia	2.3	8.4	7.0	4.2	Insufficient	70	106.6	100	Good	
Costa Rica	4.2	2.8	n.d.	1.4	n.d	78.9	91.4	100	Sufficient	
Dominican Republic	3.9	10.4	4.0	5.2	Good	61	88.9	100	Good	
Ecuador	3.4	n.d.	9.4	n.d.	n.d	91	106.0	100	Good	
El Salvador	3.3	11.2	10.3	5.6	Insufficient	41	90.9	100	Good	
Guatemala	3.4	26.6	22.7	13.3	Insufficient	n.d.	77.1	100	Insufficient	
Haiti	2.5	26.8	22.2	13.4	Insufficient	27	n.d.	100	n.d	
Honduras	2.5	18.3	11.4	9.2	Good	64	88.7	100	Insufficient	
Jamaica	5.2	8.6	4.0	4.3	Good	90	90.9	100	Insufficient	
Mexico	4.6	n.d.	5.0	n.d.	n.d	88	104.5	100	Good	
Nicaragua	3.8	11.9	6.9	6.0	Good	42	74.2	100	Insufficient	
Panama	2.5	7.0	7.0	3.5	Insufficient	86	98.8	100	Good	
Paraguay	3.4	3.7	4.2	1.9	Insufficient	68	94.8	100	Sufficient	
Peru	3.9	3.9 10.8 5.4 5.4 Good				n.d.	103.9	100	Good	
Uruguay	ruguay 4.5 4.4 4.9 2.2 Insufficie						103.7	100	Good	
Venezuela	4.9	7.7 5.2 3.9 Sufficient				43	97.7	100	Good	
Global	n.d.	n.d.	23.9	0	Insufficient	79	96	100	Insufficient	
Latin America	a n.d. n.d. 5.1 0 Insufficient					82	100	100	Good	

Reduce the proportion of people suffering hunger by half

Boys and girls all over the world can finish a full cycle of primary education by 2015

Note: Good: represents an advance of over 75% in comparison with the established goal; Sufficient: Represents and advance of over 50% but under 75%; Insufficient: Represents an advance of less than 50% of the established objective. * The information for Venezuela is for 2005. Sources: ECLAC World Development Report (2008). UNSTAT.

	Promote g	gender eq	uality	F	Reduce ir	nfant mo	rtality		Improve	maternal	health		Fight HIV and other diseases
Genc boys a	ler equalit nd girls. s ed	ty (relatio econdary ucation)	n between and primary	(Infan Deaths p	t mortali er 1.000	ty births)	Maternal mortality (deaths per 100.000 births)	Deliveri	es attende (% o	ed by qua f total)	lified staff	Prevalence of HIV (% of the population 15-49 years old)
1991	2006	GOAL	Degree of Progress	1990	2009	GOAL	Degree of Progress	2005	1990-95	2000- 2008	GOAL	Degree of Progress	2007*
n.d.	102	100	Good	30	16	10	Sufficient	77	96	99	100	Good	0.5
n.d.	98	100	Good	127	54	42	Good	290	47	66	100	Insufficient	0.2
n.d.	103	100	Good	59	22	20	Good	110	70	97	100	Good	0.6
100	98	100	Good	23	9	8	Good	16	100	100	100	Sufficient	0.3
108	104	100	Good	36	20	12	Sufficient	130	85	96	100	Good	0.6
101	102	100	Good	23	11	8	Good	30	98	99	100	Insufficient	0.4
n.d.	104	100	Good	66	33	22	Good	150	150 92 98 100 Sufficier		Sufficient	1.1	
n.d.	100	100	Good	56	25	19	Good	210	99	n.d.	100	n.d	0.3
102	99	100	Good	66	18	22	Good	170	87	92	100	Insufficient	0.8
n.d.	92	100	Insufficient	80	35	27	Good	290	35	41	100	Insufficient	0.8
95	n.d.	100	n.d	152	72	51	Good	670	21	26	100	Insufficient	2.2
106	109	100	Good	58	31	19	Sufficient	280	47	67	100	Insufficient	0.7
102	101	100	Good	34	31	11	Insufficient	170	n.d.	97	100	n.d	1.6
97	99	100	Good	47	18	16	Good	60	84	93	100	Sufficient	0.3
109	102	100	Good	70	27	23	Good	170	61	74	100	Insufficient	0.2
n.d.	101	100	Good	31	23	10	Insufficient	130	86	91	100	Insufficient	1.0
98	99	100	Good	43	28	14	Sufficient	150	66	77	100	Insufficient	0.6
96	101	100	Good	86	24	29	Good	240	53	71	100	Insufficient	0.5
n.d.	106	100	n.d	24	14	8	Sufficient	20	n.d.	n.d.	100	n.d	0.6
105	103	100	Good	33	18	11	Sufficient	57	n.d.	95	100	n.d	0.7
n.d.	95	100	n.d	95	75	n.d.	n.d	411	n.d.	62	100	Sufficient	0.9
99	101	100	Good	54	31	18	Sufficient	130	n.d.	87	100	Good	0.6
Elimina in prin prefera of ed	ate inequa nary and s ably by 2 ucation b	tween sexes / education, at all levels : the latest	Reduce by tw 2015	e under 10 thirds	5-year o betweei	ld mortality 1 1990 and	"Reduce By	maternal n between 2015, achio to reproc	nortality k 1990 and eve unive ductive he	by three (2015 rsal acce ealth"	quarters ss	Have stopped and started to reduce the propagation of HIV/ AIDS in 2015	

Table A9 Latin America and the Caribean (24 countries). Years of education.

	Total	Adults (25-65)	Adult Men (25-65)	Adult Women (25-65)		Total	Adults (25-65)	Adult Men (25-65)	Adult Women (25-65)		Total	Adults (25-65)	Adult Men (25-65)	Adult Women (25-65)
Argent	tina (EP	HC)			Colom	bia				Ecuado	or			
2003	8.3	10.8	10.6	11.0	Natio	nal ENH				ECV				
2004	8.4	10.8	10.7	11.0	1996	5.1	6.7	6.7	6.6	1994	6.2	7.0	7.2	6.8
2005	8.2	10.5	10.4	10.6	1999	5.5	7.0	7.1	7.0	1995	5.7	7.5	7.7	7.3
2006	8.3	10.6	10.5	10.7	2000	5.5	7.2	7.2	7.2	1998	6.0	7.8	8.1	7.6
2007		10.7	10.6	10.9	Nation		7.2	7.2	7.4	1999	6.0	7.9	8.1	1.1
2008		10.8	10.7	11.0	2001	5./	7.3	7.2	7.4	ENEIVI	74	0.4	0.6	0.2
2009 Dolivia	(Netio	10.9	10.8	11.1	2003	5.8	7.5	7.5	7.0	2003	7.1	8.4 9 E	8.0 9.7	8.3 0.4
1007		nal)	7.0	6.1	2004	ol CEIN	1.1	1.1	1.1	2004	7.5	0.5	0.7	0.4
1000	5.8	7.0	7.9	6.2	2006		7.0	7.0	7.0	2005	7.5	0.0	0.0	0.4
2000	6.3	7.2	0.5	6.6	Costa	0.4 Rica	7.9	7.9	7.5	2000	7.5	8.7	8.9	8.5
2000	6.2	7.5	8.4	6.0	1990	5.0	69	7.0	6.8	2007	73	8.4	85	83
2001	6.2	7.4	8.1	6.4	1992	5.0	7 1	7.0	7.1	El Salv	ador	0.4	0.5	0.5
2002	0.2	1.2	0.1	0.4	1997	5.5	7.5	7.5	7.5	1991	4.1	4.7	5.2	4.3
2003- 04	6.2	7.2	8.3	6.3	2000	6.1	7.4	7.5	7.4	1995		5.2	5.7	4.8
2005		7.7	8.8	6.8	2001	5.9	7.9	8.0	7.9	1996		5.3	5.9	5.0
2006		8.0	8.3	6.5	2002	6.0	8.1	8.1	8.0	1998	4.3	5.9	6.4	5.6
2007	7.3	8.6	9.7	7.7	2003	6.8	8.2	8.2	8.2	1999	4.9	6.1	6.6	5.7
Brazil	(New w	ith rural no	orth)		2004	6.8	8.2	8.2	8.2	2000	4.9	6.2	6.7	5.8
2004	5.4	6.8	6.7	7.0	2005	7.0	8.4	8.4	8.4	2001	5.1	6.3	6.8	5.9
2005	5.6	7.0	6.8	7.1	2006	6.7	8.4	8.3	8.5	2002	5.2	6.5	6.9	6.1
2006	5.8	7.2	7.0	7.4	2007	6.8	8.5	8.5	8.5	2003	5.3	6.7	7.1	6.3
2007	6.0	7.5	7.3	7.7	2008		8.6	8.6	8.7	2004	5.3	6.6	7.2	6.2
2008	6.1	7.6	7.4	7.8	2009		8.7	8.6	8.8	2005	5.4	6.7	7.2	6.3
Chile					Domin	ican Re	public			Guate	mala			
1987	6.7	8.5	8.7	8.2	ENFT 1					ENCO\				
1990	6.9	8.9	9.1	8.8	1996	5.4	7.3	7.6	7.1	2000	3.6	4.0	4.7	3.3
1992	6.5	8.5	8.6	8.3	1997	4.6	6.4	6.5	6.4	2006	4.3	4.8	5.4	4.3
1994		9.2	9.4	9.0	ENFT 2					ENEI				
1996	7.2	9.5	9.7	9.3	2000	5.6	7.4	7.4	7.4	2002	4.0	4.2	4.8	3.6
1998	7.4	9.8	10.0	9.6	2001	5.6	7.4	7.4	7.4	2003	4.2	4.5	5.2	3.8
2000	7.6	10.0	10.1	9.8	2002	5.8	7.6	7.5	7.7	2004	4.1	4.3	4.9	3.8
2003	8.7	10.5	10.6	10.4	2003	5.9	7.8	7.7	7.9	Hondu	ras			
2006	8.9	10.6	10.7	10.5	2004	6.1	8.0	7.8	8.1	1992		4.9	5.1	4.7
					2005	6.1	7.9	7.7	8.1	1997	4.2	5.0	5.1	4.9
					ENFT 3		7.0			1999	4.3	5.1	5.2	5.0
					2005		7.9	7.7	8.1	2001	4.5	5.4	5.5	5.4
					2006		8.1	7.9	8.3	2003	3.7	5.1	5.1	5.1
					2007		ō.Z	ö. I	8.4	2004	4.0	5.4	5.4 E.4	5.5
										2005	4.1	5.5	5.4	5.5
										2000	4.2	5.5	5.5	5.5
										2007	4.4	5.0	5.0	5.7

	Total	Adults (25-65)	Adult Men (25-65)	Adult Women (25-65)		Total	Adults (25-65)	Adult Men (25-65)	Adult Women (25-65)		Total	Adults (25-65)	Adult Men (25-65)	Adult Women (25-65)
Mexic	0				Peru					Venez	Jela (Bo	livarian Re	p. of)	
1989	5.5	6.1	6.7	5.6	ENAH	D 1				1989	4.9	7.1	7.3	6.9
1992	5.7	6.4	6.9	5.9	1997	5.2	7.3	8.0	6.6	1992	5.2	7.5	7.6	7.4
1996	6.1	7.1	7.6	6.6	1998	5.6	8.0	8.8	7.4	1995	5.6	7.7	7.7	7.7
1998	6.2	7.2	7.7	6.8	1999	5.4	7.9	8.7	7.1	1998	5.9	8.1	8.0	8.2
2000	6.6	7.7	8.2	7.3	2000	5.3	7.1	7.7	6.6	1999	5.9	8.2	8.1	8.2
2002	6.7	7.7	8.1	7.3	ENAH					2000	6.0	8.1	8.0	8.2
2004	6.8	8.0	8.4	7.6	2001	5.9	7.9	8.6	7.2	2001	6.1	8.4	8.2	8.5
2005	7.0	8.1	8.5	7.7	2002	6.1	8.2	8.9	7.6	2002	6.2	8.4	8.2	8.5
2006	7.1	8.4	8.8	8.0	ENAH					2003	6.2	8.4	8.2	8.6
2008	6.9	8.4	8.7	8.1	2003	6.1	8.0	8.8	7.3	2004	6.3	8.5	8.3	8.7
Nicara	igua				2004	6.4	8.4	9.1	7.7	2005	6.5	8.7	8.5	9.0
1993	3.9	4.6	4.8	4.4	2005	6.4	8.4	9.0	7.7	2006	6.7	9.0	8.6	9.3
1998	4.3	5.1	5.3	5.0	2006	6.6	8.6	9.2	7.9	Baham	ias			
2001	4.6	5.3	5.4	5.2	2007	6.7	8.8	9.5	8.2	2001	13.0	13.3	13.2	13.4
2005	5.1	5.8	5.8	5.8	Urugu	ay				Belize				
Panam	ia				Urban					1993		7.7	7.7	7.6
1989	5.4	8.1	8.0	8.2	1989	6.4	8.1	8.4	7.8	1994		7.6	7.6	7.6
1991	6.3	8.4	8.2	8.5	1992	7.6	8.7	8.8	8.7	1997	5.6	8.0	8.0	7.9
1995	6.4	8.9	8.7	9.1	1995	7.1	8.7	8.7	8.7	1998	5.8	8.1	8.2	8.0
1997	6.7	9.2	9.0	9.3	1996	7.2	8.9	8.9	8.9	1999	6.7	8.1	8.2	8.0
1998	6.7	9.2	9.1	9.3	1997	7.2	8.9	8.8	8.9	Guyan	a			
2001	6.6	8.9	8.7	9.1	1998	7.4	9.2	9.2	9.3	1992		7.5	- 4	7.0
2002	6.6	9.1	8.9	9.4	2000	7.7	9.2	9.2	9.3	1993	6.0	7.3	7.4	1.2
2003	6.8	9.3	9.1	9.5	2001	7.3	9.3	9.1	9.5	Haiti				
2004	6.9	9.5	9.3	9.7	2002	7.4	9.4	9.2	9.6	2001	4.9	4.7	5.6	4.0
2005	7.0	9.5	9.3	9.7	2003	7.4	9.5	9.3	9.7	Jamaio	a			
2006	7.1	9.6	9.4	9.8	2004	7.6	9.7	9.5	9.8	1990	7.3	8.2	8.3	8.1
Parag	Jay				2005	7.6	9.7	9.5	9.9	1996	7.7	9.7	9.6	9.7
1995	4.3	6.4	6.7	6.2	Nation	nal				1999	7.3	9.4	9.3	9.5
1997	4.6	6.6	6.7	6.5	2006	7.3	9.3	9.0	9.5	2001		9.6	9.5	9.6
1999	4.8	6.8	7.0	6.6	2007	7.4	9.4	9.1	9.6	2002	7.3	9.4	9.2	9.5
2001	5.1	7.0	7.2	6.9	2008		9.3	8.9	9.6	Surina	m			
2002	5.2	6.9	7.0	6.9						1999	8.3	10.6	10.5	10.6
2003	5.4	7.4	7.5	7.2										
2004	5.7	7.3	7.4	7.2										
2005	5.8	7.8	7.9	7.7										
2006	5.7	7.6	7.7	7.4										
2007	6.0	7.9	8.0	7.8										
2008		8.0	8.1	7.9										

Table A10 Latin America and the Caribean (20 countries). Gini coefficient of the distribution of years of education; by age group

	(25-65)	(10-20)	(21-30)	(31-40)	(41-50)	(51-60)	(61+)		(25-65)	(10-20)	(21-30)	(31-40)	(41-50)	(51-60)	(61+)
Argenti	na (EPHC)							Colomb	ia						
2003	0.218	0.215	0.162	0.192	0.230	0.251	0.277	ENH Na	tional						
2004	0.216	0.209	0.157	0.197	0.221	0.250	0.273	1996	0.380	0.290	0.287	0.342	0.411	0.455	0.498
2005	0.217	0.206	0.166	0.194	0.218	0.252	0.293	1999	0.372	0.277	0.276	0.328	0.395	0.459	0.521
2006	0.216	0.204	0.163	0.192	0.217	0.251	0.287	2000	0.370	0.278	0.270	0.327	0.385	0.460	0.530
2007	0.211	0.202	0.155	0.190	0.213	0.247	0.283	ECH Nat							
2008	0.209	0.205	0.154	0.189	0.212	0.242	0.277	2001	0.365	0.272	0.260	0.317	0.383	0.442	0.518
2009	0.206	0.201	0.152	0.186	0.208	0.239	0.277	2003	0.365	0.269	0.255	0.329	0.377	0.447	0.521
Belize								2004	0.357	0.259	0.248	0.312	0.373	0.448	0.503
1993	0.249	0.154	0.207	0.233	0.263	0.291	0.345	GEIH Na							
1994	0.256	0.161	0.216	0.246	0.260	0.296	0.362	2006	0.357	0.250	0.234	0.318	0.358	0.446	0.524
1997	0.228	0.207	0.195	0.212	0.231	0.273	0.279	Costa R	ica						
1998	0.232	0.208	0.191	0.212	0.234	0.279	0.314	1990	0.346	0.262	0.242	0.298	0.381	0.463	0.524
1999	0.227	0.208	0.190	0.210	0.243	0.261	0.314	1992	0.330	0.250	0.238	0.281	0.361	0.444	0.503
Bolivia	(Plurinati	onal State	e of)					1997	0.309	0.252	0.244	0.262	0.321	0.401	0.491
1997	0.444	0.281	0.297	0.393	0.479	0.564	0.684	2000	0.315	0.249	0.265	0.272	0.304	0.408	0.521
1999	0.434	0.340	0.286	0.382	0.457	0.560	0.696	2001	0.308	0.248	0.259	0.269	0.298	0.390	0.489
2000	0.417	0.271	0.287	0.364	0.436	0.570	0.676	2002	0.303	0.243	0.260	0.267	0.291	0.376	0.486
2001	0.419	0.260	0.281	0.360	0.447	0.560	0.694	2003	0.297	0.239	0.249	0.267	0.286	0.363	0.477
2002	0.418	0.257	0.289	0.362	0.451	0.534	0.671	2004	0.298	0.235	0.254	0.271	0.284	0.347	0.481
2003-	0 415	0 239	0 264	0 360	0 448	0 543	0 690	2005	0.291	0.230	0.247	0.267	0.280	0.339	0.465
2004		01200	0.201	0.000		010 10	0.000	2006	0.293	0.232	0.244	0.270	0.278	0.341	0.465
2005	0.399	0.233	0.251	0.351	0.426	0.515	0.665	2007	0.286	0.227	0.237	0.267	0.273	0.326	0.466
Brazil (N	lew PNAI) with rur	al north)					2008	0.286	0.229	0.239	0.271	0.274	0.323	0.453
2004	0.389	0.283	0.270	0.340	0.396	0.492	0.604	2009	0.283	0.229	0.235	0.271	0.271	0.313	0.445
2005	0.382	0.278	0.257	0.336	0.389	0.482	0.598	Dominio	an Reput	olic					
2006	0.370	0.274	0.243	0.326	0.378	0.466	0.587	ENFT 1							
2007	0.368	0.285	0.244	0.326	0.379	0.454	0.579	1996	0.378	0.287	0.273	0.335	0.402	0.471	0.559
2008	0.357	0.282	0.225	0.314	0.370	0.445	0.577	1997	0.432	0.338	0.321	0.391	0.477	0.495	0.619
Chile								ENFT 2							
1987	0.303	0.237	0.207	0.271	0.328	0.371	0.446	2000	0.394	0.297	0.290	0.339	0.426	0.477	0.591
1990	0.285	0.234	0.195	0.243	0.313	0.362	0.439	2001	0.389	0.285	0.285	0.332	0.421	0.474	0.590
1992	0.279	0.243	0.200	0.229	0.301	0.346	0.428	2002	0.383	0.284	0.284	0.328	0.410	0.466	0.576
1994	0.273	0.163	0.178	0.222	0.295	0.352	0.417	2003	0.371	0.274	0.279	0.302	0.405	0.467	0.566
1996	0.259	0.231	0.169	0.210	0.277	0.346	0.420	2004	0.360	0.263	0.270	0.302	0.392	0.451	0.546
1998	0.250	0.231	0.160	0.204	0.261	0.335	0.414	ENFT 3							
2000	0.241	0.226	0.154	0.200	0.241	0.322	0.403	2005	0.365	0.263	0.271	0.314	0.385	0.457	0.542
2003	0.213	0.216	0.136	0.178	0.207	0.279	0.320	2006	0.359	0.258	0.259	0.308	0.379	0.452	0.545
2006	0.206	0.210	0.123	0.164	0.197	0.262	0.320	2007	0.348	0.250	0.240	0.294	0.362	0.457	0.540

Source: Socio-Economic Database for Latin America and the Caribean (SEDLAC) (2010).

	(25-65)	(10-20)	(21-30)	(31-40)	(41-50)	(51-60)	(61+)		(25-65)	(10-20)	(21-30)	(31-40)	(41-50)	(51-60)	(61+)
Ecuado	r							Hondu	ras						
ECV								1992	0.498	0.325	0.352	0.436	0.542	0.650	0.707
1994	0.388	0.253	0.264	0.356	0.426	0.464	0.547	1997	0.487	0.311	0.366	0.432	0.512	0.636	0.705
1995	0.376	0.242	0.255	0.331	0.415	0.458	0.545	1999	0.478	0.297	0.362	0.430	0.505	0.607	0.713
1998	0.356	0.232	0.243	0.309	0.386	0.454	0.531	2001	0.464	0.309	0.347	0.424	0.488	0.591	0.706
1999	0.358	0.244	0.250	0.309	0.382	0.477	0.535	2003	0.474	0.306	0.360	0.432	0.494	0.592	0.713
2006	0.330	0.240	0.241	0.279	0.348	0.424	0.523	2004	0.459	0.304	0.355	0.410	0.483	0.569	0.703
ENEMD	U							2005	0.457	0.297	0.351	0.418	0.481	0.548	0.691
2003	0.340	0.254	0.248	0.293	0.352	0.429	0.520	2006	0.448	0.320	0.352	0.406	0.463	0.547	0.684
2004	0.337	0.253	0.246	0.290	0.351	0.417	0.511	2007	0.442	0.322	0.343	0.394	0.467	0.542	0.675
2005	0.333	0.260	0.246	0.284	0.343	0.418	0.506	Jamaic	a						
2006	0.327	0.246	0.238	0.276	0.332	0.409	0.504	1990	0.201	0.172	0.111	0.172	0.185	0.200	0.248
2007	0.327	0.248	0.242	0.278	0.333	0.405	0.507	1996	0.163	0.204	0.102	0.109	0.176	0.233	0.241
2008	0.321	0.241	0.234	0.270	0.322	0.390	0.489	1999	0.197	0.207	0.132	0.146	0.207	0.257	0.226
El Salva	dor							2001	0.194	0.210	0.152	0.142	0.192	0.260	0.245
1991	0.573	0.383	0.441	0.517	0.607	0.694	0.770	2002	0.163	0.206	0.105	0.114	0.160	0.229	0.227
1995	0.537	0.458	0.415	0.486	0.565	0.638	0.739	Mexico							
1996	0.530	0.447	0.406	0.486	0.547	0.634	0.731	1989	0.444	0.273	0.314	0.414	0.468	0.534	0.625
1998	0.486	0.358	0.359	0.431	0.521	0.606	0.707	1992	0.428	0.264	0.303	0.390	0.463	0.523	0.622
1999	0.480	0.342	0.352	0.428	0.511	0.595	0.697	1996	0.398	0.257	0.266	0.352	0.441	0.530	0.633
2000	0.476	0.339	0.343	0.430	0.498	0.578	0.696	1998	0.389	0.244	0.260	0.335	0.433	0.522	0.608
2001	0.467	0.331	0.330	0.424	0.488	0.572	0.690	2000	0.370	0.235	0.251	0.318	0.392	0.504	0.609
2002	0.458	0.324	0.327	0.412	0.474	0.565	0.678	2002	0.365	0.228	0.250	0.298	0.389	0.496	0.607
2003	0.447	0.323	0.327	0.399	0.477	0.569	0.703	2004	0.348	0.228	0.242	0.282	0.374	0.458	0.589
2004	0.446	0.319	0.320	0.402	0.486	0.547	0.681	2005	0.343	0.223	0.239	0.279	0.364	0.451	0.576
2005	0.444	0.309	0.312	0.396	0.482	0.552	0.684	2006	0.328	0.214	0.236	0.278	0.335	0.438	0.567
Guatem	ala	01000	01012	0.000	01102	01002	01001	2008	0 324	0.206	0.229	0 270	0 327	0.418	0 548
ENCOVI								Nicara		0.200	0.225	0.270	0.527	0.110	0.5 10
2000	0.624	0.428	0.491	0.582	0.659	0.751	0.789	1993	0.528	0.414	0.387	0.504	0.588	0.668	0.731
2006	0.560	0.368	0.433	0.516	0.600	0.682	0.767	1998	0.493	0.377	0.382	0.441	0.546	0.644	0.699
ENEI	01000	0.000	01100	0.010	0.000	0.002		2001	0.481	0.361	0.379	0.426	0.526	0.625	0.673
2002	0.598	0.411	0.445	0.571	0.655	0.740	0.769	2005	0.473	0.340	0.360	0.412	0.505	0.583	0.686
2003	0.570	0.384	0.431	0.536	0.612	0.726	0.781	Panam	a	010 10	01000		0.000	0.000	0.000
2004	0.575	0.375	0.460	0.521	0.618	0.697	0.748	1989	0.330	0.565	0.228	0.292	0.350	0.417	0.469
2001	01070	0.070		0.021	0.010	0.007		1991	0.325	0.243	0.229	0.282	0.348	0.406	0.479
								1995	0 301	0 237	0.223	0.257	0 325	0 389	0 461
								1997	0.297	0.239	0.223	0.255	0.314	0.379	0.465
								1998	0.293	0.237	0.224	0.243	0 313	0.372	0 444
								2001	0 306	0 256	0 251	0 256	0 316	0 382	0 450
								2001	0 301	0.251	0.246	0.250	0.296	0.371	0.451
								2002	0.296	0.247	0.240	0.261	0.290	0.361	0.456
								2003	0.200	0.239	0.230	0.257	0.205	0.354	0.447
								2004	0.250	0.230	0.230	0.256	0.202	0.3//	0.447
								2005	0.207	0.230	0.223	0.253	0.270	0.344	0.442
								2000	0.201	012 72	0.225	0.235	0.274	0.540	0.727

Table A10 (continue

	e D	6	6	6	6	6	~
	(25-6	(10-2	(21-3	(31-4	(41-5	(51-6	(61+
Paragua	ly						
1995	0.361	0.288	0.281	0.335	0.374	0.424	0.498
1997	0.368	0.259	0.297	0.333	0.371	0.416	0.478
1999	0.348	0.270	0.280	0.310	0.359	0.407	0.479
2001	0.355	0.272	0.283	0.327	0.364	0.406	0.507
2002	0.339	0.246	0.272	0.303	0.338	0.405	0.491
2003	0.341	0.256	0.265	0.304	0.353	0.401	0.481
2004	0.336	0.245	0.261	0.304	0.333	0.397	0.479
2005	0.329	0.250	0.249	0.295	0.339	0.379	0.454
2006	0.327	0.258	0.248	0.287	0.331	0.380	0.456
2007	0.319	0.249	0.229	0.284	0.324	0.374	0.448
2008	0.322	0.248	0.239	0.294	0.317	0.370	0.442
Peru							
ENAHO							
1997	0.375	0.323	0.254	0.314	0.405	0.512	0.557
1998	0.369	0.269	0.242	0.315	0.387	0.512	0.567
1999	0.380	0.268	0.245	0.321	0.390	0.508	0.588
2000	0.376	0.249	0.254	0.312	0.373	0.506	0.583
ENAHO							
2001	0.372	0.257	0.248	0.316	0.386	0.506	0.583
2002	0.353	0.250	0.235	0.302	0.366	0.473	0.565
2003	0.379	0.263	0.259	0.309	0.403	0.517	0.597
ENAHO	3						
2004	0.351	0.246	0.233	0.294	0.355	0.473	0.585
2005	0.351	0.250	0.238	0.291	0.352	0.463	0.583
2006	0.339	0.240	0.223	0.284	0.352	0.438	0.566
2007	0.330	0.238	0.225	0.276	0.341	0.426	0.575
Urugua	y						
Urbano							
1989	0.284	0.229	0.204	0.244	0.273	0.302	0.371
1992	0.266	0.224	0.190	0.219	0.262	0.292	0.318
1995	0.265	0.204	0.182	0.217	0.258	0.298	0.361
1996	0.260	0.203	0.181	0.214	0.249	0.294	0.363
1997	0.257	0.208	0.177	0.215	0.248	0.284	0.361
1998	0.247	0.216	0.177	0.212	0.238	0.280	0.347
2000	0.242	0.217	0.185	0.213	0.231	0.268	0.337
2001	0.244	0.209	0.192	0.218	0.235	0.269	0.329
2002	0.241	0.210	0.191	0.217	0.234	0.266	0.324
2003	0.237	0.212	0.191	0.214	0.229	0.262	0.314
2004	0.236	0.213	0.191	0.214	0.224	0.261	0.320
2005	0.236	0.214	0.191	0.214	0.229	0.258	0.325
2006	0.235	0.221	0.194	0.213	0.229	0.259	0.322

	(25-65)	(10-20)	(21-30)	(31-40)	(41-50)	(51-60)	(61+)
Venezue	ela (Boliva	arian Rep.	of)				
1989	0.357	0.274	0.261	0.310	0.383	0.480	0.639
1992	0.338	0.268	0.252	0.293	0.352	0.449	0.597
1995	0.328	0.260	0.249	0.289	0.338	0.436	0.580
1998	0.309	0.257	0.242	0.271	0.318	0.399	0.554
1999	0.309	0.252	0.243	0.275	0.316	0.393	0.540
2000	0.314	0.249	0.249	0.274	0.321	0.404	0.553
2001	0.306	0.250	0.244	0.269	0.311	0.383	0.531
2002	0.305	0.249	0.242	0.268	0.314	0.378	0.542
2003	0.305	0.246	0.244	0.267	0.311	0.376	0.529
2004	0.300	0.246	0.239	0.264	0.305	0.368	0.515
2005	0.291	0.252	0.230	0.256	0.295	0.353	0.502
2006	0.284	0.249	0.226	0.252	0.288	0.341	0.477

Table A11 Latin America and the Caribean (20 countries). Distribution of workers by employment post. kind of
company and employment category (%)

										Emplo	oyment Ca	tegory		
									Foi	rmal			Informal	
	Employn	nent posit	ion		Kind of	Company			Employe	es.	Self-employed	Employees	Self-employed	Workers
	Businessman	Employee	Self-employed	No income	Large	Small	Public	Businessmen	Large companies	Public Sector	Professionals	Small Companies	Unqualified	Without income
Argentina (EPHC)													
2004	3.9	74.6	20.0	1.5	32.1	48.7	19.3	4.1	30.5	19.3	3.2	23.7	17.7	1.6
2005	3.9	74.8	20.3	1.1	33.2	48.6	18.2	4.1	31.6	18.1	3.6	23.7	17.7	1.1
2006	4.0	75.5	19.5	1.0	35.2	47.1	17.7	4.2	33.8	17.7	3.3	22.9	17.1	1.1
2007	4.5	/6.1	18.4	1.1	37.0	46.4	16.6	4.7	35.2	16.6	3.2	23.1	16.1	1.1
2008	4.5	76.5	18.1	0.9	36.6	46.9	16.5	4.8	35.2	16.5	3.1	23.3	16.2	0.9
2009 Rolizo	4.6	75.9	18.7	0.7	36.9	46.3	16.7	4.8	35.5	16.7	3.3	22.8	16.2	0.8
1993	6.2	70 7	20.1	3.0				12 7			1 2		40.2	6.2
1994	7.0	69.5	19.0	4.4				14.1			1.2		37.3	8.9
1997	8.3	64.7	22.6	4.4				16.8			2.0		43.5	8.8
1998	8.4	66.9	20.5	4.0				17.4			1.6		40.9	8.3
1999	8.2	65.2	23.2	3.4				16.3			2.0		44.4	6.7
Bolivia (Na	tional)													
1997	5.2	28.5	35.9	30.4	19.3	73.9	6.8	5.3	12.1	6.8	1.3	8.0	35.4	31.0
1999	2.8	29.8	39.2	28.2	23.5	69.9	6.6	2.8	12.9	6.6	1.2	10.4	38.0	28.2
2000	1.9	31.0	41.2	26.0	22.5	70.1	7.4	2.0	14.1	7.4	1.2	7.6	41.0	26.7
2001	2.1	31.6	35.0	31.3	27.9	64.6	7.4	2.2	13.5	7.4	1.3	8.6	34.9	32.3
2002	4.3	30.4	35.6	29.7	27.2	65.9	6.9	4.4	12.3	6.9	1.3	9.7	35.2	30.3
2003-2004	4.7	34.5	35.4	25.4	24.5	68.5	7.0	4.8	13.9	7.0	0.9	11.7	35.6	26.2
2005	4.9	30.9	34.7	29.5	30.0	63.0	7.0	5.0	14.1	7.0	1.2	8.3	34.2	30.2
2007	5.2	36.2	32.6	25.9	30.1	61.3	8.6	5.4	15.6	8.6	1.4	9.9	32.3	26.8
Brazil (new	PNAD wit	h rural da	ita)											
2004	4.1	62.9	22.0	11.1	30.3	58.6	11.0	4.1	29.6	11.0	1.1	22.2	20.9	11.1
2005	4.2	62.7	21.6	11.4	30.6	58.5	10.9	4.2	29.9	10.9	1.1	22.0	20.5	11.4
2006	4.5	63.6	21.2	10.7	31.8	57.1	11.1	4.5	30.9	11.1	1.1	21.6	20.1	10.7
2007	3.8	64.8	21.2	10.3	32.5	56.0	11.5	3.8	31.9	11.4	1.5	21.5	19.7	10.3
2008 Chilo	4.5	65.8	20.2	9.5	34.1	54.5	11.4	4.5	33.3	11.4	1.4	21.1	18.8	9.5
1990	2.5	72 0	22.2	1 0	51.0	<i>ЛЛ Л</i>	37	2.6	/0 5	3.5	1 /	18.8	22.2	1 9
1990	3.5	73.5	22.7	1.5	49.5	36.4	14.1	3.6	46.9	9.5	0.9	16.1	22.2	1.5
1996	3.7	74.6	20.3	1.3	49.8	40.1	10.2	3.8	46.7	10.2	13	17.0	19.6	1.0
1998	4.1	74 5	20.0	1.5	15.0	10.1	10.2	4.2	10.7	10.2	1.8	18.0	18.9	1.5
2000	4.1	74.3	20.0	1.5	46.5	40.8	12.7	4.3	44.5	12.6	1.8	16.1	19.2	1.6
2003	3.9	74.2	20.4	1.5	47.7	41.0	11.3	4.1	45.9	11.2	1.8	15.7	19.7	1.6
2006	3.1	75.7	20.3	0.9	50.7	38.6	10.7	3.3	48.9	10.5	2.1	14.4	19.8	1.0

										Empl	oyment Ca	tegory		
									Fo	rmal			Informal	
	Employn	nent posit	ion		Kind of	Company			Employe		Self-employed	Employees	Self-employed	Workers
	Businessman	Employee	Self-employed	No income	Large	Small	Public	Businessmen	Large companies	Public Sector	Professionals	Small Companies	Unqualified	Without income
Colombia														
ENH Nation	nal	50.0	22.0	47	02.1	7.0		0.1		15.2	2.0		(2.2.2	0.6
1990	4.5	53.0	32.8	4.7	92.1	7.9		9.1		0.0	3.0		76.0	9.0
2000	4.0	51.1	38.5	6.1	89.7	10.3		73		16.4	3.7		62.1	10.5
ECH Nation	al	51.1	50.5	0.1	05.7	10.5		7.5		10.1	5.7		02.1	10.5
2001	4.4	49.2	40.6	5.9	93.4		6.6	8.6		0.0	4.4		75.4	11.6
2003	4.4	49.2	39.8	6.6	93.1		6.9	8.6		0.0	4.8		73.6	13.0
2004	4.4	48.7	41.0	5.9	93.2	6.8		7.6		11.2	4.8		66.2	10.2
GEIH Natio														
2006	4.5	53.4	37.7	4.4	28.7	65.1	6.2	4.5	25.5	6.2	3.3	21.0	35.0	4.5
Costa Rica														
1990	5.3	70.1	19.6	5.1	35.6	47.2	17.2	5.3	34.0	17.2	0.2	18.6	19.5	5.2
1992	4.8	71.9	19.6	3.6	38.0	45.5	16.5	4.9	36.7	16.4	0.2	18.5	19.7	3.6
1997	7.4	69.9	19.6	3.1	35.0	50.5	14.5	7.5	33.5	14.5	0.3	21.5	19.7	3.1
2000	5.7	70.8	21.0	2.6	36.3	49.4	14.4	5.8	34.8	14.3	0.3	21.2	21.1	2.6
2001	7.9	68.8	20.3	2.9	36.3	49.1	14.6	8.1	34.5	14.6	0.3	19.2	20.4	3.0
2002	7.9	68.3	20.7	3.1	35.8	49.9	14.3	8.0	33.9	14.2	0.4	19.6	20.7	3.1
2003	8.6	69.5	19.3	2.6	37.6	48.3	14.1	8.7	35.6	14.1	0.3	19.4	19.2	2.7
2004	8.1	68.8	20.7	2.4	38.5	47.3	14.3	8.2	36.5	14.3	0.3	17.6	20.7	2.4
2005	7.5	71.4	18.8	2.3	37.6	48.1	14.3	7.5	36.2	14.3	0.4	20.7	18.6	2.3
2006	7.7	70.7	19.4	2.2	38.4	47.1	14.6	7.7	37.0	14.6	0.2	18.9	19.3	2.3
2007	7.2	73.1	17.9	1.8	40.8	45.3	14.0	7.3	39.3	14.0	0.3	19.6	17.8	1.8
2008	7.5	72.9	18.1	1.6	41.3	44.4	14.3	7.6	39.8	14.3	0.3	18.5	18.0	1.6
2009	7.2	72.7	18.5	1.6	40.3	43.9	15.8	7.3	38.5	15.8	0.3	18.0	18.4	1.6

										Empl	oyment Ca	itegory		
									Foi	rmal			Informal	
	Employn	nent posit	ion		Kind of	Company			Employe	es.	Self-employed	Employees	Self-employed	Workers
	Businessman	Employee	Self-employed	No income	Large	Small	Public	Businessmen	Large companies	Public Sector	Professionals	Small Companies	Unqualified	Without income
Dominican	Republic													
ENFT 1														
1996	4.1	60.1	31.7	4.1	41.6	47.5	10.9	4.1	36.5	9.9	1.3	13.6	30.4	4.1
1997	3.6	55.6	37.0	3.9	38.8	49.9	11.3	3.6	31.3	11.2	0.9	12.8	36.2	3.9
ENFT 2														
2000	2.6	56.6	39.0	1.8	33.3	54.7	12.0	2.6	32.1	12.0	1.7	12.5	37.3	1.8
2001	3.8	54.2	40.3	1.7	31.6	56.3	12.0	3.8	30.5	12.0	1.4	11.7	38.9	1.7
2002	3.2	53.1	42.1	1.7	31.6	56.4	12.0	3.2	30.2	12.0	1.5	10.9	40.6	1.7
2003	3.5	54.6	40.2	1.8	32.1	55.9	12.1	3.5	30.9	12.1	1.9	11.6	38.3	1.8
2004	4.6	54.9	38.4	2.1	33.0	56.2	10.8	4.6	31.9	10.8	1.3	12.2	37.1	2.1
2005	4.3	52.2	39.7	3.8	30.8	57.9	11.3	4.3	29.5	11.3	1.7	11.4	38.0	3.8
2006	3.8	53.1	39.8	3.3	30.5	58.0	11.4	3.8	29.2	11.4	1.5	12.5	38.2	3.3
2007	4.2	53.7	39.0	3.2	31.7	57.0	11.4	4.2	30.3	11.4	1.6	12.0	37.3	3.2
Ecuador														
ECV														
1994	5.6	48.9	25.7	19.8	27.1	66.1	6.9	5.6	21.2	6.9	1.0	20.8	24.7	19.8
1995	6.5	46.9	25.9	20.7	27.0	65.8	7.2	6.5	21.1	7.2	0.9	18.5	25.0	20.7
1998					26.5	67.2	6.3							
1999	6.2	45.5	24.1	24.1	27.5	66.5	6.0	6.2	21.7	6.0	1.1	17.9	23.0	24.1
2006	6.5	52.8	22.0	18.7	27.4	65.9	6.7	6.5	25.3	7.5	1.5	20.0	20.5	18.7
ENEMDU														
2003	4.7	53.6	30.3	11.4	25.1	66.5	8.4	4.7	24.0	8.4	0.9	21.0	29.5	11.5
2004	6.4	49.2	29.2	15.3	24.1	68.3	7.6	6.4	22.7	7.6	0.8	18.8	28.4	15.3
2005	6.0	52.0	29.5	12.4	24.4	68.4	7.2	6.0	23.1	7.2	1.7	21.7	27.8	12.4
2006	5.7	51.2	27.4	15.7	24.7	68.3	7.0	5.7	23.5	7.0	1.5	20.7	26.0	15.7
2007	5.0	52.7	28.7	13.6	29.0	63.7	7.4	5.0	25.1	7.4	1.6	20.2	27.1	13.6
2008	5.1	54.6	28.4	11.9	9	1.9	8.1	5.2	46.4	8.0	1.6		27.0	11.9

								Employment Category						
								Formal				Informal		
	Employment position				Kind of Company				Employees		Self-employed	Employees	Self-employed	Workers
	Businessman	Employee	Self-employed	No income	Large	Small	Public	Businessmen	Large companies	Public Sector	Professionals	Small Companies	Unqualified	Without income
El Salvador														
1991	7.1	56.1	25.5	11.3	30.1	60.0	9.9	7.4	27.7	9.9	0.2	16.6	26.5	11.8
1995	6.1	56.2	28.3	9.4	91	1.3	8.7	6.1		8.7	0.3		28.0	9.4
1996	5.1	56.4	28.2	10.3	91	1.6	8.4	5.1		8.4	0.3		27.8	10.3
1998	3.2	58.4	27.4	11.0	33.9	57.1	9.0	3.2	32.0	8.9	0.6	17.5	26.8	11.0
1999	4.4	59.9	27.0	8.8	33.8	57.1	9.2	4.4	32.0	9.1	0.5	18.7	26.4	8.8
2000	5.4	56.5	29.9	8.3	32.0	58.7	9.3	5.4	29.9	9.3	0.6	17.3	29.3	8.3
2001	4.5	56.4	27.6	11.5	30.6	60.9	8.5	4.5	28.9	8.5	0.4	19.0	27.2	11.5
2002	4.6	55.6	30.4	9.4	30.7	60.8	8.5	4.6	29.5	8.5	0.5	17.6	29.9	9.4
2003	4.6	58.2	28.1	9.1	32.9	59.0	8.2	4.6	31.5	8.2	0.5	18.6	27.6	9.1
2004	4.3	59.7	28.1	7.9	32.9	59.1	8.0	4.3	31.8	8.0	0.7	19.9	27.5	7.9
2005	4.3	56.2	28.9	10.6	29.3	62.3	8.4	4.5	27.4	8.4	0.7	18.9	29.2	11.0
Guatemala														
ENCOVI														
2000	7.8	46.7	25.5	20.0	30.7	64.3	5.0	7.8	22.9	4.5	0.5	19.3	25.0	20.0
2006	3.5	48.5	28.2	19.8	27.7	67.4	5.0	3.5	24.8	5.0	0.3	18.6	27.9	19.8
ENEI														
2002	5.1	40.3	30.5	24.1	25.2	71.0	3.8	5.1	21.1	3.8	0.3	15.4	30.2	24.1
2003	5.0	44.1	29.4	21.5	25.2	70.1	4.7	5.0	22.5	4.7	0.3	16.9	29.1	21.5
2004	4.4	45.2	31.9	18.6	26.5	69.5	4.0	4.4	22.2	4.0	0.4	17.9	32.1	18.9
Honduras														
1992	8.5	49.9	30.5	11.1	26.6	63.2	10.2	8.5	24.1	10.2	0.3	15.6	30.2	11.1
1997	10.4	47.0	30.5	12.1	25.5	68.0	6.4	10.4	23.8	6.4	0.2	16.8	30.3	12.1
1999	9.4	46.7	30.9	13.0	26.4	67.4	6.2	9.4	24.1	6.1	0.2	16.5	30.7	13.0
2001	9.9	45.8	32.2	12.2	22.2	70.4	7.4	10.2	20.4	7.4	0.3	16.1	33.0	12.6
2003	8.7	49.1	31.1	11.1	22.3	71.7	6.0	9.0	21.2	6.0	0.3	20.3	31.8	11.5
2004	11.4	47.9	28.2	12.5	24.9	68.9	6.1	11.7	23.6	6.1	0.3	17.0	28.5	12.7
2005	11.0	45.7	30.0	13.3	23.6	68.3	8.1	11.3	19.7	7.0	0.3	17.5	30.5	13.7
2006	11.4	46.5	30.1	12.1	49.8	36.3	13.9	11.4	23.1	6.5	0.2	16.9	29.8	12.1
2007	13.1	47.5	27.8	11.6	46.0	39.3	14.6	13.5	21.0	6.7	0.3	18.0	28.4	12.0
Jamaica														
1990	1.1	59.5	37.2	2.2				2.8			0.1			5.5
1996	4.5	61.8	32.2	1.6	6.1	66.8	27.1	8.5		26.9	1.1		60.5	3.0
1999	3.0	60.1	34.8	2.1	3.8	71.2	25.0	5.7		24.9	0.4		65.2	3.9
2001	3.5	62.4	32.6	1.5	1.8	71.2	27.0	6.9		26.9	1.4		62.0	2.8
2002	2.7	58.1	37.7	1.5	2.4	74.9	22.7	4.9		22.6	1.1		68.6	2.8

Employment Catego	Employment Category							
Formal	Informal							
Employment position Kind of Company Employees pool	Self-employed	Workers						
Businessman Employee Self-employed No income Large Small Public Companies Public Sector Public Sector	Companies Unqualified	Without income						
Mexico								
1989 3.0 66.9 22.3 7.7								
1992 3.0 66.9 22.3 7.7								
1996 3.8 63.9 23.3 9.0 12.0 8.0 24.6 1.2	47.5	18.7						
1998 4.7 63.1 22.2 9.9 33.8 54.4 11.8 4.7 31.5 11.6 0.6 2	20.1 21.6	9.9						
2000 4.7 62.0 22.7 10.6 33.8 54.9 11.3 4.7 31.0 10.9 0.8 2	20.0 22.0	10.6						
2002 4.7 65.6 21.5 8.3 35.8 53.0 11.2 4.7 33.9 11.0 0.9 2	20.6 20.5	8.3						
2004 4.0 65.1 22.8 8.1 31.9 56.8 11.3 4.0 30.1 11.2 0.8 2	23.8 22.0	8.1						
2005 3.2 70.0 20.9 5.9 47.0 53.0 3.2 45.2 1.4 2	24.8 19.5	5.9						
2006 3.7 68.6 21.1 6.6 47.5 52.5 3.7 45.6 1.5 2	23.0 19.6	6.6						
2008 4.0 66.8 22.2 7.0 43.6 56.4 4.0 41.8 1.6 2	25.0 20.6	7.0						
Nicaragua								
1993 0.5 51.2 34.6 13.7 19.5 64.7 15.8 0.6 17.5 15.8 0.6 1	14.2 36.7	14.7						
1998 3.5 52.4 27.5 16.6 33.7 66.3 3.5 30.4 0.4 2	22.0 27.1	16.6						
2001 4.7 50.8 27.6 16.9 27.6 65.7 6.7 4.7 24.3 6.7 0.4 1	19.7 27.2	16.9						
2005 4.5 48.4 30.3 16.8 26.3 67.1 6.6 4.5 23.5 6.6 0.7 1	18.3 29.6	16.8						
Panama								
1989 2.0 61.6 30.1 6.3 27.7 49.8 22.5 2.0 26.0 22.5 0.3 1	13.0 29.9	6.3						
1991 3.3 63.0 28.7 5.1 30.7 48.6 20.7 3.3 29.8 20.7 0.5 1 1005 200 65.0 25.2 47.2 48.6 20.7 3.3 29.8 20.7 0.5 1	12.5 28.2	5.1						
1995 3.0 66.9 25.3 4.7 34.3 47.3 18.4 3.0 33.4 18.4 0.4 1 1095 3.0 66.9 25.3 4.7 34.3 47.3 18.4 3.0 33.4 18.4 0.4 1	15.1 24.9	4.7						
1997 2.9 65.8 27.4 3.9 35.2 47.2 17.7 2.9 34.1 17.7 0.8 1 1000 2.4 55.8 27.4 3.9 35.2 47.2 17.7 2.9 34.1 17.7 0.8 1	14.0 26.6	3.9						
1998 3.1 00.0 26.9 3.4 34.8 47.0 17.0 3.1 33.9 17.0 0.0 1 2001 2.5 C.2.7 20.4 C.4 22.5 C.5 21.5 21.5 21.5 17.0 0.4 1	14.2 20.2	3.4						
2001 2.3 02.7 29.4 5.4 52.5 50.5 17.0 2.5 51.5 17.0 0.4 1 2002 2.0 62.0 20.2 4.0 21.2 52.7 4.0 20.2	14.3 Z9.0	5.4						
ZUUZ Z.9 bZ.0 30.2 4.9 31.3 52.7 16.0 Z.9 30.2 16.0 0.6 1 2002 2.9 50.0 61.4 20.6 F.1 21.1 F2.0 16.2 20.0 16.0 0.6 1	15.8 29.6	4.9						
ZUU3 Z.9 61.4 30.6 5.1 31.1 52.8 16.2 Z.9 29.9 16.2 0.9 1 2004 2.2 61.4 30.6 5.1 31.1 52.8 16.2 2.9 29.9 16.2 0.9 1	15.3 29.7	5.1						
2004 5.2 62.2 29.9 4.7 53.7 50.6 15.7 3.2 32.2 15.7 0.9 1	14.3 29.0	4.7						
ZUUS S.U DI.I SU.I S.8 SS.9 DI.4 14.6 S.U SZ.4 14.6 U.9 1 2006 2.0 62.2 28.8 E.0 24.6 E1.0 14.5 2.0 22.2 14.5 0.0 14.5	14.0 29.2	5.8						
Table A11(continue)

										Emplo	oyment Ca	tegory		
									For	mal			Informal	
	Employn	nent positi	ion		Kind of (Company			Employe		Self-employed	Employees	Self-employed	Workers
	Businessman	Employee	Self-employed	No income	Large	Small	Public	Businessmen	Large companies	Public Sector	Professionals	Small Companies	Unqualified	Without income
Paraguay														
1995	3.7	37.1	54.6	4.6	13.8	80.2	5.9	3.8	12.4	5.9	0.8	17.2	55.2	4.7
1997	6.4	39.4	40.8	13.4	13.7	79.4	7.0	6.4	13.5	7.0	0.4	18.9	40.4	13.4
1999	5.2	46.4	36.5	11.9	19.1	72.8	8.0	5.2	17.5	8.0	0.7	20.7	36.0	12.0
2001	5.8	44.9	37.1	12.2	18.0	74.8	7.2	5.8	15.7	7.2	0.9	21.8	36.4	12.2
2002	3.6	42.9	38.4	15.1	16.6	75.2	8.2	3.7	13.6	8.2	0.8	20.5	38.1	15.3
2003	4.3	44.1	39.2	12.4	15.9	75.8	8.3	4.3	14.1	8.3	0.8	21.5	38.5	12.4
2004	4.2	43.0	39.8	13.1	16.1	76.7	7.2	4.2	14.3	7.2	0.8	21.4	39.0	13.1
2005	4.5	46.7	37.1	11.7	16.7	74.1	9.2	4.5	14.8	9.2	0.9	22.5	36.4	11.8
2006	4.5	46.3	36.7	12.5	17.1	74.6	8.4	4.5	15.3	8.4	0.8	22.4	36.1	12.6
2007	5.1	48.1	36.7	10.1	18.8	72.7	8.5	5.1	17.1	8.5	0.8	22.1	36.2	10.1
2008	5.0	50.5	33.9	10.6	18.8	72.1	9.1	5.2	17.3	9.1	1.1	22.4	33.9	11.0
Peru														
ENAHO 1														
1997	5.6	41.9	37.1	15.4	22.4	69.1	8.6	5.6	18.6	8.6	2.4	14.7	34.8	15.4
1998	5.8	40.4	38.6	15.2	21.0	70.7	8.3	5.8	17.7	8.3	2.9	14.2	35.7	15.3
1999	5.8	41.2	37.9	15.1	19.6	72.5	7.9	5.8	16.1	7.9	2.7	16.9	35.4	15.2
2000	5.7	39.5	38.2	16.6	18.6	72.7	8.7	5.7	15.1	8.7	2.8	15.6	35.5	16.6
ENAHO 2														
2001	5.0	41.2	37.6	16.2	20.4	71.7	7.9	5.0	17.0	7.9	2.5	16.1	35.2	16.2
2002	5.2	40.8	36.4	17.6	21.3	70.5	8.2	5.2	17.3	8.2	2.4	15.1	34.1	17.6
ENAHO 3														
2003	5.4	38.3	37.0	19.3	22.1	70.7	7.1	5.5	17.1	7.1	3.0	13.9	34.1	19.3
2004	5.4	39.3	35.8	19.5	22.3	69.9	7.8	5.4	16.8	7.8	3.0	14.5	33.0	19.6
2005	5.6	39.9	36.2	18.3	23.3	69.3	7.4	5.7	17.8	7.4	2.9	14.4	33.4	18.4
2006	5.5	41.2	35.1	18.2	23.5	68.9	7.6	5.5	18.5	7.6	2.9	14.9	32.4	18.3
2007	5.8	42.5	35.9	15.7	23.3	68.4	8.3	5.8	18.9	8.3	3.3	15.0	32.9	15.8

Table A11(continue)

										Empl	oyment Ca	tegory		
									Fo	rmal			Informal	
	Employn	nent posit	ion		Kind of	Company			Employe	ees	Self-employed	Employees	Self-employed	Workers
	Businessman	Employee	Self-employed	No income	Large	Small	Public	Businessmen	Large companies	Public Sector	Professionals	Small Companies	Unqualified	Without income
Uruguay														
Urban														
1989	4.5	73.5	19.8	2.2	34.8	41.5	23.7	4.8	31.9	23.6	0.3	16.7	20.5	2.3
1992	4.5	72.5	20.7	2.3	41.2	40.1	18.7	4.5	38.2	18.7	1.4	15.5	19.4	2.3
1995	4.6	4.5 73.5 19.8 2.3 4.5 72.5 20.7 2.3 4.6 72.0 21.3 2.3 4.3 71.9 22.0 1.3 4.3 72.1 21.8 1.3 4.5 72.5 21.3 1.3 3.7 72.8 22.0 1.3		2.2	39.8	41.4	18.9	4.6	37.1	18.9	1.8	16.0	19.5	2.2
1996	4.3	4.5 73.5 19.8 2.3 4.5 72.5 20.7 2.3 4.6 72.0 21.3 2.3 4.3 71.9 22.0 1.3 4.3 72.1 21.8 1.3 4.5 72.5 21.3 1.3 3.7 72.8 22.0 1.3			39.3	42.3	18.4	4.3	36.7	18.4	1.8	16.8	20.1	1.9
1997	4.3	72.1	21.8	1.8	40.1	42.3	17.6	4.3	37.5	17.7	1.6	16.9	20.2	1.8
1998	4.5	72.5	21.3	1.8	42.8	41.0	16.2	4.5	39.7	16.2	1.8	16.5	19.4	1.8
2000	3.7	72.8	22.0	1.5	40.7	42.2	17.1	3.7	38.6	17.1	1.9	17.1	20.1	1.5
2001	3.9	71.0	23.6	1.4	37.7	45.7	16.6	3.9	35.7	16.6	2.1	18.7	21.6	1.4
2002	3.7	70.0	24.8	1.5	35.2	46.9	17.9	3.7	33.4	17.9	2.2	18.7	22.6	1.5
2003	3.4	70.1	25.1	1.4	34.5	47.5	18.0	3.4	32.8	18.0	2.1	19.4	22.9	1.4
2004	3.5	70.2	24.7	1.6	36.1	46.2	17.7	3.5	34.3	17.7	2.2	18.3	22.5	1.6
2005	3.9	71.2	23.5	1.3	37.2	46.2	16.6	3.9	35.6	16.6	2.2	19.0	21.3	1.3
2006	4.3	71.5	22.8	1.4	38.2	45.4	16.5	4.3	36.1	16.5	2.1	18.9	20.7	1.4
Venezuela														
1989	7.5	66.7	22.5	3.3	41.0	39.9	19.1	7.5	37.2	19.1	0.7	10.4	21.8	3.3
1992	7.9	66.4	23.5	2.2	43.1	40.9	16.1	7.9	39.7	16.1	0.8	10.6	22.7	2.2
1995	5.6	61.4	31.6	1.4	32.4	50.1	17.5	5.6	29.9	17.5	1.7	13.8	30.0	1.5
1998	5.0	59.2	34.2	1.5	32.7	51.6	15.7	5.0	30.1	15.7	2.1	13.2	32.3	1.5
1999	5.3	58.4	33.4	3.0	30.3	54.8	14.9	5.6	27.1	14.7	1.9	13.6	33.9	3.2
2000	5.0	56.3	36.5	2.2	30.9	54.5	14.6	5.0	28.0	14.6	1.8	13.7	34.6	2.2
2001	6.5	55.9	34.7	2.9	33.4	52.2	14.4	6.5	29.1	14.4	1.8	12.3	32.9	2.9
2002	5.4	54.7	36.6	3.3	30.6	55.7	13.8	5.4	26.8	13.8	2.1	14.1	34.5	3.3
2003	5.0	53.4	38.2	3.5	28.1	58.0	13.8	5.0	24.8	13.8	2.3	14.7	35.9	3.5
2004	4.7	55.4	37.3	2.5	30.3	54.3	15.4	4.7	26.7	15.4	2.1	13.3	35.3	2.5
2005	4.8	57.5	35.6	2.0	32.4	51.8	15.9	4.8	28.6	15.8	2.1	13.1	33.5	2.0
2006	4.5	58.3	35.7	1.6	32.9	50.4	16.6	4.5	29.0	16.6	2.3	12.6	33.4	1.6

Note: A company is considered small if it has less than five employees; it is considered large if it has five or more employees; the government and government companies fall in the public sector.

Table A12 Latin America and the Caribean (20 countries). Distribution of income by gender (%)

	Tota	al Indivi Income	dual	Total En	Incom nploym	e from Ient		Tota	al Indivi Income	dual	Total En	Incom nploym	e from ient		Tota	al Indivi Income	dual	Total En	Incom 1ploym	e from ient
	Women	Men	Total	Women	Men	Total		Women	Men	Total	Women	Men	Total		Women	Men	Total	Women	Men	Total
Argen	tina (El	PH)					Color	ıbia						Ecuad	or					
2003	38.5	61.5	100.0				ENH-N	lationa						ECV						
2004	36.5	63.5	100.0				1996	32.2	67.8	100.0	30.5	69.5	100.0	1994	26.0	74.0	100.0	24.5	75.5	100.0
2005	36.6	63.4	100.0	31.8	68.2	100.0	1999	35.4	64.6	100.0	33.5	66.5	100.0	1995	30.0	70.0	100.0	28.5	71.5	100.0
2006	36.5	63.5	100.0	32.6	67.4	100.0	2000	37.3	62.7	100.0	35.9	64.1	100.0	1998	26.7	73.3	100.0	26.1	73.9	100.0
Belize							ECH-N	lationa	I					1999	28.9	71.1	100.0	26.5	73.5	100.0
1993	27.2	72.8	100.0	27.1	72.9	100.0	2001	39.8	60.2	100.0	37.5	62.5	100.0	2006	32.1	67.9	100.0	29.5	70.5	100.0
1994	22.4	77.6	100.0	22.4	77.6	100.0	2003	39.4	60.6	100.0	36.9	63.1	100.0	ENEM	DU					
1997	21.5	78.5	100.0	21.5	78.5	100.0	2004	39.3	60.7	100.0	36.5	63.5	100.0	2003	31.3	68.7	100.0	29.0	71.0	100.0
1998	27.4	72.6	100.0	27.4	72.6	100.0	GEIH-							2004	31.7	68.3	100.0	29.4	70.6	100.0
1999	23.7	76.3	100.0	23.7	76.3	100.0	2006	37.9	62.1	100.0	35.6	64.4	100.0	2005	32.7	67.3	100.0	29.6	70.4	100.0
Bolivi	a (Pluri	nationa	l State	of)			Costa	Rica						2006	31.9	68.1	100.0	29.7	70.3	100.0
1997	28.0	72.0	100.0	26.3	73.7	100.0	1990	26.2	73.8	100.0	24.0	76.0	2007	28.9	71.1	100.0	25.9	74.1	100.0	
1999	31.1	68.9	100.0	29.5	70.5	100.0	1992 26.9 73.1 100.0 24.9 75.1 100.0 1002 1002 1002 1000								30.2	69.8	100.0	27.8	72.2	100.0
2000	32.3	67.7	100.0	29.8	70.2	100.0	1997	29.2	70.8	100.0	26.4	73.6	100.0	El Sal	vador					
2001	33.3	66.7	100.0	30.1	69.9	100.0	2000	29.2	70.8	100.0	26.6	73.4	100.0	1991	34.5	65.5	100.0	30.9	69.1	100.0
2002	32.8	67.2	100.0	29.3	70.7	100.0	2001	32.1	67.9	100.0	29.5	70.5	100.0	1995	34.1	65.9	100.0	32.5	67.5	100.0
2003	34.5	65.5	100.0	30.9	69.1	100.0	2002	32.0	68.0	100.0	29.8	70.2	100.0	1996	35.2	64.8	100.0	32.0	68.0	100.0
-2004	5 115	0010		5015			2003	31.9	68.1	100.0	29.5	70.5	100.0	1998	40.6	59.4	100.0	37.4	62.6	100.0
2005	35.6	64.4	100.0	30.8	69.2	100.0	2004	31.9	68.1	100.0	29.1	70.9	100.0	1999	41.8	58.2	100.0	38.9	61.1	100.0
2007	32.1	67.9	100.0	27.3	72.7	100.0	2005	32.3	67.7	100.0	28.8	71.2	100.0	2000	42.6	57.4	100.0	39.6	60.4	100.0
Brazil							2006	33.0	67.0	100.0	29.7	70.3	100.0	2001	42.3	57.7	100.0	39.2	60.8	100.0
2004	35.8	64.2	100.0	31.2	68.8	100.0	2007	31.9	68.1	100.0	29.2	70.8	100.0	2002	43.5	56.5	100.0	39.4	60.6	100.0
2005	36.4	63.6	100.0	31.8	68.2	100.0	Domin	nican R	epublic					2003	44.0	56.0	100.0	39.5	60.5	100.0
2006	37.3	62.7	100.0	32.5	67.5	100.0	ENFT							2004	43.8	56.2	100.0	39.2	60.8	100.0
2007	37.1	62.9	100.0	32.6	67.4	100.0	1996	26.1	73.9	100.0	20.9	79.1	100.0	2005	44.6	55.4	100.0	40.2	59.8	100.0
2008	37.6	62.4	100.0	32.8	67.2	100.0	1997	29.4	70.6	100.0	25.4	74.6	100.0	2006	44.5	55.5	100.0	40.0	60.0	100.0
Chile							ENFT	2						2007	43.7	56.3	100.0	38.9	61.1	100.0
1987	26.3	73.7	100.0	24.6	75.4	100.0	2000	32.1	68.0	100.0	27.5	72.5	100.0	Guate	mala					
1990	25.6	74.4	100.0	23.2	76.8	100.0	2001	31.6	68.4	100.0	26.8	73.2	100.0	ENCO	VI					
1992	26.5	73.5	100.0	24.3	75.7	100.0	2002	32.8	67.2	100.0	28.5	71.5	100.0	2000	25.8	74.2	100.0	22.3	77.7	100.0
1994	28.4	71.6	100.0	26.0	74.0	100.0	2003	33.5	66.5	100.0	27.2	72.8	100.0	2006	32.0	68.0	100.0	26.7	73.3	100.0
1996	28.2	71.8	100.0	26.3	73.7	100.0	2004	32.8	67.2	100.0	27.0	73.0	100.0	ENEI						
1998	30.0	70.0	100.0	27.7	72.3	100.0	 2005 33.2 66.8 100.0 28.0 72.0 100.							2002	30.2	69.8	100.0	27.3	72.7	100.0
2000	28.8	71.2	100.0	26.3	73.7	100.0	ENFT	3						2003	29.2	70.8	100.0	25.9	74.1	100.0
2003	30.6	69.4	100.0	28.2	71.8	100.0	2005	33.7	66.3	100.0	28.5	71.5	100.0	2004	29.6	70.4	100.0	25.1	74.9	100.0
2006	31.9	68.1	100.0	30.0	70.0	100.0	0 2006 35.8 64.2 100.0 29.1 70.9 100.0													
							2007	32.4	67.6	100.0	28.9	71.1								

	Tota	al Indivi Income	idual 9	Total En	Incom nploym	e from Ient		Tota	al Indivi Income	dual	Total En	Incom 1ploym	e from Ient		Tota	al Indivi Income	dual	Total En	Incom 1ploym	e from Ient
	Women	Men	Total	Women	Men	Total		Women	Men	Total	Women	Men	Total		Women	Men	Total	Women	Men	Total
Hond	uras						Panan	na						Urugu	ay					
EPHP	M 1						1989	34.6	65.4	100.0	32.6	67.4	100.0	Urban						
1991	23.9	76.1	100.0	23.9	76.1	100.0	1991	34.7	65.3	100.0	33.9	66.1	100.0	1989	33.0	67.0	100.0	27.0	73.0	100.0
1997	25.6	74.4	100.0	25.6	74.4	100.0	1995	32.9	67.1	100.0	30.1	69.9	100.0	1992	34.6	65.4	100.0	28.2	71.8	100.0
EPHP	M 2						1997	34.4	65.6	100.0	32.1	67.9	100.0	1995	36.6	63.4	100.0	30.3	69.7	100.0
1997	29.7	70.3	100.0	25.6	74.4	100.0	1998	35.0	65.0	100.0	32.3	67.7	100.0	1996	37.8	62.2	100.0	31.8	68.2	100.0
1999	32.3	67.7	100.0	28.5	71.5	100.0	2001	34.3	65.7	100.0	31.7	68.3	100.0	1997	37.8	62.2	100.0	31.1	68.9	100.0
2001	35.8	64.2	100.0	31.5	68.5	100.0	2002	35.1	65.0	100.0	31.7	68.3	100.0	1998	37.3	62.7	100.0	31.5	68.5	100.0
2003	36.0	64.0	100.0	30.2	69.8	100.0	2003	34.9	65.1	100.0	31.4	68.6	100.0	2000	39.8	60.2	100.0	33.6	66.4	100.0
2004	40.7	59.3	100.0	33.9	66.1	100.0	2004	35.4	64.6	100.0	31.8	68.2	100.0	2001	40.3	59.7	100.0	34.9	65.1	100.0
2005	42.6	57.4	100.0	35.5	64.5	100.0	2005	35.5	64.5	100.0	32.6	67.4	100.0	2002	41.2	58.8	100.0	35.3	64.7	100.0
2006	43.2	56.8	100.0	34.4	65.6	100.0	2006	35.1	64.9	100.0	31.9	68.1	100.0	2003	42.1	57.9	100.0	35.7	64.3	100.0
2007	36.4	63.6	100.0	28.6	71.4	100.0	Parag	uay						2004	40.8	59.2	100.0	34.2	65.8	100.0
Jamai	ica						1995	29.7	70.3	100.0	27.6	72.4	100.0	2005	42.5	57.5	100.0	36.3	63.7	100.0
1990	41.8	58.2	100.0	40.4	59.6	100.0	1997	32.4	67.6	100.0	29.6	70.4	100.0	Natio						
1996	39.9	60.1	100.0	38.0	62.0	100.0	1999	34.6	65.4	100.0	32.1	67.9	100.0	2006	39.5	60.5	100.0	34.3	65.7	100.0
1999	42.1	57.9	100.0	39.1	60.9	100.0	2001	34.1	65.9	100.0	31.0	69.0	100.0	2007	39.8	60.2	100.0	35.0	65.0	100.0
2002	45.5	54.4	100.0	42.3	57.7	100.0	2002	32.4	67.6	100.0	29.3	70.7	100.0	Venez	uela					
Mexi	0						2003	33.3	66.7	100.0	29.9	70.1	100.0	1989	27.7	72.3	100.0	27.7	72.3	100.0
1989	22.3	77.7	100.0	20.6	79.4	100.0	2004	33.3	66.7	100.0	29.9	70.1	100.0	1992	29.5	70.5	100.0	29.5	70.5	100.0
1992	21.9	78.1	100.0	20.5	79.5	100.0	2005	33.7	66.3	100.0	30.3	69.7	100.0	1995	29.5	70.5	100.0	27.9	72.1	100.0
1994	24.0	76.0	100.0	22.7	77.3	100.0	2006	32.6	67.4	100.0	29.8	70.2	100.0	1998	30.8	69.2	100.0	29.1	71.0	100.0
1996	26.5	73.5	100.0	24.4	75.6	100.0	2007	32.6	67.4	100.0	28.8	71.2	100.0	1999	32.5	67.5	100.0	30.4	69.6	100.0
1998	26.9	73.1	100.0	24.8	75.2	100.0	Peru							2000	33.8	66.2	100.0	31.2	68.8	100.0
2000	27.0	73.0	100.0	24.6	75.4	100.0	ENAH	0 1						2001	35.4	64.6	100.0	32.9	67.1	100.0
2002	29.8	70.2	100.0	27.7	72.3	100.0	1997	31.3	68.7	100.0	29.4	70.6	100.0	2002	36.1	63.9	100.0	33.7	66.3	100.0
2004	31.7	68.3	100.0	28.8	71.2	100.0	1998	32.1	67.9	100.0	29.5	70.5	100.0	2003	36.3	63.7	100.0	33.5	66.5	100.0
2005	30.5	69.5	100.0	28.0	72.1	100.0	1999	35.6	64.4	100.0	33.0	67.0	100.0	2004	36.8	63.2	100.0	34.1	65.9	100.0
2006	32.7	67.3	100.0	30.0	70.0	100.0	2000	34.0	66.0	100.0	31.1	68.9	100.0	2005	36.6	63.4	100.0	33.9	66.1	100.0
2008	31.4	68.6	100.0	29.0	71.0	100.0	ENAH	0 2						2006	36.5	63.5	100.0	33.6	66.4	100.0
Nicar	agua						2001	34.1	65.9	100.0	32.1	67.9	100.0							
1993	38.3	61.7	100.0	35.5	64.5	100.0	2002	33.5	66.5	100.0	31.9	68.1	100.0							
1998	29.0	71.0	100.0	28.1	71.9	100.0	ENAH	03												
2001	33.1	66.9	100.0	32.3	67.7	100.0	2003	33.4	66.6	100.0	31.8	68.2	100.0							
2005	33.3	66.7	100.0	30.9	69.1	100.0	2004	30.8	69.2	100.0	29.2	70.8	100.0							
							2005	33.3	66.7	100.0	31.5	68.5	100.0							
							2006	32.0	68.0	100.0	30.7	69.3	100.0							
							2007	33.6	66.4	100.0	32.3	67.7	100.0							

Table A13	Table ATS Latin America and the Caribean (18 countries). Access to basic services (%) Water Toilet 1 2 3 4 5 Media													
	Water Toilet 1 2 3 4 5 Media 1 2 3 4 5 Media na (EPHC)													
	1	2	3	4	5	Media	1	2	3	4	5	Media		
Argentina (E	PHC)													
2006	96.1	99.0	99.2	99.9	100.0	99.0	66.3	80.4	90.3	95.9	99.0	88.4		
2007	97.7	98.8	99.4	99.9	99.9	99.3	67.8	83.2	89.3	94.6	98.2	88.5		
2008	98.0	99.4	99.6	99.9	99.9	99.5	70.3	85.2	91.0	95.3	98.1	89.6		
2009	98.5	99.2	99.8	99.9	100.0	99.5	73.4	86.3	93.1	95.7	98.8	91.0		
Bolivia (Nati	onal													
1997	58.0	81.1	86.3	87.9	93.6	82.0	32.2	57.6	65.8	77.6	87.9	65.5		
1999	42.9	72.1	84.6	88.2	94.1	77.4	24.3	55.6	74.7	84.6	90.6	67.5		
2000	51.7	73.1	87.2	90.0	94.9	80.3	29.8	60.4	75.7	81.8	92.4	69.4		
2001	60.2	75.7	85.0	88.8	92.4	81.1	37.8	56.8	70.7	81.3	91.7	69.2		
2002	50.9	74.4	80.9	86.3	92.1	78.1	32.9	54.8	70.8	80.0	89.8	67.5		
2003-2004	53.2	75.0	81.6	87.0	88.9	77.8	33.6	60.2	72.8	80.9	88.4	68.5		
2005	54.5	73.2	85.2	89.6	92.7	80.4	32.8	56.7	72.9	82.3	90.0	69.1		
2006	64.5	76.7	88.2	86.8	91.1	82.6	38.6	63.1	75.9	82.1	91.0	72.5		
2007	61.5	80.5	87.3	90.3	90.1	82.8	48.4	63.1	75.9	81.1	83.5	71.7		
Brazil (new l	PNAD wi	th rural	North)											
2004	71.5	83.7	90.5	96.2	99.0	89.4	45.1	55.9	65.8	78.1	89.0	68.7		
2005	72.7	85.3	91.3	95.6	99.2	90.0	44.6	58.1	67.3	78.1	89.3	69.4		
2006	75.3	87.5	92.2	96.3	99.4	91.1	47.0	59.6	68.0	77.8	89.9	70.3		
2007	78.0	88.4	93.0	96.5	98.9	91.9	52.2	62.9	72.1	80.7	90.4	73.3		
2008	78.9	90.1	93.6	96.7	99.1	92.6	51.3	64.0	71.5	79.2	90.1	72.9		
Chile														
1987	74.9	75.9	83.8	89.1	95.6	84.7	51.6	58.1	69.3	80.3	94.1	72.4		
1990	80.0	82.8	87.4	91.6	95.9	88.1	56.0	63.3	72.8	81.5	92.0	74.5		
1992	82.1	87.5	90.7	93.1	97.3	90.6	56.9	67.1	74.6	83.3	93.5	76.4		
1996	81.6	88.4	92.1	95.3	97.4	91.5	56.5	71.4	80.7	89.9	96.2	80.2		
1998	84.5	90.1	93.3	96.3	98.3	93.0	63.5	74.5	83.3	91.3	97.0	83.2		
2000	86.7	91.6	94.1	95.9	98.2	93.9	69.2	79.0	85.7	91.4	97.3	85.9		
2003	90.2	93.8	95.6	97.3	98.6	95.4	73.1	83.0	87.8	93.4	97.6	87.9		
2006	93.4	95.5	96.5	97.7	98.6	96.5	81.5	88.5	92.0	95.2	98.2	91.6		
Colombia														
ENH Nationa	al													
1996	62.9	77.8	84.7	90.4	95.4	83.2	58.4	74.8	83.6	88.9	95.7	81.3		
1999	75.5	79.0	85.2	90.5	95.2	85.8	71.3	75.4	83.8	89.9	95.2	84.0		
2000	73.8	79.8	84.4	90.8	95.6	85.7	75.2	80.7	87.0	92.9	96.9	87.4		
ECH Nationa	l													
2001	68.7	70.5	72.8	79.4	87.6	76.7	75.3	77.3	85.6	89.4	95.4	85.5		
2003	75.5	75.7	74.2	81.5	88.4	79.8	77.7	76.4	84.7	90.3	96.5	86.1		

		Dra	ins					Elect	ricity					Telépl	none*		
1	2	3	4	5	Media	1	2	3	4	5	Media	1	2	3	4	5	Media
25.0	46.0	50.0	70.4	00 C	64.7												
35.9	46.0	59.2	70.1	82.6	61./												
37.4	51.3	57.5	68.0	82.2	62.0												
39.7	50.6	59.0 62.9	69.0	82.4 94 5	64.2												
42.0	50.6	02.0	00.2	04.5	04.5												
95	25.2	31.7	37 /	52.2	32.3	3/1 3	74.2	83.0	86.2	Q1 Q	7/1 9						
5.7	22.2	36.6	41.4	53.4	33.1	22.6	62.5	83.0	90.6	95.0	72.3	13	83	16 5	30.4	58.4	24.9
7 1	22.5	38.7	39.3	59.1	34.8	22.0	57.4	83.0	87.4	94.8	70.9	2.6	9.5	17.1	27.0	57.6	24.5
7.4	18.5	30.5	40.1	53.9	31.6	30.6	59.8	79.1	85.2	91.3	70.5	2.7	6.2	14.8	27.5	57.9	24.1
6.3	20.8	31.7	36.5	54.4	31.6							2.3	7.4	17.5	28.4	59.3	25.3
9.0	28.7	33.4	35.0	46.5	31.4												
5.2	23.0	33.2	43.3	59.8	35.0	31.3	63.4	80.8	88.2	93.9	73.8	8.0	24.5	43.7	55.5	73.9	43.7
6.8	22.4	28.8	39.0	54.4	32.6	42.1	66.4	86.6	89.0	93.6	77.8	13.5	35.4	57.3	68.5	80.6	54.3
15.2	30.1	37.9	42.8	55.6	37.8	53.8	76.1	85.4	90.8	92.0	80.9	25.1	50.4	65.1	75.1	81.5	61.5
33.2	41.9	52.3	64.8	78.4	56.1	91.7	95.4	97.3	98.8	99.7	96.9	33.9	47.7	59.5	79.4	93.9	65.5
31.5	42.7	53.6	64.6	78.6	56.3	92.1	96.4	97.7	98.7	99.7	97.2	42.0	58.8	67.7	83.1	95.8	71.8
33.3	44.4	53.8	64.5	79.1	57.0	93.4	97.0	98.2	99.0	99.8	97.7	47.6	63.8	71.0	84.8	96.1	74.7
35.2	45.8	56.7	66.6	79.5	58.7	95.0	97.8	98.4	99.3	99.8	98.3	52.8	67.9	73.9	86.1	95.9	77.1
36.1	47.4	56.6	65.6	79.2	58.8	95.8	98.3	98.8	99.4	99.8	98.6	62.2	76.1	79.3	89.3	96.9	82.2
48.3	54.7	65.4	76.4	90.3	68.7	71.9	71.9	76.0	76.9	79.2	74.0						
52.0	58.5	67.7	76.0	85.8	69.3	86.4	89.9	92.0	94.2	96.9	92.3						
53.3	62.6	70.2	79.0	88.5	72.0	89.7	93.0	94.4	96.1	98.2	94.6						
51.2	64.9	75.2	85.5	91.9	75.1	91.0	94.9	96.2	97.5	98.9	95.9						
57.9	68.5	77.6	86.1	93.2	78.0	93.9	96.6	97.6	98.9	99.6	97.5	20.6	35.2	50.5	68.8	88.2	55.3
61.3	69.5	77.2	83.3	91.0	78.0	96.1	97.6	98.3	98.7	99.4	98.2	29.8	44.4	60.1	72.8	91.0	62.7
65.1	74.0	79.9	87.1	92.2	80.7	97.3	98.6	98.9	99.4	99.7	98.9	46.5	60.1	70.2	83.1	94.2	72.7
71.4	77.8	82.2	87.4	92.5	82.9	98.5	99.3	99.5	99.7	99.8	99.4	61.2	70.0	77.4	87.5	95.6	79.4
_								_							_		
44.5			76 7	0.0	66.6	0.7.0	0.0.1	07.0	05.0	07.0	07.0	46.5		22.6	10.0		10.5
41.6	57.4	69.1	78.7	90.2	69.0	82.2	90.1	93.8	95.3	97.8	92.2	18.3	23.9	33.8	48.8	68.6	40.6
53.4	58.1	69.7	/9.6	89.0	/1.3	89.3	91.9	94.7	96.2	98.0	94.3	33.3	35.8	47.8	60.2	78.4	53.0
53.8	62.0	70.5	81.5	90.4	/3.1	90.1	93.2	95.3	97.5	98.4	95.2	29.8	33.1	44.2	58.0	76.4	50.4
EQ 4	61.2	70.0	70 1	00.0	72.0	04.7	02.6	01.0	96 5	01 7	96.1	22 5	24.4	42.0	67.0	75.6	50.0
59.4	57.7	62.0	78.1	00.0	72.9	84.3 96.7	03.0	01.9	00.4	91.7	00.1	32.5	34.4	45.8	57.0	75.0	10.9
00.7	57.7	03.8	/3.0	87.9	/1.4	80.7	67.5	87.9	90.4	92.7	89.3	57.8	30.0	57.9	52.0	/5.5	48.9

Table A13	(cont	inue)												
	Water Toilet 1 2 3 4 5													
	1 2 3 4 5 Media 1 2 3 4 5 Media													
Costa Rica														
2004	95.6	98.4	99.0	99.5	99.7	98.5	85.7	93.7	96.4	98.3	99.1	94.8		
2005	95.7	98.4	99.3	99.3	99.6	98.5	87.5	95.1	97.6	98.2	99.6	95.8		
2006	96.5	98.6	99.2	99.4	99.9	98.8	88.6	95.7	97.1	98.5	99.6	96.1		
2007	97.5	98.3	99.5	99.6	99.9	99.0	91.4	95.2	96.8	98.7	99.7	96.5		
2008	96.9	98.3	99.0	99.4	100.0	98.8	90.4	95.0	97.6	98.9	99.8	96.5		
2009	97.3	99.2	99.6	99.8	99.9	99.2	92.0	96.2	97.8	99.0	99.7	97.1		
Dominican R	epublic													
ENFT 2														
2000	53.6	67.1	75.1	79.0	88.2	73.7	19.7	41.1	53.5	67.1	85.7	55.5		
2001	52.1	62.0	68.9	75.4	87.4	70.3	22.0	43.3	54.1	64.2	85.5	55.9		
2002	52.0	64.3	70.8	80.5	88.9	72.5	21.0	41.2	55.9	70.0	87.2	57.2		
2003	57.6	65.7	71.5	78.2	88.2	73.3	27.7	42.6	56.0	69.5	86.6	58.4		
2004	54.3	66.0	74.7	78.4	88.2	73.5	29.3	47.7	56.9	70.2	86.4	60.2		
ENFT 3														
2005	54.1	61.9	69.8	75.3	87.1	71.1	33.5	46.2	56.5	67.7	85.2	60.1		
2006	54.0	61.6	71.2	78.3	87.7	71.8	34.3	48.7	61.5	72.4	87.3	62.9		
2007	65.2	69.8	76.9	81.5	88.9	77.3	42.1	52.8	63.4	73.3	86.0	65.1		
Ecuador														
ECV														
1994	40.8	45.3	57.9	65.7	79.3	59.2	45.0	53.3	66.0	78.7	88.1	67.8		
1995	54.6	66.0	71.7	78.8	89.0	73.9	43.8	62.2	73.2	82.2	93.8	73.6		
1998	55.1	61.2	70.0	76.8	84.6	70.6	53.3	65.7	77.8	84.2	94.2	76.4		
1999	54.1	67.1	76.8	83.8	91.8	76.1	54.1	65.8	77.6	87.3	95.4	77.6		
ENEMDU														
2006	80.9	86.6	89.7	94.0	96.6	90.1	69.6	81.8	87.7	93.8	97.4	86.9		
2007	83.3	88.5	92.0	94.3	97.5	91.7	68.8	81.6	88.3	93.0	97.5	86.9		
El Salvador														
1991	20.6	26.9	39.4	54.0	75.9	45.9	7.7	13.9	26.4	41.5	67.5	34.1		
1995	20.3	29.5	38.2	54.6	76.2	46.7	8.2	17.1	29.6	46.0	73.1	38.2		
1996	22.9	30.9	43.3	56.4	79.6	49.4	8.7	15.3	29.7	46.6	75.3	38.5		
1998	30.1	37.9	48.6	62.2	83.8	54.7	9.1	17.2	29.6	45.7	75.5	38.1		
1999	29.9	36.9	49.6	63.5	83.3	55.2								
2000	31.3	42.1	53.0	66.9	84.5	58.1	5.8	14.4	25.7	39.1	68.7	33.6		
2001	40.2	44.5	58.7	69.4	84.1	61.4	9.8	16.3	31.1	43.9	69.3	36.5		
2002	34.7	44.5	58.1	68.4	85.1	60.6	10.6	17.0	27.0	43.8	69.9	36.5		
2003	39.5	44.1	55.1	64.7	81.7	59.0	13.5	18.1	28.4	41.6	66.6	36.1		
2004	40.4	42.5	54.4	65.5	81.4	59.0	12.7	16.6	25.9	40.6	67.4	35.3		
2005	38.3	49.8	59.4	66.3	83.2	61.6	11.3	18.3	32.6	40.4	69.3	37.0		
2006	44.4	51.5	59.6	70.8	84.9	64.5	13.2	22.5	28.9	42.0	67.7	37.8		
2007	44.5	57.6	67.5	74.1	88.3	68.3	7.9	21.1	32.3	45.2	72.3	38.7		

		Dra	ains					Elect	ricity					Telépi	none*		
1	2		4	5	Media	1	2	3		5	Media		2		4		Media
17.5	23.1	26.4	29.4	38.5	27.5	96.6	98.8	99.3	99.8	99.9	98.9	47.4	63.4	74.4	83.2	92.8	73.1
20.4	20.8	25.2	29.9	39.7	27.9	96.8	99.0	99.7	99.5	99.9	99.0	50.3	68.5	78.7	85.2	95.6	76.7
19.3	20.9	24.9	32.2	40.4	28.2	97.1	99.6	99.2	99.6	99.9	99.1	57.4	72.0	82.1	90.2	96.8	80.5
17.5	19.4	23.8	25.2	35.3	24.8	97.8	98.8	99.6	99.8	99.8	99.2	62.5	73.8	84.2	89.2	97.5	82.2
16.5	18.3	20.4	27.6	37.1	24.6	97.4	99.1	99.6	99.6	99.9	99.2	65.4	77.7	87.1	92.4	97.9	84.8
21.5	20.2	22.4	28.2	35.5	26.1	98.4	99.3	99.6	99.6	99.9	99.4	69.5	80.3	88.8	92.5	98.1	86.6
7.0	17.0	20.7	27.5	43.7	24.3	71.4	86.9	90.4	94.1	97.8	88.9						
6.8	15.8	20.2	23.2	38.5	21.9	75.7	88.8	90.2	94.0	97.3	89.8						
7.1	15.9	21.6	28.0	43.6	24.4	75.4	87.3	91.3	94.5	97.3	89.8						
8.9	14.8	21.7	25.1	39.8	23.1	75.9	87.1	89.6	93.8	96.7	89.2	18.3	31.4	40.9	56.3	79.0	47.2
9.0	14.1	19.7	25.1	38.2	22.3	80.3	88.7	91.4	92.1	96.9	90.4	25.8	41.4	50.5	63.3	82.4	54.8
42.5	46.5	40.6	24.0	26.4	22.7	02.0	07.0	00.0	04.5	06.6	00.0	25.4	16.6	FF 9	66.0	045	50.0
12.5	16.5	19.6	24.0	36.1	22.7	82.9	87.8	89.3	91.5	96.6	90.2	35.1	46.6	55.2	66.9	84.5	59.8
11.1	17.2	21.7	24.6	36.4	23.2	83.1	87.9	89.5	92.2	96.2	90.2	48.1	54.4	63.0	71.2	89.5	68.1
15.5	18.9	22.5	27.5	41.9	26.2	95.0	95.4	96.7	97.6	98.9	96.9	50.7	58.2	65.1	/1.3	87.0	67.7
21.3	23.9	35.1	45 9	63.8	39.7	70.6	86 5	88 7	93.3	95.7	87.6	41	4.2	11 1	17.0	36.7	16.0
10.5	27.4	37.4	52.1	74.7	44 1	68.9	85.2	92.4	97.2	98.4	89.8	1.6	4.8	10.8	21.0	48.4	20.2
18.3	26.5	38.1	49.3	69.6	42.2	80.5	90.5	94.7	96.9	98.7	92.7	4.3	9.7	16.8	28.5	54.0	24.5
14.1	25.7	41.0	55.7	74.8	44.8	80.3	89.7	95.1	98.6	99.4	93.2	5.1	10.5	18.5	29.0	59.4	26.8
24.6	36.4	48.8	60.8	81.1	52.5	91.0	95.4	96.7	98.0	99.3	96.3	9.9	14.2	25.3	36.1	64.5	32.3
27.2	34.6	50.8	64.2	82.2	54.3	91.7	95.1	97.6	98.3	99.4	96.7	10.9	15.0	26.7	41.4	64.9	34.3
5.5	10.2	21.0	35.7	61.7	29.5	42.9	54.9	68.1	80.7	91.6	69.7	0.7	1.1	2.5	5.6	22.5	7.5
7.0	14.3	26.7	42.0	68.4	35.0	48.1	65.9	76.5	87.9	95.5	77.0	1.6	2.3	7.0	15.0	41.1	15.6
7.4	13.7	27.1	42.2	71.0	35.5	48.5	65.6	78.2	90.0	96.2	77.9	1.9	2.4	7.8	18.6	48.9	18.4
8.2	15.6	26.6	42.3	71.4	35.3	53.5	71.1	84.2	92.9	98.3	81.6	3.7	4.9	9.1	21.7	51.1	20.0
						49.9	67.7	80.7	90.4	97.1	79.0	2.9	5.1	12.9	25.8	59.9	23.9
4.5	13.1	24.2	36.6	66.1	31.6	56.3	76.3	87.5	95.3	98.7	84.4	4.0	10.6	21.7	37.3	69.1	31.5
9.2	15.0	29.1	40.9	65.9	34.3	64.7	79.7	90.3	96.5	98.1	87.0	9.8	17.3	27.8	46.4	71.4	37.0
10.2	15.8	25.1	41.0	67.0	34.6	64.7	80.9	91.0	95.4	99.0	87.5	9.8	18.3	29.2	46.5	72.2	38.2
12.3	16.1	26.5	38.1	62.9	33.5	66.0	80.7	89.3	94.4	98.4	87.0	14.1	17.4	28.7	42.3	65.6	36.0
11.4	15.3	23.5	36.9	62.6	32.4	68.7	81.0	89.9	93.0	98.2	87.4	13.6	20.8	29.6	43.1	67.4	37.5
10.0	15.9	29.1	36.6	63.6	33.4	69.1	79.4	90.4	94.0	98.3	87.5	13.4	20.6	33.2	48.6	73.3	40.6
12.2	20.2	25.6	36.9	60.7	33.8	72.6	84.5	90.6	93.7	98.1	89.2	15.1	24.6	32.2	46.9	70.9	41.1
5.8	18.2	27.5	40.2	64.5	33.9	72.3	88.6	93.5	96.6	99.0	91.1	12.2	21.6	35.3	48.4	70.6	40.4

Table A13	(cont	inue)											
			Wa	iter					То	let			
	1	2	3	4	5	Media	1	2	3	4	5	Media	
Guatemala													
ENCOVI													
2000	56.4	56.2	63.8	74.7	85.4	68.6	13.2	18.1	21.9	36.2	66.1	33.4	
2006	60.2	67.6	75.0	81.5	89.8	76.4	12.5	26.8	39.9	58.4	80.6	47.3	
ENEI													
2002	68.6	65.0	67.7	80.7	90.1	75.7	24.8	29.7	45.4	66.6	83.4	53.1	
2003	55.5	64.4	76.2	81.1	89.7	74.6	12.4	30.3	46.9	60.7	80.9	48.8	
2004	61.6	67.4	76.0	82.8	88.0	76.3	17.8	26.3	37.6	53.9	77.6	45.5	
Honduras													
EPHPM 1													
1991	67.6	62.3	70.0	74.8	88.3	73.4	23.7	14.0	23.5	33.5	61.1	32.7	
1992	73.3	74.0	75.7	79.8	90.9	79.3	24.8	21.3	28.0	44.3	68.9	39.0	
1993	66.4	69.2	72.8	74.8	87.9	74.6	25.6	19.4	27.4	35.6	68.7	36.5	
1994	73.5	71.7	71.1	80.9	90.2	78.1	28.2	23.1	36.1	49.5	70.8	42.9	
1995	73.2	74.8	76.7	79.9	88.8	79.1	36.5	35.8	43.3	52.4	73.6	49.5	
1996	74.5	73.8	78.1	83.3	93.4	81.3	34.9	28.3	37.4	53.5	74.5	47.3	
1997	71.8	75.5	83.0	87.4	92.9	82.5	29.9	25.4	34.8	49.0	68.4	42.8	
EPHPM 2													
1997	67.5	74.6	85.6	88.1	93.3	82.5	20.1	25.9	38.0	50.1	71.1	42.8	
1998	74.1	79.3	84.3	89.5	94.9	85.2	26.8	35.2	45.6	58.7	79.5	51.2	
1999	68.6	80.0	84.5	88.5	94.2	84.0	25.6	29.8	42.0	54.5	76.0	47.8	
2001	74.3	80.4	86.6	90.4	94.9	86.0	25.5	32.0	48.1	63.5	80.1	51.9	
2002	57.7	66.3	75.3	81.8	90.1	75.6	12.2	20.6	36.0	52.5	74.2	41.8	
2003	62.4	67.9	75.1	84.9	91.8	77.6	10.6	16.8	31.5	50.8	74.2	39.5	
2004	63.3	69.3	75.8	85.4	92.3	78.2	15.1	22.7	34.9	53.9	75.6	42.6	
2005	59.8	67.7	80.0	87.2	90.3	78.3							
2006	71.0	78.1	86.5	90.5	95.0	85.0							
2007	69.4	75.9	83.2	89.7	94.7	83.8	13.1	20.6	38.5	58.3	80.8	45.3	
Jamaica													
1990	49.9	39.2	36.9	43.7	50.3	44.8	67.3	52.0	52.1	60.4	62.0	59.3	
1996	60.0	51.6	53.2	53.7	61.9	57.2	69.8	58.8	59.0	68.4	79.6	69.5	
1999	42.6	32.9	54.4	56.3	62.7	52.2	58.8	44.9	62.9	68.5	70.8	63.2	
2001	60.3	50.6	51.9	47.1	64.6	56.0	71.3	67.9	60.4	63.6	71.0	67.5	
2002	49.5	35.7	31.1	41.3	56.9	44.1	63.9	51.0	43.0	55.4	69.2	57.7	

		Dra	ins					Elect	ricity					Telépl	none*		
1	2	3	4	5	Media	1	2	3	4	5	Media		2	3	4		Media
12.0	14.9	20.3	32.1	60.9	30.2	49.2	62.9	73.5	83.9	88.8	73.0	2.1	4.6	8.7	16.2	55.5	19.8
9.1	20.7	33.0	49.6	71.9	40.3	54.7	72.2	84.9	90.9	96.3	81.8	21.2	40.8	56.1	73.1	90.5	59.9
						60.7	65.4	74.6	89.2	94.5	78.7	2.6	5.4	11.9	20.0	50.3	20.4
						43.6	68.5	83.4	93.2	94.7	78.5	2.4	6.2	15.7	21.7	49.7	20.9
15.0	20.2	30.5	44.6	66.9	38.0												
19.0	10.8	17.4	25.6	51.1	26.1	41.5	35.9	48.2	60.9	80.6	54.8						
16.0	10.8	18.2	31.1	57.2	28.2	39.1	35.8	51.0	68.3	83.6	57.0						
17.5	11.7	20.9	30.4	59.7	29.1	42.8	44.1	56.9	69.6	87.4	61.0						
18.0	13.4	24.6	36.7	54.8	30.7	46.7	47.0	65.1	76.4	84.0	64.8						
15.7	12.7	20.4	29.9	51.8	27.4	48.1	50.1	67.1	74.1	86.1	66.1						
15.4	11.6	19.5	33.8	55.8	28.7	40.7	37.8	58.1	75.4	88.1	61.5						
17.3	13.4	22.6	37.0	54.8	30.3	47.4	46.2	61.9	76.6	85.9	64.6						
9.4	13.3	25.1	37.7	57.2	30.3	36.6	48.7	65.3	76.9	87.9	64.6						
6.2	14.4	23.5	37.6	60.0	30.4	32.7	50.5	71.0	80.3	90.7	66.9						
9.5	13.3	27.2	38.6	62.8	32.6	36.0	49.7	70.7	79.2	91.1	67.3						
8.9	13.4	29.1	42.2	60.4	32.9	37.3	55.4	77.3	88.7	94.7	72.7						
6.4	12.3	24.6	37.6	59.0	30.3	27.5	44.6	65.9	79.8	89.5	64.0	2.2	4.0	9.9	17.7	39.1	16.2
6.4	10.0	21.1	35.8	57.9	28.5	29.2	44.0	65.6	81.7	91.6	64.9						
7.3	12.9	23.0	38.0	61.8	30.5	36.0	47.5	69.1	84.5	92.9	67.9	5.6	8.1	15.8	30.6	61.3	26.3
						30.4	53.1	73.6	85.2	93.8	69.8	6.7	13.0	23.6	43.5	67.0	33.5
												8.6	17.0	27.2	39.6	62.2	32.8
9.2	14.1	30.2	44.4	65.9	37.7	33.8	53.7	/9.3	91.3	96.9	/3.5	29.0	40.3	62.6	//.0	89.5	62.2
20 5	24.4	21.1	25.1	20.9	20.1	74.2	61.0	61.2	70 5	05 7	72.0	10.2	7.0	6.6	12.0	67	07
29.5	34.4	21.1	33.1	29.8	30.1 21.4	74.3 04 E	74.6	01.3	79.5	06.2	73.8 96.1	10.2	20.2	0.0	72.9	0./	ō./
20.5	18.2	23.0	23.7	30.2	26.7	04.3 81.7	74.0	01.Z	02.8 97.9	90.2	00.1 85.2	20.0	30.5	50.1	51.0	52.7	42.7
20.5	14.2	17.0	16.1	21.0	10.7	86.9	80.4	04.9 97.2	07.0 97.1	90.0	87.0	57.2	52.6	60.5	50.4	71.2	50.2
20.5	16.4	10.9	1/1 2	21.0	10.1	86.4	81.0	07.2 92.0	07.1 97.2	00.7	86.7	17 0	37.6	35.2	10.9	62.0	/0 1
23.0	10.4	10.0	14.2	23.5	10.5	00.4	01.9	02.0	07.2	93.1	00.7	47.0	57.0	55.2	49.0	03.9	40.1

Table A13	B (cont	inue)											
			Wa	iter					То	let			
	1	2	3	4	5	Media	1	2	3	4	5	Media	
Mexico													
1989	60.2	74.3	83.5	88.6	93.6	81.4	21.8	32.2	49.2	58.4	80.3	51.2	
1992	54.4	73.8	82.6	88.3	94.7	80.7	14.8	27.6	47.3	61.7	85.8	51.6	
1996	67.3	79.1	85.7	92.7	97.4	86.0	18.9	28.4	44.1	69.1	88.3	54.1	
1998	65.8	81.5	89.9	94.1	97.6	87.3	17.8	34.1	54.7	72.2	90.7	57.8	
2000	75.2	87.7	93.4	96.8	98.4	91.3	16.3	39.2	59.5	77.4	91.6	60.4	
2002	70.9	85.6	92.5	96.7	99.1	90.0	17.6	35.7	57.5	74.7	92.2	58.8	
2004	74.2	85.3	91.0	93.6	94.6	88.3	32.8	48.4	65.9	77.7	90.4	65.4	
2005	75.3	87.3	92.7	96.0	97.7	90.6	28.4	45.1	63.4	80.8	92.6	65.0	
2006	77.8	86.9	92.3	94.6	96.5	90.3	30.0	46.9	63.5	77.8	91.9	64.8	
2008	77.0	86.0	88.9	93.8	95.7	88.8	32.3	47.7	63.4	79.1	91.8	65.2	
Nicaragua													
1993	35.4	48.2	60.4	69.2	85.3	61.6	9.2	16.4	17.6	31.8	58.5	28.8	
1998	36.7	50.6	61.4	68.8	78.8	60.8	6.7	8.5	18.4	24.0	46.5	22.4	
2001	36.7	47.0	61.5	69.5	82.5	61.8	6.6	8.6	17.0	22.5	48.3	22.9	
2005	31.2	52.5	65.8	78.5	83.1	64.6	4.4	12.8	22.5	34.7	58.2	29.3	
Paraguay													
1995	72.3	76.6	84.1	89.5	96.8	85.2	10.5	25.1	45.0	65.5	84.4	50.1	
1997	75.4	84.5	87.8	93.9	98.5	89.3	6.1	24.8	45.9	72.3	87.4	51.5	
1999	71.4	82.9	88.6	94.3	96.9	88.1	15.5	33.4	54.2	71.0	84.8	55.4	
2001	79.7	89.1	93.8	95.2	98.5	92.1	21.8	30.8	53.4	72.5	88.7	57.0	
2002	87.1	91.1	95.8	96.6	98.5	94.3	23.2	32.4	55.3	71.1	88.2	57.3	
2003	82.7	90.1	94.2	95.4	97.7	92.7	26.9	44.6	59.1	69.4	87.2	60.3	
2004	85.6	88.8	90.7	94.8	98.1	92.2	29.6	46.4	58.4	/0.8	87.8	61.2	
2005	86.6	92.6	94.6	96.3	99.0	94.3	30.1	51.7	66.7	74.0	88.5	64.5	
2006	88.1	92.1	96.4	97.6	98.9	95.1	27.6	45.1	64.9	/5.6	90.8	64.0	
2007	90.3	95.3	96.7	98.1	99.2	96.3	37.1	55.7	71.0	/8.2	92.6	69.4	
2008 Doru	96.5	98.4	98.2	98.7	97.0	97.7	37.0	58.7	70.8	82.0	92.0	70.7	
1007	21.6	<i>/</i> 11 7	60.1	73 1	86.3	50.2	38.6	58 5	75.2	86.7	03.7	72.8	
1998	27.5	47.2	64.8	73.9	90.4	63.1	43.7	65.2	78.0	87.8	95.7	76.0	
1999	32.7	48.5	63.9	79.5	90.6	65.4	50.2	68.2	79.9	90.6	96.2	78.8	
2000	35.4	49.6	67.5	75.2	89.2	65.3	54.4	68.7	80.3	88.2	95.8	78.9	
ENAHO 2	55.1	15.0	07.5	75.2	05.2	05.5	51.1	00.7	00.5	00.2	55.0	70.5	
2001	38.9	50.2	62.0	73.3	85.2	63.5	20.8	33.8	55.6	71.4	86.0	55.9	
2002	35.2	47.5	62.2	76.2	89.0	63.9	18.3	33.8	55.0	73.4	88.7	56.3	
ENAHO 3													
2003	34.6	47.3	60.9	73.0	90.0	63.5	22.5	34.9	58.0	74.8	91.5	59.4	
2004	34.6	48.3	64.0	77.2	88.3	64.3	25.2	41.9	62.2	78.6	89.6	61.7	
2005	34.3	47.8	63.2	77.0	88.9	64.6	33.0	49.0	66.2	78.3	90.7	65.9	
2006	33.1	52.2	66.5	77.7	89.8	65.9	35.7	54.5	69.9	81.2	92.6	68.8	
2007	34.5	51.8	68.4	79.3	89.6	66.5	33.1	52.6	68.0	79.1	91.0	66.7	

192 Regional Human Development Report for Latin America and the Caribbean 2010

		Dra	nins					Elect	ricity					Telép	hone*		
1	2	3	4		Media		2	3		5	Media		2		4		Media
16.8	26.2	40.7	48.7	71.1	43.3	76.1	86.3	93.9	96.7	98.3	91.1	5.9	7.1	13.4	23.3	43.4	20.6
10.9	23.8	39.7	53.8	/8.6	45.3	/6.8	92.5	95.4	98.1	98.6	93.2	1.9	5.6	10.4	26.7	57.2	23.7
10.5	23.5	40.5	64.5	81.5 83.1	49.2 50.8	86.2	94.1	97.3	99.0	99.8	96.1	4.8	0.9 10.1	23.1	34.3	66.5	29.4
12.6	32.5	52.2	69.4	83.7	53.4	92.2	97.6	99.0	99.6	100.0	98.1	7.8	16.3	32.9	50.2	75.3	40.0
14.2	31.6	50.5	67.6	86.2	53.1	92.1	98.2	98.6	99.8	99.8	97.9	13.1	29.5	47.1	66.8	86.1	51.7
26.2	40.3	57.1	68.8	82.9	57.5	94.4	99.1	99.4	99.7	99.8	98.6	24.2	42.1	59.0	75.0	89.1	60.3
24.6	38.8	56.8	73.8	85.0	58.7	96.2	98.8	99.5	99.7	99.9	98.9	30.1	50.2	68.0	82.0	93.1	67.2
24.3	40.0	56.7	70.9	86.4	58.5	96.9	99.4	99.6	99.6	99.9	99.2	36.0	58.4	72.2	84.4	93.8	71.2
28.3	41.4	56.6	71.3	84.4	58.6	97.1	98.6	99.3	99.7	99.8	99.0	44.9	62.6	76.7	87.4	94.6	74.9
5.8	12.4	12.4	26.6	48.4	23.0	44.2	58.9	70.8	80.0	94.5	71.5	1.2	1.9	1.6	3.0	14.0	4.9
5.0	6.3	14.5	18.5	34.4	16.9	40.7	60.0	65.6	79.4	88.7	68.7	1.2	3.0	6.2	8.6	29.6	10.8
4.9	5.6	11.6	17.6	35.0	16.6	48.0	60.5	71.7	82.2	90.8	72.8	1.7	2.1	6.0	10.0	34.3	12.6
3.7	9.5	16.6	25.2	41.7	21.3	39.8	63.2	78.0	85.9	90.3	73.7	3.2	9.6	20.4	37.3	64.8	30.3
0.8	1.9	4.4	8.1	27.9	10.1	43.7	63.5	80.4	90.2	95.9	77.4	0.5	1.3	4.2	9.0	35.0	11.9
0.1	0.6	3.3	5.7	20.9	7.1	62.2	76.7	85.0	95.9	98.7	85.5	0.5	1.7	7.0	13.8	49.2	16.7
0.8	1.6	3.1	9.0	21.7	8.4	70.5	83.4	91.2	95.2	96.1	88.5	2.6	5.0	12.7	30.7	54.9	24.1
0.8	2.1	4.1	11.3	25.3	10.1	74.5	88.0	93.1	96.0	98.5	91.0	10.0	16.2	28.4	46.7	73.1	38.3
2.4	2.1	4.4	9.2	24.5	9.6	78.1	87.9	93.4	95.5	99.0	91.7	10.4	15.5	29.6	45.4	69.1	37.0
2.1	4.3	6.6	11.3	25.5	11.1	81.5	88.8	94.1	96.3	98.3	92.6	10.4	22.1	31.3	45.4	/3./	39.6
1./	2.0	4.9	7.9	19.5	8.1	84.3	91.5	93.9	95.3	98.5	93.2	16.0	28.1	34.0	50.5	/6.5	43.9
2.2	3.2	4.5	8.5	22.3	9.1	86.5	93.8	95.8	96.7	98.8	94.7	24.9	34.9	53.9	65.4	83.1	55.1
1.4	2.2	5.9	11.0	21.2	0.0	91.0	95.0	97.3	97.8	99.0	90.7	52./	50.8 60.6	00.7 90.1	75.0 96.1	02.2	77.0
1.0	J.0	6.1	8.2	19.2	8.6	91.0	95.0	90.9	98.1	99.0	96.7	70.2	84.5	87.9	93.0	96.5	87.5
1.1		0.1	0.2	13.2	0.0	51.0	55.5	57.7	50.7	50.0	50.7	70.2	04.5	07.5	55.0	50.5	07.5
10.4	26.1	48.2	64.6	85.0	50.1	23.4	51.4	74.4	87.3	95.0	69.2	1.4	5.2	12.5	22.3	58.6	22.6
12.4	30.2	50.4	65.0	88.1	52.2	34.0	53.6	74.7	88.9	96.6	72.0	2.0	3.1	11.4	26.6	64.7	24.1
14.0	28.1	50.2	72.2	89.7	54.1	36.5	57.1	76.8	91.1	97.3	74.2	2.4	4.7	10.4	27.5	64.5	24.6
6.9	25.7	53.8	69.5	87.0	51.5	27.8	55.0	80.9	91.0	96.3	72.5	0.1	2.3	13.4	25.6	60.4	22.8
13.8	24.5	45.2	63.3	80.9	48.0	34.9	51.6	71.2	85.7	94.2	69.6	2.8	3.6	8.2	24.0	51.9	20.1
8.8	24.6	47.6	66.4	85.4	49.3	29.1	54.7	78.7	90.2	95.9	71.8	0.9	2.7	11.1	24.2	55.1	20.9
12.6	22.0	45.3	63.1	86.7	49.3	33.6	51.7	75.1	88.1	96.3	71.6	1.6	2.9	10.6	23.9	58.6	22.1
11.4	27.1	49.2	68.3	85.5	50.9	33.9	56.9	78.3	89.7	95.5	72.9	1.6	4.6	13.9	31.0	61.9	24.9
13.4	28.6	48.5	66.9	85.5	51.8	38.7	57.9	78.0	88.7	95.6	74.1	3.3	6.0	16.7	32.2	60.8	26.6
12.2	29.5	51.7	69.0	87.5	52.9	41.6	64.2	82.2	91.1	96.5	77.0	1.4	6.4	16.7	36.9	64.5	27.8
11.9	32.6	54.8	71.1	87.1	54.1	47.2	65.5	84.0	93.1	96.6	78.9	1.4	7.2	19.5	38.6	64.7	28.6

Table A13	(cont	inue)											
			Wa	iter					Тоі	let			
	1	2	3	4	5	Media	1	2	3	4	5	Media	
Uruguay													
Urban													
1989	79.2	91.8	94.5	97.9	98.8	93.4							
1992	93.4	96.8	97.4	99.1	99.6	97.6	62.0	80.1	91.4	97.0	99.4	88.2	
1995	93.8	96.8	98.0	98.9	99.1	97.6	67.8	85.1	93.4	97.7	99.5	90.6	
1996	94.9	97.1	98.3	98.9	99.5	98.0	72.2	87.7	94.6	97.9	99.7	92.1	
1997	94.5	96.9	98.2	98.7	99.1	97.8	71.9	87.6	94.1	98.0	99.4	92.0	
1998	92.9	96.5	97.6	98.0	99.0	97.2	70.5	86.8	95.4	98.1	99.7	92.2	
2000	95.1	97.3	97.9	98.5	99.2	97.9	73.7	89.0	95.8	98.5	99.7	93.1	
2001	97.0	97.7	98.2	98.8	99.2	98.3	75.3	90.6	95.9	98.7	99.7	93.8	
2002	97.1	97.6	98.5	98.6	99.4	98.4	79.2	90.5	96.7	98.8	99.8	94.6	
2003	97.4	97.9	98.8	98.8	99.4	98.6	80.2	90.6	96.7	98.9	99.7	94.7	
2004	97.0	98.4	98.9	99.2	99.7	98.8	80.0	93.0	97.3	98.9	99.8	95.3	
2005	97.8	98.0	98.8	99.3	99.6	98.8	76.6	90.7	96.4	99.0	99.9	94.2	
2006	93.5	98.2	99.3	99.8	99.9	98.5	68.3	87.9	95.1	98.1	99.3	91.9	
Venezuela								_					
1989	82.9	88.1	92.3	94.6	97.5	91.7	72.6	78.7	86.0	91.4	96.4	86.1	
1992	85.7	90.7	94.0	95.1	97.7	93.0	77.8	85.6	91.1	93.4	97.1	89.6	
1995	87.8	89.9	92.5	96.1	97.6	93.2	74.9	79.3	86.9	92.3	96.4	86.8	
1998	87.2	90.5	92.7	95.8	96.7	92.9	76.0	81.9	88.0	93.8	96.6	88.0	
1999	87.8	89.8	93.0	95.0	97.9	93.1	76.6	84.2	88.7	92.4	97.2	88.6	
2000	87.4	89.3	92.0	93.8	97.3	92.3	76.5	83.3	88.1	92.1	96.8	88.1	
2001	85.7	89.6	92.0	94.0	97.1	92.1	74.4	82.6	88.5	92.6	96.9	87.8	
2002	83.8	87.5	91.3	93.4	96.7	91.0	72.1	80.1	87.3	92.5	96.6	86.7	
2003	86.3	88.7	91.8	93.8	96.8	91.9	75.0	81.2	88.3	92.4	96.5	87.5	
2004	89.1	90.5	93.9	95.1	97.8	93.9	78.4	81.9	88.4	92.7	96.8	89.0	
2005	82.7	83.9	88.7	93.6	97.0	89.8	83.2	85.3	90.0	93.9	97.1	90.5	
2006	82.1	85.7	90.6	93.5	96.9	90.4	85.8	88.8	91.9	95.0	97.1	92.2	

Note: Nationwide percentage of the population with cover per quintile.

* Land line plus mobile phone is counted for Brazil from 2001. from 2001 for Nicaragua and from 1999 for Paraguay

		Dra	ins					Elect	ricity					Telép	none*		
1	2		4		Media		2	3		5	Media			3			Media
25.9	39.1	53.2	68.1	85.0	57.2	88.4	96.3	99.0	99.8	99.7	97.2						
27.9	39.3	54.9	69.5	86.9	59.1	93.2	98.5	99.7	99.9	100.0	98.6						
28.9	41.7	54.3	68.9	86.2	59.4	95.6	99.1	99.8	99.8	100.0	99.1						
32.2	42.9	54.7	67.8	86.0	60.1	96.9	99.2	99.5	100.0	100.0	99.3						
31.9	44.8	56.5	68.8	86.4	61.3	96.6	99.1	99.8	99.9	100.0	99.3						
28.5	43.3	58.3	70.6	86.8	61.6	96.8	99.2	99.9	100.0	100.0	99.4						
27.0	42.9	55.6	68.2	85.6	59.8	97.1	99.0	99.8	99.8	100.0	99.3						
32.9	46.6	58.6	71.8	87.6	63.7							37.6	59.1	72.8	83.6	93.3	73.4
34.7	47.7	60.2	73.0	87.7	64.9							36.8	56.8	71.7	81.6	93.5	72.4
37.8	46.4	58.8	72.5	87.7	64.6							37.3	54.0	69.6	80.6	93.0	71.2
38.4	50.4	63.2	74.5	88.7	67.1							39.1	57.6	72.7	84.7	94.8	74.2
36.8	50.3	60.3	74.4	89.3	66.2							38.2	60.9	71.8	84.1	95.3	74.2
29.9	44.2	58.7	71.3	84.4	61.7	97.7	99.3	99.7	99.9	99.9	99.5	57.6	77.9	87.3	94.2	98.4	85.9
						92.7	95.4	97.5	98.3	99.2	96.9						
						95.0	97.1	98.3	98.7	99.3	97.8						
55.3	62.6	71.9	80.1	86.8	72.6	98.2	98.4	99.4	99.3	99.5	99.0	15.2	16.2	24.8	32.4	53.0	30.0
58.6	64.4	72.4	78.8	87.9	73.6	97.4	97.9	98.4	99.1	99.0	98.4	19.8	22.1	31.0	38.6	61.0	36.3
57.5	63.9	71.1	78.0	86.6	72.7	97.7	98.8	98.9	99.1	99.5	98.9	19.1	24.3	30.3	41.1	63.5	37.8
54.9	64.1	71.7	78.1	86.1	72.1	98.0	98.2	99.0	99.2	99.6	98.9	16.7	21.9	28.9	38.7	58.1	34.6
54.2	62.7	70.6	77.2	86.5	71.5	99.8	99.9	99.9	99.9	99.9	99.9	14.5	19.3	25.8	36.7	55.9	32.3
51.7	59.9	68.6	76.6	85.2	69.7	99.7	99.8	99.8	99.9	99.9	99.8	12.7	15.5	22.0	31.5	51.0	28.3
54.6	60.4	69.3	77.3	86.0	70.9	95.5	95.5	95.5	96.0	95.7	95.7	13.9	17.3	23.4	33.1	49.6	29.2
55.8	59.5	69.9	75.8	86.0	71.7	98.6	98.5	99.0	99.3	99.6	99.1	17.7	17.8	25.4	34.5	52.6	32.5
81.0	82.9	87.5	92.2	96.1	88.6												
84.5	87.2	90.9	94.1	96.6	91.2	98.4	99.1	99.5	99.5	99.7	99.3	20.0	24.2	31.3	39.8	55.5	35.8

Table A14 Latin America and the Caribean (18 countries). Access to basic infrastructure. Difference between income quintiles (%)

			Wa	ter			Elect	ricity		F	ersons	oer roon	n	House	nolds wi materi	th poor als (%)	quality
Country	Year	Total	Q1	Q5	Q5-Q1	Total	Q1	Q5	Q5-Q1	Total	Q1	Q5	Q5-Q1	Total	Q1	Q5	Q5-Q1
Argentina	2006	98.9	95.5	100.0	4.5					1.3	2.2	0.8	-1.4	2.1	7.1	0.3	-6.8
Bolivia (Plurinational State of)	2007	82.8	61.5	90.1	28.6	80.9	53.8	92.0	38.1					62.6	92.7	37.5	55.3
Brazil	2008	92.6	78.9	99.1	20.2	98.6	95.8	99.8	4.0	0.6	0.8	0.4	0.5	1.7	5.1	0.1	5.0
Chile	2006	96.5	93.4	98.6	5.2	99.4	98.5	99.8	1.3	0.8	1.1	0.5	0.6	9.7	17.8	3.6	14.2
Colombia	2003	79.8	75.5	88.4	13.0	89.3	86.7	92.7	6.0	1.7	2.0	1.0	1.0				
Costa Rica	2009	99.2	97.3	99.9	2.6	99.4	98.4	99.9	1.5	0.8	1.0	0.6	0.4	4.0	8.0	1.1	6.9
Dominican Rep.	2007	77.3	65.2	88.9	23.7	96.9	95.0	98.9	3.9	1.2	1.5	0.9	0.6				
Ecuador	2007	91.7	83.3	97.5	14.2	96.7	91.7	99.4	7.6	0.8	1.0	0.6	0.5	28.8	52.2	12.1	40.1
El Salvador	2007	68.3	44.5	88.3	43.8	91.1	72.3	99.0	26.7	2.2	3.4	1.1	2.3	25.9	52.2	8.3	43.9
Guatemala	2006	76.4	60.2	89.8	29.6	81.8	54.7	96.3	41.6	3.0	4.1	1.6	2.5	51.9	80.5	21.6	58.9
Honduras	2007	83.8	69.4	94.7	25.3	73.5	33.8	96.9	63.1	1.3	1.7	0.8	0.9	8.4	16.8	1.3	15.5
Mexico	2008	88.8	77.0	95.7	18.7	99.0	97.1	99.8	2.6	1.1	1.6	0.6	1.0	31.8	56.8	14.8	42.0
Nicaragua	2005	64.6	31.2	83.1	51.9	73.7	39.8	90.3	50.5	2.7	3.9	1.5	2.4	13.7	29.4	5.1	24.3
Panama	2003	91.4	78.4	97.8	19.5	84.1	47.7	97.3	49.6	1.6	2.6	0.9	-1.8	9.1	28.3	1.7	-26.6
Paraguay	2008	97.7	96.5	97.0	0.4	96.7	91.0	98.6	7.6	1.6	2.4	0.9	1.5	1.7	2.4	0.5	1.8
Peru	2007	66.5	34.5	89.6	55.1	78.9	47.2	96.6	49.4	1.6	2.3	0.9	1.4				
Uruguay	2006	98.5	93.5	99.9	6.4	99.5	97.7	99.9	2.2	0.9	1.6	0.6	1.0	1.2	3.3	0.3	3.0
Venezuela	2006	90.4	82.1	96.9	14.8	99.3	98.4	99.7	1.4	1.5	2.1	1.0	1.1	9.4	17.8	2.6	15.2
Source: Gaspari	ni et al. (2	009a).															

Table A15 Latin America and the Caribean (20 countries). Index of educational mobility by 13-19 and 20-25 age groups

	42.40			12.10	20.25		12.10	20.25		12.10	20.25		12.10	
Armont	13-19	20-25	Colomb	12-19	20-25	ENIENAE	15-19	20-25	Movico	12-19	20-25	1000	0.92	20-25
Argent	IIId						0 0 0 0	0.74	1020	0.94	0.70	1999	0.05	0.62
2004	0.87	0.78	1996	0.79	0.73	2003	0.83	0.74	1989	0.83	0.75	ENAHO	0.65	0.05
2005	0.86	0.77	1999	0.80	0.75	2005	0.86	0.73	1996	0.83	0.75	2001	0.84	0.80
2006	0.87	0.77	2000	0.80	0.75	2006	0.83	0.72	1998	0.81	0.71	2002	0.83	0.79
2007	0.88	0.80	ECH-Na	tional		2007	0.86	0.75	2000	0.82	0.70	ENAHO		
2008	0.88	0.80	2001	0.83	0.76	2008	0.89	0.76	2002	0.84	0.71	2003	0.83	0.85
2009	0.87	0.79	2003	0.84	0.75	El Salva	ador		2004	0.83	0.68	2004	0.85	0.82
Belize			2004	0.83	0.75	1991	0.79	0.77	2005	0.85	0.71	2005	0.87	0.85
1993	0.87	0.91	GEIH-N	ational		1995	0.78	0.73	2006	0.85	0.67	2006	0.86	0.84
1994	0.88	0.77	2006	0.87	0.78	1996	0.77	0.69	2008	0.86	0.73	2007	0.86	0.82
1997	0.91	0.88	Costa R	lica		1998	0.74	0.74	Nicarag	ua		Urugua	ay	
1998	0.92	0.91	1990	0.82	0.79	1999	0.75	0.72	1993	0.78	0.78	Urban		
1999	0.90	0.92	1992	0.81	0.75	2000	0.76	0.73	1998	0.77	0.74	1989	0.89	0.80
Bolivia			1997	0.82	0.75	2001	0.77	0.72	2001	0.77	0.73	1992	0.88	0.80
Nation	al		2000	0.83	0.74	2002	0.76	0.70	2005	0.80	0.74	1995	0.88	0.79
1997	0.78	0.69	2001	0.81	0.70	2003	0.78	0.71	Panama			1996	0.87	0.78
1999	0.81	0.69	2002	0.83	0.72	2004	0.78	0.74	1989	0.78	0.83	1997	0.87	0.78
2000	0.74	0.69	2003	0.83	0.73	2005	0.79	0.72	1991	0.82	0.78	1998	0.86	0.76
2001	0.82	0.78	2004	0.85	0.76	2006	0.85	0.48	1995	0.82	0.74	2000	0.84	0.74
2002	0.81	0.71	2005	0.86	0.75	2007	0.88	0.83	1997	0.82	0.74	2001	0.79	0.68
2003-	0.84	0.77	2006	0.88	0.76	Guaten	nala		1998	0.83	0.80	2002	0.79	0.68
2004			2007	0.88	0.76	ENCOV			2001	0.81	0.74	2003	0.82	0.69
2005	0.88	0.76	2008	0.89	0.76	2000	0.76	0.71	2002	0.82	0.72	2004	0.81	0.69
2007	0.87	0.77	2009	0.88	0.77	2006	0.78	0.73	2003	0.84	0.75	2005	0.81	0.66
Brazil	0.04	0.76	Domini	can Repub	lic	ENEI			2004	0.85	0.73	Nation		
2004	0.84	0.76	ENFT 1			2002	0.78	0.77	2005	0.83	0.73	2006	0.85	0.75
2005	0.83	0.76	1996	0.82	0.78	2003	0.76	0.72	2006	0.84	0.73	2007	0.83	0.72
2006	0.84	0.76	1997	0.82	0.84	2004	0.79	0.72	Paragua	ıy		2008	0.85	0.70
2007	0.85	0.80	ENFT 2			Hondu	ras		1995	0.78	0.72	Venezu	iela	
Chilo	0.80	0.01	2000	0.80	0.79	1992	0.80	0.70	1997	0.84	0.77	1989	0.84	0.77
1987	0.89	0.81	2001	0.79	0.75	1997	0.78	0.71	1999	0.81	0.71	1992	0.88	0.81
1990	0.88	0.81	2002	0.76	0.74	1999	0.82	0.69	2001	0.80	0.75	1995	0.93	0.78
1992	0.89	0.86	2003	0.80	0.78	2001	0.82	0.70	2002	0.85	0.75	1998	0.91	0.78
1994	0.92	0.77	2004	0.82	0.79	2003	0.79	0.67	2003	0.85	0.81	1999	0.90	0.78
1996	0.88	0.76	ENFT 3			2004	0.77	0.67	2004	0.84	0.81	2000	0.89	0.76
1998	0.89	0.77	2005	0.83	0.75	2005	0.77	0.65	2005	0.84	0.80	2001	0.91	0.77
2000	0.89	0.79	2006	0.80	0.79	2006	0.82	0.65	2006	0.84	0.77	2002	0.91	0.77
2003	0.92	0.79	2007	0.85	0.82	2007	0.82	0.69	2007	0.85	0.77	2003	0.90	0.77
2006	0.94	0.83	Ecuado	r		Jamaic	a	0.75	2008	0.85	0.79	2004	0.92	0.78
			ECV	0.00	0.70	1990	0.96	0.77	Peru			2005	0.93	0.80
			1994	0.80	0.76	1996	0.97	0.95	ENAHO	0.01	0.01	2006	0.94	0.79
			1995	0.81	0.78	1999	0.99	0.95	1997	0.81	0.81			
			1998	0.78	0.70	2001	0.98	0.73	1998	0.82	0.83			
			1999	0.78	0.66	2002	0.98	0.85						

Note: The Index of Educational Mobility is defined as 1 minus the position of variance of the educational divide that is explained by the family background. In an enconomy with very low mobility. family background will be important and the index too.

	1	Vationa	I		Urban			Rural				
	Percentage of population in poverty	Poverty gap	Poverty divide	Percentage of population in poverty	Poverty gap	Poverty divide	Percentage of population in poverty	Poverty gap	Poverty divide			Percentage of population in poverty
	FGT(0)	FGT(1)	FGT(2)	FGT(0)	FGT(1)	FGT(2)	FGT(0)	FGT(1)	FGT(2)			FGT(0)
Argenti	ina (EPł	HC)								c	olomb	oia
2003	22.2	10.2	6.5	22.2	10.2	6.5				E	NH Na	itiona
2004	20.4	9.7	6.5	20.4	9.7	6.5				1	996	29.4
2005	15.8	6.6	3.9	15.8	6.6	3.9				1	999	34.8
2006	12.7	5.3	3.1	12.7	5.3	3.1				2	000	37.8
2007	9.5	3.7	2.2	9.5	3.7	2.2				E	CH Na	tional
2008	8.7	3.5	2.2	8.7	3.5	2.2				2	001	40.7
2009	8.4	3.5	2.2	8.4	3.5	2.2				2	003	38.8
Belize										2	004	43.3
1993	35.3	14.1	8.0	19.7	6.5	3.2	46.2	19.4	11.4		CILL AL	
1994	36.8	14.1	7.7	24.7	8.2	3.9	45.6	18.4	10.5			ationa
1997	44.5	20.2	12.3	29.2	11.2	5.7	53.1	25.3	16.0	2	006	37.8
1998	43.4	18.6	10.6	28.1	10.6	5.6	52.2	23.2	13.4	1		11Ca
1999	38.1	16.3	9.7	22.9	8.6	4.5	44.9	19.7	12.0	1	990	20.7
Bolivia	22.0	47.0	44.0	24.2		2.0	60.0	20.2	20.7	1	992 007	15.0
1997	33.8	17.2	11.8	21.3	7.5	3.9	60.8	38.3	28.7	2	000	1/1 7
1999	39.5	22.9	16.9	19.5	1.2	4.0	/5.6	51.3	40.2	2	000	15.1
2000	43.5	26.8	20.7	25.2	11.1	7.0	//.0	55.6	45.8	2	002	14.9
2001	38.0	21.0	15.0	22.8	0./ 0./).I	60.0	42.4	32.Z	2	003	14.3
2002	40.1	10.1	12.5	10.4	0.4 6 E	4.0	62.7	45.0	20.0	2	004	13.6
2005	22.5	16.1	12.5	19.4	5.5	2.4	64.2	26.4	20.7	2	005	12.2
2000	33.5	14.6	9.2	21.5	6.3	2.9	56.8	30.4	20.1	2	006	11.6
Brazil	55.5	14.0	9.2	21.5	0.5	2.5	50.0	50.0	21.5	2	007	8.2
2004	24.9	11 1	72	21.4	95	6.2	42.2	193	11 9	2	008	8.4
2004	27.9	10.0	6.4	19.4	8.4	5.5	40.3	18.2	11.1	2	009	8.1
2006	19.5	8.7	5.7	16.2	7.1	4.7	36.2	16.7	10.4	D	omini	can Re
2007	18.2	8.3	5.5	15.1	6.9	4.7	34.0	15.2	9.6	E	NFT 1	
2008	15.7	7.0	4.6	12.7	5.7	3.9	30.8	13.5	8.4	1	996	16.8
Chile										1	997	15.7
1987	39.4	15.8	8.6	35.4	14.3	7.9	55.7	21.8	11.4	E	NFT 2	
1990	21.2	7.3	3.7	19.6	6.6	3.3	28.2	10.3	5.5	2	000	15.8
1992	15.3	4.7	2.2	14.0	4.3	2.1	22.2	6.6	3.1	2	001	15.9
1994	14.5	4.8	2.5	12.9	4.3	2.3	22.6	7.2	3.5	2	002	18.5
1996	11.3	3.4	1.7	9.4	2.8	1.4	21.5	6.5	3.1	2	003	22.5
1998	10.3	3.3	1.7	9.1	3.0	1.6	18.2	5.3	2.4	2	004	28.4
2000	9.1	3.0	1.6	8.2	2.8	1.5	15.1	4.8	2.3	2	005	26.7
2003	8.1	2.7	1.4	7.5	2.5	1.4	12.4	3.9	1.9			
2006	5.2	1.7	0.9	4.9	1.6	0.8	7.6	2.3	1.1			

Tabl	e A16	Latin	Amei	'ica aı	nd the	e Caril	bean (<mark>20 co</mark>	untri	es). Pov	erty								
	١	lationa	I		Urban			Rural				Nationa	ıl		Urban			Rural	
	Percentage of population in poverty	Poverty gap	Poverty divide	Percentage of population in poverty	Poverty gap	Poverty divide	Percentage of population in poverty	Poverty gap	Poverty divide		Percentage of population in poverty	Poverty gap	Poverty divide	Percentage of population in poverty	Poverty gap	Poverty divide	Percentage of population in poverty	Poverty gap	Poverty divide
	FGT(0)	FGT(1)	FGT(2)	FGT(0)	FGT(1)	FGT(2)	FGT(0)	FGT(1)	FGT(2)		FGT(0)	FGT(1)	FGT(2)	FGT(0)	FGT(1)	FGT(2)	FGT(0)	FGT(1)	FGT(2)
Argent	ina (EPH	IC)								Col	ombia								
2003	22.2	10.2	6.5	22.2	10.2	6.5				ENI	Nationa								
2004	20.4	9.7	6.5	20.4	9.7	6.5				199	6 29.4	14.1	9.8	18.1	7.5	5.0	46.3	24.0	17.0
2005	15.8	6.6	3.9	15.8	6.6	3.9				199	9 34.8	17.4	12.1	25.8	12.5	8.8	48.8	25.0	17.2
2006	12.7	5.3	3.1	12.7	5.3	3.1				200	0 37.8	19.3	13.5	28.6	13.9	9.8	52.9	28.2	19.7
2007	9.5	3.7	2.2	9.5	3.7	2.2				ECH	National								
2008	8.7	3.5	2.2	8.7	3.5	2.2				200	1 40.7	20.8	14.7	33.7	16.7	11.8	59.5	31.7	22.3
2009	8.4	3.5	2.2	8.4	3.5	2.2				200	3 38.8	19.9	14.1	33.6	17.4	12.7	52.4	26.1	17.6
Belize										200	4 43.3	22.8	16.2	35.9	18.8	13.7	63.8	33.7	23.2
1993	35.3	14.1	8.0	19.7	6.5	3.2	46.2	19.4	11.4	CE	UNetions								
1994	36.8	14.1	7.7	24.7	8.2	3.9	45.6	18.4	10.5	GEI		20.7	15.0	20.0	16.0	12 5	57.2	21.2	21.0
1997	44.5	20.2	12.3	29.2	11.2	5.7	53.1	25.3	16.0	200	0 57.8	20.7	15.0	30.8	16.9	12.5	57.5	31.2	21.8
1998	43.4	18.6	10.6	28.1	10.6	5.6	52.2	23.2	13.4	100		0.5	6.2	12.5	6.0	45	27.2	12.2	7 0
1999	38.1	16.3	9.7	22.9	8.6	4.5	44.9	19.7	12.0	199	20.7	9.5	5.0	14.2	5.0	4.J 2.0	27.5	12.2	7.0
Bolivia	22.0	47.2	44.0	24.2		2.0	60.0	20.2	20.7	199	7 15.0	6.1	3.9	8.6	3.6	2.0	10.5	7.0	1.0
1997	33.8	17.2	11.8	21.3	7.5	3.9	60.8	38.3	28.7	200	1/1 1/1 7	6.3	4.0	8.6	1.0	2.4	19.5	8.2	4.9 5 1
1999	39.5	22.9	16.9	19.5	1.2	4.0	/5.6	51.3	40.2	200	1 15 1	6.9	4.6	9.0	4.0	3.0	23.0	10.2	6.7
2000	43.5	20.8	20.7	25.2	0.7	7.0	77.0	55.0	45.8	200	7 14.9	6.7	4.5	9.0	4.1	2.9	22.0	10.5	6.6
2001	38.0	21.0	15.0	22.8	8.7	5.1	66.0	42.4	32.2	200	3 14.3	6.3	4.5	9.0	4.0	2.5	21.7	9.5	6.1
2002	40.1	22.0	12.9	22.8	8.4 C.F	4.0	69.9	45.0	30.0	200	1 136	5.9	3.8	8.7	3.8	2.5	20.3	8.9	5.7
2005	30.0 22 E	16.1	12.5	19.4	0.0	3.4	64.2	38.9	28.7	200	5 12.2	4.7	2.8	8.1	3.2	2.0	17.9	6.9	4.0
2000	33.3 22 E	10.4	0.2	10.7	5.5	2.9	04.3	30.4	20.1	200	5 11.6	4.7	2.9	8.0	3.4	2.1	16.6	6.6	4.0
2007 Prosil	55.5	14.0	9.2	21.5	0.5	2.9	50.0	50.0	21.5	200	7 8.2	2.9	1.7	5.3	1.9	1.1	12.2	4.3	2.5
2004	2/1 Q	11 1	7.2	21 /	05	62	12.2	10.3	11 0	200	8 8.4	3.9	2.7	5.9	2.9	2.1	11.7	5.2	3.6
2004	24.9	10.0	6.4	10 /	9.5	5.5	42.2	19.5	11.5	200	9 8.1	3.6	2.4	5.3	2.4	1.6	11.9	5.2	3.4
2005	10.5	8.7	5.7	16.2	7 1	J.J 1 7	36.2	16.7	10.4	Dor	ninican Re	public							
2000	18.2	83	5.5	15.1	6.9	4.7	34.0	15.2	9.6	ENF	T 1								
2007	15.7	7.0	4.6	12.7	5.7	3.9	30.8	13.2	8.4	199	5 16.8	5.9	3.1	14.5	5.1	2.7	19.7	7.0	3.7
Chile	15.7	7.0	4.0	12.7	5.7	5.5	50.0	15.5	0.4	199	7 15.7	5.9	3.3	10.8	3.8	2.2	21.8	8.5	4.7
1987	39.4	15.8	86	35.4	14 3	79	55.7	21.8	11 4	ENF	T 2								
1990	21.2	7.3	3.7	19.6	6.6	3,3	28.2	10.3	5.5	200	0 15.8	5.9	3.1	10.1	3.7	2.0	26.5	10.0	5.3
1992	15.3	4.7	2.2	14.0	4.3	2.1	22.2	6.6	3.1	200	1 15.9	5.1	2.4	10.9	3.5	1.6	25.0	8.1	3.8
1994	14.5	4.8	2.5	12.9	4.3	2.3	22.6	7.2	3.5	200	2 18.5	6.9	3.6	12.8	4.5	2.4	29.0	11.3	6.0
1996	11.3	3.4	1.7	9.4	2.8	1.4	21.5	6.5	3.1	200	3 22.5	8.2	4.3	18.4	6.8	3.5	29.8	10.7	5.5
1998	10.3	3.3	1.7	9,1	3.0	1.6	18.2	5.3	2.4	200	4 28.4	10.4	5.3	24.1	8.4	4.2	36.4	14.0	7.3
2000	9.1	3.0	1.6	8.2	2.8	1.5	15.1	4.8	2.3	200	5 26.7	9.9	5.2	22.9	8.0	4.0	33.7	13.3	7.3

Table A16 (continue)

	1	Vationa	I		Urban			Rural			1	lationa	I		Urban			Rural	
	Percentage of population in poverty	Poverty gap	Poverty divide	Percentage of population in poverty	Poverty gap	Poverty divide	Percentage of population in poverty	Poverty gap	Poverty divide		Percentage of population in poverty	Poverty gap	Poverty divide	Percentage of population in poverty	Poverty gap	Poverty divide	Percentage of population in poverty	Poverty gap	Poverty divide
	FGT(0)	FGT(1)	FGT(2)	FGT(0)	FGT(1)	FGT(2)	FGT(0)	FGT(1)	FGT(2)		FGT(0)	FGT(1)	FGT(2)	FGT(0)	FGT(1)	FGT(2)	FGT(0)	FGT(1)	FGT(2)
ENFT 3										Hondu	as								
2005	21.6	7.3	3.5	18.8	6.1	2.9	26.6	9.4	4.7	1992*	56.7	29.6	20.1	41.0	19.9	13.8	67.9	36.6	24.6
2006	18.7	6.0	2.8	15.2	4.6	2.1	25.1	8.6	4.1	1997	45.1	20.8	12.5	29.8	12.5	7.3	57.1	27.3	16.6
2007	19.9	6.8	3.5	17.7	6.3	3.3	23.8	7.7	3.7	1999	47.2	23.4	15.4	27.2	10.9	6.4	63.5	33.7	22.7
Ecuado	or		-							2001	41.8	21.1	13.7	22.1	9.0	5.2	60.7	32.7	21.9
ECV										2003	49.1	25.4	16.6	28.5	12.2	7.3	66.1	36.1	24.3
1994	34.6	15.7	10.0	22.5	9.1	5.5	49.8	24.0	15.6	2004	42.8	21.2	14.1	28.4	11.8	7.2	62.6	34.1	23.6
1995	35.1	19.1	13.7	19.7	8.2	5.0	59.6	36.5	27.6	2005	42.1	20.9	13.8	27.8	11.2	6.5	61.2	34.0	23.5
2006	18.9	8.7	5.5	11./	4.7	2.8	40.9	21.1	13.9	2006	33.9	15.8	10.0	21.2	8.1	4.5	52.2	26.7	17.9
	21 5	12.6	0.7	24.2	10.1	6.1	45.2	20.2	12.2	Jamaica	62.2	42.0	25.4	60.7	42.1	26.1	66.0	42 E	24.2
2005	21.2	12.0	0.2	24.5	7.0	0.1	45.5	20.2	12.5	1990	45.5	42.0	22.4	46.7	45.1	25.0	00.9	42.5	24.2
2004	20.0	10.7	6.4	17.0	7.0	4.5	45.9	18.0	12.2	1990	45.7	29.2	17.0	40.7	22.5	10.1	31 /	18.6	1/1 3
2005	20.0	7.5	1.2	17.9	1.0	2.5	33.9	13.5	7.6	2001	/8.3	36.8	32.6	50.2	38.9	34.6	/5.8	3/1.0	30.0
2000	17.6	6.9	4.0	9.9	3.4	1.9	32.5	13.5	8.0	2001	/13 1	31.5	27.1	/5.9	35.7	31.0	/0.8	27.9	23.2
2007	18.4	7.0	4.1	10.8	3.8	2.2	33.1	13.4	7.9	Mexico	-5.1	51.5	27.1	45.5	55.7	51.7	40.0	21.5	25.2
El Salva	ador									1989	25.1	10.6	6.5	15.0	5.8	3.7	41.4	18.4	11.1
1991	37.1	18.0	12.0	20.2	8.2	5.0	52.4	26.9	18.3	1992	19.5	7.7	4.3	10.4	3.6	2.0	44.1	18.8	10.4
1995	28.1	11.5	6.8	13.6	4.5	2.4	45.5	19.8	12.0	1996	34.3	15.7	9.8	24.1	10.0	6.0	61.5	31.2	20.1
1996	29.2	12.4	7.4	14.4	4.9	2.6	47.1	21.4	13.1	1998	26.9	11.5	6.8	16.1	5.9	3.3	56.6	27.2	16.5
1998	33.0	17.5	12.4	16.3	7.1	4.6	55.7	31.5	22.9	2000	20.2	8.4	4.9	10.5	4.0	2.4	49.1	21.5	12.6
1999	29.0	14.6	10.1	13.3	5.0	2.9	50.6	27.7	20.0	2002	17.4	6.4	3.6	10.1	3.4	1.9	40.1	15.9	8.9
2000	29.7	14.9	10.3	14.0	5.2	3.0	51.3	28.3	20.3	2004	15.1	6.0	3.5	9.4	3.4	1.9	33.7	14.5	8.5
2001	29.4	15.0	10.5	15.3	6.3	4.0	49.3	27.3	19.8	2005	15.4	6.1	3.6	10.8	4.2	2.5	30.8	12.7	7.4
2002	30.0	15.2	10.5	15.8	6.6	4.1	50.1	27.5	19.7	2006	12.2	4.6	2.7	8.1	3.0	1.9	26.2	9.9	5.4
2003	28.4	13.9	9.6	16.1	6.8	4.5	46.1	24.2	16.9	2008	14.0	5.6	3.4	8.8	3.4	2.1	32.2	13.6	8.0
2004	26.0	12.1	8.1	15.3	6.2	3.9	41.8	20.9	14.3	Nicarag	jua								
2005	27.1	12.6	8.4	15.5	6.2	3.7	44.2	22.3	15.4	1993	59.5	32.1	21.8	45.7	21.8	13.7	77.3	45.4	32.4
2006	20.0	7.1	3.6	11.7	3.8	1.9	32.3	12.0	6.1	1998	49.1	22.6	13.8	38.4	15.7	8.7	61.8	30.9	20.0
2007	18.9	7.8	4.7	8.5	2.7	1.3	36.2	16.3	10.3	2001	47.5	20.1	11.4	36.8	13.8	7.3	62.4	28.9	17.2
Guaten	nala									2005	42.7	17.7	9.8	25.3	8.2	3.9	64.6	29.7	17.3
2000	34.6	13 7	77	20.5	7 2	11	13.4	17 0	10.0										
2000	34.0	1/1 /	8.7	17.2	6.1	4.1	45.4 40 A	77.1	12.7										
FNEL	55.9	14.4	0.2	17.2	0.1	J.2	49.4	22.1	12.7										
2002	47 7	25.7	18 1	24.7	10.3	6.4	61 3	34 9	25.0										
2003	41.3	22.0	15.2	20.1	8.1	4.8	54.4	30.7	21.6										
2004	46.7	24.7	17.1	29.6	13.3	8.3	61.0	34.2	24.4										

Cuadro A16 (continue)

	ľ	Vationa	I		Urban			Rural				Nationa	I	7. 	Urban			Rural	
	Percentage of population in poverty	Poverty gap	Poverty divide	Percentage of population in poverty	Poverty gap	Poverty divide	Percentage of population in poverty	Poverty gap	Poverty divide		Percentage of population in poverty	Poverty gap	Poverty divide	Percentage of population in poverty	Poverty gap	Poverty divide	Percentage of population in poverty	Poverty gap	Poverty divide
	FGT(0)	FGT(1)	FGT(2)	FGT(0)	FGT(1)	FGT(2)	FGT(0)	FGT(1)	FGT(2)		FGT(0)	FGT(1)	FGT(2)	FGT(0)	FGT(1)	FGT(2)	FGT(0)	FGT(1)	FGT(2)
Panama	á									ENAHO	3								
1989	37.1	22.9	18.2	18.3	7.9	4.8	59.0	40.5	33.9	2003	25.5	9.7	5.2	14.0	5.3	3.0	53.2	20.3	10.3
1991	34.0	20.5	15.8	18.0	8.5	5.8	52.9	34.7	27.7	2004	22.2	7.6	3.7	8.8	2.6	1.2	50.9	18.3	8.9
1995	27.3	16.1	12.5	12.4	5.3	3.4	48.6	31.5	25.6	2005	24.2	8.7	4.5	12.3	4.2	2.3	51.6	19.1	9.5
1997	25.8	14.7	10.9	12.9	5.8	3.7	44.6	27.6	21.4	2006	20.4	7.1	3.5	7.6	2.3	1.1	47.7	17.3	8.5
1998	26.5	15.1	11.5	12.7	5.3	3.4	46.8	29.5	23.4	2007	19.8	7.3	3.7	6.3	1.9	0.9	48.6	18.8	9.6
2001	28.6	15.2	10.6	14.9	6.8	4.5	51.1	29.0	20.6	Urugua	у								
2002	25.2	11.4	6.9	12.6	5.0	2.9	46.1	22.0	13.4	Urbano									
2003	23.9	10.9	6.7	11.4	4.6	2.8	44.9	21.5	13.1	1989	3.3	0.8	0.4	3.3	0.8	0.4			
2004	22.5	10.2	6.1	10.5	4.0	2.3	43.0	20.6	12.4	1992	3.4	1.1	0.5	3.4	1.1	0.5			
2005	22.5	9.8	5.8	11.2	4.3	2.6	42.1	19.3	11.4	1995	3.5	1.1	0.5	3.5	1.1	0.5			
2006	22.2	10.4	6.4	9.9	3.9	2.3	43.8	21.8	13.7	1996	4.1	1.3	0.7	4.1	1.3	0.7			
Paragu	ay									1997	3.9	1.3	0.7	3.9	1.3	0.7			
1995	26.2	12.0	7.3	9.3	3.6	2.1	43.6	20.6	12.7	1998	4.0	1.3	0.7	4.0	1.3	0.7			
1997	27.0	13.2	8.6	11.1	4.4	2.5	45.0	23.2	15.5	2000	3.3	0.9	0.4	3.3	0.9	0.4			
1999	27.1	13.7	9.0	11.1	4.5	2.7	45.3	24.1	16.1	2001	4.3	1.1	0.4	4.3	1.1	0.4			
2001	25.2	11.2	7.1	11.9	4.6	2.9	40.5	18.8	12.0	2002	5.2	1.4	0.6	5.2	1.4	0.6			
2002	35.1	16.8	10.7	22.1	9.1	5.5	52.1	26.8	17.5	2003	6.1	1.7	0.7	6.1	1.7	0.7			
2003	28.4	12.1	7.1	18.0	7.1	4.0	41.7	18.6	11.1	2004	8.6	2.3	0.9	8.6	2.3	0.9			
2004	24.6	9.6	5.4	16.6	6.0	3.3	35.0	14.4	8.2	2005	7.4	1.9	0.7	7.4	1.9	0.7			
2005	22.5	9.5	5.6	14.7	5.5	3.0	33.1	14.9	9.1	Nacion	al		017			•			
2006	25.9	10.9	6.3	15.6	5.7	3.0	40.1	18.2	10.9	2006	67	17	0.7	6.8	1.8	0.7	55	1 /	0.6
2007	21.2	9.2	5.5	12.0	4.6	2.6	34.0	15.7	9.5	2000	6.5	1.7	0.7	6.6	1.0	0.7	J.J A A	1.4	0.0
2008	19.4	7.2	3.8	10.2	3.3	1.5	32.5	12.7	7.1	2007	3.6	0.8	0.7	3.7	0.9	0.7	1.9	0.5	0.5
Perú										Venezu	ola (Ro	n Boliv	ariana (5.7 10)	0.5	0.5	1.5	0.5	0.2
ENAHO	1									1989	20.2	8.2	5 2	71	31	22	22.9	93	5.8
1997	31.6	13.9	8.2	13.6	4.3	2.1	64.7	31.5	19.4	1992	15.2	5.8	3.5	6.4	2.8	2.2	16.8	6.3	3.8
1998	27.5	11.9	7.0	13.7	4.7	2.4	57.3	27.5	16.9	1995	29.5	11 5	6.6	11.2	1.2	2.1	33.1	13.0	7.4
1999	29.3	12.6	7.4	13.8	4.8	2.5	63.8	29.9	18.3	1998	27.9	11.9	7.4	9.8	3.8	2.5	30.9	13.0	8.2
2000	25.6	10.5	5.8	8.8	2.6	1.2	61.8	27.6	15.9	1999	21.5	13.1	7.9	12.7	1.8	2.5	34.6	1/1.6	8.8
ENAHO	2									2000	30.6	12.6	7.4	15.9	6.9	4.6	33.0	13.5	7.9
2001	29.9	12.5	7.0	15.0	5.4	2.9	61.2	27.3	15.7	2000	28.5	11 7	6.9	27.1	12.7	8.7	28.6	11.6	6.8
2002	26.6	10.7	5.9	11.1	3.4	1.7	59.9	26.3	14.9	2007	38.6	17.4	11.0	21.1	9.2	63	41 1	18.5	11 7
										2003	44.4	20.7	13.3	35.5	15.7	10.1	51.2	24.5	15.8
										2004	38.2	17.7	11.5	38.2	17.7	11.5	51.2	2 1.5	15.0
										2005	30.3	15.2	10.6	30.3	15.2	10.6			

Nota: Medidas FGT (Foster. Green. Thorbecke); Línea de pobreza USD\$2.5 diarios. Para Venezuela la categoría de urbano sólo incluye Gran Caracas. * Sólo ingreso monetario. Fuente: Base de datos socioeconómicas para América Latina y el Caribe (SEDLAC) (CEDLAS y Banco Mundial) (2010).

2006

19.8 8.2

5.3 19.8

8.2

5.3

Table	A17 Lat	in Amer	ica and 1	the Cari	bean (2	0 count	ries). Po	larisatio	on index	es				
			Household	d per capit	ta income					Of	ficial inco	me		
					DI	ER						I	DER	
	Wolfson	EGR (2)	EGR (3)	0.25	0.50	0.75	1.00	Wolfson	EGR (2)	EGR (3)	0.25	0.50	0.75	1.00
Argentii	na													
EPHC														
2003	0.532	0.182	0.661	0.377	0.309	0.275	0.264	0.520	0.179	0.653	0.366	0.296	0.257	0.233
2004	0.503	0.172	0.638	0.365	0.296	0.260	0.245	0.488	0.167	0.624	0.354	0.285	0.246	0.221
2005	0.482	0.163	0.616	0.355	0.287	0.251	0.234	0.467	0.158	0.603	0.342	0.276	0.236	0.211
2006	0.466	0.157	0.603	0.345	0.278	0.241	0.221	0.457	0.152	0.588	0.335	0.268	0.227	0.198
2007	0.460	0.154	0.585	0.340	0.274	0.237	0.218	0.452	0.150	0.574	0.333	0.267	0.226	0.200
2008	0.432	0.146	0.567	0.329	0.266	0.230	0.212	0.420	0.141	0.560	0.326	0.261	0.221	0.194
2009	0.435	0.148	0.573	0.331	0.267	0.230	0.211	0.421	0.144	0.563	0.326	0.261	0.221	0.195
Belize														
1993	0.461	0.222	0.734	0.412	0.348	0.326	0.331							
1994	0.465	0.242	0.747	0.428	0.366	0.348	0.358							
1997	0.488	0.202	0.702	0.392	0.330	0.309	0.318							
1998	0.527	0.196	0.682	0.383	0.319	0.292	0.291							
1999	0.467	0.179	0.656	0.374	0.306	0.274	0.265							
BOIIVIA (Plurinatio		0 722	0.402	0.221	0 207	0.296	0 5 4 2	0.109	0.712	0.204	0 220	0.294	0.260
1997	0.552	0.205	0.723	0.403	0.331	0.297	0.280	0.545	0.198	0.712	0.394	0.320	0.284	0.209
2000	0.010	0.190	0.729	0.411	0.357	0.307	0.305	0.471	0.100	0.010	0.301	0.204	0.247	0.225
2000	0.599	0.219	0.774	0.420	0.224	0.340	0.303	0.464	0.187	0.646	0.365	0.200	0.276	0.259
2001	0.505	0.202	0.730	0.409	0.334	0.297	0.202	0.457	0.180	0.655	0.305	0.299	0.205	0.240
2002	0.578	0.205	0.745	0.415	0.342	0.207	0.282	0.400	0.704	0.734	0.412	0.303	0.270	0.200
2005	0.546	0.200	0.720	0.400	0.335	0.237	0.202	0.000	0.204	0.734	0.412	0.337	0.301	0.200
2000	0.532	0.104	0.712	0.397	0.323	0.291	0.233	0.515	0.192	0.689	0.386	0.316	0.282	0.267
Brazil (n	ew PNAD	with rural	north)	0.007	01020	0.201	0.277	0.010	01102	0.000	0.000	0.010	0.202	01207
2004	0.551	0.208	0.715	0.402	0.341	0.330	0.363	0.557	0.206	0.713	0.387	0.319	0.286	0.268
2005	0.542	0.205	0.712	0.409	0.359	0.368	0.463	0.546	0.203	0.710	0.389	0.320	0.289	0.273
2006	0.532	0.202	0.704	0.399	0.341	0.335	0.386	0.534	0.200	0.701	0.385	0.316	0.282	0.265
2007	0.517	0.195	0.691	0.391	0.329	0.309	0.329	0.519	0.192	0.689	0.378	0.309	0.274	0.257
2008	0.500	0.191	0.681	0.387	0.327	0.310	0.331	0.507	0.189	0.681	0.375	0.305	0.269	0.249
Chile														
1987	0.544	0.215	0.711	0.394	0.326	0.296	0.283	0.512	0.207	0.692	0.385	0.319	0.288	0.273
1990	0.501	0.207	0.690	0.386	0.320	0.290	0.276	0.491	0.204	0.686	0.379	0.315	0.286	0.273
1992	0.495	0.203	0.685	0.381	0.318	0.291	0.280	0.482	0.200	0.678	0.376	0.314	0.286	0.274
1994	0.500	0.204	0.683	0.378	0.316	0.288	0.275	0.488	0.198	0.675	0.377	0.312	0.282	0.267
1996	0.515	0.205	0.686	0.385	0.320	0.291	0.278	0.501	0.201	0.676	0.383	0.319	0.289	0.275
1998	0.518	0.209	0.693	0.384	0.318	0.289	0.276	0.506	0.205	0.685	0.381	0.316	0.286	0.272
2000	0.498	0.207	0.690	0.383	0.319	0.291	0.279	0.483	0.203	0.681	0.373	0.311	0.284	0.272
2003	0.476	0.202	0.680	0.379	0.314	0.286	0.273	0.467	0.199	0.674	0.374	0.311	0.282	0.269
2006	0.458	0.187	0.650	0.361	0.299	0.270	0.255	0.452	0.186	0.648	0.365	0.301	0.270	0.253
Colombi	a													
ENH-Na	cional													
1996	0.486	0.196	0.687	0.385	0.319	0.295	0.301	0.430	0.163	0.626	0.356	0.287	0.249	0.225
1999	0.517	0.206	0.706	0.395	0.327	0.300	0.304	0.457	0.168	0.636	0.357	0.287	0.250	0.227
2000	0.534	0.206	0.710	0.393	0.325	0.297	0.293	0.486	0.176	0.652	0.368	0.296	0.255	0.231

Table	A17 (co	ontinue)												
			Household	d per capi	ta income					Of	ficial incor	ne		
					DI	R						L	DER	
	Wolfson	EGR (2)	EGR (3)	0.25	0.50	0.75	1.00	Wolfson	EGR (2)	EGR (3)	0.25	0.50	0.75	1.00
ECH-Nat	ional													
2001	0.505	0.205	0.706	0.391	0.323	0.298	0.302	0.430	0.162	0.624	0.354	0.286	0.248	0.226
2003	0.480	0.190	0.673	0.372	0.307	0.281	0.279	0.424	0.158	0.606	0.345	0.278	0.242	0.220
2004	0.524	0.203	0.699	0.395	0.329	0.303	0.309							
GEIH-Na	tional													
2006	0.583	0.213	0.729	0.397	0.332	0.308	0.315							
Costa Ri	са													
1990	0.404	0.138	0.543	0.318	0.254	0.214	0.186	0.385	0.132	0.531	0.313	0.250	0.210	0.182
1992	0.406	0.140	0.552	0.326	0.262	0.223	0.199	0.393	0.136	0.539	0.317	0.254	0.217	0.193
2000	0.424	0.148	0.572	0.330	0.264	0.224	0.198	0.414	0.142	0.554	0.322	0.258	0.219	0.192
2001	0.462	0.169	0.625	0.355	0.287	0.250	0.228	0.447	0.162	0.609	0.346	0.279	0.243	0.221
2002	0.453	0.168	0.622	0.355	0.286	0.248	0.226	0.434	0.162	0.609	0.345	0.280	0.244	0.222
2003	0.464	0.164	0.612	0.345	0.278	0.241	0.219	0.448	0.157	0.597	0.344	0.277	0.238	0.215
2004	0.444	0.161	0.599	0.343	0.277	0.241	0.220	0.427	0.155	0.585	0.335	0.269	0.231	0.206
2005	0.438	0.160	0.589	0.342	0.277	0.239	0.217	0.420	0.154	0.576	0.333	0.269	0.233	0.211
2006	0.444	0.166	0.609	0.347	0.283	0.248	0.228	0.432	0.160	0.597	0.336	0.274	0.240	0.220
2007	0.433	0.169	0.611	0.350	0.285	0.251	0.234	0.419	0.162	0.596	0.341	0.280	0.247	0.228
2008	0.448	0.166	0.610	0.344	0.282	0.249	0.231	0.417	0.158	0.590	0.334	0.274	0.242	0.224
2009	0.469	0.178	0.631	0.357	0.291	0.257	0.238	0.449	0.171	0.616	0.351	0.286	0.252	0.232
Dominic	an Rep.													
ENFT 1														
1996	0.424	0.157	0.590	0.337	0.272	0.234	0.210	0.436	0.161	0.601	0.342	0.276	0.238	0.214
1997	0.423	0.158	0.602	0.344	0.279	0.243	0.220	0.441	0.161	0.612	0.348	0.283	0.246	0.223
ENFT 2														
2000	0.490	0.179	0.651	0.365	0.297	0.262	0.243	0.502	0.183	0.662	0.371	0.302	0.266	0.246
2001	0.464	0.175	0.634	0.355	0.290	0.257	0.238	0.476	0.180	0.645	0.362	0.296	0.263	0.244
2002	0.462	0.167	0.625	0.351	0.283	0.246	0.224	0.471	0.172	0.637	0.357	0.290	0.253	0.231
2003	0.459	0.179	0.645	0.363	0.298	0.265	0.247	0.474	0.183	0.656	0.368	0.302	0.270	0.254
2004	0.460	0.180	0.649	0.361	0.298	0.267	0.251	0.474	0.185	0.654	0.367	0.302	0.270	0.255
ENFT 3														
2005	0.457	0.172	0.626	0.356	0.290	0.255	0.235	0.466	0.175	0.636	0.358	0.293	0.258	0.239
2006	0.478	0.181	0.650	0.366	0.300	0.267	0.249	0.487	0.185	0.659	0.372	0.305	0.271	0.253
2007	0.432	0.162	0.606	0.343	0.280	0.245	0.223	0.437	0.166	0.615	0.349	0.284	0.249	0.228
Ecuador														
ECV														
1994	0.468	0.183	0.669	0.377	0.305	0.267	0.248	0.494	0.188	0.681	0.380	0.307	0.269	0.252
1995	0.536	0.191	0.708	0.392	0.317	0.277	0.254	0.394	0.141	0.531	0.314	0.256	0.223	0.201
1998	0.530	0.214	0.729	0.406	0.334	0.299	0.284	0.407	0.149	0.556	0.323	0.264	0.230	0.209
1999	0.580	0.203	0.734	0.407	0.332	0.295	0.278	0.404	0.149	0.554	0.319	0.261	0.228	0.207
2006	0.503	0.182	0.668	0.373	0.300	0.259	0.234	0.420	0.157	0.563	0.327	0.269	0.237	0.218
ENEMDU	J													
2003	0.498	0.235	0.765	0.423	0.366	0.342	0.343	0.527	0.240	0.779	0.438	0.371	0.351	0.368
2004	0.499	0.242	0.758	0.444	0.380	0.358	0.365	0.537	0.246	0.787	0.438	0.373	0.355	0.366
2005	0.489	0.187	0.670	0.380	0.310	0.275	0.259	0.524	0.196	0.689	0.386	0.318	0.286	0.277

Table	A17 (co	ntinue)												
			Househol	d per capit	ta income					Of	ficial inco	me		
					DI	ER						Ľ	DER	
	Wolfson	EGR (2)	EGR (3)	0.25	0.50	0.75	1.00	Wolfson	EGR (2)	EGR (3)	0.25	0.50	0.75	1.00
2006	0.464	0.181	0.648	0.368	0.304	0.272	0.256	0.501	0.188	0.671	0.380	0.312	0.279	0.266
2007	0.501	0.194	0.673	0.375	0.309	0.277	0.263	0.504	0.187	0.661	0.368	0.301	0.269	0.259
2008	0.527	0.223	0.732	0.411	0.345	0.320	0.321	0.490	0.178	0.647	0.367	0.298	0.264	0.256
El Salva	dor													
1991	0.481	0.176	0.655	0.367	0.297	0.260	0.240	0.419	0.158	0.607	0.344	0.280	0.245	0.229
1995	0.434	0.162	0.619	0.353	0.284	0.246	0.222	0.389	0.142	0.566	0.328	0.265	0.229	0.206
1996	0.455	0.170	0.634	0.357	0.288	0.249	0.225	0.423	0.153	0.592	0.337	0.271	0.233	0.208
1998	0.506	0.175	0.666	0.374	0.299	0.257	0.233	0.453	0.162	0.609	0.345	0.282	0.247	0.225
1999	0.495	0.168	0.640	0.362	0.289	0.247	0.223	0.453	0.156	0.608	0.350	0.279	0.237	0.211
2000	0.491	0.172	0.646	0.369	0.295	0.252	0.227	0.457	0.161	0.614	0.355	0.283	0.241	0.215
2001	0.502	0.174	0.656	0.375	0.299	0.256	0.230	0.459	0.159	0.612	0.347	0.277	0.235	0.208
2002	0.510	0.172	0.651	0.366	0.292	0.249	0.221	0.464	0.161	0.619	0.355	0.283	0.240	0.213
2003	0.465	0.160	0.619	0.348	0.277	0.233	0.203	0.440	0.152	0.591	0.337	0.268	0.226	0.198
2004	0.456	0.156	0.600	0.345	0.273	0.229	0.199	0.415	0.146	0.571	0.328	0.261	0.221	0.193
2005	0.461	0.160	0.618	0.348	0.279	0.238	0.212	0.418	0.150	0.576	0.335	0.271	0.233	0.211
2006	0.397	0.147	0.572	0.337	0.273	0.236	0.212	0.384	0.139	0.548	0.321	0.261	0.226	0.205
2007	0.406	0.149	0.578	0.331	0.267	0.230	0.205	0.376	0.141	0.551	0.319	0.260	0.226	0.205
Guatem	ala													
ENCOVI	0.474	0.402	0.670	0.276	0.200	0.076	0.000							
2000	0.474	0.193	0.672	0.376	0.309	0.276	0.260							
2006	0.489	0.187	0.679	0.383	0.313	0.278	0.257							
ENEI	0.500	0.200	0 701	0.404	0 221	0.207	0.200							
2002	0.580	0.206	0.731	0.404	0.331	0.297	0.286							
2003	0.505	0.109	0.700	0.369	0.201	0.260	0.200							
2004	0.512	0.176	0.000	0.575	0.501	0.207	0.255							
1992	0.522	0 185	0.671	0 372	0.304	0.269	0 251	0.456	0 163	0.604	0.347	0 282	0.245	0 223
1997	0.480	0.178	0.659	0.371	0.303	0.267	0.231	0.430	0.155	0.601	0.347	0.202	0.245	0.223
1999	0.509	0.179	0.660	0.368	0.294	0.257	0.247	0.465	0.155	0.622	0.353	0.280	0.236	0.225
2001	0.556	0.188	0.686	0.383	0.311	0.273	0.252	0.517	0.175	0.660	0.371	0.299	0.258	0.235
2002	0.553	0.191	0.693	0.384	0.312	0.275	0.255	0.534	0.180	0.674	0.374	0.300	0.258	0.233
2003	0.592	0.206	0.725	0.396	0.325	0.292	0.277	0.553	0.189	0.696	0.388	0.317	0.281	0.264
2004	0.606	0.209	0.730	0.401	0.328	0.293	0.276	0.489	0.166	0.634	0.362	0.286	0.240	0.208
2005	0.596	0.216	0.747	0.405	0.333	0.299	0.284	0.509	0.176	0.662	0.374	0.301	0.262	0.240
2006	0.498	0.181	0.672	0.378	0.304	0.264	0.241	0.496	0.170	0.655	0.371	0.298	0.257	0.234
2007	0.593	0.203	0.721	0.399	0.323	0.284	0.263	0.477	0.180	0.634	0.361	0.293	0.259	0.243
Jamaica														
1990	0.620	0.199	0.728	0.407	0.318	0.266	0.230							
1996	0.730	0.278	0.850	0.495	0.433	0.428	0.469	0.390	0.160	0.570	0.339	0.283	0.253	0.237
1999	0.611	0.202	0.705	0.396	0.320	0.282	0.268	0.375	0.134	0.510	0.309	0.251	0.214	0.188
2001	0.725	0.223	0.779	0.431	0.334	0.277	0.240	0.428	0.152	0.566	0.337	0.273	0.233	0.206
2002	0.610	0.205	0.749	0.419	0.345	0.316	0.318	0.376	0.139	0.527	0.310	0.255	0.223	0.202

Table	A17 (co	ontinue)												
			Househol	d per capit	a income					Of	ficial inco	ne		
					DI	R						I	DER	
	Wolfson	EGR (2)	EGR (3)	0.25	0.50	0.75	1.00	Wolfson	EGR (2)	EGR (3)	0.25	0.50	0.75	1.00
Mexico														
1989	0.450	0.175	0.648	0.364	0.297	0.262	0.244							
1992	0.485	0.193	0.677	0.373	0.309	0.276	0.259	0.435	0.175	0.629	0.360	0.298	0.267	0.251
1996	0.509	0.189	0.684	0.378	0.307	0.271	0.249	0.438	0.173	0.626	0.358	0.293	0.260	0.243
1998	0.488	0.184	0.668	0.371	0.301	0.264	0.243	0.462	0.179	0.649	0.365	0.301	0.268	0.250
2000	0.488	0.188	0.674	0.369	0.305	0.272	0.253	0.449	0.184	0.652	0.366	0.302	0.271	0.254
2002	0.454	0.177	0.638	0.362	0.294	0.258	0.237	0.425	0.168	0.610	0.350	0.288	0.256	0.238
2004	0.446	0.173	0.632	0.355	0.289	0.256	0.237	0.411	0.164	0.604	0.346	0.285	0.252	0.234
2005	0.445	0.170	0.633	0.358	0.291	0.255	0.236	0.408	0.162	0.604	0.346	0.283	0.250	0.231
2006	0.436	0.169	0.621	0.353	0.287	0.251	0.231	0.400	0.160	0.589	0.339	0.279	0.248	0.229
2008	0.446	0.169	0.626	0.354	0.286	0.250	0.228	0.421	0.162	0.600	0.341	0.280	0.248	0.229
1003	0.557	0 196	0 705	0 303	0 320	0.281	0.260	0.433	0.166	0.613	0 351	0.290	0.258	0 239
1008	0.337	0.190	0.667	0.335	0.307	0.201	0.200	0.455	0.147	0.559	0.331	0.230	0.230	0.233
2001	0.470	0.105	0.626	0.378	0.288	0.270	0.240	0.374	0.131	0.508	0.323	0.272	0.240	0.221
2005	0.455	0.175	0.645	0.373	0.305	0.270	0.250	0.360	0.132	0.504	0.302	0.250	0.220	0.201
Panama	0.155	0.175	0.015	0.575	0.505	0.270	0.250	0.500	0.152	0.501	0.502	0.230	0.220	0.201
1989	0.564	0.191	0.693	0.389	0.315	0.277	0.263	0.564	0.191	0.693	0.389	0.315	0.277	0.263
1991	0.577	0.194	0.698	0.392	0.320	0.285	0.275	0.577	0.194	0.698	0.392	0.320	0.285	0.275
1995	0.545	0.192	0.692	0.385	0.306	0.262	0.233	0.545	0.192	0.692	0.385	0.306	0.262	0.233
1997	0.575	0.201	0.711	0.391	0.318	0.281	0.265	0.575	0.201	0.711	0.391	0.318	0.281	0.265
1998	0.544	0.195	0.695	0.384	0.306	0.263	0.236	0.544	0.195	0.695	0.384	0.306	0.263	0.236
2001	0.578	0.197	0.712	0.400	0.326	0.291	0.283	0.578	0.197	0.712	0.400	0.326	0.291	0.283
2002	0.581	0.201	0.714	0.399	0.326	0.289	0.270	0.581	0.201	0.714	0.399	0.326	0.289	0.270
2003	0.572	0.200	0.709	0.393	0.320	0.285	0.268	0.572	0.200	0.709	0.393	0.320	0.285	0.268
2004	0.567	0.196	0.695	0.384	0.309	0.268	0.243	0.567	0.196	0.695	0.384	0.309	0.268	0.243
2005	0.559	0.190	0.679	0.376	0.303	0.263	0.237	0.559	0.190	0.679	0.376	0.303	0.263	0.237
2006	0.553	0.192	0.691	0.381	0.309	0.273	0.253	0.553	0.192	0.691	0.381	0.309	0.273	0.253
Paragua	у													
1995	0.569	0.209	0.729	0.398	0.329	0.297	0.283	0.497	0.186	0.679	0.370	0.306	0.273	0.255
1997	0.638	0.204	0.728	0.412	0.340	0.305	0.291	0.519	0.177	0.659	0.372	0.301	0.262	0.239
1999	0.554	0.197	0.709	0.394	0.319	0.284	0.269	0.477	0.182	0.661	0.369	0.300	0.264	0.243
2001	0.512	0.194	0.698	0.394	0.320	0.282	0.264	0.467	0.179	0.657	0.374	0.305	0.269	0.251
2002	0.539	0.193	0.705	0.392	0.318	0.280	0.259	0.485	0.182	0.659	0.374	0.305	0.267	0.245
2003	0.522	0.204	0.704	0.391	0.322	0.288	0.271	0.482	0.190	0.675	0.378	0.311	0.277	0.259
2004	0.479	0.185	0.665	0.379	0.310	0.275	0.257	0.441	0.175	0.636	0.364	0.300	0.268	0.249
2005	0.476	0.179	0.651	0.371	0.301	0.262	0.239	0.440	0.169	0.620	0.350	0.285	0.251	0.231
2006	0.481	0.183	0.669	0.378	0.309	0.274	0.254	0.444	0.176	0.644	0.367	0.301	0.268	0.248
2007	0.452	0.176	0.653	0.372	0.302	0.264	0.242	0.428	0.168	0.630	0.362	0.295	0.259	0.238
2008	0.463	0.174	0.645	0.362	0.296	0.261	0.241	0.434	0.169	0.623	0.355	0.292	0.260	0.242
Peru	1													
1007	0 513	0 191	0.671	0 321	0 300	0 268	0 244	0.348	0 1 2 5	0 / 98	0 200	0.244	0 211	0 1 9 9
1000	0.513	0.101	0.071	0.201	0.219	0.200	0.244	0.348	0.120	0.498	0.299	0.244	0.211	0.100
1339	0.518	0.197	0.098	0.391	0.518	0.280	0.259	0.350	0.128	0.502	0.300	0.240	0.214	0.193

Table A17 (continue)														
	Household per ca				ita income			Official income						
				DER							DER			
	Wolfson	EGR (2)	EGR (3)	0.25	0.50	0.75	1.00	Wolfson	EGR (2)	EGR (3)	0.25	0.50	0.75	1.00
1999	0.522	0.192	0.689	0.378	0.311	0.277	0.257	0.357	0.135	0.513	0.309	0.254	0.222	0.202
2000	0.457	0.158	0.608	0.351	0.279	0.236	0.207	0.301	0.110	0.442	0.273	0.228	0.202	0.184
ENAHO	2													
2001	0.483	0.177	0.654	0.367	0.297	0.259	0.236	0.331	0.000	0.489	0.292	0.241	0.211	0.191
2002	0.487	0.184	0.672	0.382	0.311	0.273	0.250	0.345	0.131	0.512	0.302	0.251	0.222	0.202
ENAHO	3													
2003	0.500	0.195	0.687	0.378	0.315	0.284	0.267	0.342	0.124	0.488	0.287	0.239	0.210	0.191
2004	0.446	0.161	0.608	0.349	0.284	0.247	0.224	0.311	0.115	0.457	0.279	0.232	0.204	0.186
2005	0.448	0.166	0.623	0.353	0.285	0.247	0.222	0.308	0.113	0.458	0.281	0.234	0.206	0.187
2006	0.452	0.163	0.615	0.348	0.284	0.247	0.223	0.321	0.116	0.468	0.284	0.235	0.207	0.188
2007	0.455	0.162	0.617	0.348	0.282	0.245	0.220	0.315	0.114	0.459	0.279	0.231	0.201	0.181
Uruguay	1													
Urban														
1989	0.366	0.130	0.523	0.311	0.252	0.217	0.193	0.337	0.118	0.486	0.294	0.240	0.207	0.184
1992	0.374	0.129	0.522	0.308	0.248	0.211	0.186	0.347	0.121	0.493	0.296	0.240	0.205	0.181
1995	0.385	0.133	0.528	0.310	0.250	0.212	0.186	0.356	0.121	0.497	0.295	0.239	0.203	0.178
1996	0.388	0.135	0.534	0.312	0.251	0.213	0.187	0.355	0.124	0.499	0.297	0.240	0.204	0.179
1997	0.389	0.135	0.532	0.311	0.251	0.214	0.188	0.363	0.125	0.505	0.299	0.242	0.207	0.182
1998	0.401	0.140	0.550	0.320	0.257	0.218	0.191	0.380	0.131	0.525	0.309	0.249	0.212	0.186
2000	0.405	0.140	0.551	0.320	0.257	0.219	0.192	0.383	0.132	0.527	0.310	0.251	0.215	0.191
2001	0.427	0.147	0.563	0.325	0.263	0.225	0.200	0.388	0.134	0.528	0.310	0.251	0.215	0.190
2002	0.430	0.150	0.569	0.330	0.266	0.229	0.204	0.399	0.138	0.538	0.315	0.255	0.219	0.194
2003	0.417	0.148	0.562	0.325	0.265	0.230	0.207	0.386	0.135	0.526	0.310	0.252	0.218	0.195
2004	0.434	0.153	0.578	0.332	0.270	0.234	0.211	0.397	0.137	0.537	0.316	0.256	0.220	0.196
2005	0.416	0.147	0.563	0.326	0.264	0.227	0.203	0.383	0.131	0.525	0.309	0.250	0.213	0.187
Nationa														
2006	0.434	0.153	0.580	0.334	0.271	0.235	0.211	0.391	0.138	0.534	0.315	0.257	0.222	0.200
2007	0.444	0.155	0.590	0.337	0.274	0.237	0.213	0.399	0.140	0.542	0.316	0.258	0.223	0.200
2008	0.409	0.145	0.556	0.323	0.262	0.226	0.203	0.368	0.130	0.510	0.302	0.246	0.212	0.189
Venezue	la													
1989	0.376	0.131	0.527	0.318	0.265	0.243	0.247	0.366	0.129	0.515	0.315	0.269	0.253	0.270
1992	0.365	0.128	0.511	0.315	0.259	0.223	0.199	0.361	0.127	0.509	0.317	0.262	0.227	0.204
1995	0.424	0.150	0.580	0.337	0.272	0.235	0.213	0.402	0.148	0.573	0.328	0.268	0.236	0.218
1998	0.433	0.152	0.588	0.338	0.271	0.233	0.209	0.412	0.145	0.566	0.331	0.269	0.236	0.220
1999	0.426	0.151	0.585	0.337	0.272	0.234	0.212	0.418	0.150	0.583	0.335	0.274	0.245	0.239
2000	0.408	0.140	0.547	0.320	0.259	0.222	0.199	0.397	0.137	0.539	0.317	0.256	0.221	0.199
2001	0.432	0.152	0.579	0.334	0.270	0.234	0.212	0.428	0.150	0.574	0.331	0.270	0.239	0.226
2002	0.446	0.156	0.593	0.340	0.274	0.237	0.219	0.442	0.156	0.593	0.343	0.278	0.243	0.229
2003	0.430	0.149	0.575	0.332	0.267	0.229	0.207	0.428	0.149	0.574	0.332	0.269	0.234	0.216
2004	0.418	0.145	0.565	0.328	0.264	0.228	0.209	0.411	0.144	0.557	0.323	0.262	0.227	0.206
2005	0.422	0.147	0.587	0.339	0.273	0.235	0.211	0.430	0.149	0.592	0.346	0.288	0.266	0.273
2006	0.389	0.136	0.537	0.314	0.254	0.217	0.192							
Note: EG	Noto: ECP refers to Establish Gradin and Pay (1999)													

Table A18 Latin America and the Caribean (22) countries). Gini index for distribution of wages and

		Hourly wage in main job							
Country			Men 25 a 55 years						
Country	fear			Education					
		Total	Total	Low	Medium	High			
Argentina	2009	40.5	38.1	34.5	35.0	35.5			
Belize	1999	50.1	50.1	50.6	38.4	32.2			
Bolivia (Plurinational State of)	2007	60.1	60.9	71.3	47.9	49.5			
Brazil	2008	52.4	52.0	40.3	43.8	49.4			
Chile	2006	53.7	52.6	42.0	44.1	50.4			
Colombia	2006	56.4	54.3	39.5	43.4	49.6			
Costa Rica	2009	45.6	44.9	34.8	36.8	41.0			
Ecuador	2008	56.0	56.2	47.5	55.5	53.6			
El Salvador	2005	46.7	45.6	41.4	39.1	40.0			
Guatemala	2006	53.0	53.3	46.2	41.0	42.1			
Haiti	2001	71.0	69.2	65.1	63.4	62.8			
Jamaica	2002	44.9	48.1	36.1	49.3	30.9			
Honduras	2007	52.9	50.9	46.4	43.2	39.1			
Mexico	2008	54.1	53.2	45.3	43.6	53.4			
Nicaragua	2005	52.0	55.2	49.7	40.4	54.5			
Panama	2006	50.5	49.3	44.2	37.6	47.3			
Paraguay	2008	53.5	51.8	52.6	46.4	43.1			
Peru	2007	55.0	52.1	48.3	45.7	49.5			
Dominican Republic	2007	45.2	43.4	39.9	39.0	40.7			
Surinam	1999	45.1	42.7	37.1	42.6	37.7			
Uruguay	2006	49.4	49.0	39.2	43.8	48.5			
Venezuela	2006	38.0	35.6	32.4	32.1	34.3			

Note: Low education from 0 to 8 years of education; medium from 9 to 13 years of education; high over 13 years of education. Source: Socio-Economic Database for Latin America and the Caribean (SEDLAC) (CEDLAS and World Bank) (2010)

Table A19 Latin America and the Caribean (23 countries) Gini coefficient of per capita income. Most current year.

Country	CEPA	LSTAT	CEDLAS (2010)			
Country	Year	Gini	Year	Gini		
Argentina	2006	0.519	2009	0.458		
Belize			1999	0.529		
Bolivia (Plurinational State of)	2007	0.565	2007	0.572		
Brasil	2008	0.594	2008	0.542		
Chile	2006	0.522	2006	0.518		
Colombia	2005	0.584	2006	0.583		
Costa Rica	2008	0.473	2009	0.502		
Ecuador	2008	0.504	2006	0.535		
El Salvador	2004	0.493	2007	0.469		
Guatemala	2006	0.585	2006	0.544		
Guyana			1992-1993	0.519		
Haiti			2001	0.592		
Honduras	2007	0.580	2007	0.573		
Jamaica			2002	0.599		
Mexico	2008	0.515	2008	0.505		
Nicaragua	2005	0.532	2005	0.523		
Panama	2008	0.524	2006	0.549		
Paraguay	2008	0.527	2008	0.519		
Peru	2008	0.476	2008	0.480		
Dominican Republic	2008	0.550	2007	0.483		
Surinam			1999	0.616		
Uruguay	2008	0.445	2008	0.445		
Venezuela	2008	0.412	2006	0.435		

Note: The difference in the Gini c-efficient between the two sources for a country in the same year is basically for two reasons: a) use of different data source (survey); and b) to the way of constructing income. Source: CEPALSTAT (2010) and SEDLAC (2010).

Printed in Costa Rica by EDITORAMA S.A. Tel.: (506) 2255-0202

Nº 21,298





In terms of equality, Latin America and the Caribbean ranks last on the worldwide stage, with inequality being one of the main hurdles to overcome for reducing poverty, improving human development, and expanding people's effective freedom to choose between different options in life that matter to them.

The persistent nature of inequality in the region, accompanied by low levels of social mobility, have created an "inequality trap," a vicious cycle that is difficult to break. How can this situation be remedied? What public policies can be designed that are capable of breaking the intergenerational transmission of inequality? Why have political systems and redistribution mechanisms been unable to reverse this pattern?

This first Regional Human Development Report for Latin America and the Caribbean 2010 proposes answers to these questions, based on the fundamental conviction that it is in fact possible to break the intergenerational transmission of inequality in Latin America and the Caribbean, and, what is more, that only by implementing policies aimed at combating inequality will efforts to reduce poverty have any real chance of success.

The United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) maintains that equality is necessary for ensuring people's effective freedoms, and for expanding the range of options from which all individuals are truly able and empowered to choose throughout their lives.

Based on the human development approach and following the conceptual framework that has inspired the UNDP's work since 1990, this first Regional Human Development Report for Latin America and the Caribbean 2010, Acting on the future: breaking the intergenerational transmission of inequality, seeks to fully understand the phenomenon of inequality and to serve as a useful instrument in the design of public policy measures that are adaptable to the specific circumstances of each country. These pages constitute a call to break the historic vicious circle of pronounced inequality, through specific and effective measures. The aim of this Regional Human Development Report for Latin America and the Caribbean 2010 is to articulate a call to action, a call to take action on the future, today.

Sponsored by:



Santillana